## THE MEDIATING EFFECT OF JOB STRESS ON THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN JOB DEMANDS, JOB RESOURCES AND SICKNESS ABSENCE: A STUDY AMONG NURSES IN MALAYSIA

YU CHYE WAH

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY UNIVERSITI UTARA MALAYSIA August 2014

### THE MEDIATING EFFECT OF JOB STRESS ON THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN JOB DEMANDS, JOB RESOURCES AND SICKNESS ABSENCE: A STUDY AMONG NURSES IN MALAYSIA

By

YU CHYE WAH

Thesis Submitted to Othman Yeop Abdullah Graduate School of Business, Universiti Utara Malaysia, In Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

#### Kolej Perniagaan (College of Business) Universiti Utara Malaysia

**PERAKUAAN KERJA TESIS / DISERTASI** (Certification of thesis / dissertation)

Kami, yang bertandatangan, memperakukan bahawa (*We, the undersigned, certified that*)

### YU CHYE WAH

Calon untuk ijazah (candidate for the degree of)

### DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

telah mengemukakan tesis / disertasi yang bertajuk: (has presented his/<del>her</del> thesis/dissertation of the following title):

# THE MEDIATING EFFECT OF JOB STRESS ON THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN JOB DEMANDS, JOB RESOURCES AND SICKNESS ABSENCE:

### A STUDY AMONG NURSES IN MALAYSIA

seperti yang tercatat di muka surat tajuk dan kulit tesis / disertasi (as it appears on the title page and front cover of thesis / disertasi).

bahawa tesis/disertasi tersebut boleh diterima dari segi bentuk serta kandungan dan meliputi bidang ilmu dengan memuaskan, sebagaimana yang ditunjukkan oleh calon dalam ujian lisan yang diadakan pada :

(That the said thesis/dissertation is acceptable in form and content and displays a satisfactory knowledge of the field of study as demonstrated by the candidate through oral examination held on :

Pengerusi Viva	:	Professor Dr. Nor Hayati	Tandatangan
(Chairman for Viva)		bt Ahmad	(Signature)
Penilai Luar	:	Assoc. Professor Dr. Nur Naha	Tandatangan
(External Examiner)		bt Abu Mansor	(Signature)
Penilai Dalaman	:	Assoc. Professor Dr. Faizuniah	Tandatangan
(Internal Examiner)		bt Pangil	(Signature)
Tarikh: (Date)			

Nama Pelajar (Name of Student)	: Yu Chye Wah	
Tajuk Tesis ( <i>Title of Thesis</i> )	: The Mediating Effect of Relationship between Jo Resources and Sickness among Nurses in Malays	Job Stress on the b Demands. Job Absence: A Study sia
Program Pengajian (Programme of Study)	: Doctor of Philosophy	
Name Penyelia/Penyelia-penyelia	: Professor Dr. Hassan bin Ali	(Name of Supervisor) Tandatangan (Signature)
Name Penyelia/Penyelia-penyelia	:	Tandatangan (Signature)

#### PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy from Universiti Utara Malaysia (UUM), I agree that the Library of this university may make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for copying of this thesis in any manner, in whole or in part, for scholarly purposes may be granted by my supervisor(s) or, in their absence, by the Dean of Othman Yeop Abdullah Graduate School of Business where I did my thesis. It is understood that any copying or publication or use of this thesis or parts of it for financial gain shall not be allowed without my permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to the UUM in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in my thesis.

Request for permission to copy or to make other use of materials in this thesis, in whole or in part should be addressed to:

Dean of Othman Yeop Abdullah Graduate School of Business Universiti Utara Malaysia 06010 UUM Sintok Kedah Darul Aman Malaysia

#### ABSTRACT

The issue of absenteeism has emerged as one of the main administrative problems in many large as well as small organizations. Sickness absenteeism or involuntary absence also affects the productivity and economic performance of an organization. The main purpose of this study is to examine the predictors of sickness absence and further determine the relationships between job demands, job resources, job stress and sickness absence. About 1.300 hospital nurses of various grades were selected randomly from six regional hospitals located in the northern states of peninsular Malaysia to participate in this study. The study was conducted in two phases. Sick leave data from the employer's sick leave registry was procured in the first phase of the study for a period of four consecutive months from February to May 2011. The second phase commenced in the mid of the sick leave data collection stage with the administration of survey questionnaires to the targeted participants. Hierarchical multiple regression analysis was used to examine the relationship between job demands, job resources, job stress and sickness absence: The study also investigated the mediating role of job stress on the relationship between job demands, job resources and sickness absence. The results found that workloads, co-worker support and job feedback were significantly related to all dimensions of job stress. Physical demands, job complexity, job feedback, job stress (physical and behavioural stress) were correlated with sickness absence. The findings also revealed the mediating effect of job stress (specifically physical and behavioural stress) on the relationship between job demands (physical demand and job complexity), job resources (job feedback) on sickness absence. Overall this study provided support to the job demands-resources (JD-R) model, and filled the research gaps in the mediating role of job stress. The implications, limitation of the study and future research direction were also discussed in this study.

Keywords: absenteeism, sickness absence, job demands-resources, stress, nurses

#### ABSTRAK

Isu ketidakhadiran telah muncul sebagai salah satu masalah utama pentadbiran dalam organisasi besar mahupun kecil. Ketidakhadiran kerana sakit atau ketidakhadiran kecemasan (involuntary) juga mempengaruhi produktiviti dan prestasi ekonomi sesebuah organisasi. Tujuan utama kajian ini adalah untuk mengkaji faktor penentu terhadap ketidakhadiran kerana sakit serta hubungan di antara keperluan pekerjaan, sumber pekerjaan, tekanan dalam pekerjaan dengan ketidakhadiran kerana sakit. Sejumlah 1,300 orang jururawat hospital pelbagai gred telah dipilih secara rawak dari enam buah hospital yang terletak di kawasan utara Semenanjung Malaysia untuk menyertai kajian ini. Kajian ini dilakukan dalam dua fasa. Data berkenaan cuti sakit telah diperolehi daripada senarai daftar cuti majikan pada fasa pertama iaitu dari bulan Februari hingga Mei 2011. Fasa kedua bermula pada pertengahan peringkat pungutan data cuti sakit dengan pengedaran soal selidik tinjauan kepada peserta sasaran. Analisis regresi berganda berperingkat digunakan untuk mengkaji hubungan di antara keperluan pekerjaan, sumber pekerjaan, tekanan pekerjaan dan ketidakhadiran kerana sakit. Kajian juga menyiasat peranan tekanan pekerjaan sebagai perantara dalam hubungan antara keperluan pekerjaan, sumber pekerjaan dan ketidakhadiran kerana sakit. Dapatan kajian menunjukkan bahawa beban kerja, sokongan rakan sekerja dan maklum balas pekerjaan mempunyai hubungan signifikan dengan kesemua dimensi tekanan dalam pekerjaan. Keperluan fizikal, kerumitan pekerjaan, maklum balas pekerjaan dan tekanan pekerjaan (tekanan fizikal dan tekanan tingkah laku) mempunyai hubungan dengan ketidakhadiran kerana sakit. Penemuan kajian juga menyokong kesan perantara tekanan pekerjaan (terutamanya tekanan fizikal dan tekanan tingkah laku) terhadap hubungan di antara keperluan pekerjaan (keperluan fizikal dan kerumitan pekerjaan) dan sumber pekerjaan (maklum balas pekerjaan) terhadap ketidakhadiran kerana sakit. Secara keseluruhan, hasil kajian ini menyokong andaian model keperluan-sumber pekerjaan (JD-R), serta telah menjelaskan lompang dalam kajian terhadap tekanan pekerjaan sebagai faktor perantara. Implikasi, batasan kajian dan sasaran kajian masa hadapan turut dibincangkan.

Katakunci: ketidakhadiran, ketidakhadiran kerana sakit, keperluan-sumber pekerjaan, tekanan, jururawat

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to take this opportunity at this juncture to express my deepest appreciation to my supervisor Professor Dr. Hassan Ali, for his tireless effort, times, dedication and patience in guiding me from the beginning till the end of the journey in making this thesis a reality. Without his instrumental role, I am wonder I can attain this level.

Special honor to UUM College of Business for nurturing my potential and render me opportunity in making things happen. My big thanks to Director General of Health and Hospital Directors for their ethical approval of my study and all those individuals and departments in Ministry of Health Malaysia particularly from Hospital Pulau Pinang, Hospital Seberang Jaya, Hospital Sultanah Bahiyah, Hospital Sultan Abdul Halim, Hospital Tuanku Fauziah and Hospital Kulim who assisted me in data collection. Also million thanks to all the participants, the whole bunch of caring, loving and considerate nurses from the above government hospitals who took their precious time out of their busy hours in the completion of questionnaire survey. A special thank you note extends to Dr. Chandrakantan Subramanian for enlightened me in the thinker to data analysis.

My sincere note of thanks to Associate Prof. Zaharah Saad and Matron Dahaga Yaacob for their useful inputs in regards to nursing issues in this study. Besides, many thanks to my PhD coursemates for their support, sharing of ideas and motivating each other, and this provides impetus and inspired me during the long and rocky journey of this PhD endeavour.

Last but not least, I am forever grateful to my family especially my mum, sisters, my wife for their spiritual support and three little kids at home who have to sacrifice for not having quality time with me whilst I am intensifying my effort in getting this project accomplished and thus I would like to dedicate this thesis to them.

Titl	e	Page
TIT	LE PAGE	i
CEI	RTIFICATION OF THESIS	ii
PEF	RMISSION TO USE	iv
ABS	STRACT	v
ABS	STRAK	vi
AC	KNOWLEDGEMENTS	vii
TAI	BLE OF CONTENTS	viii
LIS	T OF TABLES	xiv
LIS	T OF FIGURES	xviii
LIS	T OF ABBREVIATIONS	xix
LIS	T OF APPENDICES	xxiii
CH	APTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	Background of the Study	1
1.2	The Interest in Sickness Absenteeism Research	4
	1.2.1 The Importance of Studying Absenteeism in Nursing Professionals	10
1.3	Problem Statement	13
1.4	Research Questions	21
1.5	Research Objectives	22
1.6	Scope of the Study	22
1.7	Significance of the Study	24
1.8	Conceptual Definitions	28
1.9	Organization of the Thesis	34
1.10	Summary	34
CH	APTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	35
2.1	Introduction	35
2.2	The Underlying Theories	35
	2.2.1 Job Demands-Resources (JD-R) Model	36
	2.2.2 Conservation of Resources (COR) Theory	39
	2.2.3 Activation Theory	42

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.3	Absenteeism		44	
	2.3.1	3.1 Definition		
	2.3.2	2 Impact of Absenteeism		
	2.3.3	.3.3 Causes and Explanation of Absenteeism		
	2.3.4	Sickness Absence	50	
	2.3.5	Impact of Sickness Absence	54	
	2.3.6	Illness, Disease and Workplace Attendance	55	
	2.3.7	Absenteeism Measures	57	
		2.2.7.1 Subjective versus Objective Measures	61	
		2.3.7.2 Measuring Cost of Absenteeism	65	
		2.3.7.3 Reliability and Validity of Absence Measures	68	
		2.3.7.4 Stability of Employee Attendance and Absence	70	
	2.3.8	Empirical Evidences on Predictors of Sickness Absence	70	
2.4	Job D	Demands	73	
	2.4.1	Workloads	74	
	2.4.2	Physical Demands	79	
	2.4.3	Emotional Demands	82	
	2.4.4	Job Scope	85	
	2.4.5	Role Conflict	90	
	2.4.6	Role Ambiguity	95	
	2.4.7	Job Complexity	96	
	2.4.8	Shift Work and Work Hours	98	
2.5	Job R	lesources	101	
	2.5.1	Social Support	102	
		2.5.1.1 Supervisor Support	105	
		2.5.1.2 Co-worker support	106	
	2.5.2	Autonomy	107	
	2.5.3	Job Feedback	109	
	2.5.4	Task/Time Control	111	
	2.5.5	Self-efficacy	112	

2.6	Job St	ress
	2.6.1	Symptoms of Stress
2.7	Нуро	theses Development
	2.7.1	Relationship between Job Demands and Sickness Absence
	2.7.2	Relationship between Job Resources and Sickness Absence
	2.7.3	Relationship between Job Demands and Job Stress
	2.7.4	Relationship between Job Resources and Job Stress
	2.7.5	Relationship between Job Stress and Sickness Absence
	2.7.6	Mediating Effect of Job Stress on the Relationship between Job Demands,
		Job Resources and Sickness Absence
2.8	Theor	etical Framework
2.9	Sumn	nary
CH	APTE	R THREE: METHODOLOGY
3.1	Introd	luction
3.2	Resea	rch Philosophy
3.3	Research Design	
3.4	Operationalisation of Study Variables and Measurements	
	3.4.1	Sickness Absence
	3.4.2	Job Demands
		3.4.2.1 Workload
		3.4.2.2 Physical Demand
		3.4.2.3 Emotional Demand
		3.4.2.4 Job Scope
		3.4.2.5 Role Conflict
		3.4.2.6 Role Ambiguity
		3.4.2.7 Job Complexity
	3.4.3	Job Resources
		3.4.3.1 Supervisor Support
		3.4.3.2 Co-worker Support
		3.4.3.3 Autonomy
		3.4.3.4 Job Feedback

3.4.3.5 Task/Time Control	170
3.4.3.6 Self-Efficacy	171
3.4.4 Job stress	172
3.4.4.1 Physical Stress.	172
3.4.4.2 Emotional Stress.	173
3.4.4.3 Psychological Stress.	173
3.4.4.4 Behavioral Stress	174
3.4.5 Summary of Conceptual and Operational Definitions of Study Variables	175
3.5 Questionnaire Design	179
3.5.1 Response Format	184
3.5.2 Translation of Questionnaire	187
3.6 Population	187
3.7 Sampling Technique and Sample Size	191
3.7.1 Inclusion Criteria	195
3.7.2 Exclusion Criteria	196
3.8 Pilot Study	196
3.9 Data Collection Procedure	200
3.9.1 Ethical Consideration	201
3.10 Data Analysis	203
3.10.1 Validity Testing	203
3.10.2 Reliability Testing	204
3.10.3 Factor Analysis	205
3.10.4 Descriptive Statistics	206
3.10.5 Multiple Regression Analysis	207
3.10.6 Calculation of Sickness Absence	209
3.10.6.1 Time Lost Measures	210
3.10.6.2 Duration Measures	210
3.11 Summary	211
CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS	212
4.1 Introduction	212
4.2 Response Rate	212

4.3 Sickness Records	213
4.4 Data Screening and Cleaning	215
4.5 Detecting Outliers	217
4.6 Goodness of Measure	218
4.6.1 Construct Validity	218
4.6.2 Factor Analyses	219
4.6.2.1 Factor Analysis on Job Demands	222
4.6.2.2 Factor Analysis on Job Resources	226
4.6.2.3 Factor Analysis on Job Stress	229
4.7 Reliability Analysis	232
4.8 Description of Study Sample	234
4.9 Descriptive Analysis of Study Variables	237
4.10 Hypotheses Testing: Test for Relationship	239
4.10.1 Normality Issues with Sickness Absence Data	244
4.10.2 Job Demands and Sickness Absence	245
4.10.3 Job Resources and Sickness Absence	247
4.10.4 Job Demands and Job Stress	248
4.10.5 Job Resources and Job Stress	250
4.10.6 Job Stress and Sickness Absence	252
4.11 Hypotheses Testing: Test for Mediation Effects	254
4.11.1 The Mediation Effect of Job Stress on the Relationship between	
Job Demands and Sickness Absence	257
4.11.2 The Mediation Effect of Job Stress on the Relationship between Job	
Resources and Sickness Absence	265
4.12 A Summary Results of Hypotheses Testing	271
4.12.1 Job Demands and Sickness Absence	271
4.12.2 Job Resources and Sickness Absence	272
4.12.3 Job Demands and Job Stress	273
4.12.4 Job Resources and Job Stress	274
4.12.5 Job Stress and Sickness Absence	275

	4.12	.6 Mediating Effect of Job Stress on Job Demands-Sickness Absence	
		Relationship	276
	4.12	.7 Mediating Effect of Job Stress on Job Resources-Sickness Absence	
		Relationship	278
4.13	3 Sum	mary	279
СН	APTE	R FIVE: DISCUSSIONS AND CONCLUSION	281
5.1	Introd	uction	281
5.2	Discu	ssions	281
	5.2.1	Relationship between Job Demands and Sickness Absence	282
	5.2.2	Relationship between Job Resources and Sickness Absence	286
	5.2.3	Relationship between Job Demands and Job Stress	291
	5.2.4	Relationship between Job Resources and Job Stress	296
	5.2.5	Relationship between Job Stress and Sickness Absence	301
	5.2.6	Mediating Effects of Job Stress on the Relationship between Job	
		Demands and Job Resources on Sickness Absence	303
5.3	Impli	cations	310
	5.3.1	Theoretical Implications	310
	5.3.2	Managerial Implications	314
5.4	Limit	ations and Future Research Directions	319
5.5	Concl	usion	323
RE	FERE	NCES	326
AP	PENDI	CES	411

### LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
Table 1.1	Definition of Key Terms	32
Table 2.1	Related Empirical Studies on Predictors of Sickness Absence	71
Table 3.1	Constructs and Measures	175
Table 3.2	Summary Table for List of Operational Items of the Main Variables	176
Table 3.3	Distribution of Items in Questionnaire	183
Table 3.4	Response Format for Items in the Questionnaire	186
Table 3.5	Categories of Nurses by States in Government Hospitals, Malaysia, 2006.	188
Table 3.6	Total Number of Registered Nurse in Government and Private Hospitals, Malaysia, 2006	189
Table 3.7	Number of Hospitals in the States of Kedah, Perlis and Pulau Pinang	190
Table 3.8	Hospital and Health Care Facilities Year 2006	190
Table 3.9	Description of Altered Items After Pilot Study	198
Table 3.10	Results of Reliability Analysis (Pilot study)	199
Table 4.1	Response Rate of Six General Hospitals	213
Table 4.2	Status of Completion of Sick Leave Data Obtained from Six General Hospitals	215
Table 4.3	Results of Factor Analysis for Job Demands	225
Table 4.4	Results of Factor Analysis for Job Resources	228
Table 4.5	Results of Factor Analysis for Job Stress	231
Table 4.6	Reliability Analyses of Job Demands, Job Resources and Job Stress Dimensions	234

Table

Table 4.7	Respondents' Demographic Characteristics – Personal Detail	235
Table 4.8	Respondents' Demographic Characteristics – Job Detail	236
Table 4.9	Means, Standard Deviation (SD), Minimum and Maximum of Variables	239
Table 4.10	Results of Hierarchical Multiple Regressions of Job Demands and Sickness Absence	246
Table 4.11	Results of Hierarchical Multiple Regressions of Job Resources and Sickness Absence	248
Table 4.12	Results of Hierarchical Multiple Regressions of Job Demands and Job Stress	250
Table 4.13	Results of Hierarchical Multiple Regressions of Job Resources and Job Stress	252
Table 4.14	Results of Hierarchical Multiple Regressions of Job Stress and Sickness Absence	253
Table 4.15	Checking for Eligibility of Job Stress Dimensions for Mediation Test between Job Demands Dimensions and Sickness Absence.	258
Table 4.16	Multiple Regression Results Using Physical Stress as Mediator on the Relationship between Job Demands and Sickness Absence	260
Table 4.17	The Sobel, Aroian and Goodman Test of Physical Stress as a Mediator on the Relationship between Job Demands and Sickness Absence	261
Table 4.18	Multiple Regression Results Using Behavioural Stress as a Mediator on the Relationship between Job Demands and Sickness Absence	262
Table 4.19	The Sobel, Aroian and Goodman Test of Behavioural sSress as a Mediator on the Relationship between Physical Demand and sickness absence	263

Table
-------

Table 4.20	The Sobel, Aroian and Goodman Test of Behavioural Stress as a Mediator on the Relationship between Job Complexity and Sickness Absence	265
Table 4.21	Checking for Eligibility of Job Stress Dimensions for Mediation Test between Job Resources and Sickness Absence	266
Table 4.22	Multiple Regression Results Using Physical Stress as a Mediator on the Relationship between Job Resources and Sickness Absence.	268
Table 4.23	The Sobel, Aroian and Goodman Test of Physical Stress as a Mediator on the Relationship between Job Feedback and Sickness Absence	269
Table 4.24	Multiple Regression Results using Behavioural Stress as a Mediator on the Relationship between Job Resources and Sickness Absence	270
Table 4.25	The Sobel, Aroian and Goodman Test of Behavioural Stress as a Mediator on the Relationship between Job Feedback and Sickness Absence.	271
Table 4.26a	Summary of Hypotheses Testing for Job Demands and Sickness Absence.	272
Table 4.26b	Summary of Hypotheses Testing for Job Resources and Sickness Absence.	272
Table 4.26c	Summary of Hypotheses Testing for Job Demands and Job Stress.	273
Table 4.26d	Summary of Hypotheses Testing for Job Resources and Job Stress	274
Table 4.26e	Summary of Hypotheses Testing for Job Stress and Sickness Absence	276
Table 4.26f	Summary of Hypotheses Testing for the Mediating Effect of Job Stress on Job Demands-Sickness Absence Relationship	276

Table 4.26g	Summary of Hypotheses Testing for the Mediating Effect of						
-	Job	Stress	on	Job	Resources-Sickness	Absence	
	Relat	tionship		• • • • • • • • • •			278

Page

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
Figure 2.1	Job Demands-Resources (JD-R) Model	39
Figure 2.2	Theoretical Framework of the Relationship between Job Demands, Job Resources, Job Stress and Sickness Absence	153
Figure 3.1	A Scheme for Analysis Assumptions About the Nature of Social Science	157
Figure 3.2	Calculation of Sickness Absence Rate	210
Figure 3.3	Calculation of Average Duration of Sick Leave per Employee within Study Period	211
Figure 4.1	Mediation Model	255
Figure 4.2	Mediating Effect of Physical Stress on the Relationship between Physical Demand and Sickness Absence	260
Figure 4.3	Mediating Effect of Behavioural Stress on the Relationship between Physical Demand and Sickness Absence	262
Figure 4.4	Mediating Effect of Behavioural Stress on the Relationship between Job Complexity and Sickness Absence	264
Figure 4.5	Mediating Effect of Physical Stress on the Relationship between Job Feedback and Sickness Absence	268
Figure 4.6	Mediating Effect of Behavioural Stress on the Relationship between Job Feedback and Sickness Absence	270

### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviation	Description of Abbreviation
ACTU	Australian Council of Trade Unions
AIDS	Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
AN	Assistant Nurse
CAN	Canadian Association of Nurse
CBI	Confederation of British Industry
ССН	Commerce Clearing House
CFA	Confirmatory Factor Analysis
CIPD	Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development
CN	Community Nurse
CNS	Clinical Nurse Specialist
COR	Conservation of Resources
CPD	Continuing Professional Development
CPG	Clinical Practice Guidelines
CPS	Current Population Survey
CRC	Clinical Research Centre
СТ	Computerized Tomography
DCM	Demand Control Model
DD	Divided Duty
DG	Director General
df	Degree of Freedom
DG	Director General

DON	Director of Nursing
DOT	Dictionary of Occupational Titles
EFA	Exploratory Factor Analysis
ERI	Effort-Reward Imbalance Model
GAS	Generalized Adaptation Syndrome
GCP	Good Clinical Practice
GHQ	General Health Questionnaire
GHS	General Health Survey
GNP	Gross National Product
GP	General Practitioner
HAI	Hospital Acquired Infection
HCW	Health Care Worker
HDU	High Dependency Unit
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HMRA	Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis
ICU	Intensive Care Unit
IDS	Income Data Services
ILO	International Labor Office
JCQ	Job Content Questionnaire
JDC	Job Demands and Control
JDCS	Job Demands, Control and Support
JDR	Job Demands and Resources
JDS	Job Diagnostic Survey
КМО	Kaiser-Mayer Oikin

MC	Medical Certificate
MEF	Malaysia Employers Federation
MoH	Ministry of Health
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
MSA	Measure of Sampling Adequacy
MSD	Musculoskeletal Disorders
NBM	Nursing Board Malaysia
NCD	Non-Communicable Diseases
NCI	Noso-comial Infection
NHS	National Health Service
NIH	National Institute of Health
NMRR	National Medical Research Registry
OECD	The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
OECD ORL	The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Otorhinolaryngology
OECD ORL OT	The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Otorhinolaryngology Operation Theatre
OECD ORL OT PAF	The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Otorhinolaryngology Operation Theatre Principle Axial Factoring
OECD ORL OT PAF PCA	The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and DevelopmentOtorhinolaryngologyOperation TheatrePrinciple Axial FactoringPrinciple Component Analysis
OECD ORL OT PAF PCA PHC	The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and DevelopmentOtorhinolaryngologyOperation TheatrePrinciple Axial FactoringPrinciple Component AnalysisPublic Health Care
OECD ORL OT PAF PCA PHC PTB	The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and DevelopmentOtorhinolaryngologyOperation TheatrePrinciple Axial FactoringPrinciple Component AnalysisPublic Health CarePulmonary Tuberculosis
OECD ORL OT PAF PCA PCA PHC PTB RN	The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and DevelopmentOtorhinolaryngologyOperation TheatrePrinciple Axial FactoringPrinciple Component AnalysisPublic Health CarePulmonary TuberculosisRegistered Nurse
OECD ORL OT PAF PCA PCA PHC PTB RN RSI	The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and DevelopmentOtorhinolaryngologyOperation TheatrePrinciple Axial FactoringPrinciple Component AnalysisPublic Health CarePulmonary TuberculosisRegistered NurseRepeated Strain Injury
OECD ORL OT PAF PCA PCA PHC PHC RN RSI SD	The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and DevelopmentOtorhinolaryngologyOperation TheatrePrinciple Axial FactoringPrinciple Component AnalysisPublic Health CarePulmonary TuberculosisRegistered NurseRopeated Strain InjuryStandard Deviation

SR	Sister
TLI	Tucker and Lewis index
UK	United Kingdom
US	United States
VIF	Variance Inflation Factor
WDI	Worst Day Index
WHO	World Health Organization

### LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix		Page
Appendix 1	Permission to Use JCQ questionnaire	411
Appendix 2	Questionnaire (English version)	414
Appendix 3	Questionnaire (Malay version)	420
Appendix 4	Letter to DG, MOH to Carry Out research in MOH Facilities	427
Appendix 5	Investigator Agreement, Head of Department and Institutional Approval	428
Appendix 6	Registration with National Medical Research Registry (NMRR) and Acknowledgement	430
Appendix 7	Good Clinical Practice (GCP) Certification for Researcher	433
Appendix 8	Letter of NIH Approval by Institute for Health Management (IHM), MOH.	434
Appendix 9	Letter of Approval from Medical Research Ethics Committee (MREC), MOH	436
Appendix 10	Letter of Consent from Hospital Directors	438
Appendix 11	Informed Consent Form for Participant	443
Appendix 12	Sick Leave Tracking Form	444
Appendix 13	Sample of Medical Certificate (MC)	445
Appendix 14	Sample of Monthly Duty Roster	446

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

#### INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Background of the Study

Absenteeism is a major concern in human resource and administrative management of any organisation. There is a growing body of research on absenteeism because of its importance to organisational effectiveness. It has been reported that employee absence behaviour is a costly issue and it can result in decreased quality of services to customers and jeopardise the worker productivity and financial performance of an organisation (Biron & Bamberger, 2012; Benson & Leona, 2000). Despite the vast amount of international interest and research spurred by absenteeism, most studies tended to focus on administrative strategies for the prediction or control of absenteeism, rather than on employee attitude and the causes of their absenteeism. Therefore, more effort is needed to uncover the reasons that contribute to absence behaviour.

Miller and Norton (1986) defined absenteeism as unscheduled absences from work, whereas Robbin and Judge (2009) defined it as the failure to report for work. In other words, it is simply a non-attendance at work by an employee, when attendance is expected by the employer. Despite the apparent ease of definition, absenteeism has proved to be a complex phenomenon that resists single or straightforward explanations (Alexanderson, 1998; Briner, 1996). Briner (1996) argued that the above definitions lack holistic explanation, as the absenteeism in that context only reflects the non-occurrence of a specific behaviour, which can be interpreted as an administrative category rather than a behavioural one.

Employees who are absent from work because of sickness obtain sick leave either from a medical doctor who is authorised to issue a medical certificate or selfcertified sick leave upon approval from management. Sick leave is one of various forms of unavoidable absence which employees resort to when they are unfit to work. It is a time-off from work that employees use during periods of temporary sickness to stay home and address their health and safety needs without losing pay or their jobs. However, the utilisation of sick leave by employees has become a growing concern to organisations. Sick leave is part of the 'perks' for employees and is approved and mandated by work-related laws. The provision of sick leave allows employees to be absent from work due to any illness that make them unfit to work. However, sick leave may be open to abuses by employees. Therefore, instead of being genuinely sick, they may choose to be sick and not be present in their workplaces. Hence, this is a form of voluntary absence that causes a 'time lost' to the organization (Romero & Strom, 2011). However, if an employee is sick, it makes sense for him or her to stay home from work and recover from the illness. Hence, the provision of sick leave is for employees who are genuinely too ill to work (Ali, Hussin & Razak, 2008). However, more often than not, illness is not the only real reason for the use of sick leave (Duijts, Kant, Swaen, van den Brandt, & Zeegers, 2007), because the actual use of sick leave involves choice, whereby employees choose to use sick leave to be absent from work. This form of sick leave is referred to as 'elective sick leave' by Rogers and Herting (1993), which means sickness absence due to minor medical problems, such as headache, colds, flu, abdominal upsets, backache, menstrual discomfort, elective medical appointment, caring for sick children at home, and attending to personal business and recreation, where no discernible illness is detected. In this elective sick leave, the employee is able to work without any detrimental effect on his/her health or the health of other employees or on job productivity as a whole but he or she chooses not to work (Ali *et al.*, 2008).

Undeniably, absenteeism is very disruptive for employers. For instance, a survey in the United Kingdom (UK) found that 2% of the working population can be expected to be absent from work on any given work schedule (Barham & Leonard, 2002), and the estimated average direct cost to UK employers of unscheduled absenteeism is £694 per year per employee. This does not include lost of work productivity or the additional costs for overtime pay or hiring temporary employees to cover the absent worker (Britt, 2002). Comparatively, the costs due to absenteeism in the United States of America (USA) are also high, approximately USD789 per employee per year (USA Work Management, 2001). Studies conducted by business consultants in the UK posited a 5% absence rate - equaivalent to every employee receiving two weeks paid absence per year (Furnham & Bramwell, 2006). In addition, the Confederation of British Industry (CBI) (2013) estimated absenteeism in United Kingdom has incurred a direct cost to the local economy of over £14 billion per annum. However, to the best of our knowledge, there is no study so far that has estimated the absenteeism cost per employee per year in Malaysia.

It is estimated that the annual costs of up to USD 46 billion in the USA and USD 10 billion in Canada are attributed to 'sick pay', lost productivity, and chronic overstaffing to compensate for absentees (Johns, 2008). There are more time lost days due to absenteeism compared to strikes and other industrial disputes (Johns, 2008). In Malaysia, according to Malaysian Employers' Federation's report, on average, each employee took about nine days per year of sick leave or up to four per cent of working time. The cost of sickness absence was estimated at about RM100 per day. With the additional costs of replacing absent workers, the total loss due to sick leave

stands about RM9 billion yearly or one per cent of Malaysia's gross domestic product (GDP) (Latiff, 2014).

Many different circumstances and behaviours may underlie absenteeism from work. Instead of viewing absenteeism as a single behaviour, making careful distinctions between types of absenteeism is vital to comprehend and manage absenteeism. Briner (1996) succinctly distinguished different types of absenteeism, including: absence attributable to sickness; voluntary versus involuntary absence; and paid versus unpaid leave. He also made distinctions between absence events, i.e., the number of absence periods or spells of absence behaviour that occur, and the absence duration which measures the time lost.

#### 1.2 The Interest in Sickness Absenteeism Research

This research focuses on absenteeism due to sickness as the main theme of the study. According to Taimela *et al.* (2007), sickness absence is a non-attendance by an employee due to a certified health complaint, when the employer expects attendance. However Searle (1997) viewed sickness absence as, absence attributed by the employee to illness or injury and accepted as such by the employer. Taylor and Pocock (1981) shared the same notion with Searle (1997) and view sickness absence as an absence from work attributed to incapacity. In addition to incapacity due to illness, Briner (1996) associated the phenomenon of sickness absence with demographical and socioeconomic factors, organisational features, job content and employee attitudes to work. However Reiso, Nygard, Brage, Gulbrandsen and Tellnes (2001) and Virtanen, Kivimiki, Elovainio, Vahtera and Ferrie (2003) asserted that the individuals' own perceptions of health and working ability are the predominant psychosocial predictors of sickness absence.

Grundemann and Vuuren (1997) maintained that the main reason for sickness absence from work is ill health; nonetheless, ill health is not always equated to incapability for work. The ability to work is greatly influenced by a person's own perception about his/her capability or incapability, and absence can be viewed as a very personal decision based on both the ability and motivation to go to work (Rhodes & Steers, 1981; Kristensen, 1991).

Sickness absence is a major public health problem, and has important economic impact in terms of loss of productivity, employment, replacement and insurance costs (Roelen, Van der Pol, Koopmans & Groothoff, 2006). Employer surveys conducted in the UK revealed that 89% of employers view sickness absence as a burden on business (Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development (CIPD), 2012). The impact of sickness absence on business economy in various parts of the world is enormous. In the UK, 131 million work days are lost due to sickness absence which lead to businesses losing £14 billion a year (Confederation of British Industry (CBI), 2013). The UK National Health Service (NHS) reported that 117 million days were lost and has incurred cost of £11 billion because of sickness absence (Grundemann & Vuuren, 1997). In addition, it was calculated that the cost of £140 million a year, is equivalent to 1% of NHS employees' pay due to 1% or 2 ½ days per staff per year of sickness absence (NHS, 2012). Sickness absence has also been calculated to represent between 2 and 16% of an organisation's annual salary bill (Bevan & Hayday, 2001). In Hong Kong, 47,500 work days were lost because of employee sick leave and average duration of sick leave per incidence is 11.7 days (Population by census, 2000). In Sweden, an average of 10% of the country's

workforce is on sick leave at any given time (Hoge, 2002).

Most managers agree that sickness absence among employees is an important issue in manpower planning. It is one of the major administrative and staffing problems for managers in different occupations. To tackle the issue of sickness absence, managers need to plan strategies and devise policy decisions to manage and control it effectively and efficiently. These strategies and policies preferably should be made on evidence-based practices. Most extant studies have been conducted in Western societies, where workers' movements are more apparent and the medical profession has a greater interest in the health of workers. In Asia, a limited number of studies was done in Singapore, Hong Kong and Malaysia to examine the pattern of sickness absence (e.g., Collins, 1962; Fong & Cheng, 1991; Cheng, 1984; Chan, Gan & Chia, 1997; Saroja, Ramphal, Kasmini, Ainsah, & Bakar, 1999; Indran, Gopal & Omar, 1995; Chee & Rampal, 2003; Ali, Hussin & Razak, 2005, 2008). Nonetheless, many of these studies just focus on incidence and the influence of social demographic factors but neglected to examine the relationship of sickness absence to stress and jobrelated factors. According to Siu (2002), the stress-related outcomes, particularly absenteeism and turnover are costly. Cooper and Cartwright (1996) estimated that almost 12% of the USA's and 10% of the UK's Gross National Product (GNP) is lost because of stress-related absenteeism and turnover.

There is quite a significant number of studies in psychological literature that have examined individual and organisational predictors of sickness absence (e.g., Clegg, 1983; Hammer & Landau, 1981; Jenkins, 1985; Parkes, 1987; Michie & Williams, 2003). Similarly, several research in occupational and environmental health literature have examined determinants of sick leave (e.g. Beemsterboer, Stewart, Groothoff & Nijhuis, 2008, 2009; Duijts *et al.*, 2007; Marmot, Feeney, Shipley, North & Syme, 1995; North, Syme, Feeney, Shipley & Marmot, 1996; Hornquist, Zar & Hansson, 1993; Isacsson, Hanson, Janzon & Kugelberg, 1992; Alavinia, van den Berg, van Duivenbooden, Elders & Burdorf, 2009; Voss, Floderus & Diderichsen, 2001). Nevertheless, the results of these studies produced contradictory and inconclusive findings in regards to the determinants of sickness absence.

According to a survey in the USA, at least 145 countries provide paid sick days for short- or long-term illnesses, with 127 countries providing a week or more annually; while 98 countries guarantee one month or more of paid sick days (Heymann, Earle & Hayes, 2007). In Malaysia, under the Malaysian Labour Law, First Schedule Section 2(1) EA 1955 - Employment Act 1955, employees in private sectors are permitted an allocation of sick days per year based on tenure. For instance, employees who have worked less than two years are entitled to 14 sick leave days. Those who have worked between two to five years are entitled for 18 days and those who has been employed for five years or more are entitled for 22 days (Gross, 2001). Employees must have a certification from a doctor and provide advanced notice when taking sick leave. If these conditions are not met, then the employee is considered absent and the absent days will count against his or her annual leave. The sick leave allocation in the government sector is binded by General Order Chapter C 15/17(a) for government employees (Public Service Department of Malaysia, 2011). The government policy allows civil servants to take not more than 90 days of paid sick leave in a year, but civil servants may take additional sick leave of up to 180 days, subject to approval.

A survey carried out in the UK shows public sector employees took about 35% more sick leave than employees in the private sector. Each employee took an average of 9.8 days sick leave per year, with public sector employees recording 11.7

7

days, compared to the private sector with seven days (CIPD, 2006). In Canada, each employee had an average sick leave rate of 8.6 sick days per year (Caverley, Cunningham & MacGregor, 2007); the USA had an average of 8.4 sick days for exempt employees, while non-exempt employees had 7.6 sick leave days on average (Compensation Data Annual Survey, 2006). In Singapore, employees had an average of 4.6 days of sick leave (Singapore Human Resources Management, 2009). In Malaysia, a study done by Ali *et al.* (2008) among civil servants indicated an average of 2.65 days sick leave in a year. Studies also have shown that health service jobs (CIPD, 2006), shift work and blue-collar jobs (Drago & Wooden, 1995) produce more absence due to personal health problems. In addition, Cant, O'Loughlin and Legge (2001), in their study, found that employees who were past retirement age generally had lower absence rate.

The fiscal impact of sick leave usage is significant (Kroesser, Meckley & Ranson, 1991). Buchan and Seccombe (1995) highlighted several management issues arising from absence, particularly in the hospital environment. They pointed out the implications not only on quality of patient care, but also on job productivity, organisational costs, effects on other staff and the time and money spent on organising a replacement. Kopelman, Schneller and Silver (1981) described how sick leave usage can affect organisations. First, there are direct expenses, such as covering for the absent employee by paying others overtime, hiring temporary staff and providing training to them. Second, there are fringe benefit expenses which absent workers still accrue during their absence. Third, there are the costs of maintaining an absence control system, such as accounting procedures for sick leave usage. Fourth, absenteeism means an increase in supervisory time spent in adjusting to absent workers, or in managing the absenteeism policy. Fifth, there are indirect costs of

lower morale among workers who resent doing someone else's work, or who are concerned about the legitimacy of others' absences. Hence, absenteeism, whether voluntary or involuntary in nature, has a negative impact on organisational growth. It is one of the most persistent obstacles to productivity, profitability and competitiveness of an organisation (Ali et al., 2008). Therefore, it is essential that all organisations, whether public or private, become more aware of the degree of employee absenteeism, since it is an unnecessary cost and should be reduced to a minimum if they are to survive in the current world of globalisation. To tackle these management issues of absenteeism, Kroesser, Meckley and Ranson (1991) suggested that a better understanding of the dynamics resulting in the greater use of sick leave would allow managers to run organisations more efficiently. This efficiency could lead to more effective projections of sick leave use; knowing reasons of sickness absence by employees may enable administrators to develop cost effective methods for reducing sick leave usage and increase employee morale and productivity in the process. As a result, managers could plan their budgets and staffing patterns more realistically.

For the last two decades, sickness absence has increasingly been recognized as a considerable public health problem, with consequences on individuals, families, workplaces and society (Alexanderson & Hensing, 2004). Despite the importance and consequences of sickness absence, the scientific knowledge base on this issue is surprisingly limited. Furthermore, when scientific standards of evidence-based medicine were used, the results from different studies only generated very limited scientific evidence regarding both causes and consequences of sickness absence. Because of this knowledge gap, it has spurred the interest for the researcher to explore and further address the issue of absenteeism in this study.

#### **1.2.1** The Importance of Studying Absenteeism in Nursing Professionals

Nursing is a service profession in healthcare setting which focuses on the care of individuals, families and communities and helping them to achieve and maintain optimal health. In fact nursing is primarily to help sick people in the performance of activities contributing to their recovery, that they would perform unaided if they had the necessary strength, will, or knowledge (Henderson, 1978). In other words, the nursing profession needs integration of knowledge and practice to comprehend the state of health and illness of patients and their needs. Therefore, this profession demands high clinical competence, reflection capacity, critical thinking and reasoning from nursing professionals to provide holistic care for their clients. The issue of absenteeism among nursing professionals is therefore a concern in the healthcare industry (Becker & de Oliveira, 2008), as it may interfere with efficiency and quality of nursing care rendered to clients (Schreuder *et al.*, 2011).

In the hospital work environment, nurses are regularly exposed to occupational hazards related to physical, chemical, and biological agents, and also to risks of ergonomic and psychosocial factors (Amosu, Degun, Atulomah, Olanrewju & Aderibigbe, 2011). Working environment for nurses imply long hours, working on rotating shifts, multiple and complex task and functions, repetitive, ambiguous and conflicting work roles, excessive and intensive workload, constant physical effort and awkward positions. Besides, hierarchical control in decision making in nursing is posing a risk of causing stress and diseases that may harm nurses' health because nurses work in various levels of hierarchical structure, and this may impede flexibility in decision making (Becker & de Oliveira, 2008). This demanding and stressful work environment may contribute to low job satisfaction for both the current and future

workforce, because the less satisfied nurses are, the more likely for them to exhibit withdrawal behaviours by being absent from work (Siu, 2002; Gauci Borda & Norman, 1997; McShane, 1994).

Sickness absence remains high on the agenda in both government and business sectors as it poses inevitable impact on productivity and costs to the organization (Rauhalaa *et al.*, 2007). Besides, sickness absence is being perceived as withdrawal behaviour in the organizational context (Borda & Norman, 1997; Hackett & Bycio, 1996). Sickness absence among healthcare workers is likely to exacerbate human resources for health inadequacies and undermine demand for, quality of and efficiency of delivery of health services (Belita, Mbindyo & English, 2013). In addition sickness absence is a barometer for the psychological and physical wellbeing of health workers and a valuable measure of health systems performance (Belita, Mbindyo & English, 2013).

According to the report by Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development (CIPD, 2010) in UK, a worker takes an average sick leave of eight days per year. Thomas (2005) reported that in UK, the highest absence levels are found in healthcare workers with 11.6 days per employee per year. CBI /Pfizer absence survey for general population recorded 6.5 days for each employee in the UK (CBI, 2011). In Malaysia and Singapore, the sick leave for each employee was 2.5 and 3.2 days per year respectively (Chee & Rampal, 2003; Chan *et al.*, 1997). In term of sickness absence rate in percentage, nurses reported a higher sickness absence rate of 5.2%, while the other healthcare staff was about 3.8% (NHS, 2011). The survey on sickness absence by Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development (CIPD, 2010) in UK revealed that around 150 million working days are lost each year to sickness absence and it

costs the UK economy over £100 billion per year. The average cost of sickness absence incurred was estimated £692 per employee per year in UK (CIPD, 2010).

Sickness absence is an important issue in health care, as is associated with all levels of ill health, both physical and psychological. As nurses comprise 80% of the total healthcare workforce in United States (Buchan & Calman, 2004) and 75% in Malaysia (Siew, Chitpakdee & Chontawan, 2011). This phenomenon is likely to jeopardize the quality of patient care if it is prevalent among healthcare workers (Williams, Michie & Pattani, 1998). Since most healthcare services are provided by staff working in teams, sickness absence in any one individual is likely to cause increased work and stress for other staff. Moreover, it disrupts the work routine, teamwork and create dissatisfaction among employees, because it overburdens the existing staff when they are required to 'cover' the absent nurse. This temporarily covering for the absent employee may not elicit the quality and quantity of care expected. Besides, the time delay to deliver care when someone is absent will affect the productivity of nursing professionals and interfere with the efficiency and continuity of professional care to the clients, and may undermine employee morale (Cavanagh, 1989; Davey, Cummings, Newbum-Cook & Lo, 2009). Absenteeism is an expensive and difficult problem in organisations, as it incurs financial costs to pay for absent employee's salary, the overtime pay for temporary cover, the cost to recruit and train new staff and indirect cost for management and administrative matters with regards to absenteeism. Thus, it has an impact on economic performance and effectiveness of the organisation.
## **1.3 Problem Statement**

Absenteeism is a costly problem for organizations. In large U. S. companies employing more than 1000 workers, absenteeism costs estimated to reach \$1.17 million per year (Erickson, Nichols & Ritter, 2000). In European countries, direct and indirect costs produced by absenteeism are also an issue of concern (Gonzalez-Roma, Vaananen, Ripoll, Caballer, Peiro, & Kivimaki, 2005; Grundemann & van Vuuren, 1997). Thus, from a practical point of view, research efforts aimed at identifying the correlates of absenteeism are justified. However, absenteeism is a complex phenomenon with multiple factors impacting on it. Thus, from a theoretical point of view, research efforts are needed to improve our understanding about the role of these factors in the genesis of absenteeism.

Several types of absenteeism can be distinguished (Harrison and Martocchio, 1998). The present study focus on sickness absence which refers to medicallycertified absence. This type of absence is considered a composite outcome, comprising health and social behavior, that is primarily a proxy measure of ill health implying reduced occupational functioning, but that can also be seen as a social outcome, a form of illness behaviour leading to withdrawal from work, which may be related to a wide range of job-related factors (Rael *et al.*, 1995). Nicholson and colleagues (Chadwick-Jones, Nicholson & Brown, 1982; Nicholson & Johns, 1985) argued that the work environment in which absence is examined must also be taken into account when studying absence behavior. The results of the meta-analysis carried out by Farrell and Stamm (1988) are congruent with this assertion that work environment and organization based correlates were better predictors of employee absence than psychological correlates. Conceptually, absenteeism and turnover are behaviours that have attracted a great deal of attention from scholars (Harrison & Martocchio, 1998). Yet, there is a limited number of studies dealing with absenteeism among nursing professionals, and those that do, generally assign greater importance to turnover rather than absence (Cohen & Golan, 2007). Previous studies on the relationship between job demands, job resources and absenteeism particularly conducted by social and organizational researchers have emphasised on voluntary absenteeism, as they claimed that the study on voluntary absenteeism will give a better insight on its impact on organisations so that they can formulate absenteeism policies and strategies to tackle the absenteeism problem. Involuntary or unavoidable absenteeism is not given fair attention (Saroja et al., 1999) and many researchers assert that this is an important issue that warrants our concerns (Driver & Watson, 1989). Thus, by examining involuntary absence particularly sickness absence in greater detail is pertinent (Bourbonnais & Mondor, 2001; Marmot et al., 1995) because it provides useful measure of the working population's wellbeing and organization productivity (Grundemann & van Vuuren, 1997). Moreover, past studies on involuntary absenteeism have neglected the impact of social, organizational, behavioural, psychological components on sickness absence (Taimela et al., 2007). These studies also fail to address the influence of work environment and resources that contribute to job stress and sickness absences. In addition, many of the previous studies do not ascertain the possible relationships between job demands and job resources factors that contribute to sickness absence.

Nurses, in both developing and developed countries, are most often the first contact and the direct interface between patients, their families and the healthcare system. They interact with patients and other health workers at many levels, from hospital and clinic, to school, and the workplace (Hoty, 2007). Nursing is generally considered to be a stressful profession (e.g., Foxall, Zimmerman, Standley & Bene,

1990; Healy & McKay, 1999, 2000; Taylor, 1991; Kwandt, 1992; Razavi et al., 1993; Tsai & Crockett, 1993; Maria, Pavlos, Elmi, Thamme & Constantinidis, 2010; Yeh, Ko, Chang & Chen, 2007; Melchior et al., 1996; Berg, Hansson & Hallberg, 1994; Russler, 1991; Carson et al., 1999; Benoliel, McCorkle, Georgiadou, Denton & Spitzer, 1990; Shader, Broome, West & Nash, 2001; Schmitz, Neumann & Opperman, 2000; Stordeur, D'Hoore & Vandenberghe, 2001; Bratt, Broome, Kelber & Lostocco, 2000; Griffiths, 2000; Fresco & Norfolk, 2000; Lee & Crockett, 1994;; Demerouti, Bakker, Nachreiner & Schaufeli, 2000b; Proctor, Stratton-Powell, Tarrier & Burns, 1998; Tyler & Ellison, 1994; Hope, Kelleher & O'Connor, 1998; Lees & Ellis, 1990; Hillhouse & Adler, 1997; Baglioni, Cooper & Hingley, 1990; Tyler & Cushway, 1995; Leveck & Jones, 1996; Morrison, Jones & Fuller, 1997; Lucas, Atwood & Hagaman, 1993). A survey in Great Britain revealed that nurses, together with managers and teachers, reported the highest levels of perceived stress at work (Smith, Brice, Collins, Mathews & McNamara, 2000). It seems that nurses are particularly susceptible to the job stress mainly because of the nature of their profession (Lindsey & Attridge, 1989; Foxall, Zimmerman, Standley & Bene, 1990); their irregular working hours and shift work to care for the sick round the clock (e.g., Healy & McKay, 2000; Demerouti, Bakker & Bulters, 2000a; McVicar, 2003; Wedderburn, 1967; Berger & Hobbs, 2006). Siu (2002) in her study on hospital nurses claimed that the main stressors among nurses are high workload, lack of staff support and contact with critically ill patient. It was posturated that these sources of stress may affect their well being and lead to organizational outcomes such as job satisfaction, poor performance, absenteeism and turnover (Siu, 2002; Schnall & Perlo, 2004).

One model that theoretically explain the relationship between job demands, job resources, burnout and organizational outcomes is Job-Demands-Resources (JD- R) model. JD-R model argues that while job demands can lead to burnout and absence behavior, job resources are functional to mitigate burnout and improve work attendance and reduce absence behavior (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). While JD-R has contributed much to explaining sickness absenteeism (Bakker & Demerouti, 2008; Bakker, Demerouti & Verbeke, 2004; Bakker, Van Emmerik, & Van Riet, 2008; Dwyer & Fox, 2006; Lang, Thomas, Bliese & Adler, 2007; Xanthopoulou, Bakker, Aheuven, Demerouti & Scaufeli, 2008), previous studies have generally considered job demands or job resources singly or separately (Bakker, Van Veldhoven, & Xanthopoulou, 2010; Demerouti, Bakker, Nachreiner, & Schaufeli, 2000; Van den Broeck, Vansteenkiste, De Witt, & Lens, 2008). Till date no study in nursing arena has examined at the differential effects of each factor in determining sickness absence. Such theoretical knowledge is necessary as both factors do not occur in isolation at work; rather they are perceived to exist simultaneously and each has a different role to influence absence behavior (Bakker, Demerouti, Taris, Schaufeli, & Schreurs, 2003b; Schaufeli & Bakker, 2003).

The present study also notes that previous studies conducted on absenteeism particularly in the nursing sector assume that work-related factors influence absence behaviors directly (Jamal, 1984; Verhaeghe, Mak, Van Maele, Kornitzer, & De Backer, 2003;Leiter, 1993; Vaananen, Kumpulainen, Kevin, Ala-Mursula, Kouvonen, Kivimaki, Toivanen, Linna, & Vahtera, 2008; Woo, Yao, Oh & Fischer, 1999), However, according to Conservation of Resource (COR) theory, when job demands and job resources are present at work, they can lead to job stress characterized by various types of physiological, emotional and psychological responses (Burnard, 1991; Watson & Clark, 1984). JD-R model asserts specifically that when these job demands-resources factors are not favorably managed, this will lead to job stress and employees can exhibit withdrawal behaviors such as absence form work. Activation theory supplement JD-R and COR by further explaining how individuals cope with job stressors, initially the body will be activated to respond through manifestation of physical, emotional, psychological and behavioral symptoms (Hockey, 1993). With the use of protectional strategies such as utilization of available personal and job resources such as social support, job feedback, job autonomy and self-efficacy, ones will be able to prevent or reduce physical and psychological cost that will affect the employee's health and lead to sickness absence. In addition, Johns (1997); Fullagar and Kelloway (2009) highlighted that the mediating effect of stress on stressorabsenteeism relationship have been negelected in the past studies. In the context of nursing in which job stress is characteristic of the profession due to the nature of work itself (Maria, Pavlos, Elmi, Thamme & Constantinidis, 2010; Yeh, Ko, Chang & Chen, 2007; Shader, Broome, West & Nash, 2001; Schmitz, Neumann & Opperman, 2000; Stordeur, D'Hoore & Vandenberghe, 2001), ignoring the role of job stress in explaining sickness absence is unfortunate because it has been consistently found that nurses who are stressful at work tend to absence from work (Borritz et al., 2006; Virtanen et al., 2007; Callaghnan & Field, 1991; Larson, 1987; Bourbonnais & Mondor, 2001; Kristensen, 1991; Brooke, 1986; Spielberger, Vagg, & Wasala, 2003; Moreau et al., 2004; Gatchel & Baum, 2009; Lambert, Edwards, Camp & Saylor, 2005). Thus by incorporating job stress in a nursing setting to investigate the sickness absence is indeed timely because it is essentially important to understand the degree to which job stress mediates the relationship between job demands resources and sickness absence. In consistent with the theoretical prepositions of JD-R, COR, activation theory and the recommendations of previous studies, the present study attempts to fill the gap.

Johns (1997) explains that absence behaviour is a reaction to job stress, where stress is conceived as a failure to cope with job demands. This explanation stipulates that absenteeism may be used as a coping mechanism to deal with job strain and is not simply a behavioural reaction to dissatisfaction. On the other hand, Bourbonnais, Vinet, Meyer and Goldberg (1992) and Marmot *et al.* (1995) pointed out the importance of examining sickness absence in greater detail, because it is the measure of the working population's wellbeing and can contribute to lost productivity (Grundemann & van Vuuren, 1997).

Research has revealed that job demands, such as a high work pressure, emotional demands, and role ambiguity may lead to burnout, exhaustion, and impaired health (e.g. Halbesleben & Buckley, 2004; Martin, 1984; Estryn-Behar et al., 1990; Arsenault, Dolan, & van Ameringen, 1991), whereas job resources, such as social support, performance feedback and autonomy may instigate a motivational process leading to job-related learning, work engagement, and organisational commitment (e.g., Demerouti et al., 2001a; Taris & Feij, 2004; Salanova, Agut & Peiro, 2005). Previous studies claimed that it could have a long list of antecedents of job strain and absenteeism; however theoretical progress has been exiguous (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). Many past studies have used a laundry-list approach of antecedents to investigate its effects on employee well-being, using few influential job stress models, such as DCM (Karasek, 1979), and the ERI model (Siegrist, 1996). Only a few studies investigated the relationship between job demands and job stress, and most of them focused on job strain and burnout. Job strain and burnout are not equated to job stress. Job strain refers to negative physical and psychological toll that job stress takes on one individual when his/her job involves high demand and low control or little decision making power (Karasek, 1979). Bunout is the consequence of excessive and prolonged stress that results in emotional, mental, and physical exhaustion, characterised by helplessness, depersonalisation and disengagement (Potter, 2005). When someone has burnout, Maslach, Jackson and Leiter (1996) described it as a state of exhaustion, where one is cynical or doubtful of his/her capacity to perform. In short, job stress is the responses to stressors while job strain and burnout are its consequences. Since there is dearth of literature on job stress and its relationship with job demands and jobs resources, it is justifiable to explore this area.

The review of related literature on antecedents of absenteeism (job demands and resources factors, job characteristics) has highlighted the paucity of research involving the healthcare industry. The application of these constructs to the hospital setting is limited to a few studies (e.g., Hackett, Bycio & Guion, 1989; Cohen & Golan, 2007; Buchan & Seccombe, 1995; Siu, 2002; Bekker, Croon & Bressers, 2005). As such, the present study investigates job demand and job resources dimensions as predictors of sickness absence among hospital nurses. The hospital setting is selected due to the nature of work of nurses (e.g. rotating work schedule). It has been suggested that the study of employee absenteeism is most applicable to either blue-collar workers or shift-related jobs, as studies have found that workers on rotating work schedules have higher anticipated absenteeism than workers on fixed shift schedules (Jamal, 1981; Blau, 1985a). Therefore the present study hope to address the missing link by exploring in deeper dimensions how the job demands and resources factors can impact the sickness absence among nurses.

A significant number of previous studies have examined the relationships between job demands, job resources and sickness absence (Bakker, Demerouti & Schaufeli, 2003a; Bakker, Demerouti, De Boer & Schaufeli, 2003b; Karasek, 1979; North et al., 1996; Dwyer & Ganster, 1991; Kristensen, 1991; Bourbonnais & Mondor, 2001; Gimeno, Benavides, Amick III, Joan Benach & Martinez, 2004; Lund et al., 2005; Lund, Labriola, Christensen, Bultmann & Villadsen, 2006; Christensen, Lund, Labriola, Villadsen & Bultmann, 2007). Some have found positive relationship between job demands and sickness absence (Karasek, 1979; Van Yperen & Snijders, 2005; Kivimaki, Vahtera, Pentti & Ferrie, 2000b), and some revealed negative relationship between job resources and sickness absence (Karasek, Gardell & Lindell, 1987; North et al., 1996; Niedhammer, Bugel, Goldberg, Leclerc & Gueguen, 1998; Vahtera, Kivimaki, Pentti & Theorell, 2000b; Ala-Mursula, Vahtera, Kivimaki & Pentti, 2002), or a combination of both (North et al., 1996; Dwyer & Ganster, 1991; Kristensen, 1991; Bourbonnais & Mondor, 2001); while other studies have found insignificant relationship (de Jonge, Reuvers, Houtman, Bongers & Kompier, 2000; Voss, Floderus & Diderichsen, 2001; de Jonge et al., 2001). Past studies have also demonstrated the association between job stress and sickness absence (Brooke, 1986; Spielberger, Vagg & Wasala, 2003; Moreau et al., 2004; Gatchel & Baum, 2009; Lambert, Edwards, Camp & Saylor, 2005). By integrating these two strands of research, it is possible to theorize a link between job demands resources factors and sickness absence, mediated by job stress. None has considered the theoretical possibility before and the present study attempts to fill the gap. By doing so, our theoretical understanding on the dynamics and mechanics of sickness absence in explaining the effect of job demands resources factors on sickness absence is enhanced.

According to JD-R model, theoretical link exists between job demands resources, burnout and sickness absence. This model argues that job demands and job resources predict burnout and the consequence of burnout can lead to employee

20

exhibits absence behavior. However scholars have suggested to incorporate job stress into this model to enhance understanding the mechanics of the occurence of such withdrawal behaviour (Johns, 1997; Fullagar & kelloway, 2009). Significant amount of studies used burnout as mediator in the relationship between job demands resources and organizational outcome (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007), however job stress was neglected. Although it is generally agreed that job demands resources could possibly influence job stress, their effects on stress have received little attention in empirical studies (Hoogh & Hartog, 2009) with some notable exceptions (e.g.Chen & Lien, 2008; Khttak, Quarat-ul-ain and Iqbal, 2013; Jex, Hughes, Storr, Baldwin, Conard, & Sheehan, 1991). Even then, these studies only focused on burnout and not job stress. And to the researcher's knowledge, no studies have considered to examine the mediating effect of job stress on job demands resources-sickness absence relationship. Therefore the present study attempts to advance knowledge in absenteeism research by investigating the mediating effects of job stress on the relationships between various dimensions of job demands and job resources on sickness absence in the context of hospital among nursing professionals.

## **1.4 Research Questions**

This study examines the main effects of job demands and job resources dimensions on sickness absence. In addition, job stress in this study is the mediating variable in the relationship between job demands and job resources on sickness absence. Hence specific research questions are formulated in this study to set the direction and objectives of the research. The research questions are formulated as follows:

1. Are job demands associated with sickness absence?

- 2. Are job resources associated with sickness absence?
- 3. Are job demands related to job stress?
- 4. Are job resources related to job stress?
- 5. Is job stress related to sickness absence?
- 6. Is there a mediating effect of job stress on the relationship between job demands, job resources and sickness absence?

### **1.5 Research Objectives**

Consistent with the research questions as above, the general objective of this study is to examine the relationship of job demands, job resources and job stress, and how these impact the sickness absence among nursing professionals in Malaysia. Thus, the present study seeks to achieve the following specific objectives:

- 1. To determine the relationship between job demands and sickness absence;
- 2. To determine the relationship between job resources and sickness absence;
- 3. To determine the relationship between job demands and job stress;
- 4. To determine the relationship between job resources and job stress;
- 5. To determine the relationship between job stress and sickness absence; and
- 6. To examine the mediating effect of job stress on the relationship between job demands, job resources and sickness absence.

## **1.6** Scope of the Study

According to Cooper and Schindler (2006), scope is the breadth and depth of topic coverage; this usually infers the utilisation of information of a secondary source (by

time frame, geography, criteria for inclusion, etc.). Likewise the scope of this study addresses all these issues.

The focus of this study is hospital nurses of various job grades from government hospitals located in the northern states of Malaysia, i.e., the states of Kedah, Perlis and Pulau Pinang. Nurses working in community clinics, nursing homes, factories or industrial sites, private agencies and other government agencies, such as prisons, city and town councils, army, aviation industry, rail services and national electric boards are excluded as the target samples in this study are nurses working in hospital environment which form more than 70% of total nursing workforce in Malaysia (MoH, 2012).

The secondary source of absenteeism data obtained from employers' records are sick leave of employees certified by government medical officers or general practitioners (but endorsed by a government medical officer). The sick leave includes all certified illness or disability, regardless of severity and magnitude. However, leave due to maternity and paternity reasons, and long-term chronic diseases are not included as this leaves are leave sanctioned by government and government officers are entitled according to general order chapter C (Public Service Department of Malaysia, 2011).

The unit of analysis is an individual nurse working according to scheduled hours (divided duty or shift duty) in a hospital setting. All nurses working in various units and wards of the hospital are included. These nurses include nurse manager, registered nurse, community nurse, midwife and assistant nurse, but exclude nursing aides and hospital attendants as nursing aids and hospital attendants are not directly involved in patient care and providing services to the patients. The present study was conducted among nurses of public hospitals in Malaysia for several reasons. Firstly, the healthcare sector is among the most dynamic and rapidy growing industries in the world economy (Liow, 2013), since the sickness absence is high on the agenda in heathcare sector, it may pose inevitable impact on productivity and costs to the organization (Rauhalaa *et al.*, 2007). Secondly, nurses comprises the largest human resource element in healthcare sector in Malaysia, and thus the sickness absence issue may have a huge impact on the quality of care and patient outcome (Davey *et al.*, 2009; Williams *et al.*, 1998). Moreover the public sector hospitals under the jurisdiction of Ministry of Health Malaysia is the main provider of healthcare services providing 82% of the health services in the nation (Jaafar, Mohd Noh, Muttalib, Othman & Heaky, 2013).

# **1.7** Significance of the Study

This study can contribute to the existing literature in several aspects. First, this study extends beyond previous research by investigating job demands and job resources as predictors of absenteeism. A study by Bakker *et al.* (2003b) investigated the effects of job demands and job resources on sickness absence. Similarly, a study by Bakker and Demerouti (2007) examined the effects of job demands and job resources on organisational outcome. The present study is different from their studies in several facets. This study goes a step further by including job stress as mediating variable and its effects on the relationship between job demands and job resources on sickness absence; hence, this study determines which of the variables in job demands and job resources absence, thus providing valuable insights into the job characteristics and sickness absence, as well as a guide to managerial intervention.

This study's second contribution would be to complement the findings of previous studies on job stress related to physical, emotional, psychological and behavioural outcomes, such as health complaints, burnout, and absenteeism (Kahn & Byosiere, 1992). This is because job stress and absenteeism investigated in this study are also related to organisational effectiveness (Bakker *et al.*, 2003b), whereby it can have negative impact on the management outcome of the organisation (Benson & Leona, 2000).

The third contribution of thise study is the use of various dimensions of job demands and job resources that permit identification of which types of job demands and job resources dimensions affect job stress and sickness absence. This can facilitate efforts by the organisation to decide which dimensions should be given more attention or otherwise.

The fourth contribution is the findings of this study are anticipated to contribute to the development of theory, particularly organisational theory concerning the healthcare industry. Besides, the findings of this study can benefit the development of theory concerning attitude and behaviour. Practically, the application of organisational behaviour concepts in the healthcare industry can improve the development of employee well-being and performance, specifically among healthcare workers in public healthcare institutions. In short, the findings of this study would benefit the healthcare industry and organisations in the management and control of absenteeism. It would also serve as a basis for future policy decision, and at the same time, as a template of reference for the managers and other healthcare workers. It is envisaged that the findings would make them realise the importance of balancing job demands and job resources to ameliorate the impact of job stress upon sickness absence. The body of knowledge from the present study could be a guide for any organisation to devise strategies to reduce employee absenteeism, making the workplace more conducive for employees. At the same time, the knowledge and lessons gained from this study can help to strengthen the existing theories and models employed in absenteeism research.

In line with government efforts to build a nation with good human capital, one of the important thrusts in the Ninth Malaysia Plan is to provide and improve health and well-being of each individual, family and community, through equitable, and affordable health services that are accessible by all (MoH, 2007b), in tandem with the ultimate goal of good health for all as proposed by the WHO (WHO, 2005). However, to carry out this noble task, healthcare providers should play an exemplary role in promoting and maintaining their own health, reducing the burden of disease and harnessing resources available to prevent the occurrence of unwanted withdrawal behaviours. It is anticipated that by embarking on this study to identify contributing factors toward job stress that impact on sickness absence among hospital workers, this study can give an insight into planning strategies for reducing the absenteeism problem. The findings of this study will benefit hospital management in human resource planning and improving employees' well-being, eventually increasing work productivity and upgradig quality of patient care for the betterment of the nation.

The final contribution is the outcome of this study is anticipated to contribute to the development of more effective preventive and promotional strategies of stress management among nursing practitioners in the clinical field as one of the role of nurses is to provide training and continual nursing education among peers. This will help practitioners to function in a safe environment when providing care to their clients. Knowledge of job stress and sick leave would provide them a better insight of various dimensions of nursing job demands and job resources as important

26

determinants. Besides, it would add professional value to the nursing profession, whereby nursing practitioners will be able to carry out the noble nursing tasks, in spite of facing daunting challenges of stress and sickness absence in the workplace.

This study is very significant and timely in terms of the demands of the nursing profession, coupled with global trends and issues of nursing shortage and turnover. The stress and health risks related to the nursing jobs leading to sickness absence has greatly impacted the human resources planning and resulted in adverse financial implications.

Looking into the extent and characteristics of absenteeism in the perspective of job demands, job resources and job stress among nursing professionals, this study will provide a guide for managers to reiterate the importance of absenteeism, in terms of job content and job context factors. In addition, managers should be aware and be able to evaluate the effectiveness of absenteeism policies and contribute to the development of related initiatives to ensure prudent management of sickness absence (Johnson, Croghan & Crawford, 2003). For those organisations that do not have a proper absenteeism policy, this study will be of value to both the occupational health departments and management, to help them undertake health needs assessment and design appropriate policies for absenteeism and occupational healthcare services for all healthcare workers (Ritchie, Macdonald, Gilmour & Murray, 1999).

The significance of this study has been mentioned above. In addition, the investigation into mediating effects of job stress on the relationship between job demands and job resources on sickness absence might be relevant for theory, practice and future research. It is essential for the study to be undertaken in view of the scarcity of empirical research exploring this important issue in Asia. This research is also related to the field of organisational behaviour, psychology, human resource

27

management, economics and health, as it extends the knowledge base that currently exists in these fields.

## **1.8 Conceptual Definitions**

It is necessary to explain the phenomena and constructs that form the structure of relationship in this research model. This section provides the conceptual definitions of key varibles in this study.

### 1.8.1 Sickness Absence

The dependent variable in this study is sickness absence. Sickness absence refers to involuntary absence by an employee attributed to illness or injury when attendance is scheduled or cleary expected by the employer (Searle, 1997). The non-attendance at work is unavoidable due to a health complaint certified by medical practitioner (Taimela *et al.*, 2007).

## 1.8.2 Job Demands

Job demands refer to those physical, psychological, social, or organisational aspects of the job that require continued physical and/or psychological (cognitive and emotional) effort or skills, and are therefore associated with certain physiological and/or psychological costs (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). Under job demands, seven dimensions are identified in this study:

i) Workload refers to the quantity of work received by an employee. It is the work overload which exists when employees have either too much to do in too

little time, or they work too many hours on the job (Schnall, Landsbergis & Baker, 1994).

- Physical demand is a way of describing the physical activities that a job requires (Hernandez, 2006), and are actually stressors associated with a job's physical setting, such as humidity, seating and position, movement during work, lighting, noise, temperature, etc.
- iii) Emotional demand refers to the extent to which employees are confronted in their job with things or persons that touch them personally (Demerouti & Geurts, 2004). It encompasses the emotional requirements of the job, the frequency and duration of an emotional task, the seriousness of patient problems and the degree to which employees depersonalise themselves from their job (Hartel, Zerbe & Ashkanasy, 2005).
- iv) Job scope refers to the number of different activities that a specific job requires and the frequency with which each activity is performed (Lewis, Goodman, Fandt & Michlitsch, 2007). It is the combination of three dimensions: i) Skill variety: the extent to which the job requires an individual to perform a variety of tasks that necessitates him or her to use different skills and abilities; ii) Task identity: the extent to which the job requires an individual to perform a whole or completely identifiable piece of work. In other words, task identity is high when a person works on a product or project from the beginning to end and sees a tangible result; iii) Task significance: the extent to which the job affects the lives of other people within or outside the organisation (Hackman & Oldham, 1976, 1980).
- v) Role conflict refers to the degree to which role expectations are incompatible or incongruent with the requirements of the role where compatibility is judged

29

relative to a set of standards which impinge on role performance (Rizzo, House & Lirtzman, 1970).

- vi) Role ambiguity is the degree to which role expectations are unclear (Rizzo, House & Lirtzman, 1970).
- vii) Job complexity is the degree of uncertainty and low divisibility of work process in a job given (Kivimaki, Vahtera, Thompson, Griffits, Cox & Pentti, 1997b).

# 1.8.3 Job Resources

Job resources refer to those physical, psychological, social, or organisational aspects of the job that are functional in achieving work goals (Demerouti, Bakker, Nachreiner & Schaufeli, 2001; Bakker *et al.*, 2003a). Under job resources, five dimensions are identified:

- Autonomy refers to the extent to which the job enables an individual to experience freedom, independence, and discretion, in both scheduling and determining the procedures used in completing the job (Hackman & Oldham, 1976).
- ii) Job feedback refers to the extent to which an individual receives direct and clear information about how effectively he or she is performing the job (Hackman & Oldham, 1976).
- Social support is conceptually defined as the assistance and protection given to others, especially individuals (Langford, Bowsher, Maloney & Lillis, 1997).
  Assistance may be tangible or intangible and protection involves shielding others from adverse effects of life stress. Social support can be a support given

by co-workers or supervisors (Fillion *et al.*, 2007). Co-worker support is the assistance and protection given to individual by co-workers or colleagues, while supervisor support is the assistance and protection given to individual by supervisors (Langford, Bowsher, Maloney & Lillis, 1997).

- iv) Task/Time control refers to the extent to which workers are able to exercise discretion in dealing with heavy workload and work pressure (Smith, 1998).
- v) Self-efficacy is defined as the confidence in one's ability to perform a behaviour (Bandura, 1977). It refers to a person's belief that he or she has the ability, motivation, and situational contingencies to complete a task successfully (McShane & Glinow, 2008, p.59).

# 1.8.4 Job Stress

Jon stress is the mediator in this study. This phenomenon is seen as a dynamic process of interaction between individuals and their job environment. It is also a process of responding to an imbalance between perceived demands and the perceived resources available for meeting those demands (Appley & Trumbull, 1986). Job stress is defined by European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (2002) as "a pattern of emotional, cognitive, behavioural and physiological reactions to adverse and harmful aspects of work content, work organisation and the working environment" (p. 3). It is a state characterised by high levels of agitation, anxiety, distress, tension and often feelings of not coping (Lexshimi, Tahir, Santhna, & Nisam, 2007). This resultant state which affects the mind, body and behaviour in many ways occurs specifically when individuals feel stressful in facing with different negative aspects of job content, job context and work environment factors. According to Kreitner and Kinicki (2007) stress is manifested by behavioural, emotional, physical or psychological symptoms to stressors, and these symptoms are named as physical, emotional, psychological and behavioral stress. Physical stress is the physiological symptoms manifested by individuals through illness of the physical body such as increased or irregular heart rate, increased blood pressure. Emotional stress is the emotionl responses as a result of stressful condition which affect their mood and feeling for instance anxiety, depression and restlessness. Psychological stress is the symptoms manifested that affect cognitive and mental health state for example inability to concentrate and memory problem. Behavioral stress is the action taken or behaviours exhibited by individuals to confront a stressful situation for example eatng more or less, sleeping too much or too little, isolate oneself, using drug or alcohol to relax. In sum, the definition of key terms in this study can be recapitulaed as in the table below:

Definition of Key Terms			
Variables	Conceptional definitions	Sources	
Sickness absence	Involuntary absence by an employee attributed to illness or injury when attendance is scheduled or cleary expected by the employer.	Searle (1997)	
Job demands	Physical, psychological, social, or organisational aspects of the job that require sustained physical and/or psychological (cognitive and emotional) effort or skills, and are therefore associated with certain physiological and/or psychological costs.	Bakker and Demerouti (2007)	
Workload	Work overload or work pressure or too much to do in too little time or work too many hours on the job.	Schnall, Landsbergis and Baker (1994)	
Physical demand	The extent the job requires strenuous movements like bending, physical strength, lifting, or carrying objects.	Hernandez (2006)	
Emotional demand	The extent to which employees are confronted in their job with things or persons that touch them personally.	Demerouti and Geurts (2004)	
Job scope	The extent of different activities that a specific job requires and the frequency with which each activity is performed.	Lewis, Goodman, Fandt and Michlitsch (2007)	

Table 1.1 Definition of Key Terms

Role conflict	The degree to which role expectations are incompatible or incongruent with the	Rizzo, House and Lirtzman (1970)
Role ambiguity	The degree to which role expectations are unclear.	Rizzo, House and Lirtzman (1970)
Job complexity	The degree of uncertainty and low divisibility of work process in a job given.	Kivimaki <i>et al.</i> (1997b)
Job resources	Physical, psychological, social, or organisational aspects of the job that are functional in achieving work goals.	Demerouti, Bakker, Nachreiner and Schaufeli (2001); Bakker <i>et al.</i> (2003a).
Autonomy	The extent to which the job enables an individual to experience freedom, independence, and discretion, in both scheduling and determining the procedures used in completing the job.	Hackman and Oldham (1976)
Job feedback	The extent to which an individual receives direct and clear information about how effectively he or she is performing the job.	Hackman and Oldham (1976)
Supervisor support	Assistance and protection given to individual by supervisors.	Langford, Bowsher, Maloney and Lillis (1997)
Co-worker support	Assistance and protection given to individual by coworkers or colleagues.	Langford, Bowsher, Maloney and Lillis (1997)
Task/time control	The extent to which workers are able to exercise discretion in dealing with heavy workload and work pressure.	Smith (1998)
Self-efficacy	A person's belief that he or she has the ability, motivation, and situational contingencies to complete a task successfully.	McShane and Glinow (2008)
Job stress	A pattern of physical, emotional, psychological and behavioural reactions to adverse and harmful aspects of work content, work organisation and the working environment	European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (2002)
Physical stress	Physiological responses by body to stress.	European Commission's
Emotional stress	Emotional responses to stress.	Directorate-General for Employment and
Psychological stress	Cogntive and mental responses to stress.	Social Affairs (2000)
Behavioural stress	Behavioral responses to stress.	

Table 1.1 (Continued)

## **1.9** Organisation of the Thesis

This thesis has five chapters, with chapter 1 presenting the overview of the background information, theme of the study, problem statement, research interest, research questions, research objectives, scope of the study, significance of the study and conceptual definitions of the study variables. Chapter 2 provides the preview of past research studies pertaining to underlying theories, sickness absenteeism, job demands, job resources and job stress, and proposed hypotheses and theoretical framework. Methods and procedures for conducting the research, including sampling, operationisation of variables and measurement, instrumentation, collection and statistical methods used to examine data are discussed in chapter 3, while chapter 4 presents the data analysis and research findings. Finally, chapter 5 discusses the results of the research, in tandem with research objectives, implications, limitation, future research direction and ends with a conclusion.

### 1.10 Summary

By focusing on the issue of absenteeism and sickness absence, this chapter has discussed the background of the study, problem statement, research questions, research objectives, scope and significance of study, and conceptual definitions of all study variables. This study generally seeks to investigate the relationship between job demands, job resources, job stress and sickness absence; specifically, the study examines the mediating effect of job stress on the relationship between job demands and job resources on sickness absence. The next chapter discusses the literature related to this issue.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

## LITERATURE REVIEW

## 2.1 Introduction

This chapter looks at previous studies on absenteeism, its antecedents and the relationships between these antecedents and absenteeism. The mediating role of job stress in the relationship between job demands and job resources on absenteeism is also explored. The current issues about absenteeism are debated from a theoretical perspective, as well as from practical viewpoints. This review looks for a well-developed theory underlying any new development in understanding absenteeism. In short, we are looking for a clear operationalised concept of absenteeism and the job-related predictors of job stress and sickness absenteeism in this study. Besides, this chapter would like to specify the fundamental mechanism that explains absence behaviours. As Goodman *et al.* (1984) suggested that fundamental mechanisms do not denote a listing of variables or predicators, but get to the root of psychological process that explains absence.

## 2.2 The Underlying Theories

To explain the phenomena and constructs that form the structure of relationship in the research model, several well-known theoretical models and theories were consulted and debated upon before the construction of research framework for the present study. However, in consideration of the principle of parsimony and the plausible underpinnings, only few concrete theories are utilised to explicate the underlying

concept behind the phenomena put forward in the proposed theoretical framework, as it is considered critical to understand the extent to which job demands and job resources among nursing professionals predict job stress and influence their sickness absenteeism behaviours. Hence, the following underpinning model and theories are proposed:

## 2.2.1 Job Demands-Resources (JD-R) Model

Steers and Rhodes' (1978) process model has provided an explanation of employee work attendance for more than three decades. This model asserts that employees' attendance at work is influenced by motivation and ability to attend. It seems that attendance motivation is strongly influenced by job satisfaction, whereas ability to attend is influenced by sickness, injury and other unavoidable reasons. However, this model fails to address the role of job stress on the association between job demands and absenteeism. On the other hand, the JD-R model (Demerouti & Bakker, 2011; Bakker & Demerouti, 2007; Bakker *et al.*, 2004; Demerouti *et al.*, 2000b; Demerouti, Bakker, Nachreiner & Schaufeli, 2001b) seems to function as a more comprehensive model to support the research framework of this study because it combines both job strain theory and motivation theory.

The underlying mechanism that explains the relationship between job demands, job resources, job stress and sickness absence, can be drawn from the JD-R model. This model explains how individuals exhibit job strain reaction from job demands and how job strain reaction can be mitigated from job resources. This model explains that every occupation has its own specific risk factors associated with jobrelated stress which are classified into job demands and job resources. Job demands can be translated into stressors when those demands are difficult to meet and require high effort from which the employees fail to recover adequately (Meijman & Mulder, 1998). On the other hand, job resources are available in the workplace at the organisational, task and interpersonal levels to provide the necessary support to buffer or reduce the strain from job demands. For example, at the interpersonal level, the support from supervisor and co-worker will provide motivation and help to solve the work problems encountered by employees. The resources available at the task level, for example, job autonomy, will provide more independence for employees in decision-making, while resources provided at organisational level, for example, job feedback received from supervisors, may provide opportunity for personal learning, professional growth and career development. The availability of these job resources provide avenue for employees to mitigate the strain and pressure from their jobs.

The JD-R model builds on the premise of two important processes: health impairment process and motivation process. Health impairment process suggests that jobs with demanding features, for example, work overload and emotional demands, can exhaust employees' mental and physical resources and may lead to stress characterised by physiological, emotional, psychological and behavioural symptoms. If activation of stress response is continuously unchecked, individuals may be inflicted with health problems, for example, burnout, depression and other medical illnesses, and eventually resort to taking sick leave to recover from illness. In other words, sickness absence is for individuals to cope with stressful events. On the other hand, motivational process involves the presence or availability of job resources in the workplace. This process involves intrinsic and extrinsic motivation roles to fulfill basic human needs and foster employees' learning, growth and development (Deci & Ryan, 2000). Some examples of these motivation forces include the need for

autonomy, competence and relatedness (Baumeister & Leary, 1995). In other words, the accessibility of sufficient job resources provide motivation for employees to achieve their working goals, thereby reducing the stress from job demands; ultimately, employees will have less sickness absence. For example, in the workplace, constructive job feedback to employees by superiors fosters learning, thereby increasing job competence, while providing the right job autonomy and social need for belonging (Van den Broeck, Vansteenkiste, De Witte & Lens, 2008). This may help to ameliorate the stress from job demands and prevent employees from falling victims to health problems and taking sickness absence leave.

Job resources can also play an extrinsic motivational role. The work environment offers many resources that foster the employees' willingness to dedicate their efforts and their abilities to be engaged in their tasks appropriately. This enables tasks to be completed successfully and attain working goals. For example, the support from colleagues and proper feedback from superiors can increase the work engagement and the success of achieving one's work goals. However, the absence of resources, may evoke a cynical attitude by employees towards work (Demerouti *et al.*, 2001b; Lewig, Xanthopoulou, Bakker, Dollard, & Metzer, 2007; Schaufeli, Bakker & van Rhenen, 2009). This can develop into job stress and eventually employees will resort to sickness absence behaviour.

As shown in Figure 2.1, the JD-R model of burnouts (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007) delineating job strain is postively predicted by job demands and negatively predicted by job resources. The effect of job demands on job strain is mitigated by job resources, while job strain is exhibited by depersonalisation and disengagement (Bakker *et al.*, 2004). The prolonged strain reaction will ultimately contribute to orgnisational outcomes; for example, low job performance, absenteeism, high

turnover and low satisfaction. By applying the JD-R model, this study incorporates job stress as mediator in the relationship between job demands and job resources on sickness absence. Specifically, the relationship between job demands and job resources on sickness absence is mediated by job stress. Since the JD-R model postulates that the job demands and job resources at workplace predict burnout through health impairment and motivation process, this study attempts to examine how different types of job demands and job resources can influence and modify job stress and consequently affect the sickness absence behaviour.



Figure 2.1 The Job Demands-Resources model Adapted from Bakker and Demerouti (2007)

# 2.2.2 Conservation of Resources (COR) Theory

This theory serves to complement JD-R model in support of the research framework in the present study. Conservation of resources (COR) theory states that the prime human motivation is directed towards the maintenance and accumulation of resources (Hobfoll, 2001). This theory proposes that people basically seek to obtain, retain, protect, and restore resources. It is perceived that these resources are valued in their own right or because they are means to the achievement or protection of other valued resources. According to Bakker and Demerouti (2007) job resources may be located at the different levels of organization namely organizational level (e.g. e.g. pay, career opportunities, job security), task level (e.g. skill variety, task identity, task significance, task/time control, autonomy, performance feedback), the interpersonal and social relation level (e.g. supervisor and co-worker support, team climate), the work organization level (e.g. role clarity, participation in decision) and personal level (self-esteem, self efficacy, optimism). These differentiation of resources are classified by Hobfoll (1989) into four categories, namely objects, conditions, personal characteristics, and energies.

Conservation of resources theory predicts that the availability of resources influences the ability and the motivation for change (Hobfoll, 1989). Employees can draw on social resources available at their workplace. However, Hobfoll, Freedy, Lane, and Geller (1990) suggest that people may be reluctant to use social resources to call on support out of fear of being a burden. In fact Buunk, Schaufeli, and Ybema (1994) found that nurses who lacked personal accomplishment actually avoided others at work who performed better. Nevertheless with strong need for social comparison, these nurses who were stressed out may be motivated to affiliate with their better performing colleagues and access to the available resources to achieve their work goals. Hence Buunk *et al.* (1994) conclude that nurses who experienced job stress may use their social environment in a way that helps them to reduce stress and to cope effectively with the stress imposed by their profession.

Conservation of resources (COR) theory (Hobfoll, 2001) reiterates that people seek to obtain, retain, and protect the resources which they value. The theory proposes that stress experienced by individuals can be understood in relation to potential or actual loss of resources. COR can be applied in workplace for instance in hospital environment, nurses may bring in resources in order to prevent the loss of resources. Hobfoll and Shirom (2000) claimed that individuals with a greater pool of resources are less susceptible to resource loss. They also argued that individuals who do not have access to strong resource pools are more likely to experience increased loss (loss spiral); and those individuals that seek opportunities to risk resources may experience increased resource gains (gain spiral). On the other hand, this theory also implies that job resources gain their motivational potential particularly when employees are confronted with high job demands. Thus the main motivational process in job stress is preventing the loss of resources because if losing resources, it creates strains, and coping responses are enacted with the goal of protecting and restoring resources. Therefore in facing the loss of resources, individuals may strive to develop surplus resources, which are the source of higher levels of well-being.

This study used COR to support the research framework which link job demands and job resources to job strress. The reason was evidienced from Lee and Ashforth (1996) meta-analysis of burnout correlates that found significant support for the basic propositions of COR theory. In their analysis they found that majority (five out of eight) of job demand factors were strongly related to job stress reaction with r >.50. On the other hand job resources were found to buffer the effects of job demands on the job stress.

COR theory also provides a framework for understanding the nature of stress, based on the belief that individuals seek to obtain, build and protect their resources. The theory has been applied to a variety of settings, including community psychology, disaster research, and organizational research. Furthermore, the model has been tested across many different cultures, including (but not limited to) China, Germany, Hong Kong, Israel, Mexico, the Netherlands, Singapore and the United States. Based on the literature, the COR model appears to be a promising perspective for advancing the understanding of work stressor-stress-stress outcome relationships. Empirical studies have used COR to examine the effect of interrole conflict on well-being (Grandey & Cropanzano, 2000). Future researchers should continue using the COR model as an underlying framework for studying the link between work and nonwork roles and their relationships to stress.

## 2.2.3 Activation Theory

This stress theory was first proposed by Scott (1966) and later enhanced by Hockey (1993) and Xie and Johns (1995). The theory posits that every person has a characteristic level of activation and provides a viable explanation for the causes of job stress. Job stress occurs whenever job-related stimuli cause an individual to experience activation level to the extent that it can deviate substantially from one's characteristic level of activation (Gardner & Cummings, 1988). Hockey (1993) explained that individuals use performance-protection strategies to deal with the influence of environment and job demands, and this protection strategy is achieved by the mobilisation of sympathetic activation of the human body. In other words, it involves physiological and psychological responses through manifestation of stress symptoms, for example, rapid heartbeat, inability to concentrate, irritability, sleep problems, etc. Another protection strategy undertaken by individuals is by increasing

subjective effort, i.e., the use of active control in information processing; use of job resources such as social support etc.. The response by subjective effort denoting responses by individuals is different and it depends on their activation level to deal with the demands. However, the greater the activation, the greater the effort required to deal with it, in addition to greater physiological costs. The increase in physiological costs for individuals may affect the performance, and in the long-term, may drain individual energy, resulting in breakdown and burnout. According to Hockey' (1993), several different patterns of indirect degradation may be identified. These are referred to as compensatory costs (increased activation and/or subjective effort) which can be exhibited by adjustment of strategy, for example, narrowing of attention, increased selectivity or redefinition of task requirements; increased job autonomy and obtaining constructive job feedback etc. Xie and Johns (1995) asserted that the relationship between job demands and stress is strongly underpinned by activation theory. They argued that too high job demands scope may exceed individual activation level to cope and lead to stressful reaction. On the other hand, evidence shows that stress reduced when a job is less demanding for a job holder (Edwards & Parry, 1993). Job that exerts high physical and mental demand (London & Klimoski, 1975) may exceed the characteristic activation level that individuals can withstand (Schaubroeck & Ganster, 1993). If prolonged, it can provoke stress characterised by sympathetic activation and manifestation of physiological and behavioural symptoms. Thus, the compensatory costs from the activation responses may lead to health problems and eventually individuals may exhibit sickness absence behaviour.

## 2.3 Absenteeism

Absenteeism is a complex multi-dimensional issue involving the interaction and subtle interplay among many factors, for example worker, employer, workplace, organizational, social and economic factors (Duijts et al., 2007; Briner, 1996). Workplace attendance and absenteeism are of fundamental importance to an industrialised and developing society because primarily, it can affect work productivity and impact on financial performance of the organisation. In addition, the cost implication of absenteeism may jeopardise the quality of goods and services provided by the organization. Absenteeism in the workplace may cause additional burdens to the employers and workers, because it disrupts continuity and effectiveness of work process, and demoralise co-workers who have to do the cover for the absentee. In fact many organisations have placed high agenda on their strategic plan to deal with employee absenteeism and improving their work attendance, because to attain and sustain competitiveness in business world, a good management of human capital by improving employees' work committement, reducing absenteeism behaviour would increase work productivities and financial performance of the organization. Thus management of workplace absenteeism is important administrative matter for the company to continue survive in the competitive business world.

Absenteeism is a serious workplace problem, costing the developed countries as well as the worldwide economy billions of dollars annually (CBI, 2005). Academic and business literature reveals that absenteeism is a widespread behaviour in the workplace, and has economic impact on both employers and employees; for example, absent employee may cause unscheduled needs by employer to hire less efficient replacements, the scheduled employee needs to bear excessive workload to

44

compensate for work process of absentees (Ferguson, Ferguson, Muedder & Fitzgerald, 2001). It seems that till now, for several decades researchers and practitioners are still facing challenges to seek for appropriate antecedents of absenteeism to explain the mechanism of such behaviour because of its unprediatable and multifactorial nature.

## 2.3.1 Definition

There is no universal or standard definition for workplace absenteeism. According to Alexanderson (1998) there is no consistent definition and it varies among different institutions and thus making interpretation of the literature particularly difficult especially for comparison purposes. However institutions are advised to adopt a standard system for recording of absenteeism data, so that these data can be utilised for organizational planning and policy formulation.

Non-work attendance can be categorized partly by sanctioned leave, such as annual leave, long service leave and non-illness related leave, for example maternity or parental leave (Congiu *et al.*, 2012). A more generalised definition of absenteeism (unplanned absence) includes non-attendance at work where work attendance is scheduled. This includes sickness absence leave; special leave, such as bereavement leave; and may also include time lost through industrial disputes. Given the wide variety of employment conditions within different industries and organisations, it is difficult to formulate a complete list which may not change substantially with time.

It has been acknowledged indeed that an accurate definition of absenteeism is a difficult effort (Fichman, 1984). Many definitions offered by several researchers; and these definition are based on tacit theories bound to specific measures which are often poorly operationalised to the intended meaning of the concept. Sometimes it is more difficult to understand these tacit theories rather than the simple conceptual definition of absenteeism. Fichman (1984) emphasised:

> *"Absence definitions should be bound to theory, not data. Data should be ordered by theory and definition" (p. 20).*

Taking an example of definition by Gibson (1966), he said that "absence from work means an inability, an inappropriateness, or an unwillingness to work". He noted that "absence events are a sub-class of the events that constitute the behaviour of workers". Fichman (1984) argued that this definition still needs legitimacy, roles, willingness to work and other concepts to help define whether an absence occurs. He further argued that the difficulty of characterising behaviour that is signaled by a nonevent is apparent. He suggested that it is necessary to impute motives and causal factors to give meaning to absence events. Another definition of absence is the "allocation of time across non-work activities when an individual is expected to be working" (Fichman, 1984). This definition allows us to study absence duration and the process of returning to work because it highlights absence as allocation of time and a change from one activity to another (Atkinson, 1981). Hence, a dynamic theory of framework suggested by Atkinson (1981) with the structuring of absence as a change from presence to absence or vice versa can address problems concerning the lack of coordination between theories of absence and operationalisation of absence (Muchinsky, 1977; Atkin & Goodman, 1984).

From another perspective, Johns (2007) defined absenteeism as failing to report for scheduled work. As such, it is the violation of a social obligation to be in a particular place at a particular time. Traditionally, absenteeism is viewed as an

46

indicator of poor individual performance and a breach of an implicit contract between employee and employer. Thus, it is seen as a management problem and often quoted in term of its effect on economic and financial performance of the organisation. Consistently economists often view absenteeism in labour supply terms. More recently, absenteeism has increasingly been viewed as an indicator of psychological, medical, or social adjustment to work.

Absence from work can be a persistent and challenging problem confronting organisations (Sheikha & Younis, 2006). Hence organization needs to have a well structured policy to deal with absenteeism. Often than not management tries to ask for a reason of the absence. From this perspective, Abate (2002) viewed absenteeism as the frequent absence from work or other duties without good reason. This definition of absenteeism provide management a clear concept to ask for a plausible reason why employee is absent, for example illness, personal and family matter, or more clear term whether it is avoidable or unavoidable absence. Therefore Abate argued that the time when an employee is being scheduled to be on the job is important because he or she has promised to the management to work unless he or she is granted leave of absence such as vacation or other approved leave.

## 2.3.2 Impact of Absenteeism

Absenteeism is one of the important phenomena that exists in many organisations. It has far-reaching consequences toward organisational development because it can create problems for managers, co-workers, workers themselves and their families. The economic implication is also great. In 2005, it was reported that in the USA that a day of absence can cost an organization USD660 per-employee, and the average annual

costs associated with employee absenteeism can range from an estimated USD60,000 for a small company to over USD1 million for a large company (Commerce Clearing House (CCH), 2005). According to Atkin and Goodman (1983), the management of absenteeism is a long daunting task because till now there are no any concrete theories and consistent measures that are able to inform the management practice the best way to manage absenteeism in the organisation.

The impact of absenteeism on the organization is great. Employers are frustrated more than employees who fail to report for work, because organisations suffer in terms of shortage of human resources and this may affect the efficiency of job process. A survey was conducted in USA on 700 managers indicated that 20% of them called in sick without any convincing reasons (Gurchiek, 2005).

In the UK, Income Data Services (IDS) Ltd. (1988) mentioned six main categories of employee absence, with sickness absence top in the list follows by statutory time-off; strikes or other industrial action; holidays; special leave; and personal/domestic leave. However, Huczynski and Fitzpatrick (1989) notion of absence differs from IDS Ltd. (1988), as they referred to voluntary absence as the non-attendance of employees for scheduled work when they are expected to attend. This definition is logical in the sense that it helps to avoid a judgment on the legitimacy associated with absence from work. This highlighted the importance of differentiating voluntary absence from involuntary absence; thus organisations can exercise attendance control policy and procedures to deal with this problem accordingly. The identification of whether voluntary or involuntary absence provides a useful guide to supervisors and managers to dispel doubts about the employee attendance status before making any disciplinary decision on employees.
## 2.3.3 Causes and Explanation of Absenteeism

There is no single explanation for absence behaviour; the cause may be simple, or multiple, complex and inter-related. Causes can vary between different groups of employees in the same organisation, and fluctuate for the same employees over their working life (Johnson, Croghan & Crawford, 2003).

Huczynski and Fitzpatrick (1989) added that many organisations have misconception about causes of absenteeism; most perceive that these are similar to employees' turnover. They fail to understand that absenteeism is one of the employee withdrawal behaviours that is different from employee turnover. This is agreed by Rhodes and Steers (1981) who argued that the problem of employee absenteeism is seldom examined systematically. Many researchers, have in fact, demarcated employee absenteeism from turnover. Considering that the negative consequences associated with absenteeism are typically fewer than those associated with turnover, absenteeism is more likely to be spontaneous and relatively easy decision for the employee, while decision to leave is more carefully thought of over a long period of time; and absenteeism is often indicative of a wish to leave the organisation (Rhodes & Steers, 1981; Huczynski & Fitzpatrick, 1989).

A study conducted by Joseph Jackson a few decades ago (Gaudet, 1963) found that employees with above-average rates of absence had the following traits in sequencing order of importance, and these traits are still relevant today. They are poor work habits; personal maladjustment; dissatisfaction with work; irresponsibility; difficulties encountered with external factors (for instance personal business, transportation, and housing difficulties) and lastly, sickness or fatigue. It seems that sickness is the last in the sequence of importance and people will have no option but to be absent because it is inevitable and involuntary and beyond their control. Gaudet (1963, p.71) reported that the above employees' traits operate when 'their problems' are aggravated on the job by boredom, discouragement, a poor working environment or a bad relationship with the colleagues or boss.

## 2.3.4 Sickness Absence

Sickness absence means non-attendance by an employee at work due to a (certified) health complaint when the employer expects attendance (Taimela *et al.*, 2007). Despite this direct definition, sickness absence has proved to be a complex phenomenon (Duijts *et al.*, 2007). In addition to illness, Briner (1996) associated this phenomenon with demographical and socioeconomic factors, organisational features, job content factors and attitudes to work. However, the key psychosocial predictors of sickness absence include individuals' own perceptions of health and working ability (Reiso *et al.*, 2001; Virtanen *et al.*, 2003).

Searle (1997) defined sickness absence as absence attributed by the employee to illness or injury and accepted as such by the employer. The main reason for absenteeism from work is ill health, although, ill health is not always equated to incapability to work (Grundemann & Vuuren, 1997). The ability to work is greatly influenced by a person's own perception about his/her capability or incapability and absence can be viewed as a very personal decision based on both the ability and the motivation to attend (Kristensen, 1991). Absences result when an individual decides to stay away from the workplace during scheduled work periods. Certainly, not all absences can be avoided, as Allen and Higgins (1979) claimed that we live in an absenteeism culture. Taking a day off and calling in sick is supported and encouraged by our society.

Long-term absence is most likely to be associated with medical problems, whereas short-term absence is likely to be because of social and personal factors rather than illness, and is therefore open to management control (Searle, 1997; Evans & Walters, 2002).

Sickness absence is an important issue in healthcare, as this phenomenon is relatively prevalent among healthcare workers associated with high levels of job stress (Bourbonnais, Comeau, Ve´zina & Guylaine, 1998; Greenglass, Burke & Fiksenbaum, 2001; Tummers, van Merode & Landeweerd, 2002). This creates insufficient healthcare workers to cater for the needs of health services and implicates the quality of healthcare provided to the sick. Hence, much attention has been paid to sickness absence in the healthcare sector. The withdrawal behaviour in heath services, especially among the nurses is costly; it destabilises patient care and undermines employee morale (Cavanagh, 1989).

A study conducted by Wortsman and Lockhead (2002) found that in any given week, more than 13,000 Registered Nurses (RNs) in Canada or 7.4% of all RNs, are absent from work because of injury, illness, burnout or disability. To tackle the sickness absence problem, overtime has become a regular staffing strategy to accommodate staffing shortages. With this overtime strategy adopted by authority, a study was conducted by O'Brien-Pallas, Alksnis and Wang (2003) found that every quartile increase in overtime hours worked by the staff has caused a increase of Musculo-Skeletal Disorder (MSD) by 70%. Thus it can be perceived that the management has taken more time and energy to manage sickness absence rather than focus on improving the professional development, health status and welfare of existing employees (Lavoie-Tremblay & Brabant, 2006).

In the UK, the most frequently reported factor associated with ill health and sickness absence among nurses is workload (Tyler & Cushway, 1992). In two studies on sickness absence among healthcare workers in the UK, one found a negative association between sickness absence and job demands (Parkes, 1982), while the other found no association between sickness absence and job control (Rees & Cooper, 1992). Consistent results of association between sickness absence and job related factors are found among healthcare workers in the rest of Europe, the USA, and Australia. A study of nurses in the USA (Marshall & Barnett, 1992) and Australia (Pisarski, Bohle & Callan, 1998) found an association between co-worker support and sickness absence. A study conducted on Swedish nurses associated sickness absence with job influences (Petterson, Arnetz & Arnetz, 1995). Another study conducted in the USA linked sickness absence with role ambiguity (Revicki & May, 1989). Sickness absence was also associated with workload and lack of training (Landeweerd & Boumans, 1994), unsupportive management style (Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1985), and low pay (Brooke & Price, 1989). All these studies point to the relationship between job-related factors and sickness absence.

In the UK, sickness absence is high among healthcare workers and is associated with their physical and psychological ill health (Williams *et al.*, 1998). This phenomenon is likely to jeopardise the quality of patient care because most healthcare services are provided by healthcare workers working in team. Therefore sickness absence of any one individual is likely to cause increased work and stress for other healthcare staff. Cox and Griffiths (1995) argued that the causes of ill health and sickness absence among healthcare workers across UK hospitals are basically due to nature of work in hospital, organizational changes and workloads. They pointed out that the rate of ill health was alarmingly high among healthcare workers which range from 17% to 33%. Nevertheless Wall *et al* (1997) reported that those hospitals that allow more job flexibility, more training opportunities, better communication and good cooperation and support among staff and management have lower rate of ill health and sickness absence. Hence it can be perceived that organisational factors can influence ill health and sickness absence to certain extent.

According to Johnson *et al.* (2003), stress and strains of modern working life in today's fast paced society, have been put forward as an explanation for sickness absence, They argued that a paradox has emerged in the UK, and several other developed countries., where improvements in the standards of living, healthcare provision, and the working environment are associated with rising trends in medically certified incapacity. This may reflect changing expectations of society, for example, people would expect to be absent when ill than to be ill at work.

Johnson *et al.* (2003) suggest measures to prevent the exacerbation of sickness absence, organisations should examine comprehensively their sickness absence problem and understand the organisation's unique cultural features before executing sickness absence policy and procedure. Otherwise it may exacerbate the absence problem.

Rogers and Herting (1993) conducted a study on sick-leave usage patterns among workers at a USA naval base in California. The study distinguished genuine sick leave from 'elective sick leave'. Genuine sick-leave was identified when employees being genuinely too ill to work. Elective sick-leave, on the other hand,

occurred when employees who could go to work without any detrimental effect to their own health, and to that of other employees or to job productivity, chose not to do so. The study identified elective sick leave as leave due to slight headache, minor menstrual discomfort, minor backache, elective medical appointments, and attending to sick children at home. The study obtained data on sick leave from employee payroll and personal records. An attitude survey questionnaire also elicited responses as to the circumstances under which sick-leave would be used. The analyses of the sick leave data yielded a significant positive correlation between the use of sick leave and age. As age increased, sick leave usage also increased. The response towards how sickleave would be used was consistent across different age groups. This suggested that age did not significantly affect the way employees felt about the use of sick leave.

Generally previous studies (Chadwick-Jones *et al.*, 1982; Hackett & Guion, 1985; Ilgen & Hollenback, 1977) found typically weak relationship between age and absenteeism. In terms of relationship between supervisory style and absenteeism, a study conducted by Zaccaro, Craig and Quinn (1991) revealed no significant relationship. On the other hand, job satisfaction, as one of the attitudinal factors has been found to associate with absenteeism. Farrell amd Stamm (1988) conducted a meta-analysis found a significant number of literature support the relationship between job satisfaction and absenteeism.

#### 2.3.5 Impact of Sickness Absence

Sickness absence is an important occupational problem and has an inevitable impact on productivity and on costs of health insurance (Rauhalaa *et al.*, 2007). The cost of sickness absence to the British economy has been estimated to be similar to the total annual expenditure for the NHS (Taylor, 1974). In 1994, because of sickness absence, 177 million days were lost totalling £11 billion (Grundemann & Vuuren, 1997). Such cost estimates have pressured the UK government to set targets to reduce sickness absence in the public sector. It is estimated that sickness absence among nurses in the UK costs £90.5 million per year, and £714 million per year when all NHS costs are considered (Williams *et al.*, 1998). With the average cost of absence from sickness running at £599 per employee in the UK, many firms are taking radical action to keep staff at work (Wigham, 2006). According to the CIPD (2004), the average worker now misses eight days each year due to sickness, while the CBI (2001b), claimed that the overall cost of sickness has reached more than £13 billion, i.e., the highest ever level.

Several authors have shown that sickness absence (especially long spells of absence or medically certified absence) can be an indicator of general health (Marmot *et al.*, 1995), and bring about financial implication to the industry and organisation. Other authors have found sickness absence to be a reliable indicator of subsequent serious morbidity (Jenkins, 1985). Because sickness absence is strongly related to health and has an important economic impact in costs of health insurance and loss of productivity, identification of the predictors of absenteeism is essential as a guide to preventive measures (Niedhammer *et al.*, 1998).

### 2.3.6 Illness, Disease and Workplace Attendance

Sickness absence is believed to have multifactorial aetiology, in which illness and injury may be two of the many causes (Niedhammer *et al.*, 1998). In the literature, several of the factors have proved to be associated with sickness absence, including

societal conditions (social insurance and security, economic fluctuations, etc.), conditions specific to a given workplace or organisation (policy towards the personnel, size, and type of industry), occupational conditions, such as physical, chemical and psychosocial stressors, seniority, educational level, occupation, social and demographic characteristics, i.e., sex, age, marital status, number of children, social network, commuting distance to work, smoking habits, type of personality, and health conditions also seem relevant (Prins & De Graaf, 1986; Kristensen, 1991).

It is also believed that many individual factors appear to be linked to absenteeism: past absence history, education, personality and the abuse of drugs and alcohol. The largest single component of sickness absenteeism is associated with genuine incapacity attributable to illness and injury. Surprisingly, health status is only a minor contributor as health status (by self-report) was not found to influence absenteeism significantly (Brooke & Price, 1989). This, in part, supports the hypothesis that sick leave use also has non-medical determinants. Disease and illness are rarely discussed in most models of workplace absenteeism, yet they form the bulk of the cause and provide a legitimate explanation for much of its occurrence. Many of these factors are prevalent in society and are open to interventions in the public arena as well as in the workplace. For example, the workplace can be a vehicle for the amplification of public health messages dealing with cigarette smoking, drug and alcohol use, diabetes and influenza. Thus, illness related leave might be unfairly considered as unavoidable from a workplace or from a medical perspective. In Australia, various studies have indicated that disease accounts for 50 to 75% of work absences, and "colds and flu" are most likely to account for short absences of 1-2 days (The Australasian Faculty of Occupational Medicine, 1999). A health survey in Australia found that 61.9% of all employed persons experienced some illness

throughout their working history. Taking into account the incidence of various illnesses, "flu" accounted for 18.5 % of absences, injuries 13%, musculoskeletal disorders 12%, digestive disorders 10.6% and "colds" 6.6% (Wooden & Robertson, 1989). Whist studies have showed that the incidence of illness may increase with age, however the sickness absence did not, thus, it appears that age has opposite effect upon the incidence of sickness absence (Wooden & Robertson, 1989).

## 2.3.7 Absenteeism Measures

One of the problems acknowledged by many authors is the measurement of absenteeism. The measurement of absence has long been recognised as one of the confusing areas in absence research. In his literature review, Muchinsky (1977) expressed his doubts about absence measurement:

"the single, most vexing problem associated with absenteeism as a meaningful concept involves the metrics or measure of absenteeism......more than any other consideration, the methodological "hodgepodge" surrounding absenteeism indices plagues the evaluation and interpretation of absenteeism research" (p. 317, 320).

According to Hinrichs (1980), one must clearly differentiate between avoidable and unavoidable absences. While differentiation is not always easy (Chadwick-Jones, Brown, Nicholson & Sheppard, 1971; Chadwick-Jones, Brown & Nicholson, 1973), several studies have looked at the relationships among an array of different possible measures of absenteeism, such as the overall frequency, 'attitudinal' absences (one-day absences), total time lost, lateness indicators, 'blue Monday index', medical absences, etc. (Huse & Taylor, 1962; Muchinsky, 1977). In several of these studies, the overall absence-frequency measure was found to be the most reliable, and many of the other measures exhibited marginal or non-existent measurement reliability. Steers and Rhodes (1978) justified that absenteeism behaviour is simply not a reliable phenomenon over time and that test-retest reliabilities of absenteeism measures should not be expected to be high.

Taylor (1982) stated that absenteeism is a repetitive event which needs a measuring tool to monitor its impact and consequences. He suggested three methods of measuring absence: using absence rate, absence percentage rate and absence frequency rate. Absence rate refers to total number of days that a person is absent each year. This actually refers to the time lost or absence duration. However, absence percentage rate expresses the number of absent days as a percentage of the total time that a person is expected to be at work. Lastly, absence frequency rate refers to the number of spells or instances of absence and is expressed as a number.

Chadwick-Jones *et al.* (1973) suggested the use of five categories of absence measures to capture the operation of choice in voluntary absence: (i) time lost (the length of any particular absence); (ii) frequency (the number of absent days in a given period); (iii) short-term (one and two day absences); (iv) 'blue Monday' (the difference between the total absence rates between Mondays and Fridays); and (v) worst day (the difference between the total absence rate on the 'worst'; (highest) and 'best' (lowest) days of the week). As for reliability, internal consistency of the absence indices was conducted using the split-half method. The result indicated that time lost index was highly reliable and consistent with short-term and frequency indices of acceptable reliability. 'Blue Monday' and 'worst' day indices did not seem

to be reliable. As for validity, the intercorrelations of the different absence indices were calculated based on the convergent and discriminant validity techniques.

Chadwick-Jones *et al.* (1973) categorised absenteeism into voluntary and involuntary absence. Their study also distinguished sickness: sanctioned and time-lost absence as unavoidable absence; and casual, unsanctioned absence frequency as avoidable absence. As discussed in the above paragraph, there are various indices of absenteeism which have been presented in different forms. However, the frequency index has been reported to be the most reliable and consistent measure of absence across different studies (Muchinsky, 1977).

Time lost or duration denotes the total amount of time lost (hours, days, months) resulting from employee absences for a certain time period. In a review of past literature on absenteeism for the purpose of meta-analysis, Scott and Taylor (1985) found that 74 out of 114 cases they studied used absence duration indices, in comparison with only 40 cases used by an absence frequency measure to correlate job satisfaction and absenteeism. Despite widespread employment of frequency and duration measures in absence research, these traditional measures of absence have been criticised as deficient in grasping all aspects of absence events because these measures can be subjected to biases (Hammer & Landau, 1981; Atkin & Goodman, 1984; Stone & Chacko, 1984).

Numerous studies were conducted in the west by government offices, and by the industry, especially in the UK, Europe and the USA, to determine the absence trends. However, many of these survey results are not convincing and authoritative because of problem of survey coverage, response rate and overlapping findings. Comparable figures on absence measures are both difficult to obtain and inherently unreliable. Hensing, Alexanderson, Alleback and Bjurulf (1998) concurred with Huse and Taylor, (1962); Muchinsky, (1977); Taylor (1982); Chadwick-Jones *et al.* (1973), that generally, absence can be measured with absence frequency and 'time lost' or absence duration index. Hensing *et al.* (1998) argued that absence frequency is considered to be an indicator of "voluntary absenteeism" and a function of employees' motivation, whereas, absence duration is is generally considered to be an indicator of "involuntary absenteeism" that results from the inability rather than the unwillingness to come to work (Bakker *et al.*, 2003b), for example as a result of ill health or accidents or injuries. To support the link between these two measures, Farrell and Stamm (1988) demonstrated in their study that correlation between absence frequency and duration ranges between a low -0.05 and a moderately high 0.60.

According to Thomson, Griffiths and Davison (2000), there are a number of difficulties when dealing with measurement issues related to voluntary and involuntary absence. First, it can be argued that frequency and duration measures are not valid operationalisations of voluntary and involuntary absence, respectively. Although different causes may underlie high levels of absence frequency and high levels of absence duration, it may be too large an inference to assign the former simply to voluntary and the latter to involuntary factors, such as sickness, and duration measures may include voluntary or avoidable absence. Second, the frequency and duration of absence measures are not particularly informative. For example, two individuals could each be absent five times in a year, and, in terms of the dependent variable of absence frequency, in statistical analyses, they would be treated equivalently. However, the first employee may have had five spells of absence of over seven days in length due to illness (as evidenced by a medical certificate), while the

second person may have had five single days off work. It is not possible to infer much about the nature of an employee's absence behaviour simply from knowing absence frequency, or similarly, simply from knowing the absence duration. Therefore, additional information is required: either by combining the two measures in some way or by including information about whether an absence is accompanied by a medical certificate. Most employers' human resources policies make provision for employees to produce medical certificates when they have been absent from work due to ill health. The reason for doing so is to avoid the abuse of sick leave by employees who are not genuinely sick when they absent themselves from work.

The third difficulty concerning the distinction between voluntary and involuntary absence is the judgmental quality of those terms. The use of such categorisations is reliant on the attributions of the researcher rather than a definitive characteristic obvious from the data (Atkin & Goodman, 1984). Nevertheless, a study examined the relationship between two measures of absence from work and four conceptually separate groups of predictors (job satisfaction, personal characteristics, leadership style and job content), and found that frequency of absence was a more sensitive criterion than time lost, and significant correlates of absence were noted in each predictor group. The regression analysis used indicated substantial redundancy within and between these groups of predictors (Johns, 1978).

### 2.3.7.1 Subjective versus Objective Measures

More recently, alternative indices of absence behaviour that reflect objective distinctions between absence events, together with additional information, have been increasingly used. Two such measures are certified and non-certified absence (Hensing *et al.*, 1998; Kivimaki *et al.*, 1997a; Marmot, Shipley & Rose, 1984; North *et al.*, 1993; Vahtera, Virtanen, Kivimaki & Pentti, 1999). These measures are more informative because they indicate: (i) the total time lost; (ii) the length of absence spells (non-certified absences are shorter spells, with longer spells requiring a physician's sickness certificate; and (iii) when illness is a causal factor in the absence (certified absence being validated by a physician). Furthermore, the distinction between the two measures is based on an objective characteristic from the raw data set (i.e., the presence of a physician's certificate in support of an illness), rather than an attribution by the researcher.

Evidence also suggests that these two measures represent different causes of absence (Hensing *et al.*, 1998). In certified absences, the influence of actual illnesses, such as musculoskeletal disorders, psychiatric diseases and injuries has been shown to be large, while in non-certified sickness absences, the influence of milder symptoms, such as headache, nausea and fatigue may prevail (Hensing, Spak, Alexanderson & Alleback, 1997; Marmot *et al.*, 1995). Therefore, using certified absence can be claimed as representing longer periods of absence related to illness, whilst non-certified absence reflects shorter periods of absence that may be related to milder illness or other factors (such as lack of motivation or domestic crises). Furthermore, the evidence available using these measures has found age to be correlated positively with long, medically-certified absence (Ferris, Bergin & Wayne, 1988; Johns, 1978; Leigh, 1986; Schalk, 1987; Vahtera, Uutela & Pentti, 1996).

The majority of the research on employee absenteeism relies on actual absence data from organisational records. However, over the years, a growing number of research has adopted self-reported absenteeism data instead of record-based

information (Johns, 1994a). The use of self-reported absenteeism data is justified due to several reasons, such as incomplete records and records not comparable across companies, time constraints, maintenance of respondent anonymity or confidentiality, possible errors in organisational records and distributional problems of record-based data (Johns, 1994a). Nevertheless, the data concerning sickness absence derived directly from the employee records would eliminate the potential bias involved in self-reporting (Niedhammer *et al.*, 1998).

Self-reported absenteeism was first developed by Price and Mueller (1986) using frequency measures. Some studies found that self-reported absenteeism consistently correlates with record-based measures (Hackett et al., 1989; Spector, 1987a), which also provides some psychometric property of self-reported absenteeism (Johns, 1994a). Research has found that self-serving bias occurs in self-report absenteeism, i.e., people normally under-report their own actual absence (Johns, 1994b). It seems that majority of self-serving perception of absence occurs in western culture, where it is considered as an individualistic orientation (Hofstede, 1991). However, in Asian countries, the society mirrors the collectivist orientations of the social contexts, and with modesty and interdependent traits inherent in Asian culture, they are said to prevent self-serving biases (Johns & Xie, 1998). In other words, the unique characteristics of Asian culture may influence Asians to provide a reliable selfreported data on their own absenteeism. Nevertheless, the data concerning sickness absence is best derived directly from the employee records, and this objective measure still remains as the best viability of alternative measures of absenteeism (Goldberg & Waldman, 1999), as it would eliminate the potential bias involved in self-reporting (Niedhammer et al., 1998; Harrison & Shaffer, 1994). Harrison and Shaffer (1994) termed this self-report bias as the "Lake Wobegon effect" because their research found that 85% to 95% of respondents reported being above average in their attendance record. This situation was traced to a small negative bias (underreporting) in self-reports and a large positive bias (over-reporting) in perceived norms, usually in the attendance. Research also shows that self-reports correlated strongly with the observation record (Harrison & Shaffer, 1994). Hence, this discussion provides justification for the selection of organisation record data for sickness absence in the present study.

According to Rentsch and Steel (1998), short-term assessments of absence are highly susceptible to bias. For example, a 3-month absence measure may not be able to differentiate between the usually reliable employee who suffers a single lengthy illness and the truly absence-prone individual. Therefore, they suggested that cumulated absence measures are better equipped to capture reliable patterns of attendance behaviour than are short-run absence measures.

Many previous studies that have compared self-reported and recorded absence data have taken the employers' register data as the reference standard (van Poppel, de Vet, Koest, Smid & Bouter, 2002). Many studies are in support that employers' register should remain as the gold standard. However, empirical studies indicate that self-reporting is less of a problem and there is little difference in the strengths and association between these two sickness measures and physical illness (van Poppel *et al.*, 2002; Ferrie *et al.*, 2005).

There are over 41 different absence measures which have been used and practiced by the organisations (Gaudet, 1963). It seems that frequency and time lost (duration) measures are the most commonly used methods due to their relative conceptual and operational clarity (Hensing *et al.*, 1998; Atkin & Goodman, 1984).

However, Chadwick-Jones *et al.* (1971) claimed that the time lost measure is the most universally accepted and used by the organisations.

An annual sickness absence rate of 4.59% was reported for nursing staff in the NHS in the UK (NHS, 2012a). However, for all healthcare staff under NHS, the figure was slightly lower with 4.16% (NHS, 2012a). With the survey done for general population, the UK recorded 4.5% (ONS, 2012); Singapore reported 3.5% (Singapore Human Resources Department, 2009); the lowest was reported in Switzerland with 1.78%, and Sweden had quite high sickness absence rate with 6.31% (Barmby, Ercolani & Treble, 2002).

In terms of annual time lost in days for nursing staff in 2011, the NHS, UK recorded 5,107,461 days based on nursing workforce of 319,919 in year 2011 (NHS, 2012b). The average sick leave per employee per year was 6.5 days for each employee for the general population of the UK in 2011, and the figure estimated for public sector employees in the UK was 8.4 days (CBI, 2011). However, the average duration of sick leave per employee per year from previous studies in Malaysia and Singapore was lower with 2.5; 3.2 and 4.27 days respectively for these three studies (Chee & Rampal, 2003; Chan *et al.*, 1997; Chia, 1988).

### 2.3.7.2 Measuring Cost of Absenteeism

Measuring of cost due to absence by companies can actually reflect the true magnitude of absence costs incurred. Taylor (1982) identified not only direct costs of employee absence, but also indirect costs that often are not apparent to managers. He described direct costs as sick pay and continued payment of fringe benefits to the absent employee (for example, insurance, pension and holidays), overtime payment

for those who replace the absentee and costs incurred in overstaffing. His notions of indirect costs ranged from costs incurred due to disruption or shutdowns of sections, reduced productivity, lower product quality, management time lost in revising work schedules, counselling, disciplining and quality checking, administrative cost to maintain and run absence control programme, cost of recruitment, selection and training of replacements and adverse effects of dissatisfaction of other employees when they see unwarranted absence and resent doing the absentee's work.

The IDS (1998) estimated the annual cost of absence to the UK economy to be around £13billion, an average of £581 per employee. These estimates are supported by the CBI (2001b), which estimated that in year 2000, around 192 million working days were lost through absence. This represents an average of 7.8 working days per employee or about 3.4% of working time – at an estimated cost to the economy of £10.7 billion.

Other authors have concluded, however, that the true cost of absence is even greater; once indirect costs, such as lower quality products or services and lower customer satisfaction are included. For example, Ho (1997) argued that the economic impact of employee absenteeism is derived mainly from the costs of decreased productivity because of absence from work, less experienced replacements and the additional expense of hiring substitute labour. On the basis of data collected by the CBI (1999), it is estimated that when indirect costs are included, absenteeism costs British employers around £1,092 per employee per year.

One study attempted to itemise the fixed costs associated with each incident of absenteeism using the job of bank tellers in one of the banks in the USA. This study estimated that each incident of absenteeism cost a total of USD66.45 (Mirvis & Lawler, 1977). However, these are only the tangible and easy to estimate costs; the

actual costs in terms of reduced efficiency, inferior customer service, supervisory workload and unrealised opportunities were not included. This incident price tag of only a minimum cost of USD 66 per incident has caused a productivity drag on the USA economy of over USD 36 billion. The statistics from the Bureau of Labour Statistics in the USA reflect an absence rate of 3.5% of normally scheduled hours among a total of 60.2 million wage and salary employees in 1978, averaging out to 10.54 million days lost per week, or 548 million days per year (Taylor, 1979; Hinrichs, 1980).

Important issues, such as employee absence and the need to focus management attention on it, are especially significant when organisations are pressurisd to achieve enhanced levels of performance. At such times, the detrimental effects of absence upon organisational well-being is most stronglyly felt, and its incompatibility with desired improvements become very apparent. Furthermore, employee absence and its manifestations may represent a significant threat to change management in circumstances where organisational systems, structures, processes, and management practices, are contributing to the level of absence (Bennett, 2002). Therefore, the importance of measuring absence costs underscores the keeping and monitoring of accurate records and employing of effective absence control strategy. The act of measurement is itself an absence control tool. In most companies, the source of information on attendance comes from time clock (punch card or biometric thumb print system), attendance sheet or recording book, medical records, personal files or 'return to work' interviews.

Up to now, no robust data exists in many organisations to calculate sickness absence costs (Bevan & Hayday, 2001). Most of the organisations are ill-equipped to calculate their absence costs systematically and only 15% of them manage to estimate

it appropriately (Bevan, Dench, Harper & Hayday, 2004). Previous estimation of sickness absence costs in European countries (Grundemann, 1997; Bevan *et al.*, 2004; Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), 2009) showed discrepancy in methods of computing costs, thus making it difficult and unreliable for comparison across different countries.

According to Mercer, Carpenter and Wyman (2008), direct cost is the pay or benefit provided to an employee for time not worked. The indirect costs include the effects on productivity, administration, quality of service, insurance contributions and the hiring of replacement workers.

Estimation for sickness absence cost in the UK health sector was £692 (RM3,314.68) per employee per year (CIPD, 2011). However the sickness absence cost reported by recent survey on health and well-being in the UK revealed a more alarming figure of £1,958.40 (RM9,380.74) per employee per year (Black & Frost, 2011).

In the whole of the UK, sickness absence costs the economy £100 billion with about 150 million working days lost each year in 2010 (CIPD, 2011). A study was conducted on seven organisations in Europe and estimated sickness absence costs ranged from between 2 to 16% of employees' annual salary costs (Bevan & Hayday, 2001).

### 2.3.7.3 Reliability and Validity of Absence Measures

Traditionally, employee absenteeism has been measured and understood in a static way. Previously, the most widely used measures of absence are simply indices of the frequency and duration of absence from scheduled work over a period of time or time lost. In many previous studies, these measures of absence were flawed by statistical defects, such as instability of absence data and/or non-normal simple distributions. Such methodological problems led to questions about the usefulness of the ordinary least-square regression and relationship between employee attitude and absenteeism (Hammer & Landau, 1981).

A number of past researches and literature reviews addressing the reliability issue was carried out by many researchers (For example, Muchinsky, 1977; Steers & Rhodes, 1978; Chadwick-Jone et al., 1982; Fichman, 1984). Hammer and Landau (1981) focused on the methodological problems associated with absenteeism research after dividing absenteeism data into the voluntary and involuntary categories as mentioned earlier. Their findings confirmed the methodological problems inherent in traditional approaches: instability in absence behaviour and non-normal distributions. These statistical problems are due to wide fluctuation of absences between periods; both voluntary and involuntary absences are often considered as random behaviour. Such an instability characteristic limited the use of least-square regression and correlation models in the analysis of absence data. Nevertheless, Hammer and Landau (1981) demonstrated that aggregate data on absence for a longer period were more consistent than the data for the shorter duration. They suggested using Tobit analysis in preference to the ordinary least-square model employed in previous research. Low and inconsistent validity coefficients in absenteeism research have also been attributed to theoretical deficiencies as well as methodological problems (Steers & Rhodes, 1978). Many scholars (such as Latham & Pursell, 1975, 1977; Smith, 1977; Steers & Rhodes, 1978; Harrison & Martocchio, 1998; Johns, 2003) have advocated the use of attendance indices and diverse methods rather than measures of voluntary absenteeism. However, the use of attendance measures has met with strong resistance because the construct validity of such measures is not comparable to that of absence behaviour, suggesting that they may be criterion-contaminated (Ilgen, 1977; Smulder, 1980). Cascio (1987) argued that the contamination may occur when the operational or actual criterion contains variance that is unrelated to the ultimate criterion.

## 2.3.7.4 Stability of Employee Attendance and Absence

In appraising employees' performance, organisations often use attendance or absenteeism as criteria, even though attendance or absenteeism is necessary, but not sufficient conditions for performance appraisal (March & Simon, 1958). Attendance may be regarded as a more accurate criterion of employee reliability or stability, in that attendance is more consistently observable than absenteeism. An employee may be viewed as relatively stable if he or she attends for a long interval between only a few absences. Thus, stability refers to continuous and cyclical aspects of both employee attendance and absence over time. To date, neither absence nor attendance data is used in reliable and valid ways to predict work-related attitudes associated with withdrawal behaviour.

### 2.3.8 Empirical Evidences on Predictors of Sickness Absence

Employee absenteeism is linked to many factors, with the major, though not sole determinant, being disease-related incapacity. There has been a considerable amount of investigation on the causes of absenteeism. Much of this takes the form of exploring associations between various factors and individual or group behaviour (Hammer & Landau, 1981; Clegg, 1983; Jenkins, 1985; Parkes, 1987; Michie &

Williams, 2003; Clegg, 1983; Hammer & Landau, 1981; Jenkins, 1985; Parkes, 1987;
Isacsson *et al.*, 1992; Hornquist *et al.*, 1993; Marmot *et al.*, 1995; North *et al.*, 1996;
Michie & Williams, 2003; Beemsterboer *et al.*, 2008, 2009).

In order to understand better the relationship between the sickness absence and its correlates, several related empirical studies regarding the predictors of sickness absence are presented below. The following Table 2.1 summarises the literature's findings related to sickness absence in various contexts.

Selected study	Subject	Findings
-	·	<u> </u>
Voss, Floderus and	Swedish post employees	Workers with more physical demands and
Diderichsen (2004)		workload at work showed an increase in
		incidence of sickness absence.
Vaananen et al.	Finnish public employees	Low job autonomy, low job complexity and
(2003)		lack of social support are associated with
		long episode of sickness absence.
Vaananen et al.	White and blue-collar	In white-collar men, role ambiguity is
(2004)	employees	positively associated with sickness absences.
		Weak associations between work-related
		psychosocial factors, mental demands and
		sickness absence in white-collar women.
Vaananen et al.	Finnish municipal	Positive relationship between role conflicts
(2008)	employees	and sickness absence.
		Occupational grades, gender, having young
		children moderate the effects of role conflicts
		on sickness absence.
Landstad, Vinberg,	Swedish hospital cleaners	Negative link between job tenure and
Ivergard, Gelin and	-	sickness absence. Social support contributes
Ekholm (2001)		to decrease in sickness absence.
Huibers et al. (2004)	Dutch population-based	Older age, female sex, low autonomy,
	cohort study	working night shift are predictors of long-
		term sickness absence.
Bekker, Rutte and van	Dutch male and female	More females than males are absent from
Rijswijk (2009)	working adults	work because of short-term sickness absence.
Verhaeghe, Mak, Van	Belgium nurses	Positive association between job demands
Maele, Kornitzer and		and sickness absence; and negative
De Backer (2003)		association between social support and
		sickness absence.
Hanebuth, Meinel and	Employees at	Lack of social support was significantly
Fischer (2006)	manufacturing plant in	associated with sickness absence.
	Germany	
Woo, Yao, Oh and	Singapore civil servants	Environmental stressors and psychosocial
Kong (1999)		aspects of the workplace environment were
		positively linked to sickness absence.

 Table 2.1

 Related Empirical Studies on Predictors of Sickness Absence

 Subset

Chee and Rampal	Malaysian semi-	Environmental stressors were positively
(2003)	conductor workers	linked to sickness absence.
Indran <i>et al.</i> (1995)	Malaysian private agency	Female workers had more sickness absence
	workers	than male workers.
Lowe, Schellenberg	US working adults	Employees in healthier work environments
and Shannon (2003)	-	had significantly lower absenteeism.
Vahtera, Kiwimaki	US working adults	Low task control led to high sickness
and Pentti (2000a)		absence.
Roelen et al. (2006)	Dutch administrative	Age was negatively associated with sickness
	workers	absence.
Punnett, Greenidge	Working adults in	Negative association between self-efficacy
and Ramsey (2007)	Barbados	and absenteeism.
Moreau et al. (2004)	Belgium cohort study	Significant association between social
		support and sickness absence.
Lund et al. (2006)	Dutch working adults	Positive association between physical
	-	demands of the job and long-term sickness
		absence.
Weinberg and Creed	British health care	Negative link between social support and
(2000)	professionals	sickness absence.
Lipley (2003)	Canadian health care	Providing feedback reduces the sickness
	professionals	absence frequency.
Petren, Petzall, Preber	Swedish dental	Role ambiguity was positively associated
and Bergstrom (2007)	hygiengists	with sickness absence.
Eriksen, Bruusgaard	Norwegian	Perceived lack of supportive culture in a
and Knardahl (2003)	nurses' aides	workplace was associated with a higher risk
		of sickness absence.
Eshoj, Jepsen and	Ocupationally active	Heavy-duty work was found to correlate with
Nielsen (2001)	residents of a Danish	sickness absence.
	county	
Voss, Floderus and	Sweden Postal staff	Repetitive work and heavy lifting was found
Diderichsen (2001a)		to correlate with sickness absence.
Melchior,	Prospective study GAZEL	Co-worker support correlated with sickness
Niedhammer,	cohort	absence.
Berkman and		
Goldberg (2003)		
North et al. (1996)	British civil servants	Psychosocial work environment predicted
		rates of sickness absence

Table 2.1 (Continued)

By studying the above Table, it seems that there are a significant number of empirical studies carried out in the last 10-15 years that show relationships between job demands, job resources and sickness absence. Some of the job demands dimensions, such as physical demand, workload, mental demand, role conflict, role ambiguity, job complexity and environmental stressors showed positive link with sickness absence. On the other hand, there are also some job resources dimensions that showed negative links to sickness absence. These factors include social support, task/time control, job autonomy, job feedback and self-efficacy. Hence, out of 26 studies documented as above, 9 studies demonstrated association between job demands and sickness absence, while 11 studies found association between job resources and sickness absence. Four studies provided evidence of association between psychosocial work environment and sickness absence. Three studies were linking age and gender with sickness absence and one supported the influence of organizational culture on sickness absence.

# 2.4 Job Demands

Under the job demands dimensions, few important variables have been identified in this study in relation to job stress and sickness absence. These variables are workload, physical demand, emotional demand, job scope, role conflict, role ambiguity and job complexity.

Like other sectors, the healthcare structure in most parts of the world has to comply with economic principles, which emphasise on cost reduction and increased productivity. Over the last few decades, this has led to a reduction of scarce resources (Verhaeghe *et al.*, 2003). As one of the cost cutting strategies, the length of hospital stay for patients has been shortened (Kominski & Witsberger, 1993; Kirchheimer, 2001). Nevertheless, patients in a hospital need more intensive care during the period of admission which results in increased job demand on the wards. In addition, with fast technological advance in medical field and the shift from more mechanical and distanced nursing (primary nursing) to a more holistic approach (integrated nursing) has resulted in a larger individual involvement and pressure on hospital nurses (Verhaeghe *et al.*, 2003).

A study was carried out by Verhaeghe *et al.* (2003) to compare 315 hospital nurses with 615 non-nursing workers, as a control group. Their study found hospital nurses have higher job demands and lower job control than the non-nursing group. They also showed important positive association between job demands and absenteeism among the hospital nurses.

This study utilises Job Demand/Resources (JD-R) model (Demerouti *et al.*, 2000b; Demerouti, Bakker, Nachreiner & Schaufeli, 2001b; Bakker *et al.*, 2003a). According to this model, job demands refer to those physical, psychological, social, or organisational aspects of the job that require sustained physical and/or psychological (cognitive and emotional) effort or skills and are therefore associated with certain physiological and/or psychological costs (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). Examples of job demands are high work pressure, an unfavourable physical environment, and emotionally demanding interactions with clients. Meijman and Mulder (1998) agreed that job demands are not necessarily negative, but they may turn into job stressors when meeting those demands requires high effort for which the employee is not adequately prepared.

Poorly designed jobs or chronic job demands (e.g., work overload, emotional demands) exhaust employees' mental and physical resources and may lead to the depletion of energy and exhaustion and even health problems (e.g. Leiter, 1993; Demerouti *et al.*, 2000a). The following section discusses these factors in detail.

## 2.4.1 Workload

Workload can be either work underload or work overload. Work underload exists as a possible stressor when an employee is receiving too little work or having tasks that do not sufficiently use his or her talents. However, work overload is a far more common

stressor in today's work setting. Employees have either too much to do in too little time, or they work too many hours on the job. Long work hours lead to unhealthy styles, which, in turn, can cause heart diseases and strokes (Schnall *et al.*, 1994). In Japan, death from overwork has its own name – 'karoshi' which seems to reflect the health implication of the workload phenomenon occurring in Japanese workplace (McSahne & Glinow, 2008). To highlight the effect of workload at workplace, the Australian Senate Community Affairs References Committee (2002, cited in Hegney, Plank & Parker, 2003) stated:

'Workloads must be addressed in relation to their effect on burnout and stress. Burnout contributes to job dissatisfaction, absenteeism and turnover. Burnout is the consequence of specific social and situational factors that can be changed, if the will is there.' (p. 314).

During recent years, many changes in healthcare working areas have increased the burden of care for nurses. These include, for example, an increase in the number of patients and their needs, an increase in patient acuity rates with a decrease in the length of stay, relative lack of economic resources, claims of better productivity and increased competition in healthcare.

Work overload has been found to be associated with reduced levels of staff well-being (Cavanagh & Coffin, 1992; Bryant, Fairbrother & Fenton, 2000; Hegney *et al.*, 2003; McVicar, 2003), with impaired quality (Aiken, Clarke, Sloane, Sochalski & Silber, 2002), and with adverse outcomes for patients (Needleman, Buerhaus, Mattke, Stewart & Zelevinsky, 2002). Thus, scarce nursing resources should be allocated appropriately so that excessive workload is avoided. However, little objective evidence has been available on the negative consequences of work overload for nurses' health or sickness absence. One of the reasons for this is the lack of comprehensive, reliable and well-validated measures of nursing workload (Mark, 2002). Rauhalaa *et al.* (2007) recommended the use of a new system of nursing care intensity classification - the RAFAELA system that analyses the association between nurses' sickness absence and their patient-associated work overload. An advantage of this assessment system is that it enables the monitoring of nurses' patient-associated workload in relation to an optimum.

One of the main reasons for the negative attitudes, occupational stress and job dissatisfaction among nurses is suggested to be work overload (Bryant *et al.*, 2000; McVicar, 2003). In a study of British nurses by Adams and Bond (2003), adequate staffing resources were found to be strongly associated with job satisfaction. The greatest motivation for hospital staff is giving high quality of service to patients (Ham, 2003), and if workload is too high, there is no time for quality. In an Australian study (Hegney *et al.* 2003), a large proportion of nurses expressed anger and frustration about their inability to complete their work to their professional satisfaction in the working time available.

Only a small number of studies have examined the association between sickness absence and employees' workload. Sick leave among women in the public sector has been found to be associated with physical or mental demands at work that were experienced to be higher than one's own capacity (Vingard *et al.*, 2005). In a questionnaire-based study of Swedish postal workers (Voss *et al.*, 2004), an association with sick leave was observed for complaints attributed to heavy, arduous work and, for women, a high total workload. Some physical characteristics of work, such as heavy lifting, are also known to be associated with a higher incidence of sick leave (Voss *et al.*, 2001a).

Rauhalaa *et al.*'s (2007) study on 877 nurses in Finland hospitals found workload among nurses exceeding the optimum by about 15% or more, which may increase the risk of sickness absence. Workload among nurses exceeding the optimum by 30% or more, increases the risk of self-certified sickness absence by 44% and medically certified sickness absence by 49%. About 5–6% of the increased productivity resulting from nurses' work overload is lost in increased periods of sick leave. They suggested that measuring nurses' workload may be an important part of strategic human resource management of nurses to reduce sick leave among nurses.

Khowaja, Merchant and Hirani (2005) found the majority of the focus group subjects in their study gave workload as the main reason for job dissatisfaction. They felt that because of the shortage of staff and absenteeism, performing non-nursing tasks, such as providing water, tea, and removing linen from washrooms increased their workload. Regardless of the work area, the nurses felt that their workload was high. The participants of this study also responded that that they even sacrificed their breaks or meals due to high workload. Another factor mentioned in this study was too much nursing documentation which increases workload, and they suggested nursing management needs to analyse workload in order to understand how busy they are.

According to Al-Kandari and Thomas (2008), nurses' workload is made up of nursing and non-nursing tasks/activities. Nursing tasks refer to the tasks/activities carried out by a nurse during a shift. They include patient assessment, developing care plans and providing comprehensive nursing care. Non-nursing tasks/activities refer to the activities carried out by a nurse during a shift which do not require professional nursing skills and are not related to direct patient care. They include clerical work, housekeeping, dietary services, coordinating ancillary services and transporting patients. As nurses have to work harder, time spent for each patient will be less. The concomitant need to continuously 'rush to catch up' and the frustration of leaving important work undone have taken their toll on nurses' health and patient outcome (Shannon & French, 2005). In a study by Greenglass and Burke (2001), nurses reported that the quality of healthcare and services provided to patients were seriously compromised as a result of management cost cutbacks. This study pointed out that because of this changing environment, the amount of time nurses have to assess, monitor and provide appropriate nursing care, as well as to be teachers, comforters and communicators has shrunk (Canadian Nursing Advisory Committee, 2002).

O'Brien-Pallas *et al.* (2003) found that technological innovations, such as day care procedures designed to decrease the number of hospital beds and the number of nurses required, actually increased the level of work intensity of the nursing staff. Thus, more not fewer nurses were needed to deal with the increased patient acuity.

Bekker *et al.* (2005) concluded in their studies that workload was related to emotional exhaustion and to sickness absence. In particular, the high workload within nursing has been mentioned as one of the contributing factors to these negative outcomes. The influence of high workload has been well documented, especially in terms of its negative implications on job satisfaction and burnout (Karasek, 1979; Armstrong, Cameron & Horsburgh, 1996; Greenglass *et al.*, 2001).

One study supports the idea that workload is a significant stressor associated with a variety of deleterious psychological reactions, including burnout, in several different samples of workers (Greenglass, Burke & Moore, 2003). Excessive workload occurs when an employee perceives that he or she has too many tasks to do in a period of time. Theoretically, stress results from a situation of chronic imbalance, in which the job demands more than the organisation can give and provides less

resources than the individual needs. Considerable research supports the idea that excessive workload contributes to job stress (e.g. Leiter, 1991; Greenglass *et al.*, 2003; Greenglass, Burke & Konarski, 1998). A meta-analysis by Lee and Ashforth (1996) showed that workload and time pressure shared, on average, 25 to 42% of variance with emotional exhaustion in a subscale of the Maslach Burnout Inventory (MBI) (Maslach & Jackson, 1986). Research on work stressors supports the idea that workload was more likely to contribute directly to emotional exhaustion (Leiter, 1991; Greenglass *et al.*, 1998).

Quantitative workload is a consistent stressor in nurses, as demonstrated by Moore, Kuhrik, Kuhrik and Katz (1996), in their study of acute care nurses and by Armstrong-Stassen (1994) among general nurses. Workload among nurses is one of the most significant predictors of stress (Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1983; Kaufman & Beehr, 1986; Moore *et al.*, 1996). Therefore, measuring nurses' workload may be an important part of strategic human resource management of nurses to reduce sick leave among nurses (Rauhala *et al.*, 2007).

Several studies have concluded that increased workload from job demands in nursing tasks, such as high patient to nurse ratios, overtime, and increasing patient acuity were significantly associated with job strain and exhaustion (Aiken *et al.*, 2002; O'Brien-Pallas, Thomson, Alksnis, & Bruce, 2001; Demerouti *et al.*, 2000b; Janssen, de Jonge, & Bakker, 1999).

#### 2.4.2 Physical Demand

No universally appropriate strategy has been used to identify and define physical demand for a specific job or task that may cause an increased risk for health

complaints (Bos, Kuijer & Frings-Dresen, 2002). Hence, before any measure taken in the prevention of work-related health complaints and sickness absence, more emphasis should be given to the definition and assessment of specific job demands.

Physical demand is a way of describing the physical activities that a job requires (Hernandez, 2006), and are actually stressors associated with a job's physical setting, such as humidity, seating and positions during work, lighting, noise, temperature, etc. According to the Dictionary of Occupational Titles, US Department of Labor (Hernandez, 2006), the physical demands of a job or task can be graded into sedentary, light, medium, heavy and very heavy based on the evaluation of the force and physical effort a person must exert.

In many industries, jobs to be performed still require physical demand (van der Molen & Delleman, 2006). As claimed by van der Molen and Delleman (2006), physical work demand is the most important cause of absenteeism and disability. In a 30-year prospective study conducted in Denmark on 5,249 employed men aged 40–59 years, it was found that men exposed to high physical work demand had an increased risk of cardiovascular mortality (Holtermann *et al.*, 2010). More than half of the cases of sick leave among Dutch construction site workers were the result of musculoskeletal complaints and disorders, mostly related to the lower back region. To reduce or eliminate health risks relating to the back, neck, and limbs, the Dutch authority has examined which tasks particularly overload their construction workers and consequently making the provision of guidelines and standards on physical workload mandatory.

Koningsveld and van der Molen (1997) suggested that radical changes in working methods, work organisation, and working conditions are prerequisites for the future of companies and the well-being of their workers. They asserted that

improvement processes by means of applying ergonomic standards, particularly using technical, organisational, or individual measures, can help in reducing physical work demands.

Nursing is a physically demanding job (Trinkoff, Storr & Lipscomb, 2001; Kant, de Jong, van Rijssen-Moll & Borm, 1992), and nurses have higher rates of musculoskeletal disorders (MSD) than most other occupational groups (Ando *et al.*, 2000; Engels, van der Gulden, Senden & van't Hof, 1996; Larese & Fiorito, 1994). The physical demands of nursing may lead to nurses leaving the profession, contributing to the shortage of registered nurses in many workplaces, and the issue of nurses shortage is a major concern in many organisations (Trinkoff, Lipscomb, Geiger-Brown, Storr & Brady, 2003).

In their study, Trinkoff *et al.* (2003) found that moderate to high physical demand was significantly associated with reported neck, shoulder, and back MSD cases, even after adjustments for demographic and lifestyle-related co-variates. Adjusted odds ratios for highly demanding work (versus low demanding work) ranged from 4.98 to 6.13 depending on type of work involved. When their analyses were restricted to staff nurses only, the odds ranged from 9.05 to 11.99. This study concurred with Harrison and Nixon (2002) who perceived physical demand is associated with reported MSD, and the associations were stronger among staff nurses than other nursing groups, perhaps reflecting the high proportion of direct patient-care activities in staff nurses' jobs, and the study also reported association between physical demand and absenteeism.

Physical work demands that contribute to MSD often result in employee disability leave and sickness-related absenteeism in the workplace (Eshoj *et al.*, 2001;Voss *et al.*, 2001a; Roelen, Koopmans, Notenbomer & Groothoff, 2008; Ariens,

Bongers, Hoogendoorn, van der Wal & van Mechelen, 2002; Frings-Dresen & Sluiter, 2003). Several other studies have shown a relationship between physical demand in patient-lifting frequency, working posture, repetitive arm movements and arm, neck and low back problems (Lagerstrom, Hansson & Hagberg, 1998; Pope, Silman, Cherry, Pritchard & Macfarlane, 2001; Engels *et al.*, 1996; Mehlum, Kjuus, Veiersted & Wergeland, 2006). A study by Nabe-Nielsen, Fallentin, Christensen, Jensen and Diderichsen (2008) showed that among hospital personnel, the physical demand due to the frequency of patient handling tasks seem to be more strongly associated with low back pain. However arguably the physical demand involved in each patient varies, as it depends on the cooperation of each patient. Thus, the physical demand can be very unspecified and difficult to measure.

Physical demand in the hospital sector can be measured by asking a specific question about the daily number of patient handling tasks, and generic questions on working postures and lifting. According to Nabe-Nielsen *et al.* (2008), there is a moderate correlation (0.596) between these measures of physical demands, and the number of daily patient handling tasks, and these factors explain 33.1% of the total variance in the physical load index.

### 2.4.3 Emotional Demand

According to Hartel *et al.* (2005), emotional demand is the frequency and duration of the emotional requirement of the job that has an impact on the employee well being. This impact may depersonalize themselves from their job; in other word, it may lead them to stress and mental exhaustion.

It is likely that working in jobs that need high levels of emotional demand may result in withdrawal behaviours (Maslach & Pines, 1977; Cordes & Dougherty, 1993; Singh, Goolsby & Rhoads, 1994; Grandey, 2000). According to Grandey (2000), emotional demand can result in physiological arousal and over the long-run, may lead to withdrawal behaviours, such as absenteeism and turnover. Emotional demand is highly prevalent in some specific occupations, for example nurses, doctors and teachers (Hochschild, 1983; Morris & Feldman, 1996; Bakker, Schaufeli, Sixma, Bosveld & Van Dierendonck, 2000). According to Fillon et al. (2007), psychological demand and emotional demand serve as indicators to job demands. In their integrative stress model, job resources would have job control, rewards, and self-efficacy as indicators. In turn, job demands are expected to predict low job satisfaction and high emotional distress, whereas job resources would lead to high job satisfaction and low emotional distress. Schaubroeck and Ganster (1993) found that high mental demand was associated with job tress. On the other hand, Van Sell, Brief and Schuler (1981) viewed that this job stress is caused by inability to meet various expectations of psychological and emotional demands.

In jobs that warrant increased emotional demand, a person may experience high blood pressure; however it is unsure whether the increase is associated with emotional demand or physical demand of the job concerned (Rose & Fogg, 1993). Schaufeli and Enzmann (1998), in their review of studies, found that patient-related stressors are sources of emotional demands among healthcare workers. These stressors are interaction with difficult patients, frequency of contact with chronically or terminally ill patients or confrontation with death and dying. But these patientrelated stressors are not highly correlated with job stress compared to job-related stressors, such as workload, time pressure or role conflict. A study on a sample of nurses by Mallet, Price, Jurs and Slenker (1991) found weak correlation between death of patients and emotional exhaustion and depersonalisation. Obviously, confrontation with death and dying of patients is not the disturbing part of the nurses' job. It is likely that nurses have developed adaptive mechanisms that prevent negative long-term effect, such as burnout.

Emotional demand due to interpersonal relationship in helping patients, for example, in nursing professions, are considered to be the root cause of burnout (Maslach, 1993). French and Caplan (1973) found that high responsibility for others was associated with stress. Maslach (1993) argued that patient contacts are emotionally charged by their very nature, because healthcare professionals, like nurses, deal with troubled people who are in need of care. To deal with emotional demand and increased job performance among health care employees, Carayon (2007) suggested healthcare professionals to adopt techniques of detachment, whereby patients are treated in a more remote, objective way; it then becomes easier to perform tasks without suffering strong emotional discomfort.

A study conducted by Conjuga, Hammig, Bauer and Laubli (2010) revealed that the emotional demand of the job, had contradictory impacts on short- and longterm absenteeism due to MSD. Schaufeli, Bakker and Van Rhenen's (2009) study of 201 telecom managers showed increases in job demands characterised by overload, emotional demand, and work-home interference and decreases in job resources (i.e., social support, autonomy, opportunities to learn, and feedback) predict job stress.This study also showed job stress positively predicts sickness absence.

In a study on a sample of 98 call centre workers in Australia, Lewig and Dollard (2003) found emotional demand relates to job satisfaction and emotional exhaustion. One interesting finding is that emotional demand with emotional
dissonance was found to exacerbate the level of emotional exhaustion and reduce job satisfaction. Emotional dissonance is the feeling of uneasiness to individual identity when someone tries to evaluate his or her emotional experience (Janzs & Timmers, 2002). Thus this study indicates that jobs with combined high levels of both kinds of demands are at risks of leading to job strain and withdrawal behavours.

Another concept that is inextricably linked to mental demand is emotional labour. Managing emotions for a wage has been termed as emotional labour (Hochschild, 1983). According to Ashforth and Humphrey (1993), emotional labour is a 'double-edged sword'. In its functional capacity, emotional labour facilitates task effectiveness by providing service workers with a means to regulate what are often dynamic and emergent interactions, thus providing the workers with a sense of self-efficacy. Emotional labour may also facilitate self-expression by enabling the service workers to 'project at least some of the authentic self' into their job perspevtive (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993). On the other hand, emotional labour can be dysfunctional to the worker when emotional dissonance is experienced. This emotional dissonance is the incongruence between feeling and action, and it may lead to lowered self-esteem, depression, cynicism and alienation from work.

### 2.4.4 Job Scope

Job scope refers to the number of different activities that a specific job requires and the frequency with which each activity is performed (Lewis *et al.*, 2007). However, in the job characteristics model proposed by Hackman and Oldham (1976, 1980), job scope is viewed as one of the most important job characteristics variables that influences organisational outcomes. Hackman and Oldham (1980) identified five job characteristics under job scope dimensions: skill variety; task identity; task significance; autonomy and job feedback. These dimensions are measured with the Job Diagnostic Survey (JDS) devised by Hackman and Oldham (1980). According to Xie and John (1995), high job scope is beneficial for organisations and their members. In the field of organisational commitment, it is suggested that highly committed employees perform better in high scope work than less committed ones (Larson & Fukami, 1984; MacKenzie, Podsakoff & Ahearne, 1998). The performance and commitment in the more challenging job scope are regarded as useful indicators of organisational effectiveness (Lum, Kervin, Clark, Reid & Sirola, 1998; Naumann, Widmier & Jackson, 2000).

Several empirical studies of job design have demonstrated relationships between job characteristics and their outcomes, particularly that between job scope and general satisfaction, growth satisfaction, and motivation (Champoux, 1978, 1980, 1992). Mowday and Spencer (1981) found a relationship between job scope and turnover, and between job scope and absenteeism. Xie and Johns (1995) found that job scope has U-shaped effects on some job outcomes (e.g., job strain and exhaustion). A study conducted by Singh (1998) found that curvilinear influences of job scopes are supported for job tension, turnover intentions, absenteeism and performance, but not for job satisfaction or organisational commitment. Job scope in Singh's study consists of autonomy, feedback, task variety and participation, but does not include task identity per se. It seems that job scope for nurses should rightfully focus on patient care; however Drucker (1993) found the opposite. Drucker (1993) describes the nurses' scope of practice and non-nursing tasks: 'the task of nurses in hospital is patient care. But every study shows that they spend three quarters of their time on work that does not contribute to patient care...This not only destroys productivity, it also destroys motivation and pride'. (p. 90)

According to Shannon and French (2005), lack of support staff is a chronic phenomenon in hospitals in Canada. The perverse consequences of this are that nurses attend to ancillary yet essential needs, like meal tray delivery, getting patients to the operating rooms and fetching equipment, medications and supplies, rather than attending to the core work of nursing. Baumann *et al.* (2001) pointed out that the job dissatisfaction that ensues is one thing, but the decreased self-esteem over time that arises from the perception of nurses in patient care is more pernicious. Therefore, different perceptions on this phenomenon prevail among nurses. Whether conscious or not, nurses are routinely expected to reduce their scope of practice and use their precious time to perform necessary, yet unskilled work, at the expense of their expertise to care, monitor clinical progress and educate patients and families.

Shannon and French (2005) concluded that the organisational and system changes have contributed to the nursing shortage, increased costs and creation of work environments, that are resulting in a flight of talent and high levels of absenteeism associated with sickness and injuries. The changes in the work environment have impacted negatively on the numbers entering the nursing profession and retaining existing nurses in the workforce. The impact on nursing is related directly to negative outcomes for patients.

Consistent with the positive connotation of high job scope and the negative connotation of job stress, Xie and John (1995) supported the negative relationhip

between job scope and job stress and they conceptualise this relationship as a link between role problems and emotional exhaustion. In terms of relationship between job characteristics and stress, previous studies found that task identity, autonomy, and feedback were negatively associated with anxiety, stress and emotional exhaustion, but skill variety and task significance were not related to these stress factors (Kelloway & Barling, 1991; Spector & Jex, 1991). In addition, some of these interactive effect of job characteristics on stress have also attracted academic attention. It was believed that the Job Demands-Decision Latitude model (Karasek, 1979) has stimulated a large amount of such research on interactive effects of job characteristics and stress. According to this model, individuals in occupations with high job demands and low decision latitude experience high level of stress. Earlier studies (e.g., Karasek, Baker, Marxer, Ahlbom & Theorell, 1981; Alfredsson, Karasek, & Theorell, 1982) generally supported the model, but Ganster and Schaubroeck (1991) pointed out that many confounding factors need to be taken into account in explaining the association. Several tests using interactive model have reported mixed results. For instance, Dwyer and Ganster (1991) found that job demands and lack of control were jointly associated with sickness absence, while other investigators (e.g., Spector, 1987b; Tetrick & LaRocco, 1987) have failed to support interactive effects on affective outcomes. Although this stream of work has proven useful, it has not provided integrated knowledge regarding the specific effect of numerous job elements. Very few studies have examined the possibility that job characteristics that are usually thought to have positive effects can provoke stress when present at high levels. In regards to the relationhip between job scope and job stress, previous studies have focused on a linear, negative relationship between job scope and stress (Jackson & Schuler, 1985), however a empirical study by French, Caplan and Van Harrison (1982) revealed the nonlinear relationship between job scope and stress as this study has emphasized on "good characteristics" of job scope that reduce stress and the "bad characteristics" that provoke stress. On the other hand, Kahn and Byosiere (1992) highlighted that many of these past studies produce inconclusive results because of the limited knowledge on integrated effects of job scope on job stress and sickness absence.

In job characteristics theory, Hackman and Oldham (1980) proposed that enriched and intrinsically motivating jobs are characterised by high level of job scopes (Xie & John, 1995), which encompass five job characteristics as mentioned in previous section. They hypothesised that employees performing enriched jobs will have higher intrinsic motivation and, as a consequence, higher attendance levels than employees in unenriched jobs.

According to Hackman and Oldham (1980) three job characteristics, i.e. skill variety, task identity and task significance, combine to determine experienced meaningfulness of work. Skill variety is the extent to which the job requires an individual to perform a variety of tasks and require him or her to use different skills and abilities. Task identity is defined as the extent to which the job requires an individual to perform a whole or completely identifiable piece of work. In other words, task identity is high when a person works on a product or project from the beginning to end and sees a tangible result (Hackman & Oldham, 1980).

Hackman and Oldham (1976) recognised that every employee does not want a job containing high amount of the five core characteristics. They incorporated this notion into their model by identifying three attributes that affect how individuals respond to job enrichment. These attributes are concerned with the individual's knowledge and skill, growth need strength (representing the desire to grow and

develop as an individual) and context satisfaction. Context satisfaction represents the extent to which employees are satisfied with various aspects of their job, such as satisfaction with pay, co-workers and supervision.

According to Hackman and Oldham's (1980) job characteristics model, task significance is the extent to which the job affects the lives of other people within or outside the organisation. Hirschfeld, Schmitt and Bedeian (2002) conducted a study that explored relationships of job-content perception (i.e., skill variety and task significance), and performance-reward expectations, with absenteeism among 134 low-wage public-sector clerical employees. This study indicated that those employees considered to be either higher on skill variety or task significance, were likely to be absent more often. Moreover, the link between skill variety and absenteeism was moderated by instrumentality, in a manner suggesting that respondents may have utilised absenteeism as a means of compensating for perceived workplace contributions not extrinsically rewarded. Hirschfeld *et al.* (2002) suggested that employees in occupational settings, for which performance-related extrinsic rewards are less favourable, may not respond to favourable job-content perceptions in the positive manner generally predicted by the job characteristics theory.

# 2.4.5 Role Conflict

Role conflict or role strain as Westman and Eritzion (2001) described, is one of the important approaches in role theory research. Role conflict arises when expectations associated with one role contradict the expectations of another role (Westman & Eritzion, 2001). It is central to a commonly used theoretical foundation within industrial and organisational psychology, and in the context of work and non-work

relationships (Thompson, Beauvais & Allen, 2006). While there are different types of role conflict (e.g., intra-role and inter-role conflict), the intra-role conflict is the most relevant in the context of this study. This conflict occurs when an employee receives contradictory messages from different people about how to perform a task or work with organisational values and work obligations that are incompatible with his or her personal values (also called person-role conflict) (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993; Edwards, 1996; Cluskey & Vaux, 1997).

On the other hand, the inter-role conflict happens when role pressures associated with one domain (e.g., work place) are in conflict with pressures from another domain (e.g., family members, leisure). The basic assumption of the role conflict model is that work and family constitute conflicting domains, since both make claims on an individual's limited and finite resources of time and energy (Barnett & Gareis, 2006; Kanter, 2006). The argument is that each individual has limited resources of time and energy and that the allocation of these resources to each domain (work, non-work) influences whether an individual experiences conflict or balance between the domains. The rational approach goes even further and assumes that the extent of inter-role conflict (conflict between the roles within different domains) is directly proportional to the amount of time or energy spent in each domain (Adams & Jex, 1999; Gutek, Searle & Klepa, 1991). According to this view, the more roles a person occupies, the greater the pressure on the finite resources of time and energy, and the more depleted is his/her capacity. The expected consequences of role conflict are for example, job stress with psychological distress and burnout (Barnett & Gareis, 2006).

The role conflict perspective can be approached from a work-family or a family-work angle, which occurs when there is an incompatibility between the

demands of work and family (Greenhaus & Beutell, 1985). Greenhaus and Beutell (1985) identified three types of work-family conflicts: (i) time-based conflict, concerning time demands; ii) strain-based conflict, marked by symptoms of psychological strain (e.g., anxiety, fatigue, irritability); and iii) behaviour-based conflict, based in expected or appropriate behaviours (e.g., expressiveness, emotional sensitivity).

Within the organisation, certain behaviours and demands are associated with the role fulfilled. However, dysfunction may occur at two different levels, i.e at job level where one receive inconsistent instruction to job performed and domain level whereby one has to perform two roles in different domains (Kahn, Wolfe, Quinn, Snoek & Rosenthal, 1964) as explained in previous section; these can be a major source of employee stress. Role conflict is one of the important sources of job stress due to conflicting job demands; whereas role ambiguity occurs when there is lack of clarity about the task to be performed. Rizzo *et al.* (1970) suggested that role conflict and ambiguity are related to job dissatisfaction and inappropriate organisational behaviours, such as lateness to work, absence from work and social isolation.

McSahne and Glinow (2008) said that role-related stressors include conditions where employees have difficulty understanding, reconciling, or performing the various roles in their lives. The four main role-related stressors are role conflict, role ambiguity, workload or work pressure and task or time control. Workload or work pressure has already been discussed in previous sections, while time control is covered later.

Role conflict is the degree to which role expectations are incompatible with the job done (Rizzo *et al.*, 1970; Johns, 2007). Role conflicts occur when people face competing demands (Kahn *et al.*, 1964; Kelloway & Barling, 1991; Siegall &

Cummings, 1995). Inter-role conflict exists when employees have two roles that conflict with each other. For example, sales staff in the banking industry experience inter-role conflict when they try to balance the needs of their bank and the needs of customers (Stoneman & Holliday, 2001).

According to Johns (2007), role conflict is a condition of being faced with incompatible role expectations. It can be distinguished from ambiguity in that role expectations might be crystal clear but incompatible in the sense that they are mutually exclusive, cannot be fulfilled simultaneously, or do not suit the role occupant. From John's (2007) perspective, there are two categories of role conflict. The first one is intra-sender role conflict. It occurs when a single role sender provides incompatible role expectations to the role occupant. Thus, the individual receives an assignment without sufficient personnel to complete the task successfully. The second one is inter-sender conflict. This type of conflict happens when the individual is asked to behave in such a manner that one person will be pleased with the result, while another will not be. On the other hand, Sutherland and Cooper's (1988) perspectives of role conflict are different from other authors. They included person-role conflict and role overload into the categories of role conflict, other than intra-sender conflict and inter-sender conflict discussed earlier. The person-role conflict occurs when the individual would like to do the task differently from that suggested by the job description; whilst role overload may arise when the individual is assigned more work than he or she can effectively handle. Kahn et al. (1964) found that men who suffered more conflict have lower job satisfaction and higher job tension. French and Caplan (1970) conducted a study on a group of male office workers and showed that role conflict is related to physiological stress, as the telemetry records of these workers illustrated an increase of heart rate and feelings of tension about the job.

Shirom, Eden, Silberwasser and Kellerman (1973) conducted a large scale study on 762 adult male community members in Israel, which indicated that there is a difference between occupational groups in terms of stress arising from role conflicts. They found that occupations requiring greater physical exertion, e.g., agricultural workers, did not show a pronounced relationship between role conflict, role ambiguity and their physical health. The study by Kotlarska *et al.* (1956 cited in ILO, 1986) in Poland found a high incidence of hypertension among elementary school teachers and bank clerks who were exposed to conflicting situations (role conflict, role overload) as compared to miners and labourers. These findings concurred with the study by Kasl (1978) that blue-collar workers may suffer less from the interpersonal dynamics of the organisation, but more from the physical working conditions. However, these studies do not report a psychological response to role conflict.

Kasl (1978) stated that the correlation between role conflict, role ambiguity and job dissatisfaction are strong while correlation with mental health measures tends to be weak, and hence personality traits are an important determinant of response to role conflict.

Cooper and Marshall (1978) pointed out that role conflict is a more serious problem for the individual working at organisational boundaries. This is especially for those supervisors or middle managers who are likely to suffer from job stress in the boundary role situation (Margolis, Kroes & Quinn, 1974).

Changes in work intensity and population demographics have created increasing opportunities for multiple roles to clash with one another (Beauregard, 2006). Work-home interference (WHI) is also a form of inter-role conflict in which the demands of work role and the demands of home role are mutually incompatible (Parasuraman & Greenhaus, 1997). Beauregard's (2006) study demonstrated that

WHI will be more when employees perceive that their co-workers, superiors and the management in general expect them to work extra long hours or assign them to work at home in order to progress in their careers.

#### 2.4.6 Role Ambiguity

Social roles are sets of activities and relations expected of a person occupying a particular position in society, and of others, in relation to that person (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). Kahn *et al.* (1964, p13) described the concept of roles as follows:

"Associated with each office is a set of activities, which are defined as potential behaviours. These activities constitute the role to be performed, at least approximately, by any person who occupies that office".

To be a worker, spouse or friend, etc., prescribes a set of expectations that constitute an individual's roles. Role expectations go beyond one's self and others, as they are rooted in ideologies and institutional structures. Role ambiguity can emerge when an individual does not receive enough information about the expectations associated with a certain role (Kahn *et al.*, 1964). Role ambiguity is the degree to which role expectations are unclear (Rizzo *et al.*, 1970). Role ambiguity exists when employees are uncertain about their job duties, performance expectations, level of authority, and other job conditions. The ambiguity tends to occur when people enter new situations, such as joining the organisation, or taking a foreign assignment, because they are uncertain about the task and social expectations (Nelson & Sutton, 1990; Saks & Ashforth, 1996).

There is also substantial evidence that role ambiguity can provoke stress (Fineman & Payne, 1981; Jackson & Schuler, 1985). Role ambiguity occurs when the

goals of one's job or the methods of performing the job are unclear. Such a lack of direction can prove stressful, especially for people who are low in their tolerance for such ambiguity. Jackson and Schuler (1985) in their meta-analysis revealed relatively low correlations between job characteristics and role ambiguity and conflict. On the other hand, Jackson (1983) demonstrated that role ambiguity and role conflict had a direct effect on job stress and job satisfaction, and also indirectly affected turnover intention. Role ambiguity had positive direct and indirect effects on absenteeism (Brooke & Price, 1989). The indirect effect was mediated by job satisfaction. The finding that employees who are bothered by unclear role expectations are less satisfied and absent more frequently also supports the notion of role stress by Steers and Rhodes (1978). The direct positive effect of role ambiguity on absenteeism as mentioned by Steers and Rhodes (1978) is consistent with Mobley (1982) 'safety valve' concept of absenteeism as a temporary retreat from job-related stress.

## 2.4.7 Job Complexity

According to London and Klimoski (1975), job complexity can be defined as the physical and mental demands placed upon an employee. Kivimaki *et al.* (1997b) view the complexity of job can be distinguished by its degree of uncertainty, low divisibility of work process, more abstract activities and less repetitive task. However Hackman and Lawler (1971) evaluate job complexity on four core dimensions: perceived variety, autonomy, task identity, and feedback. The core dimension of perceived variety and task identity have been discussed in previous section, whereas the dimensions of autonomy and feedback are discussed under the section of job resources.

London and Klimoski's (1975) notion of job complexity concurred with Scott (1966) and Hockey's (1993) activation theory. This theory explains why job complexity is such a critical variable in understanding worker behaviour. Scott (1966); Oldman, Kulik and Stepina (1991) held that job complexity, effectiveness and satisfaction are positively related. Task performance is believed to increase as activation level rises. The hypothesis implicit here is that a person who perceives his or her job to be of low complexity, will become frustrated, whereas he or she will be motivated when he or she perceives his or her job to be of high complexity. However, the relationship may be curvilinear. A job which is overly complex may overburden the worker to such an extent that he or she cannot fulfill its requirements (Blum & Naylor, 1968).

A study carried out by Tummers *et al.* (2002) which focused on health implications of working on various types of nursing units, showed that nurses employed in intensive care units reported significantly higher job uncertainty, job complexity and decision authority compared with their colleagues who worked in other hospital units; the study also reported higher job stress. However, they cannot rule out its relationship to absenteeism. Nevertheless, a longitudinal study conducted by Vaananen *et al.* (2003) in Finland on 3,895 employees in a private industrial sector found low job complexity predicted long sickness absence.

Job complexity has its a priori dimension to job enrichment. According to Herzberg (1968), job enrichment provides an opportunity for the employee's psychological growth, whereas job enlargement merely makes a job structurally bigger. Katz and Kahn (1978) stated that if intrinsic job satisfaction or identification with the work is to be aroused and maximised, then the job itself must provide sufficient variety, challenge and complexity that require enough skill to engage the abilities of the worker.

London and Klimoski (1975) argued that the assumption of these job enrichment theorists (e.g. Argyris, 1964; Katz & Kahn, 1978; Herzberg, 1966) is that the variety, challenge and complexity of the job brings about job satisfaction by allowing the employee to express his or her own abilities to carry out his or her own decisions. London and Klimoski (1975) further reiterated that enriching the job may be more difficult in manufacturing or service operations, where assembly line methods and simplified service procedures are most efficient (even though accompanied by lowered motivation and satisfaction). However, Thompson (1967) found job enrichment may be useful in organisations with intensive technologies which deal with human beings as products (e.g., educational institutions, hospitals, and remedial institutions). Such institutions should not (but often seem to be) satisfied by only a minimum of effort of employees guaranteed by the typical organisational control techniques (Katz & Kahn, 1978). Hence, it is important to study the effects of job complexity in those institutions in which job enrichment can be most beneficial.

#### 2.4.8 Shift Work and Work Hours

Shift work and extended working hours are increasingly adopted in many industries and organisations in many parts of the world. It is estimated that about 25% of employees are involved in working outside normal regular daytime hours (Australian Council of Trade Unions (ACTU), 2000). While shift work is unavoidable in many industries, such as essential services and factories, however schedules which include shift work and extended hours are sometimes unsuitable for some types of work, for example, administrative and clerical work. Shift work has become employment policy for some employers to make use of the 24 hours of the clock other than a standard working day. The term 'shift work' includes both long-term night shift and work schedules in which workers change or rotate shift.

Shift work and extended working hours have often been introduced with little or no consideration of the risks to health and safety of the employees. Employers owe a legal duty of care to employees which includes considering their health and safety in planning for duty rosters and work assignments (ACTU, 2000). In Malaysian healthcare services, medical staff including nurses are working in a three-shift pattern. These rotating shifts include morning shift from 7.00 am to 2.00 pm; afternoon shift from 2.00 pm to 9.00 pm and night shift from 9.00 pm to 7.00 am.

One of the relevant job characteristics might be the fact that nursing often implies shift work, where nurses have to face uncertainty, and work within a certain decision structure. With respect to uncertainty, Jamal and Baba (1997), in their study among nurses working in a psychiatric hospital, failed to find any evidence for the assumption that shift work played a role in absenteeism, although nurses on rotating shifts and night shifts appeared to suffer more seriously from health problems than did nurses on other shift types. A study by Tummers *et al.* (2002), focusing on health implications of working on various types of nursing units, showed that nurses employed in ICU reported significantly higher uncertainty, complexity, and decision authority compared to their colleagues, who worked in other hospital units, and also reported higher job stress and burnout. Nevertheless, the relationships of these job content variables with absenteeism have not been clearly established.

Haider, Kundi and Koller (1981) and Kogi (1985) found that shift work has implications for the whole way of life of human beings because shift work can be

seen as one of the many factors and conditions associated with the health, safety, and well-being of industrial workers. Ahasan, Campbell, Salmoni and Lewko (2001) viewed that the traditional day time work is being replaced by a complex schedule, along with changing work patterns, through the comparative advantage of production using new technology and machinery.

Shift work, in general, is linked to the basic manifestations of general fatigue, involving decrements in behavioural performance, decline of physiological function, subjective complaints and perceived stress (Khaleque & Rahman, 1982, 1984; Khaleque, Wadud & Chowdhury, 1988). Increased fatigue, after long-term exposure, resulting from shift work, has been reported by Dahlgren (1981). The workers seem to run health risks (Koller, 1983), coping with problems that are related to shift work (Monk, 1988; Khaleque & Rahman, 1984; Khaleque, 1991). Workers' illness, fatigue and psychosocial imbalance, leading to increased accidents and lower work output, were identified (Ahasan, Khaleque, Sadeque & Uddin, 1997; Ahasan, Khaleque & Mohiuddin, 2000; Nag & Patel, 1998).

Shift work also has been identified as a source of risk factors of persistent fatigue, symptoms of various illnesses, tiredness and maladaptation (Kawakami, Chavalitsakulchai, Kongmuang & Pongkaeo, 1994; Costa, 1996, 1997). It also causes illness with acute manifestations within the first month, marked by fatigue and sleepiness during work hours (Harma, 1997; Smith & Garaner, 1997; Harma, Seitsamo & Ilmarinen, 1997). Therefore, some people are opposed to shift work on the grounds of health and safety risks, but others find certain advantages in it, as it allows more freedom to plan their leisure, making for a happier social and family life.

Increased absenteeism occurs with increased working hours and overtime. Shift work has an inconsistent relationship with attendance (Taylor, Pocock &

Sergean, 1972a, 1972b), even though good evidence exists for an increased association with adverse health effects. This probably depends upon the degree of self-selection of the workforce involved and the operation of other incentives. Decreasing absenteeism has been associated with flexible working hours and the converse with inflexible hours (Leigh, 1991).

Many previous studies found inconclusive results on the association between shift work and sickness absence (Tuchsen, Christensen & Lund, 2008; Ritson & Charlton, 2006; Kleiven, Boggild & Jeppesen, 1998). Brooks (1997) argued that the availability of a choice of shift work might influence sickness absentee rates; hence, it is suggested that nurse managers should be advised to involve their staff in shiftrostering decisions to reduce the problem of sickness absence. A systematic review by Merkus *et al.* (2012) showed that there is strong evidence for a positive association between fixed evening work and sick leave in female healthcare workers. Their findings implied that the association between shift work and sick leave is schedulespecific.

### 2.5 Job Resources

According to the JD-R model (Demerouti *et al.*, 2001b; Bakker *et al.*, 2003a, 2003b). job resources refer to those physical, psychological, social or organisational aspects of the job that are functional in achieving work goals. Job resources help to stimulate personal growth, learning, and development. Job resources are not only necessary to deal with job demands; they are also important in their own right (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). This statement concurred with Hackman and Oldham's (1980) job characteristics theory that highlights the motivational potential of job resources at the task level, including job autonomy, performance feedback, and task significance. The notion of job resources mentioned in the JD-R model is in agreement with Hobfoll's (2001) conservation of resources (COR) theory, which states that the prime human motivation is directed towards the maintenance and accumulation of resources. To support the usefulness of job resources, Bakker and Demerouti (2007) argued that resources are valued in their own right, because they are a means to the achievement or protection of other valued resources.

Bakker and Demerouti (2007) placed job resources at four levels: (i) the level of the organisation (for e.g., pay, job security, career opportunities); (ii) the level of interpersonal and social relations (for e.g., social support {supervisor and co-worker support}, team climate); (iii) the level of organisation of work (for e.g., role clarity, participation in decision making); and (iv) the level of the task (for e.g., autonomy, performance feedback, skill variety, task identity and task significance). Nevertheless, this study examines some of the job resources at relevant levels related to nursing profession and mostly at task, work organisation and social relation levels, namely social support (supervisor and co-worker support), autonomy, job feedback, task/time control and self-efficacy. The following section discusses these factors in detail.

#### 2.5.1 Social Support

Social support is conceptually defined as the assistance and protection given to others, especially individuals (Langford *et al.*, 1997). Assistance may be tangible or intangible, and protection involves shielding others from adverse effects of life stress. Emotional support, manifested by allowing a person to express emotions, can

therefore constitute a potential resource to protect nurses from negative stress outcomes. This variable appears to complement the concept of general social support suggested by the Job-Demand-Control-Support (JDCS) model (Johnson & Hall, 1988), in which a person receives attention and instrumental support from co-workers and supervisors (Fillion *et al.*, 2007). In other words, social support refers to helpful social interaction available on the job from co-workers and supervisors (Johnson, Hall & Theorell, 1989; Karasek & Theorell, 1990).

According to Fillion, Dupuis, Tremblay, Breitbart and De Grace (2006); Hochwarter, Kacmar, Perrewe and Johnson (2003) and Dean (1998), workplace support is related to three categories of job resources: self-efficacy, emotional support and people-oriented culture in the workplace. Social support at work is found to be a significant predictor of absenteeism. Employees who reported high levels of social support at work had less spells and days of absence than those with low levels of support. They asserted that social support has an important influence on the frequency and duration of absence among healthcare workers.

A large epidemiological survey on perceived job stress and health called Belgium Job Stress Project (BELTRESS) was carried out in Belgium by Verhaeghe *et al.* (2003), targeted at 315 nurses and 612 non-nurses as control group. This study found an important association between absenteeism and social support at work among nurses, but not among the control group. It seems that sickness absence decreases significantly when social support increases. In addition, past studies (Rael *et al.*, 1995; Unden, 1996; Niedhammer *et al.*, 1998; Hemingway & Smith, 1999; Melchior *et al.*, 2003; Lidwall & Marklund, 2006) also provide support for the association between social support and sickness absence. Apparently these studies found that low social support will result in higher rates of sickness absence and conversely, good social support helps to mitigate the effects of chronic stressors, thereby resulting in less sickness absence. However, few previous studies (Kivimaki *et al.*, 1997a; Roelen *et al.*, 2006) found the opposite - social support is not related to sickness absences.

A prospective cohort study based on the Whitehall II study conducted by Stansfeld, Rael, Head, Shipley and Marmot (1997) on 4,202 civil servants in the UK, revealed that social support from co-workers and supervisors at work is related to lower risk of short-term sickness absence from mental causes. Social support at work appears to protect against short-term sickness absence. This implies that levels of sickness absence might be reduced by increasing social support at work. Stansfeld et al.'s (1997) findings concurred with the study by Bourbonnais and Mondor (2001) that supports the association between short-term sick leave and job stress, coupled with low social support at work. Nonetheless, the results from Bourbonnais and Mondor (2001) failed to substantiate the moderating role of social support on the association between job stress and sickness absence, though social support at work is associated with all types of sick leave. This is contrary to previous theories proposed by French and Caplan (1970); House, McMichael, Wells, Kaplan, and Landerman (1979) that support the moderating role of social support, i.e., high levels of stressful situations do not result in job stress if employees have supportive associates. However Kaufman and Beehr (1986) found social support does not exert moderating effect on the relationship between work stressors and job stress.

In comparison, the effects of social support at work were less marked for women than for men (Niedhammer *et al.*, 1998). As discussed in the previous section, the evolution of fast and advanced medical technology and the increased complexity of care have transformed task-orientated nursing to a more holistic nursing, which has resulted in a more intensive individual involvement and increased job demands on hospital nurses (Verhaeghe *et al.*, 2003). These changes have had a huge impact on the nursing job, but the effect of an exponential increase of job stress and the need of social support among hospital nurses is very relevant (Llewellyn, 1993). Previous studies (e.g. Kaufman & Beehr, 1986; Johnson *et al.*, 1989; Karasek & Theorell, 1990; North *et al.*, 1996) provided evidence of the association between social support and job stress and their results postulated that good social support helps to reduce the effect of job stress on health.

Social support is probably the most well known situational variable that has been proposed as a potential buffer against job stress (Johnson & Hall, 1988; Haines, Hurlbert & Zimmer, 1991). In work settings, social support is cited as an important factor in managing job-related stress among nurses (Boyle, Grap, Younger, & Thornby, 1991; Fletcher, Jones & McGregor, 1991).

### 2.5.1.1 Supervisor Support

Supervisor support is defined as assistance and protection provided to individual by supervisors (Langford, Bowsher, Maloney & Lillis, 1997). Supervisory support reflects the degree to which one's supervisor is viewed as both caring and able to provide emotional and instrumental assistance in times of need (Bacharach & Bamberger, 2007). Supervisor support is important in the workplace because if there is no support from immediate superiors, the accomplishment of goals would be difficult. Besides, it might affect the relationship and cooperation between the supervisors and subordinates. Thus, high quality relationship with one's supervisor is useful to alleviate job stress from job demands (e.g., work overload, emotional and physical

demands). In addition, getting appreciation from supervisors, for example, praise and encouragement, will motivate and instill positive feeling among employess. Studies have shown that the support from supervisors helps workers to tide over demanding periods of job engagement, increases their coping ability and facilitates good performance (Vaananen *et al.*, 2003). A study conducted by Billings, Folkman, Acree and Moskowitz (2000) found that healthcare workers who care for AIDS patients are able to maintain stable emotional state and experience less job stress if their superior provides continued work support with regards to patient care. It is also evidenced from studies that this support may act as a protector against ill health and other pathological consequences from job demands and stressful experiences (Vaananen *et al.*, 2003; Cohen & Wills, 1985).

#### 2.5.1.2 Co-worker Support

Co-worker support is defined as assistance and protection provided to individual by coworkers or colleagues (Langford, Bowsher, Maloney & Lillis, 1997). This type of social support is important and functional in achieving work goals. This social support from colleagues is instrumental to get the work done in time, and may therefore alleviate the impact of work overload or job strain (Van der Doef & Maes, 1999). Bradley and Cartwright (2002) advocated the importance of this support and recognised that nurses need this support greatly because their jobs involve teamwork with other healthcare professionals. The extent to which nurses feel that the support by peers and organisation add value to their profession and enhances their job satisfaction, will avert unnecessary withdrawal behaviours (Vaananen *et al.*, 2003).

Research studies suggest that workplace interventions aimed at increasing social support at work and improving psychosocial working conditions may reduce levels of sickness absence (Michie, Wren, & Williams, 2004; Head *et al.*, 2006). Besides, measures such as creating an encouraging and supportive culture in the workplace (Eriksen *et al.*, 2003), and maintaining healthy psychosocial work environment, seem to prevent ill health as a result of work stressors, and ultimately reduce sickness absence among employees (Hemingway, Martin, Stansfeld & Marmot, 1997).

#### 2.5.2 Autonomy

According to Hackman and Oldham (1980) in their job characteristic model, the second important critical psychological state for employees to achieve their job outcomes is responsibility. In other words, the outcome of the work is elicited by the job characteristics of autonomy. Hackman and Oldham (1980) defined autonomy as the extent to which the job enables an individual to experience freedom, independence, and discretion in both scheduling and determining the procedures used to complete the job.

Jenkins (2006) provided evidence as to the importance of three basic psychological needs: competence, relatedness and autonomy, that foster intrinsic motivation and well-being. According to the self-determination theory (Deci & Ryan, 2000), the expectations to which these needs are satisfied at work would predict job satisfaction and job performance. Baard, Deci and Ryan (2004), indicated the importance of these relationship between the fulfillment of psychological needs and job satisfaction and performance in work setting. Besides, past studies found the

positive effects of job autonomy on job performance (Langfred & Moye, 2004; Gellatly & Irving, 2001). Job autonomy enhances performance because employees with high job autonomy perceive that he/she are trusted to perform the task. This positively effects their intrinsic motivation and their effectiveness.

Job autonomy may be crucial for employee health and well-being because greater autonomy is associated with more opportunities to cope and avert stressful job situations (Karasek, 1998; Jenkins, 1991). Autonomy has proven to be the most important buffer of job demands for job burnout (Fox, Dwyer & Ganster, 1993; Demerouti, Bakker, De Jonge, Janssen & Schaufeli, 2001a; Xanthopoulou, Bakker, Demerouti & Schaufeli, 2007). According to Liu, Spector, Liu and Shi (2011), high job autonomy means independence, freedom and control over one's work, whereas low job autonomy involves supervisory control and close supervision. Low levels of job autonomy can be stressful to employees and are associated with various forms of job strains, such as mental illness, emotional distress, job dissatisfaction, poor performance, absenteeism, turnover and physical symptoms (Baard et al., 2004; Bond & Bunce, 2003; Spector, 1986). Job autonomy allow individuals to limit their exposure to stressors and to choose their tasks appropriately, thereby reducing feelings of threat and encouraging positive coping behaviors (Thompson & Prottas, 2005; Elsass & Veiga, 1997). Vaananen et al. (2003) conducted a longitudinal study in Finland on 3,895 employees in a private industrial sector and found job autonomy was negatively associated with sickness absence rate. Other past studies (Elsass & Veiga, 1997; Karasek, 1979; Spector, 1986; Thompson & Prottas, 2005) are also in concurrence with Vaananen et al.'s (2003) notion that job autonomy is negatively related to job stress. However, the recent study by Saragih (2011) on 190 banking salespersons in Indonesia showed that job autonomy is not significantly related to job

stress, but has significant relationship with job satsifaction and performance. Besides, high job autonomy will lead to reducing job stress because the presence of control may encourage individuals to believe positive outcomes are possible, thereby reducing feelings of threat (Spector, 1986; Elsass & Veiga, 1997). Further, it was also found that job autonomy enhances job competence and encourages work creativity (Kauffeld, 2006).

#### 2.5.3 Job Feedback

According to Hackman and Oldham (1980), knowledge of results is fostered by the job characteristic of feedback. Job feedback is the degree to which carrying out the work activities required by the job provides the individual with direct and clear information about how effectively he or she is performing the job (Hackman & Oldham, 1976; Kulik, Oldham & Hackman, 1987), whereas London's (2003) notion of job feedback is the information people receive about their performance. It conveys an evaluation about the quality of their performance behaviours.

Hackman and Oldham (1976) recognised that constructive feedback not only helps employees to do their work more effectively, but also improves communication between supervisors and employees. When specific and accurate information is provided in a constructive way, both employees and supervisors can improve or change their performance (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). Appraising employees for good performance helps maintain their motivation and signals them to continue in this direction (Hackman & Oldham, 1980). In addition, communicating with employees in a positive manner when they need to improve their performance will help prevent work problems. Job feedback may help reduce the level of job stress because it provides employees with the information necessary to maintain their performance and to stay healthy (Kahn & Byosserie, 1992).

A longitudinal survey conducted by Schaufeeli, Bakker and Van Rhenen (2009) using JD-R model on 201 telecom managers in Netherlands found job resources namely social support, autonomy, job feedback and opportunities to learn indirectly predict sicknes absence via job strain. In their meta-analysis of job characteristics, Eby, Freeman, Rush and Lance (2000) found that job feedback, autonomy and skill variety are significant predictors of absence. However a study by Latha and Panchanatham (2010) found positive relationship between job feedback and absence as this study found job feedback creates high level of stress for call centre employees. This is because negative feedback on their performance and not a single word of praise on their work are the features of job feedback in call centres. According to this study, most of the call centre employees agree that abusive and negative feedback creates mental stress.

Few studies (Parker & Decotiis, 1983; Jandaghi, Fard, Saadatmand, Sharahi & Rajabi, 2011) found insignificant relationship between job feedback and job stress. Obtaining feedback from other people at work enhanced feelings of meaningfulness and impact, but not competence. In addition, obtaining contructive feedback from others also directly influenced intrinsic motivation in a positive manner and boosted morale and reduced job stress (Gagne, Senecal & Koestner, 1997; London, 2003). In regards to the outcome of job stressors, Parker and Decotiis (1983) highlighted the first-level outcome, which is referred to as stress and stressor-stress relationship. Second-level outcomes are viewed as individual and organisational consequences which are affected by stress. These second-level outcomes might include decrements

in organisational commitment, satisfaction, motivation, and job performance, and avoidance behaviour, such as absenteeism and turnover.

## 2.5.4 Task/Time Control

Task/time control refers to the extent to which workers are able to exercise discretion in dealing with heavy workload and work pressure (Smith, 1998). When employees have to work under time pressure, for instance, to meet deadlines, or when the workload is unrelentingly high, then the job stress is high (Smith, 1998). It is suggested that from an ergonomic point of view, workload should be established using scientific methods of time and motions study (International Labour Organisation (ILO), 1986).

Employees are more stressed when they lack control over how and when they perform their tasks, as well as the pace of work activity (Elsass & Veiga, 1997; Marmot, Bosma, Hemingway, Brunner & Stansfeld, 1997; Sargent & Terry, 1998; Vahtera *et al.*, 2000b). Work is potentially more stressful when it is paced by a machine or involves monitoring equipment, or when the work schedule is controlled by someone else (Arnetz, 1997; Karasek & Theorell, 1990). In this era of globalisation, information communication technology has had a severe impact on office workers because they are always on call through e-mail, pagers and cell phones. One medical equipment installer in Ohio, USA said. ".... I resent the fact that you can't get away today". "It's always there. You can be found at any time" (Lubinger, 2001 cited in McSahne & Glinow, 2008, pg. 202). Managers, as far as is reasonably possible, need to give employees sufficient control over the way in which they perform their duties (Daniels & Guppy, 1994).

Ala-Mursula, Vahtera, Linna, Pentti and Kivimaki (2005) conducted a prospective cohort study on 16,139 public sector employees in Finland and found that task/time control moderates the association between job stress and sickness absence among women. The combination of high stress and good task/time control was associated with lower absence rate. It was further asserted that good control over task and working times reduced the adverse effect of work stress on sickness absence especially among female employees. Another study performed in Sweden suggested that low control on working hours could be more deleterious to cardiovascular health in high strain jobs (Hammar, Alfredsson & Theorell, 1994). Therefore it cannot be denied that the health benefits of worktime control may stem from advantages in combining work and non-work demands. Worktime control could also be used to flee from particularly stressful work situations and to choose working at times of best possible resources and support (Ala-Mursula et al., 2005). One potential protecting factor could be employee control over working times, which was shown to predict health especially among female employees (Ala-Mursula, Vahtera, Pentti & Kivimaki, 2004; Ala-Mursula et al., 2002), and to improve and maintain the performance of healthcare organisations (Martin-Fernandez, Gomez-Gascon, Beamud-Lagos, Cortes-Rubio & Alberquilla-Menendez-Asenjo, 2007).

#### 2.5.5 Self-Efficacy

Bandura's self-efficacy theory defined this concept as the confidence in one's ability to perform a behaviour (Bandura, 1977). Self-efficacy refers to a person's belief that he or she has the ability, motivation, and situational contingencies to complete a task successfully (McShane & Glinow, 2008). Self-efficacy is usually conceptualised as a situation-specific belief. Someone may believe that he or she can perform a certain task in one situation, but is less confident with that task in another situation. However, there is also evidence that people develop a more general self-efficacy that influences their beliefs in a specific situation.

According to Bandura (1986), the perception of self-efficacy corresponds to individuals' belief in their capacity to carry out actions required to produce desired results. In nursing, self-efficacy is considered as a nurse's sense of competence and feelings of control in managing a patient (Fillon *et al.*, 2007). Nursing emphasises self-efficacy as a professional resource. It helps nurses to increase their professional care to the patient. On the other hand, Gist and Mitchell (1992) viewed self-efficacy as an important motivational construct because it influences individual choices, goals, emotional reactions, efforts, coping and persistence. In addition, self- efficacy also changes as a result of learning, experience, and feedback.

A study by Schwarzer and Hallum (2008) among teachers found low selfefficacy leads to job stress and burnout. They also found job stress mediates the relationship between self-efficacy and burnout. Their study also revealed that by strengthening self-efficacy, it acts as a protective resource mechanism in diluting job stress. Xanthopoulou *et al.* (2007) conducted a study on 714 employees in electrical engineering and electronic companies in Netherlands and found that self-efficacy, as one of the personal resources, plays a significant role in the JD-R model together with job demands to explain variance in job strain. They also pointed out that self-efficacy has a negative relationship with job stress, suggesting that efficacious employees who report lower levels of job stress might be more resistant to adverse conditions (Hobfoll, 1989, 2002). According to Saragih (2011), self-efficacy also has a significant positive correlation with job satisfaction and job performance, but no significant relationship with job stress. She claimed that employees with low self-efficacy are apt to give up, believing the difficulties merely prove that he or she is unable to do the job. On the other hand, employees with high self-efficacy will put forth more effort and are more likely to persist when encountering obstacles or negative experiences (Saragih, 2011; Kreitner & Kinicki, 2007).

With regards to the association between self-efficacy and sickness absence, a study conducted by Sommer, Thomsen and Labriola (2013) in Denmark on DREAM (Danish Register for Evaluation of Marginalisation) project found a negative association between self-efficacy and sickness absence among male and female employees. Self-efficacy declines with increasing length of sickness and sickness absence spells. Another study by Borgogni, Russo, Miraglia and Vecchione (2013) on 1,160 white-collars in Italy revealed the indirect relation of self-efficacy and sickness absence via job satisfaction.

### 2.6 Job Stress

Stress is seen as a dynamic process of interaction between individuals and their environment, and it is also a process of responding to an imbalance between perceived demands and the perceived resources available for meeting those demands (Appley & Trumbull, 1986). The outcome of the process is determined by the individual's appraisal of the balance between these demands and resources. Basically job stress is stress involving work. It refers to the harmful physical, emotional and mental responses that occur when job demands do not match the employees' capabilities, resources and needs (National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health, 1999). According to The European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (2002) job stress is defined as "a pattern of emotional, cognitive, behavioral and physiological reactions to adverse and noxious aspects of work content, work organization and work environment..." (p. 8). Specifically, stress is a physiological or psychological adaptive response to the interaction of external events such as environment and people (Gibson *et al.*, 2009; Matterson & Ivancevich, 1982).

Numerous studies have been done on stress, and stress has been the object of various research (de Smet *et al.*, 2005). Job stress is a complicated psychological construct which must be first conceptualised by its parent construct known as stress (Colligan & Higgins, 2005). The most noted job strain research is the Demand-Control model (DCM) developed by Karasek (1979); Karasek and Theorell (1990). This model involves two major dimensions of job strain: psychological demands and decision latitude at work. The association of high demand and low decision latitude leading to a highly-strained situation is proposed to be the cause of adverse health outcomes (Johnson & Hall, 1988; Schechter, Green, Olsen, Kruse & Cargo, 1997).

Job stress has been viewed as dysfunctional for organisations and their members (French *et al.*, 1982; Kahn *et al.*, 1964). Many studies have been done on relationships between job stress and job satisfaction. Because a person's job satisfaction fluctuates according to his or her work environment, majority of the literature and research demonstrate a general consensus regarding the negative relationship between job stress and job satisfaction (Cooper, Sloan, & Williams, 1988; Sullivan & Bhagat, 1992).

Based on the JD-R model (Demerouti *et al.*, 2001b; Bakker *et al.*, 2003a), it is assumed that every job may have its own specific risk factors associated with job

strain. These factors can be classified into two general categories: job demands and job resources, thus forming a comprehensive model that may apply to various work settings, regardless of the particular demands and resources involved. A study by Bakker *et al.* (2003b) showed that job demands are unique predictors of job strain and indirectly of absence duration, whereas job resources are predictors of absence spell (frequency) indirectly. Bakker, Demerouti & Verbeke (2004) found that job demands, particularly work pressure and emotional demands, are the most important antecedents of job strain, which, in turn, predicted role performance. In contrast, job resources, especially autonomy and social support are the most important predictors of role performance, through their link with work commitment and work engagement. Hence, Bakker et al. (2004) claimed that job demands and job resources divide into two different psychological processes, which eventually influence important organisational outcomes, such as absenteeism (Bakker et al., 2003b; Schaufeli & Bakker, 2004). Empirical evidence is supportive of the idea that job demands and resources are responsible for two different processes (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). Accordingly, job demands are related to strain (including burnout and development of health problems), whereas job resources are influenced by motivational factors, including social support, job feedback, time control and self-efficacy.

Several studies have shown high amounts of job stress among doctors, nurses, and other healthcare professionals working in various situations (e.g., Jex *et al.*, 1991; Tholdy-Doncevis, Romelsjo, Theorell, 1998; van Wiljk, 1997; Hardy, Shapiro & Borrill, 1997). The nursing professionals constitute the "heart" of the medical and health services - 80% of the total health force in the USA (Buchan & Calman, 2004) and 86% in Malaysia are nurses (MoH, 2007a). Nurses, in both developing and developed countries, are most often the first contact and the direct interface between

patients and their families and the healthcare system. They interact with people and their health at many levels, from hospital and clinic, to school, and the workplace (Hoyt, 2007). Nursing is generally considered to be a stressful profession (Martin, 1984; Estryn-Behar et al., 1990; Arsenault, Dolan & Van Ameringen, 1991; Foxall et al., 1989; Healy & McKay, 2000; Maria et al., 2010; Yeh et al., 2007; Shader et al., 2001; Schmitz et al., 2000; Stordeur et al., 2001; Bratt et al., 2000; Griffiths, 2000; Fresco & Norfolk, 2000; Demerouti et al., 2000b), and particularly susceptible to job stress. This is due to the nature and the emotional demands of this profession (Lindsey & Attridge, 1989; Foxall et al., 1990). It is argued that stress is intrinsic to nursing profession because nursing is a highly demanding job associated with poor support in work, rapidly changing circumstances, problem of shortage of resources and staff, interaction with difficult patients and their families, working relationships with physicians and other healthcare workers, low institutional commitment to nursing and dealing with death and dying patients (Chang, Hancock, Johnson, Daly & Jackson, 2005; Mann & Cowburn, 2005). It is also claimed that high levels of job stress seem to afflict fresh graduate nurses, particularly those who are just entering the clinical areas for the first time; they seem to experience lack of self confidence in the new work setting (Chang & Hancock, 2003; Chang et al., 2005). In addition to the daily stresses in nursing work, nurses need to constantly upgrade themselve by undertaking continuing professional development (CPD) or part-time education to keep abreast with latest nursing knowledge, skills and technology development (Hogston, 1995; Timmins & Nicholl, 2005; Watson, Deary, Thompson & Li, 2008). This additional role and responsibily may lead to increased level of stress and burnout. Job stress among nurses has been reported to be high in Western and Asian societies (Siu & Donald, 1996; Healy & McKay, 2000). A survey about occupational stress in Great Britain revealed that nurses, together with managers and teachers, reported the highest levels of perceived stress at work (Smith, Brice, Collins, Mathews & McNamara, 2000).

Job stress is a serious problem. It directly affects the worker and it presents various symptoms, both somatic and psychological (Lindsey & Attridge, 1989; Foxall *et al.*, 1990). It is related to the deterioration of relationships between the nurse and the patients, the co-workers, the family and the social environment (Pines & Kanne, 1982; Jackson & Schuler, 1983; Burke & Deszca, 1986). Additionally, job stress has been closely related to both the absenteeism of nurses from work (Seutjens, 1982), and abandonment (Schaufeli & Janczur, 1994). Finally, the nursing job stress results in poor patient care (Maslach & Pines, 1977; Maslach, 1978a; 1978b; Jackson & Maslach, 1982). The influences from the job stress is immense as it may affect employee well-being which can lead to job-related outcomes, such as job dissatisfaction, poor performance, absenteeism and turnover (Siu, 2002; Schnall & Perlo, 2004).

Research has revealed that job demands, such as a high work pressure, emotional demands, and role ambiguity may lead to burnout, exhaustion, and impaired health (e.g. Halbesleben & Buckley, 2004; Martin, 1984; Estryn-Behar *et al.*, 1990; Arsenault *et al.*, 1991), whereas job resources, such as social support, performance feedback and autonomy may instigate a motivational process leading to job-related learning, work engagement, and organisational commitment (e.g., Demerouti *et al.*, 2001a; Taris & Feij, 2004; Salanova, Agut & Peiro, 2005). Previous studies claimed that it could have a long list of antecedents of job strain and absenteeism; however theoretical progress has been exiguous (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). Many past studies have used a laundry-list approach of antecedents to investigate it effects on employee well-being, using few influential job stress models, such as DCM (Karasek, 1979), and the ERI model (Siegrist, 1996). Only a few studies investigated the relationship between job demands and job stress, and most of them focused on job strain and burnout. Job strain and burnout are not equated to job stress. Job strain refers to negative physical and psychological toll that job stress takes on one individual when his/her job involves high demand and low control or little decision making power (Karasek, 1979). Bunout is the consequence of excessive and prolonged stress that results in emotional, mental, and physical exhaustion, characterised by helplessness, depersonalisation and disengagement (Potter, 2005). When someone has burnout, Maslach, Jackson and Leiter (1996) described it as a state of exhaustion, where one is cynical or doubtful of his/her capacity to perform. In short, job stress is the responses to stressors while job strain and burnout are its consequences.

#### 2.6.1 Symptoms of Stress

Stress is a normal, adaptive reaction to stressors in our environment whereas job stress is the response to demands in workplace environment. Burnard (1991) viewed stress as physiological, psychological or mental discomfort experienced by a person when environment demands exceed his/her coping ability. According to Seyle (1973), stress is an unspecific response of our body to any demand made upon it. He described the body's short-term and long-term reaction to this environmental demand as Generalized Adaptation Syndrome (GAS). This model states that when the event threatens the organism, the body responds through three stages: stages of alarm, resistance and exhaustion. The first stage is just the fight and flight response when sympathetic nervous system is activated. The resistance stage is when body defends against these stressors and the body remains on red alert. The exhaustion stage is when stressors overpower the body's capacity to cope and the individual is drained of resources and becomes susceptible to diseases.

During the activation of the body to these stressors, the individual begins to exhibit signs and symptoms of stress, which indicate his or her ability to cope. These symptoms can be in the form of physical, psychological, emotional and behavioural responses (Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety, 2000). When stress reactions persist over a longer period of time, they may develop into permanent, chronic health problems, such as strain, fatigue, burnout, depression and other illnesses (European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, 2007). Stress affects people in different ways and the stress responses can be manifested in various symptoms (Gibson, Ivancevich, Donnelly, & Konopaske, 2009; Wai, Ching, & Rahim, 2006). These symptoms can affect how our body works, how we feel, how we think and how we behave (NHS, 2013; Singapore Ministry of Education, 2013). In proper terms, these symptoms are coined as physiological or physical symptoms when it reflects how our body behaves. How we feel refers to emotional symptoms; how we think is manifested by psychological or cognitive symptoms; while how we behave denotes behavioural symptoms. Physical symptoms of stress are related to physical body ailments which include headaches, high blood pressure, chest pain, etc. Psychological symptoms of stress are related to the mental health condition and cognition of the individual. The symptoms include low satisfaction, inability to concentrate, forgetfulness, frequent negative thought, burnout, etc. Emotional symptoms of stress are anxiety, depression, anger, feeling of helplessness, etc which relate to the feeling of an individual. Behavioral symptoms of stress is manifested through the action taken by the individual to confront stress such
as being absent from work, involved in alcohol and drug abuse, having poor appetite, decreased productivity, being prone to accident, etc. The manifestaion of these various symptoms is consistent with what Parker and Decotiis (1983) argued that stress has multidimensional features characterised by physiological, psychological, emotional and behavioural symptoms. Therefore, the present study investigates these dimensions of job stress by examining its relationship with job demands, job resources and sickness absence.

#### 2.7 Hypotheses Development

Hypotheses are developed prior to data collection and generally emerged from literature review, research questions and theory (Hair, Money, Samouel, & Page, 2007). According to Cooper and Schindler (2008), a hypothesis is a proposition formulated for empirical testing, and this declative statement is of tentative and conjectural nature (p.43). It is a formal statement that presents the expected relationship between an independent and dependent variable (Creswell, 2009). In the present study, the conjectured relationships tested are the theoretical link.between job demands, job resources, job stress and sickness absence. The present study conjectures how job demands and job resources could contribute to job stress, which subsequently lead to sickness absence and whether a specific direction of the conjectured relationships could be ascertained. To do so, the underlying theory of JD-R, COR, activation and previous research studies will be utilised to underpin the research framework. The following sections present theoretical arguments on the relationship between job demands, job resources, job stress and sickness absence.

#### 2.7.1 Relationship between Job Demands and Sickness Absence

In the healthcare setting, physical work demand, is perceived as an important job demands factor that contributes to MSD, and often results in employees' disability sick leave and sickness-related absenteeism in the workplace (Eshoj *et al.*, 2001; Voss *et al.*, 2001; Roelen *et al.*, 2008; van der Molen & Delleman, 2006; Ariens *et al.*, 2002; Frings-Dresen & Sluiter, 2003). A study by Trinkoff, Storr and Lipscomb (2001) among 3,727 registered nurses found association of physical demand and absenteeism. Another study by Trinkoff and colleagues (Trinkoff, Lipscomb, Geiger-Brown, Storr & Brady, 2003) also reported physical demand is strongly linked to MSD and absenteeism. Two studies conducted in Sweden among postal staff revealed that physical demands in the form of heaylifting and repetitive work were related to sickness absence (Voss, Floderus & Dedericsen, 2004, 2001a). However, another study by Roelen *et al.* (2006) found the negative relationship between physical job demands and sickness absence.

Previous studies have showed that occupations that need high levels of emotional demand may result in withdrawal behaviours, such as absenteeism and turnover (Maslach & Pines, 1977; Cordes & Dougherty, 1993; Singh *et al.*, 1994; Grandey, 2000); and emotional demand is taken as an important indicator for job demands (Fillon *et al.*, 2007). Emotional demand is common among some occupations; for instance, nurses and doctors, who are required to deal with emotional tasks and patient problems, for which they have to depersonalise themselves from their job (Hartel *et al.*, 2005). Several past studies found significant link between emotional demand and sickness absence (Schaufeli *et al.*, 2009; Grandey, 2000; Singh *et al.*, 1994; Cordes & Dougherty, 1993; Maslach & Pines, 1977).

Role problems, such as role conflict and role ambiguity, can impact employees in their job accomplishments. Limited studies have examined the association between role conflict and sickness absence, not withstanding few previous studies advocating the association between role conflict and sickness absence (Chung & Schneider, 2002; Jackson, 1983; Rizzo *et al.*, 1970). A study conducted by Vaananen *et al.* (2008) on municipal emplyees found positive association between role conflict and sickness absence.

Role ambiguity usually occurs when employees are still new in their job position, and thus are uncertain about their job expectation (Nelson & Sutton, 1990; Saks & Ashforth, 1996). A handful of studies found that role ambiguity is related to sickness absence (Vaananen *et al.*, 2004; Brooke & Price, 1989; Jackson, 1983; Rizzo *et al.*, 1970). A study conducted by Petren, Petzall, Preber and Bergstrom (2007) among dental hygiengists in Sweden revealed role ambiguity was positively associated with sickness absence.

Previous studies found an association between job scope and absenteeism (Hirschfeld *et al.*, 2002; Singh, 1998; Mowday & Spencer 1981). A study conducted by Vaananen *et al.* (2003) found low job complexity predicted long sickness absence, while a study by Tummers *et al.* (2002) found that nurses working in the ICU ward reported significantly higher job complexity, compared to their colleagues who worked in passive wards, and this study reported negative relationship between job complexity and absenteeism.

The link between workload and sickness absence was found to be significant in several past studies (Rauhalaa *et al.*, 2007; Bekker *et al.*, 2005; Vingard *et al.*, 2005; Voss *et al.*, 2004; Tellnes, Bruusgaard & Sandvik, 1990); and several research studies revealed that workload from overload in stressful work setting was the main

culprit in the contribution towards employee withdrawal behaviours (McVicar, 2003; Hegney *et al.*, 2003; Bryant *et al.*, 2000; Cavanagh & Coffin, 1992). Since all seven job-related factors (workload, physical demand, emotional demand, job scope, role conflict, role ambiguity and job complexity) discussed above are substantiated in the literature that contribute to sickness absence behaviours, thus, it is only justifiable to propose the following hypothesis to gauge the influences accordingly:

Hypothesis 1: Job demands are positively related to sickness absence.

While job demands might influence sickness absence in a positive direction, and since job demands have multidimensional constructs, it is expected that different job demands factors might have different effects on sickness absence. As such, the following hypotheses are further propounded:

Hypothesis 1a: Workload is positively related to sickness absence.

Hypothesis 1b: Physical demand is positively related to sickness absence.

Hypothesis 1c: Emotional demand is positively related to sickness absence.

Hypothesis 1d: Job scope is positively related to sickness absence.

Hypothesis 1e: Role ambiguity is positively related to sickness absence.

Hypothesis 1f: Role conflict is positively related to sickness absence.

Hypothesis 1g: Job complexity is positively related to sickness absence.

# 2.7.2 Relationship between Job Resources and Sickness Absence

The evidence of relationship between job resources and sickness absence can be demonstrated from previous studies that examined job resources at the level of task and interpersonal and social relations (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). Social support is one of the job resources conceived to be most distinct in many previous studies (Verhaeghe et al., 2003; Melchior et al., 2003; Hemingway & Smith, 1999; Niedhammer et al., 1998; Unden, 1996; Rael et al., 1995), i.e., there is an inverse association between social support and sickness absence. On the other hand, these studies also revealed that with good social support, the effects of stressors might be ameliorated, thereby reducing episodes of sickness absence. Nevertheless, few studies (Bourbonnais & Mondor, 2001; Kivimaki et al., 1997a) found no significant association between social support and sickness absence. Supervsior support can increase employees' coping ability to deal with job strain, and thus improve their job performance (Vaananen et al., 2003). Supervisory support reflects the degree to which one's supervisor is viewed as both caring and able to provide emotional and instrumental assistance in times of need (Bacharach & Bamberger, 2007). Supervisor support is found to be negatively associated with stress (Stephens & Long, 2000) and absenteeism (Cropanzano, Rupp, & Byrne, 2003). Support from colleagues enhances peer relationship and increases job satisfaction, thereby reducing withdrawal behaviours (Vaananen et al., 2003). However Tamers, Beresford, Thompson, Zheng & Chedle (2011) conducted a study on 1,240 employee from 33 worksites in USA found co-worker support was unrelated to absenteeism and the study concluded that the relationshiop between co-worker support and absenteeism is complex and uncertain.

Several previous studies found negative association between task/time control and sickness absence (Ala-Mursula *et al.*, 2005; Ala-Mursula *et al.*, 2002; Hammar *et al.*, 1994). On the other hand, there is evidence of a negative link between job autonomy and sickness absence, as revealed in a few past studies (Baard *et al.*, 2004; Vaananen *et al.*, 2003; Bond & Bunce, 2003; Spector, 1986).

In terms of the association between self-efficacy and sickness absence, a study conducted by Sommer, Thomsen and Labriola (2013) in Denmark found a negative association between self-efficacy and sickness absence among male and female employees. Another study conducted in Italy on 1,160 white-collar workers revealed the indirect relationship of sef-efficacy and sickness absence via job satisfaction (Borgogni, Russo, Miraglia, & Vecchione, 2013).

Schaufeeli, Bakker and Van Rhenen (2009) conducted a longitudinal study on 201 telecom managers using JD-R model in Netherlands found job resources namely social support, autonomy, job feedback and opportunities to learn indirectly predict sicknes absence via job strain. In their meta-analysis of job characteristics, Eby, Freeman, Rush and Lance (2000) found that job feedback, autonomy and skill variety are significant predictors of absence. However a study by Latha and Panchanatham (2010) among call centre employees found positive relationship between job feedback and absence as this study found job feedback creates high level of stress. This is because negative comments on their job performance and not a single word of praise on their work are the features of job feedback in call centres.

In addition, providing job feedback to employees by superiors in accurate and constructive manner will improve job performance (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007); and employees will be more satisfied with their jobs, thus reducing unwanted withdrawal behaviours. A study by Mowday and Spenser (1981) on 569 employees in USA revealed that job high in feedback, autonomy, skill variety, task identity and task significance will report lower levels of absenteeism. In addition, a study conducted in Canada on health care professionals demonstrated that providing job feedback will

reduce sickness absence behavior (Lipley, 2003). Therefore, from the literature discussed as above, the following hypothesis is proposed:

Hypothesis 2: Job resources are negatively related to sickness absence

Job resources have multi-faceted factors which might have different effect on sickness absence. As such, the present study advances the knowledge by investigating the specific dimensions of job resources on sickness absence. Hence, the following six hypotheses are proposed:

Hypothesis 2a: Supervisor support is negatively related to sickness absence
Hypothesis 2b: Co-worker support is negatively related to sickness absence
Hypothesis 2c: Autonomy is negatively related to sickness absence
Hypothesis 2d: Job feedback is negatively related to sickness absence
Hypothesis 2e: Task/Time control is negatively related to sickness absence
Hypothesis 2f: Self-efficacy is negatively related to sickness absence

# 2.7.3 Relationship between Job Demands and Job Stress

Many past studies have examined the influence of job demands on burnout and strain. However, limited studies have been done on the effect of job demands on job stress. Conceptually, stress and burnout are different variables, because job stress is the physiological, cognitive, emotional and psychological reaction when the job demands do not match one's capacity to perform (Potter, 2005). On the other hand, burnout and strain are the consequence of job stress, when someone is helpless, depersonalised and cynical to his/her ability to perform the job (Maslach, Jackson and Leiter, 1996). Few previous studies examined the association between job demands and job stress found extra role and responsibility of nurses contributed to increased level of job stress (Watson *et al.*, 1995; Timmins & Nicholl, 2005). The argument of this escalating stress is that nurses not only have to provide nursing services in their daily chores; in addition, they have to upgrade their professional knowledge and skills through continuing professional development (CPD) to keep abreast with latest nursing knowledge, skills and technology. Caplan, Cobb, French, Van Harrison and Pinneau (1975) asserted that job-related factors, particularly the pacing and timing of the work, the variety of the work, and the overwhelming demanding nature of the nursing work contribute to job stress. Besides, several previous studies (Aiken *et al.*, 2002; Demerouti *et al.*, 2000b; Janssen, de Jonge & Bakker, 1999; O'Brien-Pallas *et al.*, 2001) noted that high patient to nurse ratios, overtime work, increasing patient acuity, especially in high dependency and intensive care wards, are important perceived workloads that may cause job stress.

Tsai and Liu (2012) who conducted a study on 775 hospital staff in Taiwan, found that high demands, with low levels of social support are associated with the development of job stress. On the other hand, Parker and Decotiis (1983) conducted a study on 367 restaurant managers in the USA and found significant effect between role conflicit and job stress. This study also noted that job stress is multidimensional characterised by physiological and physchological symptoms and is considerd as a first level outcome.

Previous studies using the JD-R model found job demands are the main predictors of negative job strain (Bakker, Demerouti, Taris, Schaufeli, & Schreurs, 2003; Bakker *et al.*, 2004). A longitudinal study by Schaufeli *et al.* (2009) on 201 telecom managers found increases in job demands, specifically work overload and emotional demand, predict burnout. Many previous studies (Leiter, 1993; Demerouti et al., 2000a; Bakker & Demerouti, 2007; Bryant et al., 2000; McVicar, 2003; Karasek, 1979; Armstrong et al., 1996; Greenglass et al., 2001; Bekker et al., 2005; Leiter, 1991; Greenglass et al., 2003; Greenglass et al., 1998; Lee & Ashforth, 1996; Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1983; Kaufman & Beehr, 1986; Moore et al., 1996; Armstrong-Stassen, 1994) support the relationship between job demands, specifically workload and job strain. Some studies found that employees' role ambiguity can provoke job stress and intention to leave, when the goals of one's jobs are ambiguous (Fineman & Payne, 1981; Jackson & Schuler, 1985; Jackson, 1983). It has been argued that employees in boundary roles are most likely to suffer from job stress (Cooper & Marshall, 1978; Margolis et al., 1974). Several past studies revealed the significant link between role conflict and job stress (McShane & Glinow, 2008; Barnett & Gareis, 2006; Margolis et al., 1974; French & Caplan, 1970; Kahn et al., 1964). Johns (2007); Rizzo et al. (1970) distinguished between inter-role and intrarole conflict to understand better whether conflict is due to incompatibility of role expectation (inter-role conflict) or receiving contradictory instruction from different people in task engagement (intra-role conflict).

Nursing jobs involve physical activities, like patient lifting, maintaining posture, positioning and repetitive movement during nursing procedures. Previous studies found significant effect between these physical demands and job stress (Holtermann *et al.*, 2010; van der Molen & Delleman, 2006; Trinkoff *et al.*, 2003; Trinkoff *et al.*, 2001; Kant *et al.*, 1992). Some studies examined the association of physical demand to MSD among hospital personnel (Lagerstrom *et al.*, 1998; Pope *et al.*, 2001; Engels, van der Gulden, Senden, & van't Hof, 1996; Nabe-Nielsen *et al.*, 2008), and the results are significant.

Emotional demand is prevalent among nurses because they encounter patientrelated stressors, for example, contact with the chronic or terminally ill, dying or dead patients. These stressors may contribute to job stress symptoms (Schaufeli *et al.*, 2009; Fillon *et al.*, 2007; Lewig & Dollard, 2003; Grandey, 2000; Maslach, 1993; Van Sell *et al.*, 1981).

Several previous studies have inconsistent findings on the relationship between job scope and job stress. Few previous studies found curvilinear relationship between job scope and job stress (Xie & John, 1995; Singh, 1998; French *et al.*, 1982), while Jackson and Schuler (1985) revealed inverse relationship between job scope and job stress.

Tummers *et al.* (2002) conducted a study on 184 ICU nurses and 927 non-ICU nurses in 15 general hospitals in Netherlands, and found nurses with high job complexity, particularly ICU nurses, reported higher job stress than non-ICU nurses. On the other hand, London and Klimoski (1975) conducted an empirical study on 153 registered nurses in four hospitals in the USA and found the opposite link between job complexity and job stress.

Given that empirical studies that examined the relationship of job demands and job stress are scant, and many of them tend to focus on job strain and burnout, hence, a study to understand the effect of job demands on job stress is necessary. The rationale for the present study to investigate job stress instead of burnout is because organisations and nursing managers are able to detect earlier the deleterious effect of job stress in workplace and take prompt action to reduce stress before it deteriorates into serious mental symptoms. If job stress is not managed at the early stage, the chronic effect of job stress will lead to burnout, mental exhaustion and other health problems, which could have more serious consequences to the individual's health and organisation. Thus, the following hypothesis is proposed:

Hypothesis 3: Job demands are positively related to job stress

Previous studies have addressed few factors of job demands; this study uses other factors which have been less employed in past studies. Besides, very limited research has been conducted to examine these job demands factors on specific symptoms of job stress. As such, the following hypotheses are propounded:

Hypothesis 3a:	Workload is positively related to job stress.
Hypothesis 3a(i):	Workload is positively related to physical stress.
Hypothesis 3a(ii):	Workload is positively related to emotional stress.
Hypothesis 3a(iii):	Workload is positively related to psychological stress
Hypothesis 3a(iv):	Workload is positively related to behavioural stress.

- Hypothesis 3b: Physical demand is positively related to job stress.
- Hypothesis 3b(i): Physical demand is positively related to physical stress.
- Hypothesis 3b(ii): Physical demand is positively related to emotional stress.
- Hypothesis 3b(iii): Physical demand is positively related to psychological stress.
- Hypothesis 3b(iv): Physical demand is positively related to behavioural stress.
- Hypothesis 3c: Emotional demand is positively related to job stress.
- Emotional demand is positively related to physical stress. Hypothesis 3c(i):
- Hypothesis 3c(ii): Emotional demand is positively related to emotional stress.

Hypothesis 3c(iii): Emotional demand is positively related to psychological stress.

Hypothesis 3c(iv): Emotional demand is positively related to behavioural stress.

- Hypothesis 3d: Job scope is positively related to job stress.
- Hypothesis 3d(i): Job scope is positively related to physical stress.
- Hypothesis 3d(ii): Job scope is positively related to emotional stress.
- Hypothesis 3d(iii): Job scope is positively related to psychological stress.
- Hypothesis 3d(iv): Job scope is positively related to behavioural stress.
- Hypothesis 3e: Role ambiguity is positively related to job stress.
- Hypothesis 3e(i): Role ambiguity is positively related to physical stress.
- Hypothesis 3e(ii): Role ambiguity is positively related to emotional stress.
- Hypothesis 3e(iii): Role ambiguity is positively related to psychological stress.
- Hypothesis 3e(iv): Role ambiguity is positively related to behavioural stress.
- Hypothesis 3f: Role conflict is positively related to job stress.
- Hypothesis 3f(i): Role conflict is positively related to physical stress.
- Hypothesis 3f(ii) Role conflict is positively related to emotional stress.
- Hypothesis 3f(iii) Role conflict is positively related to psychological stress.
- Hypothesis 3f(iv) Role conflict is positively related to behavioural stress.
- Hypothesis 3g: Job complexity is positively related to job stress.
- Hypothesis 3g(i): Job complexity is positively related to physical stress.
- Hypothesis 3g(ii): Job complexity is positively related to emotional stress.
- Hypothesis 3g(iii): Job complexity is positively related to psychological stress.

Hypothesis 3g(iv): Job complexity is positively related to behavioural stress.

#### 2.7.4 Relationship between Job Resources and Job Stress

There is a scarcity of empirical evidence that examined the association between job resources and job stress. Most of the past studies focused on the link between job resources and burnout or job strain. Several previous studies using the JD-R model showed negative association between job resources and burnout (Schaufeli *et al.*, 2009; Bakker *et al.*, 2004; Bakker, Van Emmerik & Van Riet, 2008; Bakker, Demerouti & Euwema, 2005; Bakker *et al.*, 2003a). In addition, disengagement, one of the dimensions of burnout is found to be predicted by job resources and several empirical studies using the JD-R model support this prediction (Hakanen, Bakker, & Schaufeli, 2006; Bakker *et al.*, 2003b; Demerouti *et al.*, 2001b; Demerouti *et al.*, 2001b). According to Bakker and Demerouti (2007), job resources are some aspects of job that can be used to achieve working goals, reduce job demands or stimulate personal learning and development. The present study employs six types of job resources (i.e., supervisor support, co-worker support, autonomy, job feedback, task/time control and self-efficacy) to examine its prediction on job stress. Thus, the literature on these job resources has been further discussed in previous section.

Few empirical studies have found association between social support and job stress (Kaufman & Beehr, 1986; Johnson *et al.*, 1989; Karasek & Theorell, 1990; North *et al.*, 1996). A review of nursing literature revealed that social support is cited as one of the important factors in managing job-related stress (Boyle *et al.*, 1991; Fletcher *et al.*, 1991). Traditionally, nursing profession has a very strong social character with high mental pressure (Verhaeghe *et al.*, 2003) because working with

patients can create additional work pressure, for example managing difficult patients. Thus, such a work situation requires social support. Since nurses' job requires teamwork in providing care, without proper social support, social relations will be affected and nurses will be in stress, thus compromising quality of care. Social support can come in the form of formal or informal processes. Supervisors may provide support through the provision of resources and assist employees in managing workload. Co-workers provide support through practical help and emotional advice. The co-workers in the workplace are the closest peers that nurses trust. Nurses can share their job-related problems, seek attention and support (Fillion et al., 2007) and have useful social interactions on the job (Johnson et al., 1989). Bradley and Cartwright (2002) claimed that the nitty gritty of social support is not reflected in current theoretical models of social support. Booth (1992) suggested that to improve social support for nursing professionals, it should come from four sources: the organisation, supervisors, co-workers and confidantes. A study conducted by Iqbal (2013) on 240 employees rfom service sector in Pakistan found co-worker is negatively related to job stress.

Several previous studies that examined the effect of job feedback on job stress noted job feedback helps employees to improve their job performance and boosts their work motivation to stay healthy by averting job stress (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007; Kahn & Byosserie, 1992; Hackman & Oldham, 1980).

Self-efficacy is the belief and motivation in a person that he or she has the ability to accomplish a task successfully (McShane & Glinow, 2008). A few past studies found negative relationship between self-efficacy and job stress (Schwarzer & Hallum, 2008; Xanthopoulou *et al.*, 2007). However, Saragih (2011), who conducted

an empirical study on 190 banking salespersons found no significant link between self-efficacy and job stress.

Previous studies have documented a negative link between job autonomy and job stress (Saragih, 2011; Thompson & Prottas, 2005; Spector, 1986; Karasek, 1979; Elsass and Veiga, 1997). These past studies postulated that job autonomy allows employees to carry out their job the way they wish to and this leads to reducing feelings of threat. Besides, job autonomy also allows employees to limit their exposure to stressors and be able to choose their task or allow them to limit the more stressful tasks, thereby reducing feelings of threat and encouraging positive coping behaviours (Elsass & Veiga, 1997). Employees with high job autonomy have reduced job stress because the presence of control may encourage individuals to believe positive outcomes are possible, thereby reducing feelings of threat (Spector, 1986; Elsass & Veiga, 1997). High job autonomy allows employees more personal control over their jobs, to carry out tasks with own decision, thus reducing feelings of threat and stress. However, Saragih's (2011) study found no significant association between job autonomy and job stress.

Previous studies found significant association between task/time control and job stress. (Vahtera *et al.*, 2000b; Sargent & Terry, 1998; Smith, 1998; Elsass & Veiga, 1997; Marmot *et al.*, 1997). It is argued that employees who are given sufficient control over the way in which they perform their tasks suffer less stress (Daniels & Guppy, 1994). Thus, with all these evidences regarding the relationship between job resources and job stress, the following hypotheses are proposed:

Hypothesis 4: Job resources are negatively related to job stress

Hypothesis 4a: Supervisor support is negatively related to job stress

Hypothesis 4a(i): Supervisor support is negatively related to physical stress
Hypothesis 4a(ii): Supervisor support is negatively related to emotional stress
Hypothesis 4a(iii): Supervisor support is negatively related to psychological stress
Hypothesis 4a(iv): Supervisor support is negatively related to behavioural stress



- Hypothesis 4c: Autonomy is negatively related to job stress
- Hypothesis 4c(i): Autonomy is negatively related to physical stress
- Hypothesis 4c(ii): Autonomy is negatively related to emotional stress
- Hypothesis 4c(iii): Autonomy is negatively related to psychological stress
- Hypothesis 4c(iv): Autonomy is negatively related to behavioural stress
- Hypothesis 4d: Job feedback is negatively related to job stress
- Hypothesis 4d(i): Job feedback is negatively related to physical stress
- Hypothesis 4d(ii): Job feedback is negatively related to emotional stress
- Hypothesis 4d(iii): Job feedback is negatively related to psychological stress
- Hypothesis 4d(iv): Job feedback is negatively related to behavioural stress

Hypothesis 4e:Task/Time control is negatively related to job stressHypothesis 4e(i):Task/Time control is negatively related to physical stress

Hypothesis 4e(ii):	Task/Time control is negatively related to emotional stress
Hypothesis 4e(iii):	Task/Time control is negatively related to psychological stress
Hypothesis 4e(iv):	Task/Time control is negatively related to behavioural stress



# 2.7.5 Relationship between Job Stress and Sickness Absence

Extensive literature reviews generally conclude that prolonged exposure to certain job demands can lead to a variety of pathological outcomes, including job stress, absenteeism, mental and physical disorders and reduced productivity (Ivancevich & Ganster, 1987; Sharit & Salvendy, 1982). On the other hand, theories of stress also have received some attention in relation to absenteeism; nevertheless, the association between job stress and sickness absence remains ambiguous (Joensuu & Lindstrom, 2003). Further, the link between job stress and absenteeism has been described as every "push" to absence due to stress is equalled by a "pull" to work due to the factors related to stress (Aronson, Gustafson & Dallner, 2000; Bakker *et al.*, 2003b).

Although, a number of international organisations have linked stress with absenteeism, there have been very few empirical studies to support this relationship (Leontaridi & Ward, 2002). The link between job stress and absence from work was first proposed by Hill and Trist (1955). Previous studies also showed that workplace

that is characterised by low worker-control and autonomy creates job stress, which can result in absenteeism (Spector, Dwyer & Jex, 1988; Frankenhaeuser & Gardell, 1976).

According to Kahn and Byosiere (1992), responses to job stressors can provoke a range of work withdrawal behaviours, such as lateness, absenteeism, turnover and intention to leave. Reviews on 153 studies by Darr and Johns (2008) found positive but small association between job stress, illness, and absenteeism. It was estimated that job stress accounts for between 6% and 29% of the variance in absenteeism. The review also cited that absence is primarily a response to a noxious workplace or a function of illness. Johnson and Indvik (1997) pointed out that stress does not emanate from the nurses' work situation alone but is also related to other factors outside their workplace, for example, work-home interference.

Different forms of stress, for example, somatic (physical), behavioural, emotional and psychological stress are correlated moderately to sickness absence (Nielsen, Kristensen & Smith-Hansen, 2002). Psychological stress, both general and job related, predict increased absences irrespective of demographic variables (Hardy, Woods & Wall, 2003). Two models of stress components, namely, the DCM model by Karasek (1979), as well as the ERI model of Siegrist (1996), have received support in many studies as a risk factor for various illnesses, such as coronary heart disease (Schnall *et al.*, 1994; Kivimaki, Vahtera, Elovainio, Lillkrank & Kevin, 2002). They also documented non-significant results in some studies as predictors of sickness absences (North *et al.*, 1996; Siegrist, Peter, Junge, Cremer & Seidel, 1990). However, Kahn and Byosiere (1992) revealed in their study the association of job stress to physical and behavioural outcomes, such as health complaints, burnout, and absenteeism. One study showed that nurses who experienced stress have higher absenteeism rates, lower job satisfaction and are more likely to voluntarily leave the organisation (Larson, 1987; Callaghan & Field, 1991). A study by Bourbonnais and Mondor (2001) found employees with job stress and low social support accounted for more short-term sick leave.

An empirical study conducted in Denmark on 4,407 slaughterhouse workers found workers with high job stress have a significantly higher absence rate. The study also found significant association between sickness absence and perceived health. Absence was seen as one of the patterns of coping strategy against job stress in response to a stressful working environment (Kristensen, 1991).

Borritz *et al.* (2006) conducted a three year prospective study on 824 participants from different human service organisations in Denmark. The results indicated that job stress predicts sickness absence. It was suggested that reducing job stress is likely to reduce sickness absence. Duijts *et al.* (2007) recommended the implementation of preventive measures to identify stressors and institution of public health interventions to improve psychosocial health and reduce sickness absence.

Virtanen *et al.* (2007) performed a prospective study among a cohort of 7,986 public sector employees aged 18 to 62 years, using the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-12), and found that job stress has an independent effect on medically certified sickness absence.

An 18 months Maastricht Cohort Study conducted by Bultmann *et al.* (2005) on 6,403 employees in Netherlands showed that job stress is related to long-term sickness absence. Besides, several studies (Parker & Kulik, 1995; Vasse, Nijhuis & Kok, 1998; Tennant, 2001; Verhaeghe *et al.*, 2003; Kedem, 2005) support the association between job stress and sickness absence. According to Kedem (2005),

nursing is one of the most susceptible professions to job stress. He stated that higher levels of job stress would result in more days of sickness absence; specifically, this phenomenon is more prominent among nurses in intensive care wards than in other general wards.

There are a few studies that did not find such an association between job stress and sick leave (Parkes, 1982; Houtman, Bongers, Smulders & Kompier, 1994). One study from Whitehall II reported an association between job stress and short-term sick leave among male white collar workers who occupied the lowest grades of employment (North *et al.*, 1996). Nonetheless, they did not find an association between job stress and long-term sick leave among men. For women, their findings also demonstrate that job stress did not predict significantly on short-term sick leave.

Most organisations tend to link stress with absenteeism. Many research studies suggest organisation and managers need to step-up health promotion efforts to reduce problems of employee absenteeism (Manning & Osland, 1989). The notion of absenteeism which is associated with job-related stress, was first proposed by Frankenhaeuser and Gardell (1976), and is perceived as the withdrawal behaviour from job stress, and how individuals can cope with their social environment.

Previous studies that empirically measured the relationship between absenteeism and stress, have generally examined how environmental, work or personality characteristics explain individual differences in absenteeism rate (Woo *et al.*, 1999). One study among lumbermen relates the connection of job characteristics to absenteeism. The perceptions of stress and absenteeism were highest among lumbermen whose work could be described as skilled but low in autonomy (Frankenhaeuser & Gardell, 1976). The study concluded that work, perceived as low in control and autonomy, creates stress that results in absenteeism. A study done among nurses found there is a strong association between stress and absence frequency (Jamal, 1984; Manning & Osland, 1989). The associations reported were job stressors caused by role ambiguity, role overload, role conflict and resource inadequacy. Generally, most of the literature that supports stress-absenteeism relationship reported lower magnitude of association between these two variables.

In spite of several studies showing the job stress-absenteeism relationship (Frankenhaeuser & Gardell, 1976; Farrell & Stamm, 1988), results from these studies are still surprisingly inconclusive about how environmental and personality characteristics explain individual differences in absenteeism rate. It seems that a lot of focus on individual factors or explanations of job stress with dimensions of personality characteristics have been the dominant framework for the study on absenteeism. Farrell and Stamm (1988) highlighted a few constraints facing absenteeism research. Firstly, many absenteeism studies have neglected organisational variables in the understanding of the influence of environmental or job characteristics on absenteeism; secondly, there is a lack of studies that employed meta-analysis to project a global view (Hackett & Guion, 1985; Scott & Taylor, 1985); and lastly, is the need to consider the important distinction of involuntary from voluntary absence.

An absence survey conducted by the CIPD on more than 1,000 organisations in the UK, found the average absence levels in the public sector stand at 10.3 days per employee per year, compared to 6.8 days in the private services sector (Thomas, 2005). The study showed that stress is one of the leading and growing causes of absence in the public sector, with around half of public sector organisations citing stress as a leading cause of long-term absence for non-manual workers. The highest absence levels are found in health sector (11.6 days per employee per year), food, drink and tobacco sectors (11.2 days), care services (11.2 days) industry and local government (10.9 days). The cost of absence has escalated to £601 per employee per year from £588 the previous year (Thomas, 2005). Meanwhile, the study reported that stress and absence levels are highest in the local government and the health sector (Thomas, 2005), specifically among police, healthcare, teaching and social service workers, who are believed to be working under target-driven environments. According to Barnett (2005) job stress is responsible for 30 per cent of sickness absence in the NHS and costs the services between £300m and £400m each year (Barnett, 2005).

Historically different time periods have been used to measure absenteeism per unit of time. Chadwick-Jones *et al.* (1982) proposed that one-day absences are usually voluntary and could represent an "unauthorised vacation" (Staw & Oldham, 1978). Lengthier absences, on the other hand, may be perceived as involuntary or unavoidable absences, possibly due to illnesses. In fact, measures that give equal weight to all absences, regardless of length, may be the most effective measure of stress research.

The psychosocial work environment characterised by the combination of high levels of psychological demands and low levels of decision latitude, has been found to be an important contributor to health, especially cardiovascular health (Schnall *et al.*, 1994). Some authors have reported an increased risk of sickness absence among workers exposed to adverse psychosocial factors at work, especially low levels of decision latitude (Kristensen, 1991; Karasek, 1979; Karasek *et al.*, 1987; North *et al.*, 1996). Other studies also reported that job stress is widespread in the working population and can lead to sickness absence and even work disability (Schaufeli *et al.*, 2009; Molenaar-Cox & Deursen, 2002; Paoli & Merllie, 2001; Jones, Huxtable, Hodgson & Price, 2003; Spreeuwers, Pal, & van der Laan, 2005).

Even though job stress and absenteeism can be detrimental to the organisation, it is not necessarily harmful to those employees who are absent from work. Quite the contrary, their absence may be instrumental for recuperating from experienced job stress (Bakker *et al.*, 2003b). Several researchers (such as Ho, 1997; Borritz *et al.*, 2006; Virtanen *et al.*, 2007; Duijts *et al.*, 2007) suggested the identification of employees with high job stress and the improvement of their working conditions through public health intervention measures, which should be considered as an important target in the prevention of adverse consequences of job stress.

Although several previous studies have focused on job stress and its association with sickness absence, however, the specific symptoms of job stress have not been explored in majority of these studies. One study by Nielsen, Kristensen and Smith-Hansen (2002) found different forms of stress e.g. somatic, behavioural, emotional and cognitive stress are correlated moderately to sickness absence. Another study by Hardy, Woods and Wall (2003) predict increased absences irrespective of demographic variables. Hence, the understanding of this relationship of the four dimensions (physical, emotional, psychological and behavioural) of job stress to sickness absence is essential, because it will provide insight for researchers and managers into the types of stress that may contribute to sickness absence. With this knowledge, preventive and occupational health interventional measures can be instituted in organisations to avert the burden of job stress and sickness absence. Therefore, the following hypotheses are proposed to test these relationships:

Hypothesis 5: Job stress is positively related to sickness absence

Hypothesis 5a: Physical stress is positively related to sickness absence

Hypothesis 5b: Emotional stress is positively related to sickness absence

Hypothesis 5c: Psychological stress is positively related to sickness absence

Hypothesis 5d: Behavioural stress is positively related to sickness absence

# 2.7.6 Mediating Effect of Job Stress on the Relationship between Job Demands, Job Resources and Sickness Absence

Research conducted over several decades has produced relatively little concrete knowledge regarding the determinants of employee absenteeism (Brooke & Pice, 1989). Reviews of the literature have consistently demonstrated weak, contradictory, and generally inconclusive findings due to a lack of theory building and too much focus on association between job satisfaction, job-related attitudes and absenteeism (Porter & Steers, 1973; Chadwick-Jones *et al.*, 1982; Goodman *et al.*, 1984; Steers & Rhodes, 1978, 1984).

The scientific evidence on the effects of work-related factors on sickness absenteeism is exiguous (Allebeck & Mastekaasa, 2004). So far, previous studies (Bakker *et al.*, 2003b; Niedhammer *et al.*, 1998; Melchior *et al.*, 2003; North *et al.*, 1996; Bourbonnais & Mondor, 2001; Rael *et al.*, 1995; Kivimaki, Elovainio & Vahtera, 2000a) have only examined the three aspects of job demands (i.e., workload, mental demands and problem with reorganisation); five aspects of job resources (job control, participation, decision latitude, social support; fainess); and job strain and job commitment on absenteeism. Therefore, this study builds on past research by examining the relationships between five more dimensions of job demands (physical demand, role conflict, role ambiguity, job scope, job complexity) and four more dimensions of job resources (task/time control, job feedback, autonomy and selfefficacy) on job stress and sickness absenteeism.

Similarly, there is scarcity in research that used job stress as mediator (e.g., Chen & Lien, 2008; Khattak, Quarat-ul-ain and Iqbal, 2013). Chen and Lien (2008) used job stress as mediator on the effect of workplace factors on turnover intention, while Khattak et al. (2013) conducted a study on retail banking employees showing mediating role of job stress on the relationship between role ambiguity and job satisfaction. On the other hand, Bakker et al. (2004); Bakker et al. (2008) found that burnout mediated the relationship between job demands and performance, while the study by Vasse *et al.* (1998) revealed the mediating effect of stress on the relationship between work stressors and alcohol consumption. Another study by Jex et al. (1991) noted stress has a mediating effect on the relationship between stressor and stress outcome. Nevertheless, no studies have used job stress as mediator on the relationship between job demands and job resources on sickness absence. Hence, this study extends beyond previous research (Bakker et al., 2003a; Bakker & Demerouti 2007; Demerouti & Bakker, 2011), by including seven job demands dimensions (workload, physical demand, emotional demand, job scope, role conflict, role ambiguity and job complexity) and six job resources dimensions (supervisor support, co-worker support, autonomy, job feedback, task/time control and self-efficacy) as predictors for job stress and sickness absence. This study is one of the first to use job stress as mediator on the relationship between job demands and job resources on sickness asbence. Therefore, the following hypotheses are proposed to advance knowledge and fill the research gap in the present study:

Hypothesis 6: Job stress mediates the relationship between job demands and sickness absence.

- Hypothesis 6a: Physical stress mediates the relationship between job demands and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6a(i): Physical stress mediates the relationship between workload and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6a(ii): Physical stress mediates the relationship between physical demand and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6a(iii): Physical stress mediates the relationship between emotional demand and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6a(iv): Physical stress mediates the relationship between job scope and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6a(v): Physical stress mediates the relationship between role ambiguity and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6a(vi): Physical stress mediates the relationship between role conflict and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6a(vii): Physical stress mediates the relationship between job complexity and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6b: Emotional stress mediates the relationship between job demands and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6b(i): Emotional stress mediates the relationship between workload and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6b(ii): Emotional stress mediates the relationship between physical demand and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6b(iii): Emotional stress mediates the relationship between emotional demand and sickness absence.

- Hypothesis 6b(iv): Emotional stress mediates the relationship between job scope and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6b(v): Emotional stress mediates the relationship between role ambiguity and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6b(vi): Emotional stress mediates the relationship between role conflict and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6b(vii): Emotional stress mediates the relationship between job complexity and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6c: Psychological stress mediates the relationship between job demands and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6c(i): Psychological stress mediates the relationship between workload and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6c(ii): Psychological stress mediates the relationship between physical demand and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6c(iii): Psychological stress mediates the relationship between emotional demand and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6c(iv): Psychological stress mediates the relationship between job scope and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6c(v): Psychological stress mediates the relationship between role ambiguity and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6c(vi): Psychological stress mediates the relationship between role conflict and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6c(vii): Psychological stress mediates the relationship between job complexity and sickness absence.

- Hypothesis 6d: Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between job demands and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6d(i): Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between workload and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6d(ii): Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between physical demand and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6d(iii): Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between emotional demand and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6d(iv): Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between job scope and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6d(v): Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between role ambiguity and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6d(vi): Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between role conflict and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 6d(vii): Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between job complexity and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7: Job stress mediates the relationship between job resources and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7a:Physical stress mediates the relationship between job resources and<br/>sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7a(i): Physical stress mediates the relationship between supervisor support and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7a(ii): Physical stress mediates the relationship between co-worker support and sickness absence

- Hypothesis 7a(iii): Physical stress mediates the relationship between autonomy and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7a(iv): Physical stress mediates the relationship between job feedback and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7a(v): Physical stress mediates the relationship between task/time control and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7a(vi): Physical stress mediates the relationship between self-efficacy and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7b: Emotional stress mediates the relationship between job resources and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7b(i): Emotional stress mediates the relationship between supervisor support and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7b(ii): Emotional stress mediates the relationship between co-worker support and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7b(iii): Emotional stress mediates the relationship between autonomy and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7b(iv): Emotional stress mediates the relationship between job feedback and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7b(v): Emotional stress mediates the relationship between task/time control and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7b(vi): Emotional stress mediates the relationship between self-efficacy and sickness absence.

- Hypothesis 7c: Psychological stress mediates the relationship between job resources and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7c(i): Psychological stress mediates the relationship between supervisor support and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7c(ii): Psychological stress mediates the relationship between co-worker support and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7c(iii): Psychological stress mediates the relationship between autonomy and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7c(iv): Psychological stress mediates the relationship between job feedback and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7c(v): Psychological stress mediates the relationship between task/time control and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7c(vi): Psychological stress mediates the relationship between self-efficacy and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7d:Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between job resources<br/>and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7d(i): Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between supervisor support and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7d(ii): Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between co-worker support and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7d(iii): Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between autonomy and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7d(iv): Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between job feedback and sickness absence.

- Hypothesis 7d(v): Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between task/time control and sickness absence.
- Hypothesis 7d(vi): Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between self-efficacy and sickness absence.

#### 2.8 Theoretical Framework

Based on the review of previous literature, theoretical models and theories related to absenteeism, stress, strain and burnout, the theoretical framework for this study was constructed. These past models and theories encompass Steers and Rhodes's (1978) process model; Demand-Control model (DCM) (Karasek, 1979, 1998); Job Demands-Control-Support (JDCS) model (Johnson & Hall, 1988; Johnson et al., 1989); and ERI (Effort and Reward Imbalance model (Siegrist, 1996) were being examined and found no suitable to employ as underpinning theories. The theoretical framework of this study was adapted and underpinned by JD-R model (Demerouti et al., 2000b; Demerouti et al., 2001b; Bakker et al., 2003a; Bakker et al., 2004); Conservation of Resources (CPR) theory (Hobfoll, 1989, 2001; Hobfoll, Freedy, Lane, & Geller, 1990) and activation theory (Scott, 1966; Hockey, 1973). This model has integrated two different processes responsible for sickness absenteeism behaviour. The first process is health impairment process starting with high job demands, which lead to job stress characterised by physical, emotional, psychological and behavioural symptoms, and subsequently contribute to sickness absence. The second process accountable for sickness absence is motivational in nature, and it starts with job resources, whereby employees who obtain sufficient job resources are more motivated to do their job, feel committed to their organisation, report less job stress, and consequently take less sick leave.

As illustrated in Figure 2.2, this study proposes that job demands and job resources have direct relationship with job stress. Additionally, this study also postulates that job demands, job resources and job stress directly influence sickness absence. This assumption concurs with researchers, such as Verhaeghe *et al.* (2003); Vaananen et al. (2003); Voss et al. (2004); Vaananen et al. (2004); Hanebuth et al. (2006), who found job demands, job resources and job stress influence sickness absence. Further, the framework also proposes that job stress mediates the relationship between job demands and job resources on sickness absence. So far, no research has used job stress as mediator on the relationship between job demands and job resources on sickness absence. A few studies using stress as mediator have examined different independent and outcome variables. For example, Vasse et al. (1998) conducted a study on 471 employees from Municipal Garbage Collecting Departments and a Pharmaceutical Company in Netherlands, and found stress mediates the relationship between work stressors and alcohol consumption. On the other hand, Chen and Lien (2008) conducted an empirical study on 255 retail banking employees in Taiwan and found a mediating effect of job stress on the relationship between workplace factors (role conflict, role ambiguity, role overload and job autonomy) and turnover intention. The recent study conducted by Khattak et al. (2013) on 350 retail banking employees in Pakistan found job stress mediates the effect of role ambiguity on job satisfaction. The other two studies (Bakker et al., 2004; Jex et al., 1991) examined the mediating role of burnout and psychological strain respectively in their study and the results of both studies support mediating role of burnout and strain on stressor and stress outcome relationship. Therefore, this study attempts to fill the research gap by using job stress as mediating variable on the relationship between job demands, job resources and sickness asbence. The proposed mediation model of this study is among the first to integrate all four variables (job demands, job resources, job stress and sickness absence) in a single model. The research model is illustrated as follows:



# Figure 2.2

Theoretical Framework of the Relationship Between Job Demands, Job Resources, Job Stress and Sickness Absence

# 2.14 Summary

This chapter provides a discussion on the theoretical foundation used to underpin the research framework. A thorough literature review on the concept of absenteeism and sickness absence were explored and the issues relating to absenteeism measures were

also highlighted. The use of mediating role of job stress in the relationships between job demands and job resources on sickness absence is justified. Predictors of job stress and sickness absence are also discussed with an in-depth review of the past empirical studies on job demands, job resources and its links with job stress and sickness absence. Seven dimensions of job demands, including workload, physical demand, emotional demand, job scope, role conflict, role ambiguity and job complexity are discussed. Similarly, six dimensions from jobs resources, namely supervisor support, co-worker support, autonomy, job feedback, task/time control and self-efficacy are also elaborated. The most significant finding from the literature review is that there is basically no research to date that examines the mediating role of job stress on the relationship between job demands and job resources on sickness absence. It is envisaged that by addressing this gap, this research will advance new knowledge and shed light on the absenteeism research, particularly in sickness absence. The following chapter presents the research methodology used in this study.

#### **CHAPTER THREE**

# METHODOLOGY

#### **3.1 Introduction**

Chapters 1 and 2 reviewed the previous studies related to job demands, job resources, job stress and sickness absence. This chapter spells out the research philosophy, research methodology and procedures undertaken in this study. It contains an overview of the research paradigm, research design, operationisation of variables, discussion of the population, sample and sampling technique, description of the instrument selected for data gathering and process of data collection, data analysis, statistical tests used in the study and formula for calculation of sickness absence. Further, a preliminary or pilot study and its results are also presented.

# 3.2 Research Philosophy

In every research process, two fundamental questions people have always been asked by researchers. The first is how is knowledge created? The second is whether there are any truths awaiting to be discovered or the truths people perceived as such are socially constructed? The anwers to these questions are dependent on the philosophical perspective the research is to be adopted (Easterby-Smith, Thorpe & Lowe, 2002). Such philosophical perspective helps to locate researcher's beliefs and assumptions about the nature of reality (i.e. ontology) and truth of the knowledge (epistemology), and this influences the methodology of research selected (Easter-Smith *et al.*, 2002; Remenyi, 1998). Scotland (2012) asserts that research methods can be traced back, through methodology and epistemology, to an ontological position. He argued that it is impossible to engage in any form of research without committing to ontological and epistemological positions. Therefore researchers with differing ontological and epistemological positions often lead to different research approaches towards the same phenomenon (Grix, 2004).

Developing a philosophical perspective requires the researcher to consider four core assumptions about the nature of social science (Burrel & Morgan, 1979). The first is the ontocological assumption about whether the 'reality' to be investigated is an objective nature or the product of individual cognition. The second is epistemological assumption about the how the knowledge can be acquired or the truths can be found. The third assumption is concerning human nature, and the relationship between human beings and their environment, this entail views whether human being are the product of their environment or human beings create environment. These three assumptions have direct implications on the methodological approach because different ontologies, epistemologies and models of human nature are likely to influence researchers towards different type of methodology to be used. As the dimension of science involves either an objectivist or subjectivist approach to research and these two major philosophical paradigms are further delineated by four core assumptions as discussed as above. The objectivist approach to social research developed from the nature scences, hence social science researcher decided to employe highly successful methods of the natural sciences to investigate social science phenomena. As indicated in Figure 3.1, the obectivism and subjectivism have been described as a continuum's polar opposites with varying philosophical positions aligned between them. Generally social scientists will assess the best approach that
could generate reliable and valid information about the social phenomena under investigation.



The underlying philosophy of this research is rooted to the positivist objectivism design (Crotty, 1998). Hence, all research process, procedures and activities were derived from this paradigm. Thus in accordance with objectivist paradigm and ontocological assumption, the researcher considers reality as the actual and present phenomena, which is independent of knower and waiting to be discovered (Cohen, Manion & Morrison, 2007).

As positivists assume knowledge is objective, they view phenomenon have independent existence which can be discovered via research. Positivist statements are descriptive and factual and free from prejudices and this knowledge is considered to be absolute and value free (Burell & Morgan, 1979). Based on methologocal view in objectivist-subjectivist paradigm, the nomothetic approach to social science lays emphasis on the importance of conducting research using systematic inquiry and technique. This is epitomized in the quantitative approach employed in scientific method which focus upon the process of tesing hypothesis in tandem with the scientific rigour. This approach is inclined towards the construction of scientific tool and the use of quantitative techniques for the analysis of data. Surveys, questionnaires, and standardized instruments are prominent tools used in nomothetic approach of methodology (Burell & Morgan, 1979). Cohen *et al.* (2007) added that this nomothetic approach is designed to discover general laws and provide empirical evidence to test established theories.

Creswell (2009) asserted that positivist methodology is directed at explaining relationships, it also attempts to identify causes which influence outcomes. The purpose of positivist methodology is to formulate general laws to explain phenomenon, thus yielding a basis for prediction and generalization (Scotland, 2012).

This study specifically adopted a quantitative approach because it employs empirical methods, and the data collected and analyzed with statistical tools (Creswell, 1994). Quantitative research has the merit of providing an opportunity to cover a wide range of situations and useful in testing existing theory (Easterby-Smith *et al.*, 2002). Quantitative research also used statistical measurement to test relationships among variables specifically job demands, job resources, job stress and sickness absence in this study. Moreover, this study is consistent with requirements for quantitative research in which social reality is objectively determined using systematic guides in the process of data collection and analysis (Creswell, 1994).

## 3.3 Research Design

Research design is a roadmap for researchers, it constitutes the blue-print for collection, measurement and analysis of data (Cooper & Schindler, 2008). A suitable research design is important in determining how, when and where data are to be collected and and analyzed (Parahoo, 2006) because research design is the reseacher's overall for answering the research question or testing the hypothesis (Polit & Beck, 2012). The present study utilizes quantitative research design in an attempt to investigate the relationship between job demands resources factors and sickness absence, and additionally the job stress as a mediating variable in the said relationship among Malaysian nurses.

A quantitative research design is suitable as it helps in examining a large sample of respondent's attitudes towards the phenomenon under study and consequently the researchers are able to obtain a particular perspective of human behavior (Williams, 2007). Quantitative research design seeks explanations and predictions of the phenomenon. The intent is to establish, confirm, or validate relationships and to develop generalizations that contribute to theory (Leedy & Ormrod, 2001). At such, the researcher make use of survey questionnaire for primary data collection. Survey is a measurement process that utilises a measurement tool called a questionnaire or interview schedule to procure data (Cooper & Schindler, 2008). Surveys are designed to provide a snapshot of how things are at a specific time (Kelly, Clark, Brown & Sitzia, 2003). Surveys are well suited to descriptive studies, but can be used to seek explanation and provide data for testing hypothesis (Kelly *et al.*, 2003). Questionnaire is an organized set of questions or measures used by respondents or interviewers to record answer (Hair, Money, Samouel, & Page, 2007). The questionnaire is the most common information collection tool in business research (Cooper & Schindler, 2008) and is the most extensively used information collection technique in a survey study (de Vaus, 2002).

The use of survey was appropriate in the present study because the researcher is interested to obtain opinion of respondents on certain issues of interest. In the present study, the researcher aimed at obtaining information on how the participants view their job. In addition, a survey provides a fast, inexpensive, efficient, and precise means of assessing data about a population (Zikmund *et al.*, 2010). Furthermore, due to the majority of survey study is descriptive in nature; the term survey is most often linked with quantitative finding (Zikmund *et al.*, 2010).

## 3.4 Operationalisation of Study Variables and Measurements

The research framework of this study contains thirteen independent variables (workload, physical demand, emotional demand, job scope, role conflict, role ambiguity, job complexity, supervisor support, co-worker support, autonomy, job feedback, task/time control and self-efficacy) and one dependent variable (sickness absence). The mediating variables comprise of job stress (physical, emotional, psychological and behavioral stress).

Measurement of the variables in the theoretical framework is an integral part of research, and an important aspect of research design. Operationalising the concept in research is the reduction of abstract concepts to render them measurable in a tangible way (Sekaran & Bougie, 2009). Concepts need to be operationalised in a way which enables facts to be measured quantitatively. Based on the theoretical framework, the following section discusses the operationalisation and measures of variables in the present study:

#### 3.4.1 Sickness Abseence

Sickness absence refers to non-attendance by an employee at work due to a certified health complaint when the employer expects attendance (Taimela *et al.*, 2007). It is an involuntary absence by an employee attributed to illness or injury when attendance is scheduled or clearly expected by the employer.

Sickness absence is measured by time lost measure. Time lost refers to total duration of of sick leave taken by respondent within the period of study. Sickness absence was recorded for a period of four consecutive months. This study used four months data due to limitation of time and reluctance of nursing authority to provide data for longer duration. To ensure the data can be collected more systematically, a customized tracking form was used to obtain sick leave from sick leave record amd employee duty rota. All the sick leaves recorded were checked and verified with the evidence of medical certificate endorsed by medical practioners.

The use of objective measure to obtain sick leave from employee record is the method of choice in sickness absence research (Price & Muller, 1986). In fact, the availability of this archival absence records has been cited as a contributing factor in the high quality and more credible research (Johns & Nicholson, 1982; Hulin, 1991). There were many absenteeism research used subjective self-reported measures because of convenience and difficulty in obtaining registry records. Nevertheless, this study had used the objective measure instead of self-report because in terms of precision and accuracy and therefore objective measure is still the recommended

option (Grovle *et al.*, 2012; Hensing *et al.*, 1998; Atkin & Goodman, 1984). It has been reported in several studies that retrospective measure by self-report of sick leave and recall of sickness absence tends to progressively deteriorate after a period of more than two months and this may affect the reliability and validity of the data (Severens, Mulder, Laheij & Verbeek, 2000; Grovle *et al.*, 2012).

Time lost measure has been used by different studies to measure sickness absence level in differet settings. Chadwick-Jones *et al.* (1971) claimed that the time lost measure is the most universally accepted and used by the organisations. In hospital setting, one study using time lost measure on recorded sickness absence among hospital physicians and nurses in Finland found significant association between work-related factors (specifically workload, teamwork, job control and social support) and sickness absence (Kivimaki, Sutinen, Elovainio, Vahtera, Rasahen, Toyry & Ferrie, 2001). In nursing setting, one study on medical-certified sickness absence specifically using time lost measures among hospital nurses in Saudi Arabia revealed sickness absence is significantly higher in female Saudi nationals than non-Sausi nationals (Khawaja, Sikander, Khawaja, Jareno & Halepota, 2012). In United Kingdom, NHS (2010) has used time lost measure to estimate the sickness absence level among healthcare workers in NHS facilities.

The present study used the objective measure whereby the sickness absence was recorded using a sick leave recording form (Appendix 12). The first parameter to obtain in the recording is the total scheduled worked day (TSWD), this information was taken from monthly duty rota; the second parameter is the total duration of sick leave (TDSL), this information was available from staff sick leave recording book and it has to be verified with the medical certificate endorsed by authorised medical officer; the last parameter is other approved leave, this excuded maternity leave, emergency leave and other long-term leave approved by the authority. The data were obtained for a consecutive four months from Februaty 2011 to May 2011.

#### 3.4.2 Job Demands

Job demands refer to those physical, psychological, social, or organisational aspects of the job that require continued physical and/or psychological (cognitive and emotional) effort or skills, and are therefore associated with certain physiological and/or psychological costs (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). This describes the nurses' perception of aspects of nursing job that they evaluate as demanding on their physiological and psychological wellbeing. The job demands variables in this study comprise workload, physical demand, emotional demand, job scope, role conflict, role ambiguity and job complexity. Thirty six items were used to measure job demands variables.

## 3.4.2.1 Workload

Workload is defined as the quantity of work received by an employee. It specifically refers to work overload when employees have either too much to do in too little time, or they work too many hours on the job (Schnall, Landsbergis & Baker, 1994). A total of three items adapted from Job Content Questionnaire (JCQ) (Karasek, 1985) were used to measure workload. A four–point Likert scale, ranging from "1" "strongly disagree" to "4" "strongly agree" was employed. Participants were asked to indicate the extent of agreement about their work that exerts pressure or overload to complete their task. For example "My job is very hectic", "My job requires long periods of

intense concentration on the task" (Table 3.2). JCQ has been used in different studies in many countries to measure job demands. The internal scale reliability of workload measure based on national data in USA sample among nurses was 0.61 (Achat, Kawachi, Byrne, Hankinson & Colditz, 2000). In nursing setting, Choobineh, Ghaem and Ahmedinejad (2011) has conducted a study among 107 hospital nurses in Iran. The internal consistency reliability was quite high for workload with  $\alpha$ =0.81.

### 3.4.2.2 Physical Demand

Physical demand is a way of describing the physical activities that a job requires (Hernandez, 2006), and are actually stressors associated with a job's physical setting, such as seating and position, movement during work, lighting, noise, temperature, etc. Physical demand was measured by three items adapted from JCQ (Karasek, 1985) to evaluate the physical demand of nursing job. A four–point Likert scale, ranging from "1" "strongly disagree" to "4" "strongly agree" was employed. Participants were asked to indicate the extent of agreement about the job requires strenuous movements like bending, physical strength, lifting, or carrying objects. For example "My job requires lots of physical effort", "I am often required to move or lift very heavy loads on my job" (Table 3.2). A study using similar items was conducted by Araujo and Karasek (2008) on 1,311 urban residents in Brazil. The internal consistency reliability for physical demand was 0.76.

## **3.4.2.3 Emotional Demand**

Emotional demands refer to the "extent to which employees are confronted in their job with things or persons that touch them personally" (Demerouti & Geurts, 2004). Emotional demand deals with emotional requirements of the job, which employee confronted from the job for instance dealing with patient problem (Hartel, Zerbe & Ashkanasy, 2005). Emotionaal demand was measured by five items adapted from JCQ (Karasek, 1985) to evaluate the emotional demand of nursing job. A four–point Likert scale, ranging from "1" "strongly disagree" to "4" "strongly agree" was employed. Participants were asked to indicate the extent of agreement when they are confronted in their job with things or persons that touch them personally. For example "My job requires working very fast", "My job requires working very hard" (Table 3.2). A study using similar items was conducted by Araujo and Karasek (2008) on 1,311 urban residents in Brazil. The internal consistency reliability for emotional demand was 0.66.

## 3.4.2.4 Job Scope

Job scope refers to the number of different activities that a specific job requires and the frequency with which each activity is performed (Lewis, Goodman, Fandt & Michlitsch, 2007). Job scope was measured with nine items adapted from Job Diagnostic Survey (JDS) (Hackman & Oldham, 1980). This measure specifically examines the perception of nurses on their skill variety, skill identity and task significance. A four–point Likert scale, ranging from "1" "strongly disagree" to "4" "strongly agree" was employed. Participants were asked to indicate the extent of agreement about a specific job requires them to do different activities and the frequency with which each activity is performed. For example "My work requires me to do many different things, using a variety of my skills and talents", "My work requires me to use a number of complex and high-level skills" (Table 3.2). A similar measure was used in a study on 188 employees in the information technology industry in Singapore and the internal reliability coefficient was high with 0.92 (Lim & Cheng, 1999).

# 3.4.2.5 Role Conflict

Role conflict refers to the degree to which role expectations are incompatible or incongruent with the requirements of the role where compatibility is judged relative to a set of standards which impinge on role performance (Rizzo, House & Lirtzman, 1970). Role conflict was measured by eight items adapted from Rizzo *et al.* (1970). A four–point Likert scale, ranging from "1" "strongly disagree" to "4" "strongly agree" was employed. Participants were asked to indicate the extent of agreement on whether their role expectations are incompatible or incongruent with the requirements of the role. For example "I have to do things that should be done differently", "I receive incompatible requests from two or more people" (Table 3.2). Idris (2011) conducted a study among 310 university academics in Malaysia using the same scale and the internal consistency reliability was quite high with  $\alpha$ =0.86.

## 3.4.2.6 Role Ambiguity

Role ambiguity is the degree to which role expectations are unclear (Rizzo *et al.*, 1970). Role ambiguity was measured by six items adapted from Rizzo *et al.* (1970). This scales asking for nurses' perception on aspects of role ambiguity in their work. A four–point Likert scale, ranging from "1" "strongly disagree" to "4" "strongly agree" was employed. Participants were asked to indicate the extent of agreement when their role expectations are unclear. For example "I feel certain about how much authority I have", "I have clear, planned goals and objectives for my job" (Table 3.2). A similar study conducted by Idris (2011) among 310 university academics in Malaysia using the same scale and the internal consistency reliability was quite high with  $\alpha$ =0.88.

# 3.4.2.7 Job Complexity

Job complexity is defined as the degree of uncertainty and low divisibility of work process in a job given (Kivimaki *et al.*, 1997b). Job complexity was measured with two items adapted from Karasek (1985) and Hackman and Oldham (1980). A fourpoint Likert scale, ranging from "1" "strongly disagree" to "4" "strongly agree" was employed. Participants were asked to indicate the extent of agreement about the complexity issue of the job. For example "My work is monotonous", "My work requires thinking and weighing decision" (Table 3.2). Baer, Oldham and Cummings (2003) conducted a study on 171 employees from manufacturing organisations using job complexity scale and the reliability coefficient was high with  $\alpha$ = 0.82

## 3.4.3 Job Resources

Job resources refer to those physical, psychological, social, or organisational aspects of the job that are functional in achieving work goals (Demerouti, Bakker, Nachreiner & Schaufeli, 2001b; Bakker *et al.*, 2003a). In the present study, job resources consist of six constructs namely: supervisor support, co-worker support, autonomy, job feedback, task/time control and self-efficacy.

### 3.4.3.1 Supervisor Support

Supervisor support is defined as assistance and protection provided to individual by supervisors (Langford, Bowsher, Maloney & Lillis, 1997). Supervisor support was measured by four items adapted from JCQ (Karasek, 1985). A four–point Likert scale, ranging from "1" "strongly disagree" to "4" "strongly agree" was employed. Participants were asked to indicate the level of agreement or disagreement on supervisor support such as "My supervisor is concerned about the welfare of those under him", "My supervisor pays attention to what I am saying" (Table 3.2). The similar scale was used in a study conducted on 1,199 factory workers in Taiwan, and the internal consistency reliability was reported to be  $\alpha$ = 0.86 (Cheng, Luh & Guo, 2003). Another study conducted in Kelantan, Malaysia on 68 secondary school teachers, and the internal consistency reliability for supervisor support was high with  $\alpha$ = 0.84 (Abdul Hadi, Naing, Daud & Nordin, 2006). Karasek *et al.* (1998) reported that the international comparative assessment on JCQ across studies conducted in US, Canada. Netherlands and Japan found the average internal reliability coefficients for supervisor support was 0.838.

### 3.4.3.2 Co-worker Support

Co-worker support is defined as assistance and protection provided to individual by coworkers or colleagues (Langford, Bowsher, Maloney & Lillis, 1997). Co-worker support was measured by four items adapted from JCQ (Karasek, 1985). A four–point Likert scale, ranging from "1" "strongly disagree" to "4" "strongly agree" was employed. Participants were asked to indicate the level of agreement or disagreement on co-worker support such as "People I work with take a personal interest in me", "People I work with are friendly" (Table 3.2). The similar items were used in a study conducted on 1,199 factory workers in Taiwan, and the internal consistency reliability was reported with  $\alpha$ =0.82 (Cheng, Luh & Guo, 2003). Another study conducted in Kelantan, Malaysia on 68 secondary school teachers, and the internal consistency reliability for co-worker support was reported with  $\alpha$ =0.84 (Abdul Hadi *et al.*, 2006). Karasek *et al.* (1998) reported that the international comparative assessment on JCQ across studies conducted in US, Canada. Netherlands and Japan found the average internal reliability coefficients for co-worker support was 0.752.

#### 3.4.3.3 Autonomy

Autonomy is defined as the extent to which the job enables an individual to experience freedom, independence, and discretion, in both scheduling and determining the procedures used in completing the job (Hackman & Oldham, 1976). Autonomy was measured with three items adapted from JDS (Hackman and Oldham, 1980). A four–point Likert scale, ranging from "1" "strongly disagree" to "4" "strongly agree" was employed. Participants were asked to indicate the level of

agreement or disagreement on job autonomy such as "My work permits me to decide on my own how to go about doing the work", "My work denies me any chance to use my personal initiative or judgement in carrying out the work" (Table 3.2). Scott, Swortzel and Taylor (2005) conducted a study on 195 agents in USA using similar scale and the reliability coefficients for job autonomy was 0.66.

## 3.4.3.4 Job Feedback

Job feedback is defined as the extent to which an individual receives direct and clear information about how effectively he or she is performing the job (Hackman & Oldham, 1976). Job feedback was measured by three items adapted from JDS (Hackman and Oldham, 1980). A four–point Likert scale, ranging from "1" "strongly disagree" to "4" "strongly agree" was employed. Participants were asked to indicate the level of agreement or disagreement on job feedback such as "My work activities provide information about my work performance", My work provides many chances for me to figure out how well I am doing" (Table 3.2). Scott, Swortzel and Taylor (2005) conducted a study on 195 agents in USA using the same scale and the reliability coefficients for job feedback was 0.71. Another study conducted using job feedback scale on 232 private sector workers in Nigeria and the reliability coefficient for job feedback was 0.68 (Nwosu, Chiamaka & Tochukwu, 2013).

#### 3.4.3.5 Task/Time Control

Task/Time control is defined as the extent to which workers are able to exercise discretion in dealing with heavy workload and work pressure (Smith, 1998).

Task/Time control was measured with nine items adapted from JCQ (Karasek, 1985). A four–point Likert scale, ranging from "1" "strongly disagree" to "4" "strongly agree" was employed. Participants were asked to indicate the level of agreement or disagreement on aspects of task/time control in job such as "My job requires that I learn new thing", "My job involves a lot of repetitive work", "My job requires me to be creative", "My job requires a high level of skill" (Table 3.2). In a study conducted by Cheng, Luh and Guo (2003) in Taiwan using similar scale and the internal consistency reliability was 0.80.

## 3.4.3.6 Self-Efficacy

Self-efficacy is defined as a person's belief that he or she has the ability, motivation, and situational contingencies to complete a task successfully (McShane & Glinow, 2008). Self-efficacy was measured by ten items adapted from Schwarzer and Jerusalem (1995). A four–point Likert scale, ranging from "1" "strongly disagree" to "4" "strongly agree" was employed. Participants were asked to indicate the level of agreement or disagreement on aspects of self-efficacy in job such as "I can always manage to solve difficult problems if I try hard enough", "I am confident that I could deal efficiently with unexpected events", "Thanks to my resourcefulness, I know how to handle unforeseen situations" (Table 3.2). Scholz *et al.* (2002 cited in Scherbaum, Cohen-Charash & Kem, 2006) reported the internal consistency coefficients for a variety of samples conducted in studies across many countries using similar scale have a range from 0.75 to 0.91.

Job stress is defined as "a pattern of emotional, cognitive, behavioural and physiological reactions to adverse and harmful aspects of work content, work organisation and the working environment" (European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, 2002, p. 3). Job stress acts as mediator in the preseng study consists of four constructs namely: physical, emotional, psychological and behavioral stress. Job stress was measured with a total of twenty eight items adapted from General Health Questionnaire (GHQ) developed by Goldberg and Hillier (1979). GHQ-28 are widely used in many studies related to occupational wellbeing. The reliability coefficients documented in many studies range from 0.78 to 0.95 (Jackson, 2007).

# 3.4.4.1 Physical Stress

Physical stress is defined as the physiological responses by body to stress (European Commission's Directorate-General for Employment and Social Affairs, 2000). Physical stress can be manifested by individuals through illness of the physical body such as increased or irregular heart rate, increased blood pressure. Physical stress was measured by seven items adapted from GHQ-28 (Goldberg & Hillier, 1979). A four-point itemized rating scale, ranging from "1" "never" to "4" "always" was employed. Participants were asked to indicate the degree of frequency they experienced about the symptoms of physical stress. For example such as "been getting any pains in your head?", "been getting a feeling of tightness or pressure in your head?", "been having hot or cold spells" (Table 3.2). A study conducted by Nagyova *et al.* (2000) using

GHQ-28 in Slovakia reported internal consistency coefficient for physical stress to be 0.83.

## 3.4.4.2 Emotional Stress

Emotional stress is defined as the emotional responses to stress (European Commission's Directorate-General for Employment and Social Affairs, 2000). Emotional stress can be manifested by symptoms which affect their mood and feeling for instance anxiety, depression and restlessness. Emotional stress was measured by seven items adapted from GHQ-28 (Goldberg & Hillier, 1979). A four–point itemized rating scale, ranging from "1" "never" to "4" "always" was employed. Participants were asked to indicate the degree of frequency they experienced about the symptoms of emotional stress. For example such as "felt on the whole you were doing things well?", "felt that you are playing a useful part in things?" "felt capable of making decisions about things?" (Table 3.2). A study conducted by Nagyova *et al.* (2000) using GHQ-28 in Slovakia reported internal consistency coefficient for emotional stress to be 0.87.

## 3.4.4.3 Psychological Stress

Psychological stress is defined as cogntive and mental responses to stress (European Commission's Directorate-General for Employment and Social Affairs, 2000). Psychological stress can be manifested by symptoms that affect cognitive and mental health state for example inability to concentrate and memory problem. Psychological stress was measured by seven items adapted from GHQ-28 (Goldberg & Hillier,

1979). A four-point itemized rating scale, ranging from "1" "never" to "4" "always" was employed. Participants were asked to indicate the degree of frequency they experienced about the symptoms of psychological stress. For example such as "been thinking of yourself as a worthless person?" "felt that life is entirely hopeless?", "felt that life isn't worth living?" (Table 3.2). A study conducted by Nagyova *et al.* (2000) using GHQ-28 in Slovakia reported internal consistency coefficient for psychological stress to be 0.76.

## 3.4.4.4 Behavioral Stress

Behavioral stress is defined as behavioral responses to stress (European Commission's Directorate-General for Employment and Social Affairs, 2000). Behavioral stress is the action taken or behaviours exhibited by individuals to confront a stressful situation for example eatng more or less, sleeping too much or too little, isolate oneself, using drug or alcohol to relax. Behavioral stress was measured by seven items adapted from GHQ-28 (Goldberg & Hillier, 1979). A four–point itemized rating scale, ranging from "1" "never" to "4" "always" was employed. Participants were asked to indicate the degree of frequency they experienced about the symptoms of behavioural stress. For example such as "lost much sleep over worry?", "been getting nervous and badtempered?", "been getting scared or panicky for no good reason?" (Table 3.2). Nagyova *et al.* (2000) used GHQ-28 to conduct a survey study on 148 patients to see the impact of chronic diseases on their daily life in Slovakia. The reliability figures for all scales were satisfactory. Total scale has Cronbach's alpha coefficient of 0.92, whereas for behavioural stress the Cronbach's alpha coefficient was 0.83. In sum, the

following table depicts all constructs and measures with number of items adapted

from previous researchers:

Table 3.1	
Constructs and Measures	
Constructs	No. of Items
Job Demands:	
Workload; Physical demand; Emotional demand. Developed by Karasek (1985).	Workload (3) Physical demand (3) Emotional demand (5)
Job scope. Developed by Hackman & Oldham (1980)	Job scope (9)
Role conflict and Role ambiguity. Developed by Rizzo, House & Lirtzman (1970).	Role conflict (8) Role ambiguity (6)
Job complexity. Developed by Hackman & Oldman (1980) and Karasek (1985)	Job complexity (2)
Job Resources:	
Supervisor support and co-worker support. Developed by Karasek (1985).	Supervisor support (4) Co-worker support (4)
Autonomy and Job feedback. Developed by Hackman & Oldham (1980).	Autonomy (3) Job feedback (3)
Task/Time control. Developed by Karasek (1985).	Task/Time control (9)
Self-efficacy. Developed by Schwarzer & Jerusalem (1995).	Self-efficacy (10)
Job Stress:	
General Health Questionnaire (GHQ) Developed by Goldberg & Hillier (1979). Consists of physical, emotional, psychological and behavioural stress.	Physical stress (7) Emotional stress (7) Behavioural stress (7) Psychological stress (7)
Sickness absence	Total monthly scheduled worked days for 4
Sick leave; Scheduled worked day;	consecutive months Total monthly recorded sick leave verified from medical cartificate for 4 consecutive months
	methear certificate for 4 consecutive months

# **3.4.5** Summary of Conceptual and Operational Definition of Variables

The following is the summary table of conceptual definitions and operational items of

the study variables:

Variables	Conceptional definitions	Operational items/measurement	Source
Sickness absence	Involuntary absence by an employee attributed to illness or injury when attendance is scheduled or cleary expected by the employer (Searle, 1997).	Total duration of certified sick leave taken by individual nurses within a period of study (February 2011- May 2011)	NHS (2012)
<u>Job demands</u> Workload	Work overload or work pressure or too much to do in too little time or work too many hours on the job (Schnall, Landsbergis & Baker, 1994).	<ol> <li>My job is very hectic.</li> <li>My job requires long periods of intense concentration on the task.</li> <li>My tasks are often interrupted before they can be completed, requiring attention at a later time</li> </ol>	Karasek (1985)
Physical demand	The extent the job requires strenuous movements like bending, physical strength, lifting, or carrying objects (Hernandez, 2006).	<ol> <li>My job requires lots of physical effort.</li> <li>I am often required to move or lift very heavy loads on my job.</li> <li>My work requires rapid and continuos physical activity.</li> </ol>	Karasek (1985)
Emotional demand	The extent to which employees are confronted in their job with things or persons that touch them personally (Demerouti & Geurts, 2004).	<ol> <li>My job requires working very fast.</li> <li>My job requires working very hard.</li> <li>I am not asked to do an excessive amount of work.</li> <li>I have enough time to get the job done.</li> <li>I am free from conflicting demands that other make.</li> </ol>	Karasek (1985)
Job scope	The extent of different activities that a specific job requires and the frequency with which each activity is performed (Lewis, Goodman, Fandt & Michlitsch, 2007).	<ol> <li>My work requires me to do many different things, using a variety of my skills and talents.</li> <li>My work requires me to use a number of complex and high-level skills.</li> <li>The work I do is quite simple and repetitive.</li> <li>My work involves doing a whole or identifiable piece of work, rather than a small portion of the overall work process.</li> <li>My work is arranged so that I do not have the chance to do an entire piece of work from beginning to end.</li> <li>My work provides me the chance to completely finish the piece of work I begin.</li> <li>The results of my work as a nurse likely to significantly affect the lives and well being of other people (within my hospital, family or society).</li> <li>The work of a nurse is one where a lot of other people can be affected by how well</li> </ol>	Hackman and Oldham (1980)

 Table 3.2

 Summary Table for List of Operational Items of the Main Variables

# Table 3.2 (Continued)

Role conflict	The degree to which role expectations are incompatible or incongruent with the requirements of the role (Rizzo <i>et al.</i> , 1970).	<ul> <li>9. The work I perform as a nurse is not very significant or important in the broader scheme of things.</li> <li>1. I have to do things that should be done differently.</li> <li>2. I receive an assignment without the manpower to complete it.</li> <li>3. I have to buck a rule or policy in order to carry out an assignment.</li> <li>4. I work with two or more groups who operate quite differently.</li> <li>5. I receive incompatible requests from two or more people.</li> </ul>	Rizzo <i>et al.</i> (1970)
Role ambiguity	The degree to which role expectations are unclear (Rizzo <i>et al.</i> , 1970).	<ul> <li>6. I do things that are likely to be accepted by one person and not accepted by others.</li> <li>7. I receive an assignment without adequate resources and materials to execute it.</li> <li>8. I work on unnecessary things.</li> <li>1. I feel certain about how much authority I have.</li> <li>2. I have clear, planned goals and objectives for my job.</li> <li>3. I know that I have divided my time properly.</li> <li>4. I know what my responsibilities are.</li> <li>5. I know exactly what is expected of me.</li> <li>6. I get clear explanations of what has to be</li> </ul>	Rizzo <i>et al.</i> (1970)
Job complexity	The degree of uncertainty and low divisibility of work process in a job given. (Kivimaki <i>et al.</i> , 1997b).	<ul><li>done.</li><li>1. My work is monotonous.</li><li>2. My work requires thinking and weighing decision.</li></ul>	Hackman and Oldham (1980) and Karasek (1985)
Job resources Autonomy	The extent to which the job	1. My work permits me to decide on my	Hackman
	enables an individual to experience freedom, independence, and discretion, in both scheduling and determining the procedures used in completing the job (Hackman & Oldham, 1976).	<ul><li>own how to go about doing the work.</li><li>2. My work denies me any chance to use my personal initiative or judgement in carrying out the work.</li><li>3. As a nurse, I have considerable opportunity for independence and freedom in how I do the work.</li></ul>	and Oldham (1980)
Job feedback	The extent to which an individual receives direct and clear information about how effectively he or she is performing the job (Hackman & Oldham, 1976).	<ol> <li>My work activities provide information about my work performance.</li> <li>My work provides many chances for me to figure out how well I am doing.</li> <li>Doing work by myself, provides very few clues about whether or not I am performing well.</li> </ol>	Hackman and Oldham (1980)
Supervisor support	Assistance and protection given to individual by supervisors (Langford, Bowsher, Maloney & Lillis,	<ol> <li>My supervisor is concerned about the welfare of those under him.</li> <li>My supervisor pays attention to what I am saying.</li> </ol>	Karasek (1985)

Table 3.2	(Continued)
-----------	-------------

Co-worker support	1997). Assistance and protection given to individual by coworkers or colleagues Langford, Bowsher, Maloney & Lillis, 1997).	<ol> <li>My supervisor is helpful in getting the job done.</li> <li>My supervisor is successful in getting people to work together.</li> <li>People I work with are competent in doing their jobs.</li> <li>People I work with take a personal interest in me.</li> <li>People I work with are friendly.</li> <li>People I work with are helpful in getting</li> </ol>	Karasek (1985)
Task/time control	The extent to which workers are able to exercise discretion in dealing with heavy workload and work pressure (Smith, 1998).	<ol> <li>the job done.</li> <li>My job requires that I learn new thing.</li> <li>My job involves a lot of repetitive work.</li> <li>My job requires me to be creative.</li> <li>My job requires a high level of skill.</li> <li>I get to do a variety of different things on my job.</li> <li>I have an opportunity to develop my own special abilities.</li> <li>My job allows me to make a lot of decisions on my own.</li> <li>On my job, I have very little freedom to decide how i do my work.</li> <li>I have a lot of say about what happens on my job.</li> </ol>	Karasek (1985)
Self-efficacy	A person's belief that he or she has the ability, motivation, and situational contingencies to complete a task successfully (McShane & Glinow, 2008).	<ol> <li>I can always manage to solve difficult problems if I try hard enough.</li> <li>If someone opposes me, I can find the means and ways to get what I want.</li> <li>It is easy for me to stick to my aims and accomplish my goals.</li> <li>I am confident that I could deal efficiently with unexpected events.</li> <li>Thanks to my resourcefulness, I know how to handle unforeseen situations.</li> <li>I can solve most problems if I invest the necessary effort.</li> <li>I can remain calm when facing difficulties because I can rely on my coping abilities.</li> <li>When I am confronted with a problem, I can usually find several solutions.</li> <li>If I am in trouble, I can usually think of a solution.</li> <li>I can usually handle whatever comes my way.</li> </ol>	Schwarzer and Jerusalem (1995)
Job stress Physical stress	Physiological responses by body to stress (European Commission's Directorate- General for Employment and Social Affairs, 2000).	<ol> <li>been feeling perfectly well and in good health.</li> <li>been feeling in need of a good tonic.</li> <li>been feeling exhausted and irritable.</li> <li>felt that you are ill.</li> <li>been getting any pains in your head.</li> <li>been getting a feeling of tightness or pressure in your head.</li> </ol>	Goldberg and Hillier (1979)

		7. been having hot or cold spells.	
Emotional stress	Emotional responses to stress (European	1. been managing to keep yourself busy and occupied.	Goldberg and Hillier
	Commission's Directorate-	2. been taking longer over the things you	(1979)
	General for Employment	do.	
	and Social Affairs, 2000).	3. felt on the whole you were doing things well.	
		4. been satisfied with the way you've	
		carried out your task.	
		5. felt that you are playing a useful part in	
		things.	
		6. felt capable of making decisions about	
		things.	
		7. been able to enjoy your normal day-to-	
		day activities.	
Psychological	Cogntive and mental	1. been thinking of yourself as a worthless	Goldberg
stress	responses to stress	person.	and Hillier
	(European Commission's	2. felt that life is entirely hopeless.	(1979)
	Directorate-General for	3. felt that life isn't worth living.	
	Employment and Social	4. thought of the possibility that you might	
	Affairs, 2000).	make away with yourself.	
		5. found at times you couldn't do anything	
		because you are too worry.	
		6. found yourself wishing you were dead	
		and away from it all.	
		7. found that the idea of taking your own	
<b>D</b> 1 1 1		life kept coming into your mind.	0.11
Behavioural	Behavioral responses to	1. lost much sleep over worry.	Goldberg
stress	stress (European	2. had difficulty in staying asleep once you	and Hillier
	Commission's Directorate-	are off.	(1979)
	General for Employment	3. felt constantly under strain.	
	and Social Affairs, 2000).	4. been getting nervous and bad-tempered.	
		5. been getting scared or panicky for no	
		good reason.	
		o. Tould everything getting difficult for	
		you. 7 been feeling nervous and tense up all the	
		time	
		time.	

# **3.5** Questionnaire Design

A questionnaire is a prepared set of questions or measures used by respondents or interviewers to record answers (Hair, Money, Samourel & Page, 2007). Sekaran and Bougie (2009) pointed out that questionnaires are an efficient data collection method, provided the researchers understand exactly what is required and how to measure the

variables of interest. Questionnaire is the most frequently used method in social sciences research to collect data for describing a population too large to observe directly because the same set of questionnaires could be distributed to a large number of respondents (Wong, 2002). This means, questionnaires are used: (i) when the research involves a large number of respondents; (ii) to ask respondents a series of predetermined questions; and (iii) when the research objective requires data that is attitudinal, behavioural and factual (Wong, 2002). Therefore, questionnaire was considered the most appropriate data collection method to achieve the objective of this study since it permits the researcher to obtain quantitative data on respondents' behaviour in a large sample and generalise the findings of this study to the entire population. Besides targeting a large sample, the questionnaire method allows the anonymity of respondents to answer the questions, which could encourage targeted respondents to participate in the study.

The main decision to be made in questionnaire design is related to the type of questions to be included and the overall format of the questionnaire (Robson, 1993). The strengths of closed questions are that it is easy to complete and analyse; however, the data obtained may be superficial. As such, to ensure that the questions are clear, it is important to avoid any technical jargon, specialist language or personal questions, and leading questions which suggest indirectly what the right answer might be (Smith, Thorpe & Lowe, 1996; Sekaran, 2000). A structured formatted questionnaire helps to process and undertake analysis easily (Gill & Johnson, 1991; Robson, 1993). The use of Likert scale and itemised scale provided for each item allow the respondent to circle the relevant number against each item more easily (Lee & Fielding, 1991; Sekaran, 2000). Research indicates that a four or five-point scale is just as good as other scale and the increase to seven or nine points on rating scale does not improve

the reliability of the instrument (Elmore & Beggs, 1975). Hence a decision was made to use the 4-point balanced Likert and itemised scale in this study.

In this study, one set of questionnaire was prepared to be answered by all respondents, regardless of their job grades in the nursing positions. The covering letter on the first page of questionnaire stressed that the survey is solely for scientific purposes and help is always available, if needed, for purposes of clarification. The subjects were also informed that their responses would be confidential and participation is voluntary. This self-administered questionnaire consisted of four sections:

Section A: related to perceptions of job demands, with thirty six questions set to measure job demands which consist of workload, physical demand, mental demand, job scope, role conflict, role ambiguity and job complexity.

Section B: related to perceptions of respondents towards job resources. For job resources dimensions, there were thirty three questions to measure supervisor support, co-worker support, autonomy, job feedback, task/time control and self-efficacy.

Section C: has twenty eight questions relating to job stress - seven questions each measuring physical, emotional, behavioural and psychological symptoms manisfested by job stress.

Section D: consists of twelve questions relating to demographic information - gender, race, age, marital status, level of education, current position, current unit/discipline (type of ward/unt), hospital; tenure in hospital, length of employment as a nurse (seniority), income and working schedule (whether respondent is on divided duty or shift duty). The majority items in this section were close-ended, except tenure in hospital, length of employment, and gross income, whereby respondents were required to write it down.

181

For sick leave recording form, few questions were included to track sick leave taken by respondents within the study period. The first question is the record of total scheduled work days every month consecutively for a period of four months. The scheduled working days has to take into consideration the weekend off, the approved annual or emergency leave, and the public and bank holidays declared by the government. This is actually the total working days scheduled by the department to work in a month for a period of four months; second question is the record of total sick leave taken by a respondent for every month consecutively for a period of four months; and third question - record of any leave taken impromptu and approved by department head, such as emergency leave due to family matters, bereavement, sick children, ill parents, transportation problem, unplanned leave instructed by department head or management, and this leave must be deducted from total scheduled work days as laid out in the monthly duty roster. This type of adhoc approved leave has to take into account the total scheduled work days to avoid unnecessary contamination of the data obtained later. In terms of the sick leave to be recorded, maternity leave and long tern sick leave due to existing chronic diseases, such as Pulmonary Tuberculosis (PTB), Advanced Carcinoma, Chronic Heart Diseases, Chronic Renal Failure and other previously medical certified diseases were excluded from the sick leave definition category. All the sick leave must be verified by a medical certificate issued by medical officer from government hospitals or clinics. Any medical certificate issued by medical doctors from private hospitals, medical centres and clinic must be endorsed by government doctors to prevent medical certificate frauds. The section on sick leave recording was coordinated by the researcher with the assistance from Nursing Department of all designated hospitals. The researcher was in close contact and discussion with Nursing Department to ensure the criteria of sick leave recording was strongly complied with.

In relation to questionnaire preparation, the ethical consideration was well taken care of in terms of the adaptation and the utilisation of the instrument. As the Job Content Questionnaire (JCQ) was developed by Professor Dr Robert Karasek from University of Massachusetts, Lowell, Massachusetts, USA, permission was obtained from the author for using this instrument in this study (please see the permission and contract letter in Appendix A). After getting the approval from the author to use the instrument, questions were prepared in dual language, English and Bahasa Malaysia, as all the nurses are not native English speakers. Back-to-back translation was done by a language expert to guarantee the accuracy and correctness, in terms of syntax, language and grammatical flow. This questionnaire takes about 10 - 15 minutes for each respondent to complete. The Table 3.3 below shows the distribution of items in the questionnaire.

Variables	Number of items	Number for Adapted Items
		Section A
Job demands:	36	
Workload	3	1,2,3
Physical demand	3	4,5,6
• Emotional demand	5	7,8,9,10,11
• Job scope	9	12.13,14,15,16,17,18,19,20
• Role ambiguity	8	21,22,23,24,25,26,27,28
• Role conflict	6	29,30,31,32,33,34
• Job complexity	2	35,36
		Section B
Job resources:	33	
• Supervisor support	4	1,2, 3,4
• Co-worker support	4	5, 6,7,8
Autonomy	3	9,10,11
• Job feedback	3	12,13,14
• Task/Time control	9	15,16,17,18,19,20,21,22,23
Self-efficacy	10	24,25,26,27,28,29,30,31,32,33

Table 3.3 Distribution of Items in Questionnaire

			Section C	
Job	stress:	28		
•	Physical stress	7	1,2,3,4,5,6,7	
•	Emotional stress	7	8,9,10,11,12,13,14	
•	Behavioural stress	7	15,16,17,18,19,20,21	
•	Psychological stress	7	22,23,24,25,26,27,28	
			Section D	
Der	nography	12	1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9,10,11,12	
Tot	al	109		
Em	ployee sick leave record	2	1,2	

Table 3.3 (Continued)

Since the questionnaire was more than three pages in length, a booklet format was used. The booklet format has several advantages. It is physically more attractive, easier for the respondent to turn the pages, and prevents the problems of lost pages (O'Rourke, 2001). A provision was made for special code number for identification purposes, placed in the upper right corner of the questionnaire. The code number serves several purposes. It allows the researcher to keep track of which questionnaires have been returned and to identify non-respondents for subsequent follow-up (O'Rourke, 2001), It also allowed the researcher to match the questionnaire with the sick leave record. The introductory letter printed in the first page of questionnaire included the identification of the researcher, purpose of the survey, how the respondent was selected, how the data will be used, the approximate time to complete the survey, assurance of confidentiality, contact number of researcher and supervisor, benefits of participation to the respondents' employer and expression of appreciation for participating and responding promptly. In addition, the introductory letter used hand written signature to stimulate response (Ashton & Hylas, 1981)

# 3.5.1 Response Format

Items for job demands, job resources and job stress in the questionnaire used a Likert scale and itemised rating scale (Please see Table 3.4), except for items tapping

demographic information. However sickness absence data was obtained by sick leave tracking form which recorded total scheduled work days per month and sick leave taken per month for four consecutive months.

For job demands, a 4-point Likert scale with uniform descriptive anchors (1 strongly disagree, 2-disagree, 3- agree, and 4- strongly agree) was used for workload, physical demand, emotional demand, job scope, role ambiguity, role conflict and job complexity dimensions. Likewise, a 4-poinr Likert scale with uniform descriptive anchors (1 -strongly disagree, 2-disagree, 3- agree, and 4- strongly agree) was used for job resources dimensions: supervisor support, co-worker support, autonomy, job feedback, task/time control and self-efficacy. For job stress items, a 4-point itemised rating scale with anchors, was provided for each item, and labelled: 1-Never, 2-Sometimes, 3-Often and 4-Always, as a balanced rating scale. Cavana, Delahaye and Sekaran (2001) believed that there is flexibility allows researchers to use as many points in the scale as considered necessary (four, five, seven, nine, etc.,), and it is also possible to use different anchors (for instance: very unsatisfied to very satisfied; extremely low to extremely high). Literature indicates that a 5-point scale is a reasonable rating; any increase from five to seven or higher point on rating scale does not improve the reliability of the ratings (Elmore & Beggs, 1975). However, this research used a 4-point balanced Likert scale because of few reasons. The first argument is to avoid acquiescent response bias. The second reason is to avert the problem of social desirability response bias and the third reason is that this scale is content specific and the measurement would not affect the stability and accuracy of the response data. Following what Ray (1980, 1990) suggested, the use of balanced Likert scale is a good alternative to forced-choice scales to overcome problem of acquiescent response bias (Toner, 1987) and social desirability responding bias (Orvik, 1972).

In supporting this, Garland (1991) provided evidence to minimise social desirability bias arising from respondents' desires to please the interviewer or researcher by eliminating the mid-point in Likert scale, for example: neither...nor, uncertain, etc. Garland (1991) further advocated that in many of the research conducted in social science and marketing, researchers allow respondents to make a definite choice in responding to the scale in the questionnaire survey. A scale without a mid-point would be preferable, provided it does not affect the validity or reliability of the responses.

It is believed that the optimal number of scale categories required is dependent on specific content and the conditions of measurement (Friedman, Wilamowsky & Friedman 1981; Cox 1980; Wildt & Mazis 1978; Matell & Jacoby, 1971; Komorita, 1963). However, the decision to adopt the balanced Likert or rating scale without a mid-point is all depend on the level of 'uncertain' responses the researcher is willing to tolerate (Matell & Jacoby, 1972).

Response Format for Items in the Questionnaire			
Constructs	Scale	Response format	
Job Demands:			
Workload, Physical demand, Emotional	4-point Likert	1 -strongly disagree, 2-disagree, 3- agree	
demand, Job scope, Role conflict, Role	scale	and 4- strongly agree	
ambiguity and Job complexity.			
Job Resources:			
Ssupervisor support, co-worker support,	4-point Likert	1 -strongly disagree, 2-disagree, 3- agree	
Autonomy, Job feedback, Task/Time	scale	and 4- strongly agree	
control and Self-efficacy.			
Job Stress			
Physical stress	4-point itemised	1-Never, 2-Sometimes, 3-Often, 4-Always	
Emotional stress	rating scale		
Psychological stress			
Behavioural stress			

Table 3.4

### 3.5.2 Translation of Questionnaire

The original instrument was in English, but the study used dual languages, i.e., English and Bahasa Malaysia. This is because some of the nurses are basically trained in local nursing schools and had their secondary and tertiary education using Bahasa Malaysia as the medium of instruction; the majority of senior nurses were trained in schools using English as the main language. In order to avoid the problems inherent in translation, this study used a combination of Brislin's (1970) model for translating and back-translating instruments, and expert panel. One bilingual expert translated the instruments from English to Malay and a second bilingual expert back-translated from Malay to English. A panel of three experts in the area of healthcare and nursing examined the face validity of the translated questionnaire. In addition, emphasis has to be given on these translated questionnaires in regards to cross-language measurement equivalence because some of these instruments for example Job Content Questionnaire (JCQ) (Karasek, 1985) and GHQ (Goldberg & Hillier, 1979) have been translated into several languages (Choi *et al.*, 2009).

#### **3.6 Population**

The population frame consisted of all nurses in the nation, totalling 54,340 (MoH, 2007a). Nurses in Malaysia consist of few categories, i.e., Registered Nurse (RN), Community Nurse (CN), Midwife and Assistant Nurse (AN). RNs in Malaysia are mostly staff nurses (SNs) with diploma holders, as they have to attend three years' pre-registration course before they are registered with the Malaysian Nursing Board (MNB) and deemed fit to practice in the clinical area. The total number of RNs is

34,598, which is about 63.7% of the nursing population in the government sector (Table 3.5). In terms of RNs population in Malaysia, the proportion of RNs in the government sector is 72.6% compared to 26.3% in the private sector (Table 3.6). This category of nurses has opportunity to be promoted to Nursing Sister or Nurse Manager, Nursing Supervisor or Matron. Currently, only four public universities and a few private institutions of higher learning in Malaysia conduct four years' degree course plus two years' top-up post-registration courses.

According to the Planning and Development Unit, MoH (2007a), the total number of nurses in the Northern zone of Malaysia (Perlis, Kedah, Pulau Pinang and Perak) is 12,903, with Perak recording 4,981, Penang 3,165, and Kedah and Perlis with 3,948 and 809, respectively (Table 3.5). The 1990s saw the inception of the training of community nurses, as the government felt the dire need for this category of nurses in hospitals and community clinics. There are about 15,222 community nurses in Malaysia, which is about 28% of the nursing population in the government sector (MoH, 2007a).

	1		0	~
1.3	hL	ρ	-	<u></u>
ıα	$\mathbf{v}$	<u> </u>	$\mathcal{I}$	

Categories of Nurses by States in Government Hospitals, Malaysia 2006					
States	RN	CN	Midwife	AN	Total
	(Registere	(Commu	(Division	(Assistant	
	d Nurse)	nity	II)	Nurse)	
		Nurse)			
Perlis	571	210	0	28	809
Kedah	2,755	1,116	15	62	3,948
Penang	2,165	685	111	204	3,165
Perak	3,363	1,382	40	196	4,981
Federal Territory	3,652	337	7	1,077	5,073
Kuala Lumpur					
Federal Territory	120	2,062	27	15	2,224
Labuan					
Selangor	3,954	1,551	100	499	6,104
Pahang	2,325	1,303	17	290	3,935
Negeri Sembilan	1,403	47	2	212	1,664
Malacca	1,115	514	61	218	1,908
Johor	4,110	436	55	58	4,659

Table 3.5 (Continued	l)				
Terengganu	1,726	1,204	133	229	3,292
Kelantan	2,041	861	68	131	3,101
Sabah	2,498	1,159	74	156	3,887
Sarawak	2,800	2,355	156	277	5,588
Total Number	34,598	15,222	868	3,652	54,340
(Percentage)	(63.7)	(28)	(1.6)	(6.7)	(100)
Nurse: Population	1:770	1:1,	598	1:4,505	
Ratio					

Table 3.5 (Continued)

Source: Planning and Development Division, MoH (2007a)

Table 3.6 Total Number of Registered Nurses in Government and Private Hospitals Malaysia 2006

Hospital	Government	t Private	Grand Total
Total Number	34,598	13,044	47,642
(Percentage)	(72.6)	(27.4)	(100)
	1		

Source: Planning and Development Division, MoH (2007a)

There are about 868 midwives and 3,652 ANs in Malaysia. ANs are slowly phasing out in Malaysia, as the majority of ANs have been absorbed into the RN scheme after undergoing the conversion course for about two years in the 1990s. The current figure represents those ANs who have chosen not to undergo conversion course and remain as ANs. Similarly, the midwives are also slowly phasing out, as their job functions have been taken over by CNs.

In this study, due to the constraints of time, costs and manpower, the researcher decided to obtain the target population in the hospitals located in the northern region of Malaysia (states of Kedah, Perlis and Pulau Pinang). There are a total of 15 hospitals in these three states. The breakdown figure is shown in Table 3.7. Out of 15 hospitals, six hospitals were chosen in accordance to geographic cluster by area sampling. This is because in Malaysia, nurses in hospitals are nearly homogenous in terms of job descriptions and working disciplines. Hence, the selection and focus on nurses in northern states will not affect the representativeness of the population.

Sta	ites	Number of Hospital
Ke	dah	8
1.	Hospital Sultanah Bahiyah, Alor Star	
2.	Hospital Sultan Abdul Halim, Sungai Petani	
3.	Hospital Kulim	
4.	Hospital Baling	
5.	Hospital Yan	
6.	Hospital Sik	
7.	Hospital Jitra	
8.	Hospital Baling	
Pe	rlis	1
1.	Hospital Tunku Fauziah, Kangar	
Pu	lau Pinang	6
1.	Hospital Pulau Pinang	
2.	Hospital Bukit Mertajam	
3.	Hospital Kepala Batas	
4.	Hospital Seberang Jaya	
5.	Hospital Balik Pulau	
6.	Hospital Sungai Bakap	

Table 3.7 Number of Hospitals in the States of Kedah, Perlis and Pulau Pinang

Source: Planning and Development Division, MoH (2007a)

In terms of the number of hospitals in Malaysia, there are a total of 128 government hospitals (Table 3.8). Currently there are eight hospitals in the state of Kedah, located in Alor Star, Jitra, Kuala Nerang, Yan, Sik, Sungai Petani, Baling and Kulim; in the state of Perlis, only one located in Kangar; whereas for Pulau Pinang, there are a total of six hospitals, located in George Town, Seberang Jaya, Sungai Bakap, Kepala Batas, Bukit Mertajam and Balik Pulau.

Hospital and Healthcare Facilities Year 2006			
Type of Facilities	Total Number		
MoH Hospitals	128		
Non-MoH Government Hospitals	6		
Special Medical Institutions	6		
Private Hospital, Maternity/Nursing Homes	233		
MoH Health Clinics	807		
MoH Rural Clinics	1,919		
MoH Dental Clinics	2,117		
MoH Mobile Clinics	151		
Source: Planning and Development Division, MoH (2007a)			

Table 3.8 Hospital and Healthcare Facilities Year 2006

#### **3.7** Sampling Technique and Sample Size

Sampling is the process of selecting a sufficient number of elements from the population. By studying and understanding the sample characteristics, researchers are able to generalise these characteristics to population elements (Neuman, 2006). The reason for using sampling is fairly obvious. In real research, it is impossible to collect data of the entire population as it involves a huge number of elements. Therefore, it is very important to select the right samples that are representative of the true properties of the population because the more representative the sample is of the population, the more generalisable are the findings of the research. According to Cooper and Schindler (2006), a good sample means the sample must be valid on the aspects of accuracy and precision. They asserted that accuracy is the degree to which bias is absent from the sample; this bias is due to systematic variance because of known or unknown influences that can affect the measures of the samples. The other important criterion for good sample design is the precision of the estimate, which is measured by the standard error of estimate. The smaller the standard error, the higher is the precision.

In this study, a stratified random sampling was used to obtain samples from all six general hospitals located in Kedah, Perlis and Pulau Pinang. This sampling technique involved a process of stratification or segregation, followed by random selection of subjects from each stratum. The reasons for choosing this sampling method were two fold: the first was to increase the sample's statistical efficiency, and the second was to provide adequate data for analysing the various strata (Cooper & Schindler, 2006). Neuman (2006) claimed that in general, stratified sampling produces samples that are more representative of the population than simple random sampling if the stratum information is accurate. The six hospitals randomly selected

from three states, were one hospital in Perlis, three hospitals in Kedah and two hospitals in Pulau Pinang. Since most of the hospitals in Malaysia are homogenous in terms of the nursing workforce, only the major hospitals located in all these states were selected. In addition, the selection was based on the geographical location in each state by area sampling technique. These hospitals were Hospital Sultanah Bahiyah, Alor Star, Hospital Sultan Abdul Halim, Sungai Petani and Hospital Kulim in the state of Kedah; Hospital Tunku Fauziah, Kangar in Perlis; and Hospital Pulau Pinang and Hospital Seberang Jaya in Pulau Pinang. The technique of stratified sampling used in this study required the following seven steps:

1. Define the target population. Here the target population is 7,922 of hospital nurses.

2. Choose the relevant stratification variables, usually the relevant stratification variables are the one that meet the purpose of the study and to be used for sub-group estimates. This study used nurses' job grade as the stratification.

3. List the population. Obtain the sampling frame of all hospital nurses.

4. List the population according to the chosen stratification. There was 6 categories of nurses namely, matron, sister, staff nurse, community nurse, assistant nurse and midwife. The percentage of each category was calculated. Matron: 0.7%; sister:8.6%; staff nurse:77.9%; community nurse:11.2%; assistant nurse:1.2% and midwife:0.4%.

5. Choose your sample size. The sample size of 1,300 was determined accordingly.

6. Calculate a proportionate stratification. Each category of nurses was calculated based on the proportion in the population.

7. Use a simple random to select the sample. Simple random was used to choose from six selected hospitals. 9 matrons, 112 sisters, 1,013 staff nurses, 145 community nurses, 16 assistant nurses and 5 midwives.

192
The unit of analysis was the individual nurse selected as a sample from the population in these six government hospitals from the MoH. The unit of analysis refers to the level at which data are aggregated for analysis (Sekaran & Bougie, 2009). It is important to decide the unit of analysis as we formulate the research questions because the data collection methods, sample size and even the variables included in the framework are guided by the level to which data are aggregated for analysis.

In this study, six general hospitals were randomly selected from 15 hospitals in Kedah, Perlis and Pulau Pinang. The rest are district hospitals. The differences between general and district hospitals are in terms of hospital beds, services, facilities provided and number of employees. A general hospital has all specialist services (internal medicine, surgery, orthopedic, pediatrics, obstetrics and gynecology, ophthalmology, otorhinolarynology, psychiatry and dentistry). Some also have subspecialist services, such as cardiology, cardiothoracic, nephrology, urology, plastic and reconstruction, nuclear medicine, neurology, neuro-surgery, colo-rectal surgery, spinal, geriatric, and paediatric surgey, and many others. In terms of facilities and medical technology, most general hospitals have CT (computerized tomography) and MRI (Magnetic Resonance Imaging) services. Generally, district hospitals only have general services and specialists or consultants from the general hospitals. Hence, to ensure a good coverage of all respondents working in various disciplines, it is only appropriate to select the general hospitals as this study's sampling frame.

Selection of sample size is important to consider whether statistical significance is more relevant than practical significance (Cavana *et al.*, 2001). Another point to consider in multivariate research (including multiple regression) is that sample size should be several times (preferably 10 times or more) as large as the

number of variables in the study (Roscoe, 1975). Krejcie and Morgan (1970) provided a simple scientific guideline for sample size decision. Based on this guideline, in this study, as the population of nurses in Kedah, Perlis and Pulau Pinang is around 7,922, hence the appropriate sample size should be in a range of 364 to 367. The sample size should have more observations than variables. The minimum is to have at least five times and the best is to aim for more than 10 for each variable (Hairk, Black, Babin, Anderson & Tatham, 2006). To add to these criteria and guidelines recommended by Hair *et al.* (2006); Roscoe (1975), Cohen (1969) and Krejcie and Morgan (1970), Neuman (2006) suggested the sample size to be based on sampling ratio; for a moderately large population about 7,922 in this study, a smaller sampling ratio of about 10% is needed to be accurate. However, practical limitations, especially cost, also play a role in a researcher's decision.

The sample for the research is guided by Roscoe (1975) that any response rate from 30 to 500 should be acceptable. The expected response is about 200 respondents (45%), which is considered acceptable based on previous research performance, where any response rate below 10% is considered a weak sample (Roscoe, 1975; Sekaran, 2003).

Besides the reasons explained in Chapter 1 (Section 1.6 - scope of research), the selection of the northern region of Peninsular Malaysia is because the nursing employees within government hospitals are generally homogenous under the nursing practices governed by the nursing registration board. The population of 7,922 nurses is considered sufficient to produce reasonable findings.

Sample size can be affected by the type of data analysis used. This study employed multivariate data analysis, which includes the analysis of sub-groups in the population. Adequate sample size is important for sub-group analysis in the

interpretation of results. As the sample size provides a basis for estimating sampling error, researchers should decide the best sample size based on the degree of accuracy required by the study, the degree of variability or diversity in the population and the number of different variables examined simultaneously in data analysis (Neuman, 2006). The rule of thumb to determine the right sample size is, everything being equal, larger samples are needed if the researcher wants accuracy, if the population has a great deal of variability or heterogeneity, or if the researcher wants to examine many variables in the data analysis simultaneously. On the other hand, smaller samples are sufficient when less accuracy is acceptable, and when the population is homogeneous or when only a few variables are examined at a time.

Based on several reasons as mentioned above, the sample size taken in this study was 1,300 which is 16.4% of total nurse population in northern region (7,922). This has met the minimum sample of 10% for the population as suggested by Neuman (2006). There are a total of 18 variables in this study, to meet the criteria as stated by Hair *et al.* (2006) and Roscoe (1975) which is 10 observations for each variable, i.e. a total of 180 was the adequate sample size. However, based on item to subject ratio, Flynn and Peacy (2001) and Nunnaly (1978) suggest a rule of thumb of ten subjects to each item. Since there are 109 items in this study, a total 1,090 is the appropariate sample size. Nevertheless to consider the non-response bias that would be encountered during the sampling process, an extra 10% to 20% of samples was taken, i.e. a total of 1,300 was finally decided for the sample size in this study.

## 3.7.1 Inclusion Criteria

This study employed some criteria for selection of target samples. The participants

included all categories of nurses working in the medical ward, surgical ward, orthopedic ward, pediatric ward, obstetrics and gynecology ward, psychiatric ward, critical care and high dependency unit, multidisciplinary ward and specialist clinics. The nurses selected consisted of those who are working on divided duty as well as on shift duty. Male nurses were included in the sample, although they form a small number of the nursing population in the hospitals.

## 3.7.2 Exclusion Criteria

Nurses who were on long leave for example study leave, maternity leave and any other leave approved by the organisation at the time of the study were exempted. The sample excluded nurse aids and attendants as they are not frequently involved in direct patient care. Newly graduated nurses who just joined the current hospital for less than six months are excluded and nurses working in community clinics and health office were also not included in this study.

### 3.8 Pilot Study

One approach that researchers can take to address some of the limitations related to measures and methods is to implement a pilot study. A pilot study is a small-scale study that aims to demonstrate the effectiveness of the selected measures and methods (Macnee & McCabe, 2008). Pre-testing a questionnaire through interviewing significant individuals in the hospitals permits the researchers to instantly detect flaws or confusion of items, if any. Conducting pilot study prior to the data collection has many significant advantages that contribute to the study's success, as it gives the researchers the opportunity to look back on some areas that are ambigious (Brymann,

2004). According to Stommel and Wills (2004), pilot study is an essential building block to larger studies. Precisely, the goal of pre-testing is to refine the research instrument to ensure it has measurement items that cover all aspects of the variables being measured, and the wording of items are clear and understandable (Cavana *et al.*, 2001). Besides, costly mistakes can be avoided as feasibility of research can be decided from pilot study; for instance, if the main study involved huge resources and financial expenditure (Polit & Hungler, 1997).

Group interviews were conducted with 30 respondents in order to improve the quality of the questionnaire, in terms of both face validity and content validity. Several points were raised and discussed in the interview session. These included the following:

- a) The legibility of the questionnaire particularly with regards to the structure and general appearance.
- b) The clarity of the instructions given in each section.
- c) The ambiguity of certain words, statements and questions.
- d) The comprehensiveness of the measurement items.

The feedback and comments generated from pre-testing questionnaire were as follows:

- a) The measurement items were found to be satisfactory and comprehensible to the respondents.
- b) The measurement items of job demands, job resources and job stress were well covered with dimensions pertinent to nursing job.
- c) Unclear wording of "significant" in section A (18 and 20) of the questionnaire. Respondents felt that "important" was the more suitable word in these items instead of "significant". In Bahasa Malaysia, 'signifikan' was altered to "penting".

- d) Unclear phrase "broader scheme of things" in section A (question 20) was translated from "skema yang luas" to "dalam keseluruhan kerja yang dilakukan" in Bahasa Malaysia.
- e) Section C originally contained 28 items for measurement of job stress. However, some words in section C (question 27 and 28) were found to contain intrusive and sensitive phrases that could be antagonistic to the religious and cultural beliefs of respondents and may affect their responses to these items. Therefore, these two items were deleted from the questionnaire (Item 27: "have found yourself wishing you were dead and away from it all", and item 28: "found that the idea of taking your own life kept coming into your mind").
- f) All the respondents agreed that the questionnaire should be translated into Bahasa Malaysia as most of junior nurses are more comfortable with Bahasa Malaysia than English, even though senior nurses have no problem with English. Nevertheless, it has been planned that the questionnaires were to be prepared in both languages.

Based on the respondents' answers, minor changes were made to increase the clarity of items. The altered items are shown in Table 3.9.

Description of Altered Items after Pilot Study							
Section/Question Number	Old Question	Descriptions	New Question				
Section A Question 20	The work I perform as a nurse is NOT very significant in the broader scheme of things.	Unclear word: "significant" and "broader scheme of things"	The work I perform as a nurse is NOT very important in the overall work to be done.				
Section C Question 27	have found yourself wishing you were dead and away from it all.	Intrusive and sensitive words.	This item was deleted.				
Section C Question 28	found that the idea of taking your own life kept coming into your mind.	Intrusive and religious sensitive words.	This item was deleted.				

Table 3.9			
Description	of Altored	I Itama oftar	Dilot Stu

The data from this pre-testing were analysed with Statistical Pacakage for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 16 for reliability tests. The internal consistency reliability of each measure was examined using Cronbach's alpha. Cronbach's alpha is a reliability coefficient that indicates how well the items in the measure are correlated to one another. The reliability results for each instrument obtained ranged from 0.62 to 0.93 (Table 3.10), which are generally considered acceptable for research purposes. Sekaran (2003) reiterated that the minimum acceptable reliability is 0.60; therefore, the reliability scale for each instrument can be considered as relatively reliable. The final version of the questionnaire in English and Malay language is exhibited in Appendix 2 and Appendix 3.

Table 3.10

Results	of Reliability	Analysis	(Pilot Study)
results	of Kondonney	r mai voio v	

Number of items	Cronbach's alpha		
36	0.86		
3	0.84		
3	0.77		
5	0.67		
9	0.62		
2	0.64		
8	0.79		
6	0.73		
33	0.93		
8	0.90		
3	0.63		
3	0.74		
9	0.64		
10	0.91		
26	0.87		
7	0.82		
7	0.90		
5	0.83		
7	0.79		
	36         3         3         5         9         2         8         6         33         8         3         3         9         10         26         7         7         5         7         7         5         7         7         5         7         7         5         7         7         5         7         7         10		

#### **3.9 Data Collection Procedure**

This study was carried out in two phases. The first phase was the administration of questionnaire survey. A total of six regional hospitals in northern states were selected by area sampling, 1 from Perlis, 3 from Kedah and 2 from Pulau Pinang, The targeted sample from different job grades was randomly selected from the sampling frame obtained from nursing department of each hospital. In the second phase, sickness absence data was obtained from hospital registry for a period of four consecutive months from February to May 2011, and the period of collection was two months before and two months after the survey questionnaire was distributed. The study used four months data because hospital authority did not permit long duration of study as it might disrupt nursing task and affect patient care. The sick leave obtained excluded maternity leave, emergency leave and study leave. Since all regional hospitals do not have dedicated computerized sickness registry system to record all sickness absence, the sickness absence data collected was gathered from multiple recording sources in the ward or department such as duty roster and sick leave recording book. To ensure the data can be collected more systematically, a customized tracking form (Appendix 12) was created by the researcher. The collection and recording of sickness absence data was coordinated by the researchers with the help from the nursing departments. The process of data collection included the checking of the duration of sick leave from sick leave record and the verification of sick leave from the evidence of medical certificate endorsed by medical officers. In Malaysia, government service personnel have to submit their Medical Certificate (MC) as the evidence of sickness absence regardless of the duration or reason of sickness absence. Under the provision of government General Order chapter C in Malaysia, a civil servant is entitled for a

maximum of 90 days paid sick leave per year (Public Service Department of Malaysia, 2011). In this study, other than sick leave data, the number of scheduled worked day and other approved leave were also procured for the study. This information was obtained from weekly and monthly duty rota schedule, leave approval records which are kept in the ward or unit by the managers.

Consent was also obtained from hospital directors to access the sickness absence record from the participating hospitals. Matrons, sister and nurses were briefed about the detail of the study and subsequently informed consents were obtained from them as well. A total of 1,300 questionnaires were administered to all participating nurses. Each participating nurse was given a specific code and was written on questionnaire in order to help in matching with the sickness absence data obtained from nursing department. Participants were requested to return their completed questionnaires within three days in a sealed envelope to the ward sister. Once the survey was completed, sickness absence data were obtained from respective hospitals. The specific code that was written on questionnaire was used to match with sickness absence data obtained from personal records of each participating nurse from the respective hospital.

## 3.9.1 Ethical Consideration

Before data collection stage was initiated, approval has been obtained from directors of all six hospitals concerned, by provding them information about the research to be carried out (see Appendix 10). They were notified that this research has obtained approval from the National Institute of Health (NIH) (see Appendix 8) and Medical Research and Ethics Committee (MREC), MoH (see Appendix 9). Besides, this research had been registered with the National Medical Research Registry (NMRR)(refer Appendix 6).

It is the requirement for medical and health staff in MoH who will be involved in research to register with the National Medical Research Registry (NMRR) Secretariat, and for the researcher to submit the research proposal online (http://www.nmrr.gov.my) to the NIH and MREC (refer Appendix 6 for acknowledgement of research submission). The completed agreement form (Investigator's Agreement, Head of Department's and Institutional Approval) was submitted online together with the research proposal (refer Appendix 5). This application was facilitated by the state Clinical Research Centre (CRC) located at Hospital Sultanah Bahiyah, Alor Star. The NMRR registered number for this research was 08-1531-3175 and investigator ID was 3175 (refer Appendix 6 for email reply dated 21 December 2008). To reinforce and strengthen the knowledge of medical and health researchers in conducting research in clinical setting, the MoH requires researchers to attend the Good Clinical Practice (GCP) workshop to be certified as GCP researcher. Thus, in compliance with this requirement, the researcher had obtained the GCP certification in 2008 (see Appendix 7) which helped to facilitate the approval and implementation of the research project.

After obataning the approval from the three state Director of Health from Kedah, Perlis and Pulau Pinang. Researcher has met up with hospital matrons and ward sisters to brief them and discuss the process in administration of questionnaire survey and accessing to employee sick leave records. Cooperation and coordination from hospital matrons were good and the process was smooth in terms of questionnaire survey and accessing of employee sick leave data. Informed and written consent was obtained from each individual nurse who participated (Appendix 11);

they were given a formal letter to explain the researcher's obligation, the purpose of the study and promised confidentiality and anonymity of the information they provided according to the Helsinki Treaty. Further, they were informed that their participation is voluntary and they can withdraw from the study at any point of time if they felt like doing so because they have no obligation or liability whatsoever to participate. Thus, in carrying out this research, the respondents' right to selfdetermination, the right to full disclosure and the principle of beneficence (minimize risk and maximize benefit) and justice were maintained in accordance to ethical principles as laid out in medical research ethics (Polit & Beck, 2001).

#### 3.10 Data Analysis

The data collected through questionnaire survey and hospital sick leave record was analysed using SPSS version 16.0 and Microsoft Excel version 2003. For the purpose of data analysis and hypothesis testing, several statistical tests were conducted, and these are explained in the following sections.

#### **3.10.1** Validity Testing

At the beginning of the study, the validity of the instrument was tested. Validity refers to the degree of accurateness of a measurement in carrying out its measuring function. Validity tests how well an instrument measures the particular concept it is supposed to measure. In other words, validity is concerned with whether we measure the right concept (Cavana *et al.*, 2001). An instrument is considered to have high validity when it produces measurement results that are consistent with its purpose. Construct

validity is to identify the structure which the instrument was able to tap the concept as theorized (Cavana *et al.*, 2001). Convergent validity is indicated by scores of questionnaire items measuring the same concept that have correlation index greater than 0.4 (Hair *et al.*, 2006). Discriminant validity is established when two variables are predicted to be uncorrelated in theory, and the empirical measure is found to be so.

This study used factor analysis, a multivariate statistical method to summarise or reduce the number of data or variables required to be analysed. The use of factor analysis takes into consideration every variable as an independent variable, as a function of another unobservable dimension or factor or latent variable. Factor analysis in SPSS programme is able to test convergent validity, as well as discriminant validity.

## 3.10.2 Reliability Testing

Reliability of a measure indicates the extent to which it is without bias and ensures consistent measurement across time and across the various items in the instrument (Sekaran & Bougie, 2009). Reliability testing is done to measure the reliability or consistency of the research instrument. The stability of measures means the ability of a measure to remain the same over time despite uncontrollable conditions of the state of the respondents themselves. This is measured by using Cronbach's alpha coefficient. Sekaran (2003) stated that testing an instrument is considered reliable when the alpha is greater than 0.7. However, many researchers believe that alpha coefficient of 0.6 and above is considered acceptable in most research (Nunnaly,

1978; Hair *et al.*, 2006), and any alpha coefficient less than 0.6 is considered as unsatisfactory (Malhotra & Birks, 2007).

The goodness of measures is established through different kinds of validity and reliability. The results of the any research can only be as good as the measures that tap the concepts in the theoretical framework (Sekaran & Bougie, 2009).

## **3.10.3 Factor Analysis**

Factor analysis is a data reduction technique used to reduce a large number of variables to a smaller set. One important step in data analysis is to understand the dimensionality of variables in the proposed relationship in empirical research (Hair, Anderson, Tatham & Black, 1998). Therefore, factor analysis is carried out to establish the interrelationships of variables that belong together. More frequently factor analysis is used as an exploratory technique when the researcher intends to summarize the structure of a set of a variables. However, for testing a theory about the structure of a particular domain, confirmatory factor analysis is appropriate (Coakes & Ong, 2011). In conducting factor analysis, several assumption tests have to be examined to ensure no violation of criteria (Hair et al., 2006). These include a strong theoretical foundation is needed to support the underlying structure of the study; Measure of Sampling Adequacy (MSA) for the individual items should be above 0.50 (Hair et al., 2006) and the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) values must be greater than 0.60 (Blaikie, 2003) to be considered adequate criteria for factorability; and lastly Barlett's Test of Sphericity should be significant at p < 0.05 to provide reasonable basis for factor analysis (Ho, 2006). Principle component analysis (PCA) with oblimin rotation was utilized in this study for the identification of the underlying dimensions of every construct under study. The utilization of factor analysis allows the development of descriptive summaries of data matrices, which may help to evaluate the collected data are in line with theoretically expected pattern or structure of the target construct (Matsunaga, 2010). PCA is the most widely used factor extraction method (Cooper & Schindler, 2006). The oblimin rotation, on the other hand is a method that provides a clear pattern of factor loading when factors are allowed to be correlated (Costello & Osborne, 2005). Further, to determine the appropriate number of factors to be extracted in factor analysis, criteria used included Kaiser's criterion, which consider factors with an eigenvalue greater than one (Nunnally, 1978); Cattell's (1966) scree plot which provides interpretation from the plot graph on the number of factors to be extracted; proportion of variance accounted for factors extracted; and lastly criteria used for interpretation on factor loading, in which items with significant high loadings are retained and item with cross loading and violate the guidelines will be removed (Igbaria, Livari & Maragahh, 1995; Igbaria, Parasuraman & Baroudi, 1996; Hair *et al.*, 2006; Kim & Muller, 1978).

Factor analysis under the extraction method of principle component factoring with the rotation of oblimin with Kaiser Normalisation was used to analyse the scale of job demands, job resources and job stress. Subsequently, reliability of each factor was computed.

### **3.10.4 Descriptive Statistics**

Descriptive statistics was conducted by computing the frequency, percentage, mean scores, and standard deviation of each dimension of the variables. The purpose of this

analysis was to acquire a good feel of the gathered data and present the responses of major variables under study.

#### 3.10.5 Multiple Regression Analysis

Hierarchical or sequential regression analysis was used to examine the hypotheses presented in this study. Four sets of hierarchical regression analysis were carried out: the first set examined the relationship between independent variables and mediating variable; the second set analysed the relationship between independent variables and dependent variable; the third set investigated the relationship between mediating variable and dependent variable; and the last set examined the mediating effect of job stress on the relationship between independent variable.

Several assumptions have to be tested before performing regression analysis. As suggested by Coakes and Ong (2011); Tabachnick and Fidell (1997); Berry and Feldman (1985) and Cohen, Cohen, West and Aiken (2003), these assumptions are normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, independence of residuals and multicollinearity. All these assumptions, except independence of residuals and multicollinearity, are tested by residual scatter plot and the Normal Probability Plot of regression standardised residual (Tabachnik & Fidell, 2007; Cohen et al., 2003). Residual plots are the plots of the standardised residuals as a function of standardised predicted values. It is essential to examine for non-linearity because if the relationship between independent variables and the dependent variable is not linear, the results of the regression analysis will under-estimate the true relationship and increase chances of a Type II error for that independent variable. In the case of multiple regression, the non-linearity increases risk of Type I error for other independent variables that share variance with that independent variable (Osborne & Waters, 2002).

Through the examination of the scatter plots of the standardised residuals against predicted values, if there is no clear relationship between the residuals and the predicted values, and the plots of residuals did not indicate curvilinearity, then linearity assumption is met (Coakes & Ong, 2011; Tabachnik & Fidell, 2007). In addition, the normal plot of regression standardised residuals for the independent variables should showed a relatively normal distribution.

The assumption of homoscedasticity can be tested by examining the plots of standardised residuals against predicted values, if the residuals are equally scattered for all the predicted dependent variables' scores; this indicates the variance of errors are the same or constant for all levels of the independent variables and the assumption of homoscedasticity is met (Tabachnick & Fidell, 1997). According to Berry and Feldman (1985); and Tabachnick and Fidell (1997), slight heteroscedasticity has little effect on significance tests; however, if the heteroscedasticity is marked, it can lead to serious distortion of findings and weaken the analysis, thus increasing the possibility of a Type I error.

To examine the assumption of independence of residuals or autocorrelation of errors, the Durbin-Watson test is used to investigate whether the residuals from a linear or multiple regression are independent or otherwise (Montgomery, Peck & Vining, 2001). The normal value is between 0 and 4. The value approaching 0 indicates positive autocorrelation and value toward 4 indicates negative autocorrelation. If the Durbin-Watson values are within this range, then the assumption of independence of residuals is met (Hair, Black, Babin, Anderson, & Tatham, 2006).

The other assumption of mutiple regression analysis to be tested is multicollinearity. It refers to high correlations among independent variables; however, if perfect correlations exist among independent variables, then singularity is said to occur. The problem of multicollinearity is that it could affect the relationship between predictors and dependent variable and influence the significance of regression coefficient (Coake & Ong, 2011; Cohen et al., 2003). To detect multicollinearity, it is essential to check for values of tolerance and variance inflation factor (VIF). The rule of thumb for normal values of tolerance and VIF is tolerance values should be more than 0.10, whereas for VIF, the values should be less than 10 (Hair et al., 2006; Cohen et al., 2003). Hence, tolerance of less than 0.10 and VIF of more than than 10 indicate violation of assumption of multicollinearity. Allison (1999) suggested few strategies to solve the problems of multocollienarity, mostly when dealing with research design; researchers should use individual-level data and not aggregate data; obtain a good sample size and cross-sectional data instead of time-series data; and lastly, use stratified sampling on the independent variables, as was utilised in this study, to reduce the multicollinearity problem.

## 3.10.6 Calculation of Sickness Absence

There are many approaches to measuring sickness absence that can provide sets of different information and series of indices to help detect trend, identify variations from the norm and diagnose causes. The followings discuss two common methods used to report the sickness absence level used in this study:

#### **3.10.6.1 Time Lost Measures**

The most commonly used method of expressing the level of sickness absence used by many organisations is the crude absence rate, or sometimes referred to as the inactivity or time lost measure. This is calculated as the time lost due to or ascribed to sickness absence as percentage of contracted working time in a defined period.

The absence rate can be measured in days or more accurately in hours. However, the rate is expressed in percentage. The formula of calculation is expressed as the total duration of sick leave in the study period (numerator) divided by the total number of scheduled working days in the study period (denominator) and multiply 100 (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2 Calculation of Sickness Absence Rate

## 3.10.6.2 Duration Measures

This measure is to calculate the average duration of sickness absence per employee within the study period. The measure took into account the total time lost in the period and the number of staff employed within the stipulated period, and is expressed in days (Figure 3.3).

1	Formula:
-	Total sick leave in study period
-	Fotal number of staff employed in study period
6	e.g. $= 2,813.00$
	1,114
	= 2.53  days
1	

## Figure 3.3

Calculation of Average Duration of Sick Leave per Employee within Study Period

## 3.11 Summary

This chapter discusses the methodology of this study, which comprised research philosophy and design of the study, operationisation of variables and measurements, questionnaire design, population and sampling method, pilot study, data collection and data analysis techniques. The study employed quantitative approach to obtain data in two phases. The sick leave data was accessed from employer's registry record, while questionnaire survey tool was used to measure all the operationised variables. The sampling and data collection were carried out in systematic manner and in compliance with ethical considerations. The approach for calculation of sickness absence level was provided. The model in this study was further tested with several statistical tests, including multiple regressions. SPSS version 16 was used for data cleaning and preliminary factor analysis and the goodness of measures was further enhanced with multivariate data analysis to explain the model under study. The results of the analyses are presented in the next chapter.

#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

#### FINDINGS

## 4.1 Introduction

This chapter consists of three main sections: the first section begins with the discussion of response rate from the questionnaire survey, followed by the report of the status of completion of the sickness absence data obtained from hospital records. This section also highlights respondents' profiles based on their demographic characteristics of gender, age, marital status, educational level, length of service, job position, hospital tenure and average monthly income. In the second section, the instruments used in the study are tested for their goodness of measures, specifically focusing on the issue of construct validity and internal consistency tests using factor analysis and reliability analyses. In the third section, statistical tests using descriptive analysis and multivariate analysis, i.e. multiple regression analysis are presented to demonstrate the relationship between independent variables, the dependent variable and the mediating variable under study.

## 4.2 Response Rate

As mentioned in the previous chapter, the sample size for the current study is 1,300 nurses drawn from six general hospitals in the northern region of Peninsular Malaysia, namely Kedah, Perlis and Pulau Pinang. The data for independent variables were obtained through a questionnaire distributed to randomly selected respondents from these hospitals; while the dependent data were derived from secondary data made available through hospital registry records kept in the ward or unit where the respondents work. The questionnaires were administered in mid-March 2011 for a period of two weeks. The response rate of each participating hospital was very encouraging. From a total of 1,300 questionnaires that were distributed, 1,273 were returned, constituting a 97.8% response rate (see Table 4.1 below). The high response rate was due to good coordination and the assistance provided by the nursing department; in addition, the respondents complied with the instructions from the nursing department. From the 1,273 questionnaires returned, 159 were found with incomplete data, thus only 1,114 (87.5%) were usable; these raw data were coded and used for further analyses.

Table	4.1
-------	-----

Response Rate of Six General Hospitals

<b>1</b>	1			
Hospital	Questionnaire	Questionnaire	Response Rate	Total Response
	Distributed	Returned	(%)	rate (%)
HTF	162	156	12.0	12.3
HSB	330	319	24.5	25.1
HSAH	211	210	16.2	16.5
HK	94	92	7.0	7.2
HPP	368	367	28.2	28.8
HSJ	135	129	9.9	10.1
Total	1300	1273	97.8	100

Note: HTF- Perlis; HSB, HSAH, HK- Kedah; HPP, HSJ-Pulau Pinang

#### 4.3 Sickness Records

The sick leave data were obtained from hospital registry records. The sick leave records included Medical Certificate (MC) certified by government medical officers and MC issued by private general practitioners (GP) and endorsed by government medical officers. This sick leave was accessed from sick leave record book, while other approved leave, such as emergency leave, study leave and work schedule were obtained from leave record book and monthly and weekly schedule and roster record

book located in the wards and units where respondents work. The identities of respondents were matched from respondent numbers allocated to each respondent in their survey form. A total of 1,300 respondents were targeted to obtain their information about the number of sick leave taken monthly from February 2011 to May 2011. A duration of four months was taken for sick leave record instead of six months as planned earlier because of the complexity of data to be accessed from different disciplines in the six general hospitals (for instance, one hospital in Pulau Pinang has more than 30 disciplines where nurses are located). The other reason was that the questionnaires were distributed in mid-March and return of questionnaires from all hospitals are roughly given a month to complete the collection process. Four months is an adequate window period for respondents to remember events related to their job within this four months' duration, respondents would be able to reflect the true or nearly true picture of the effects of the job demands, job resources and job stress on sickness absenteeism.

The criteria of sick leave taken into consideration excluded maternity leave, emergency leave, study leave, paternity leave, compassionate leave or any other leave approved by the department. The sick leave records were verified with evidence of medical certificate issued by government medical officers or specialists. The data of total monthly scheduled worked days from February 2011 to May 2011 were recorded. All the information were entered into sick leave tracking form developed by the researcher (refer Appendix 12). Tabel 4.2 below illustrates the status of completion of sick leave data obtained in comparison with questionnaires returned from the six general hospitals.

Status of Completion of Slex Leave Data Obtained from Six General Hospitals							
Hospital/Location	Total	Questionnaire	Completed Sick				
	Respondents	Returned	Leave Data				
	Identified						
HTF	162	156	160				
HSB	330	319	326				
HSAH	211	210	210				
НК	94	92	93				
HPP	368	367	365				
HSJ	135	129	127				
Total	1300	1273	1281				

 Table 4.2

 Status of Completion of Sick Leave Data Obtained from Six General Hospitals

Note: HTF- Perlis; HSB,HSAH,HK- Kedah; HPP,HSJ-Pulau Pinang

From a total 1,300 respondents identified for sick leave records, 1,281 respondents were found to have a complete sick leave record. This means a total of 19 respondents' sick leave records were incomplete. This incomplete sick leave record was mainly due to respondents having been transferred to other locations or hospitals. In short, a total of 1,281 respondents had complete sick leave records, while a total of 1,273 respondents returned their questionnaires. The difference between the completed sick leave record and the returned questionnaire was eight (1,281-1,273). The researcher conducted the check on the questionnaires and found that these eight respondents with completed sick leave data failed to return their questionnaires. Hence, only 1,273 respondents had completed sick leave records that matched their returned questionnaires, and therefore were used for further analysis after undergoing thorough data screening and cleaning.

## 4.4 Data Screening and Cleaning

After data were obtained from questionnaires and sick leave tracking forms, they were examined to ensure completeness and validity. Real data sets often contain errors, inconsistencies in responses or measurements, outliers and missing values (Warner, 2008). Therefore, researchers should conduct thorough preliminary data screening and cleaning to identify and remedy potential problem with the data prior to running the data analysis.

The first stage in data preparation is data coding. Data coding involves assigning a number to the participant's responses, so that it can be entered into the database. Raw data were entered into SPSS data editor. The data were then edited. This means the data was inspected for completeness and consistency (Hair *et al.*, 2007). Blank response or missing data, were handled appropriately. Missing data can impact the validity of the researcher's findings and therefore must be identified and resolved. This study used the approach recommended by Hair *et al.* (2006, 2007), that respondents and variables that have data missing more than the proportion of missing data point (e.g., 20% to 30%) were eliminated from the analysis.

Data editing deals with detecting and correcting illogical, inconsistent or illegal data in the information returned by the participants. Outlier is an example of illogical responses. It is an observation that is substantially different from the other observations.

Illegal codes are values that are not specified in the coding instruction. These codes were identified in about 10 respondents in which data were wrongly entered, for example, code of 40 was entered instead of 4, code of 6 was entered instead of 4. After verification was done with the original questionnaire form, these wrong codes were changed appropriately.

Data transformation is the process of changing the original numerical representation of a quantitative value to another value. Data transformation was carried out for reverse coding for items 9, 10, 11, 14, 17, 20, 21, 31 to 36 in section A, items 10, 14, 16 and 22 in section B, and items 1, 17 to 21 in section C.

## 4.5 Detecting Outliers

Prior to data analysis, the data set was cleaned and tested thoroughly in order to detect univariate and multivariate outliers. To detect univariate outliers, inspection through extreme cases in boxplot analyses was carried out (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). However, no major univariate outlier cases were detected in the data set. The data set was then screened for multivariate outliers through SPSS regression by Mahalanobis distance value. This was done through a procedure suggested by Tabachnik and Fidell (2007). The presence of multivariate outliers suggest that the individual is responding differently compared to other participants across multiple dimensions (Cruz, 2007).

The criterion for multivariate outliers is Mahalanobis distance at p<0.001 for the Chi-square ( $\chi^2$ ) value and degree of freedom (df) equal to the number of items (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). This is in sync with Garett (1989) who used the chisquare plot by plotting the squared Mahalanobis against the quantiles of  $\chi^2_p$ ; the most extreme points are deleted until the remaining points follow a straight line. Based on criteria suggested by Hair *et al.* (2006); Weisberg (1985) and Steven (1984), Mahalanobis distance (D<sup>2</sup>) was calculated as (n-1)hii whereby n is the number of sample and hii is the centred leverage value. A value of D<sup>2</sup>/df greater than 3.5 (for large sample in this study) was considered as outlier. After taking into account the suggestions by Hair *et al.* (2006) and Tabachnick and Fidell (2007) that potential outliers should be retained to ensure the generalisation of population, unless there is enough proof that such outliers are truly different from other cases or not representative of the population, a total of 19 cases (case no.3, 10, 95, 191, 194, 198, 255, 268, 309, 361, 403, 486, 512, 888, 915, 1003, 1017, 1026 & 1030) with Mahalanobis distance value much greater than  $\chi^2$  value of 155.54 were omitted from the data set. This meant that 1,095 cases were retained and used for subsequent analyses.

#### 4.6 Goodness of Measure

Prior to factor analysis, the validity of the measurement was first tested and this included face validity and content validity, which were attended to as early as during the pilot testing stage. According to Nunnaly (1978), face validity and content validity is a non-statistical type of validity that involves systematic examination of the test content to determine whether it covers all the items to be measured. Then the data is submitted for factor analysis.

## 4.6.1 Construct Validity

Validity is the degree to which a test measures what it claims, or purports to be measuring (Brown, 1996). It is the extent to which an operationalisation measures the concept it is supposed to measure (Cook & Campbell, 1979). According to Campbell and Fiske (1959), convergent and discriminate validity are two aspects of construct validity that researchers use to support the validity of measures in organisational research. Convergent validity is the degree to which multiple attempts to measure the same concept are in agreement. The idea is that two or more measures of the same thing should co-vary highly if they are valid measures of the concept. On the other hand, discriminant validity is the degree to which measures of different concepts are distinct. The notion is that if two or more concepts are unique, then valid measures of each should not correlate too highly.

Factor analysis is one of the established tools used to determine the construct adequacy of measuring device (Cooper & Schindler, 2006). It should be performed with all the items tapping the independent and dependent variables included in the study before conducting the main analysis.

Factor analysis was conducted with data collected for measures obtained from questionnaires survey. There were seven constructs in job demands, six constructs in job resources and four constructs in job stress, whose validity and reliability were tested. The following section reports and discusses the construct validity for this study's variables,

#### 4.6.2 Factor Analyses

Factor analysis is a collection of methods used to examine how underlying constructs influence the responses on a number of measured variables. The objective in factor analysis is usually "data reduction" or "dimension reduction" (Warner, 2008). Several statistical assumptions have to be met before conducting factor analysis on the study variables (Hair *et al.*, 2006). First, a strong theoretical foundation needs to support the underlying structure of the study; second, the value of Measure of Sampling Adequacy (MSA) for the individual items preferably should be above 0.50 to be considered adequate criteria for factorability (Hair *et al.*, 2006); third, the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) values must be greater than 0.60 (Blaikie, 2003) to be considered adequate criteria for factorability; and finally, Barlett's Test of Sphericity should be significant at p<.05 to support the adequacy of the correlation among variables and thus provide a reasonable basis for factor analysis (Ho, 2006).

Basically there are two common extraction methods used in conducting factor

analysis (Hair *et al.*, 2006): principle component analysis (PCA) and principal axis factoring (PAF). PCA is the appropriate choice if data reduction is the main concern, whereas PAF is the right option if the primary objective is to identify the latent dimensions of the study variables. After the extractions, rotations have to be done in factor analysis procedure to achieve the optimal factor loading for the items under analysis. Orthogonal rotations are used when factors are restricted to be correlated; oblique rotation output is slightly complex than orthogonal rotation output (Costello & Osborne, 2005), because the rotated factor matrix is interpreted after orthogonal rotation; whereas for oblique rotation, the pattern matrix is examined for factor loadings but the substantive interpretations for both methods are essentially the same.

PCA with oblimin rotation was carried out in this study to simplify a large number of items to a few representative factors or dimensions, in order to test the patterns of correlations among the items of variables and to establish the goodness of measures for testing the hypotheses (Hair *et al.*, 1998; Hair *et al.*, 2006; Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). Oblimin rotation with the default delta (0) or kappa (4) values was used in the SPSS analysis, as Fabrigar *et al.* (1999) suggested to use the default values to avoid unnecessary complexity in the interpretation of results.

To determine the number of factors to be extracted in factor analysis, few criteria are usually followed: (i) Kaiser's criterion, which consider factors with an eigenvalue greater than one (Nunnally, 1978); (ii) Cattell's (1966) scree plot which provides interpretation from the plot graph on the number of factors to be extracted; (iii) proportion of variance accounted for factors extracted; (iv) interpretation on factor loading, items with significant high loadings are retained according to criteria used, for example clean loading on one factor with no cross loading on other factors.

In this study, three factor analyses were carried out for independent variables (job demands and job resources) and mediating variable (job stress). Dependent variable (sickness absence) was not subjected to factor analysis as it is an objective measure. To ensure the number of factors to be extracted is correct and reflects the thereotical significance, methods suggested by Hair et al. (1998, 2006) and Tabachnick and Fidell (2007) were considered. First, the egienvalue of factors must be greater than 1. Thus, all factors having eigenvalue less than 1 were considered insignificant and excluded from the analysis. The second method is through the inspection of the shape of scree test plot. A cut-off point at which the pattern of the curve changes to nearly horizontal line was determined and used as guideline to find out the optimum number of factors to be extracted (Hair et al., 1998; 2006; Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). The scree test from the initial PCA in this study suggested number of factors to be retained for interpretation, which together accounted for the variance in the item pool. As most components were possibly correlated, these were initially rotated to approximate a simple structure using both oblique (direct oblimin) and orthogonal (varimax) procedures. However, the results from varimax rotation indicated overlapping between components. On the other hand, the results from direct oblimin showed less overlapping between components. Moreover, the oblique rotation method was recommended to suit the goal of obtaining several theoretical meaningful factors or constructs that are correlated (Hair et al., 2006). Hence, the direct oblimin rotation was used in this study for factor analysis.

Hair *et al.* (2006) concurred with Comrey and Lee (1992) that factor loading of 0.30 to 0.40 are minimally acceptable, values greater than 0.50 are considered necessary for practical significance. However, a small loading, for instance, 0.3, is needed if there is large sample size or a larger number of variables (Hair *et al.*, 2006).

The greater the loading, the more the item is a pure measure of the factor (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). Therefore, in interpreting the factors in this study, items with loading of above 0.35 and not cross-loaded in other factors were considered. To deal with cross loading and to decide on the elimination of items that leaked and cross-loaded, the criteria suggested by Igbaria, Livari and Maragahh (1995); Igbaria, Parasuraman and Baroudi (1996); Hair *et al.* (2006) and Kim and Muller (1978) were taken into account. The first two researchers stated that the loading of >0.50 in one single factor and cross-loading of <0.35 on other factors are considered acceptable. The latter two researchers proposed the loading of below 0.50 in one factor and cross-loaded at a difference of <0.10 on other factors is the potential item to be deleted.

In interpreting factors, a decision has to be made regading factor loadings in factor matrix. A factor loading represents the correlation between an original variable and its factor. The researchers need to assess the significance of factor loading; whether to ensure practical significance or statistical significance. If practical significance is used as the criteria, factor loadings in the range of  $\pm 0.30$  to  $\pm 0.40$  are considered to meet the minimal level for interpretation of structure. Loadings  $\pm 0.50$  or greater are considered as practically significant. Loadings exceeding  $\pm 0.70$  are considered indicative of well-defined structure and are the goal of any factor structure. The decision on practical significance is applicable if the sample size is 100 or above and the emphasis is on practical and not on statistical significance.

## 4.6.2.1 Factor Analysis on Job Demands

A total of 36 items were used to measure job demands. Initial results of the Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA) on the thirty six items came out with eight

components. Since only items with loading of 0.50 and above and not cross-loaded in other factors are acceptable, six items (two items from job scope, two items from workloads, one item each from emotional demand and role ambiguity) were dropped. The remaining 30 items were re-analysed. The subsequent results produced seven components. The criterion of 0.50 was used to determine loadings that should be retained for interpretation. On the basis of this criterion, most of the items loaded uniquely on one of the seven components. In cases where items were cross-loaded, the criteria suggested by Igbaria *et al.* (1995); Igbaria *et al.* (1996); Hair *et al.* (2006) and Kim and Muller (1978) were used. Three items from role conflict with loading of less than 0.5 in one factor and cross-loaded with >0.35 on another factor, or at a difference of <0.10 on other factors were deleted. The results of PCA with oblique rotation are presented in Table 4.3.

In Table 4.3, the Kaiser-Meyer-Oikin Measure (KMO) for the items was 0.861, which was more than 0.6; indicating that the items were correlated and they shared common factors. The MSA values for individual items ranged from 0.739 to 0.937 in anti-image correlation which indicated that the data matrix was appropriate for factor analysis. Barlett's test of Sphericity was found to be significant at p<0.001 with the approximate Chi-Square value of 8819.618, indicating the significance of the correlation matrix, thus providing a reasonable basis for factor analysis.

The factor analysis resulted in seven components with eigenvalue greater than 1 that explained 57.789% of variance in the data. The results of scree plot also provided support for the construction of the seven components. The first component explained 20.873% of the total variance, with an eigenvalue of 5.636. Factor loading for items in component 1 ranged from 0.555 to 0.839. Component 1 consisted of six items related to physical demand of the nursing job. The attributes in this factor reflected the demand of job that required more physical effort. Thus, the original label of 'physical demand' was retained. For component 2, it explained 12.167% of the total variance with an eigenvalue of 3.285. Factor loading for this component ranged from 0.561 to 0.835. It contained five items related to role ambiguity of nursing job; thus, the original label of 'role ambiguity' was maintained. Component 3 accounted for 6.681% of the total variance with an eigenvalue of 1.804. The factor loading for this component ranged from 0.501 to 0.768. This component had four items related to workload. The attributes of this component reflected the workloads in nursing job. Hence, the original label of 'workload' was maintained. Component 4 explained 5.901% of the total variance with an eigenvalue of 1.593. The factor loading for this component ranged from 0.523 to 0.765. This component consisted of four items related to job scope of nursing job. The four items reflected the attributes of job scope which made nursing a demanding job. Component 5 accounted for 4.557% of the total variance with eigenvalue of 1.230. This component was defined by three items with factor loading ranging from 0.574 to 0.703. As these items related to emotional demand, thus, the original label of 'emotional demand' was retained. Component 6 accounted for 3.894% of the total variance with eigenvalue of 1.051. This component was defined by two items with factor loading 0.767 and 0.907 respectively. As these items were related to role conflict, thus, the original label of 'role conflict' was retained. Component 7 accounted for 3.716% of the total variance with eigenvalue of 1.003. This component was defined by three items with factor loading ranging from 0.452 to 0.842. The attributes of these items reflected the characteristics of complexity of nursing job; thus, the original label of 'job complexity' was retained.

Items	Component						
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Factor 1- Physical demand							
Ay work requires rapid and continuous physical activity.	<u>.839</u>	.029	.054	.056	.005	008	02
Ay job requires lots of physical effort.	.776	.002	.023	.078	046	.038	01
Ay job requires working very fast.	.767	060	.060	.091	011	042	.006
Iy job requires working very hard.	736	- 050	053	- 071	011	- 042	084
am often required to move or lift very heavy loads on my job.	.730	050	.055	071	.011	042	.08.
Iy job is very hectic.	<u>.019</u>	007	067	115	162	.015	.080
	.555	094	128	.001	073	016	.08
actor 2- Role ambiguity							
know that I have divided my time property.	.037	.835	.026	.038	.019	018	.02
have clear, planned goals and objectives for my job. ®	054	.780	.001	062	.073	.075	.07
know what my responsibilities are. ®	011	.732	.067	167	.122	037	.04
know exactly what is expected of me. ®	- 026	665	051	040	- 114	005	- 12
get clear explanations of what has to be done. ®	120	<u>.005</u>	101	.040	275	.005	.12
factor 3- Workloads	129	.301	191	.078	275	005	01
receive an assignment without adequate resources and materials to	- 007	003	- 768	028	- 143	- 037	.01
work on unnecessary things.	072	044	714	100	080	101	19
do things that are likely to be accepted by one person and not	072	044	<u>/14</u>	190	080	.101	.10
ccepted by others.	014	005	<u>622</u>	.032	024	221	06
iece of work from beginning to end.	.119	.058	<u>501</u>	.111	.321	032	11
Cactor 4- Job scope							
The work of a nurse is one where a lot of other people can be affected y how well the work gets done.	.166	034	108	.765	.145	004	.05
he results of my work as a nurse likely to significantly affect the ves and well being of other people.	.159	.026	073	.751	.104	066	.12
he work I perform as a nurse is not very significant or important in	005	- 065	084	602	- 292	081	01
Ay work is monotonous. ®	.005	.005	100	<u>.002</u>	.272	.001	.01
factor 5- Emotional demand	235	119	.188	.523	050	.018	02
Ay work provides me the chance to completely finish the piece of	096	015	- 038	044	- 703	104	- 07
am free from conflicting demands that other make. ®	.070	.015	.030	.0		.104	07
have enough time to get the job done. ®	.168	.034	022	.062	<u>616</u>	186	04
	.104	.083	054	076	<u>574</u>	079	.21
actor 6- Role conflict							
work with two or more groups who operate quite differently.	008	020	.078	035	.048	907	03
receive incompatible requests from two or more people.	002	.011	134	020	094	<u>767</u>	.08
actor 7- Job complexity							
Ay work requires me to use a number of complex and high-level kills.	.038	.001	021	013	019	.007	<u>.84</u>
Ay work requires me to do many different things, using a variety of v skills and talents	.157	.041	.028	.145	.104	044	.73
ly work requires thinking and weighing decision.	020	201	027	202	107	1 4 7	<u></u>
-	039	206	037	.292	107	145	.45

# Table 4.3 Results of Factor Analysis for Job Demands

Finanyaha	5.636	3.285	1.804	1.593	1.230	1.051	1.003
Eigenvalue							
Percentage of variance explained (%)	20.873	12.167	6.681	5.901	4.557	3.894	3.716
Total variance explained (%)	57.789						
Kaiser-Meyer-Oikin (KMO)	.861						
Barlett's test of sphericity. Approx. Chi Square	8819.618**	*					
Df	351.000						

#### Table 4.3 (Continued)

Note: n=1095; @ = Reversed coded statement; Underlined loadings indicate the inclusion of that item in the factor; \*\*\*p<0.001

## 4.6.2.2 Factor Analysis on Job Resources

In the intial stage, a total of 33 items were used to measure five dimensions of job resources; eight items relating to social support, three items measuring job autonomy, three items reflecting job feedback, nine items concerning task/time control and ten items measuring self-efficacy. However, after factor analysis, one item from task/time control dimension was dropped and the components increased to six dimensions. The results of PCA with oblique rotation are presented in Table 4.4,

From the results in Table 4.4, the Kaiser-Meyer-Oikin Measure (KMO) for the items was 0.888, which was more than 0.6; indicating that the items were correlated and they shared common factors. The MSA values for individual items ranged from 0.601 to 0.944 in anti-image correlation which indicated that the data was suitable for factor analysis. Barlett's test of Sphericity was found to be significant (df=496, approx. Chi-Square value=13108.777, p<0.001), which indicated the significance of the correlation matrix, and consequently, the appropriateness for factor analysis. The factor analysis produced six components with eiginvalue greater than 1. The results of scree plot provided support for the construction of six components.

From the results presented in Table 4.4, Component 1 explained 22.851% of the total variance with an eigenvalue of 7.312. Factor loading for this component ranged from 0.434 to 0.867. This component consisted of eight items reflecting respondents who believed in their capabilities to organise and execute the courses of action required to manage prospective situations or belief in their ability to succeed in a particular situation. Thus, the original label of 'self-efficacy' was retained.

Component 2 accounted for 11.217% of the total variance with eigenvalue of 3.589. Factor loading ranged from 0.540 to 0.917. This component comprised four items related to the social support provided by supervisor in the work setting. The original label 'social support' was divided into two dimensions: supervisor support and co-worker support. Since the four items in this component were related to support provided by supervisor, a new label 'supervisor support' was created. Co-worker support is discussed in component 4.

Component 3 explained about 5.921% of the total variance with eiginevalue of 1.895. Factor loading ranged from 0.527 to 0.732. This component comprised seven items related to the extent to which respondents were able to exercise discretion in dealing with heavy workload and work pressure. The original label of 'task/time control' was retained.

Component 4 accounted for 5.520% of the total variance with eigenvalue of 1.766. Factor loading ranged from 0.761 to 0.774. This component consisted of four items which reflected the social support provided by co-workers or colleagues in the work setting. Since the original label of social support was split into supervisor support and co-worker support, and the items here reflected the support provided by co-workers, thus, a new label of 'co-worker support' was created.

Component 5 explained about 4.457% of the total variance with eigenvalue of 1.426. Factor loading ranged from 0.357 to 0.751. This component comprised six items related to job autonomy, which referred to the extent the job enabled respondents to experience freedom, independence, and discretion in both scheduling

and determining the procedures used in completing the job. The original label of 'job autonomy' was appropriate and retained since the items were related to job autonomy.

Component 6 accounted for 4.17% of the total variance with eigenvalue of 1.334. Factor loading ranged from 0.606 to 0.657. This component comprised three items related to job feedback. The items also reflected the extent to which respondents received direct and clear information about how effectively they are performing the job. Since the original label contained items that were related to job feedback, thus the label of 'job feedback' was retained.

Table 4.4	
Results of Factor Anal	vsis for Job Resources

Items	Component					
	1	2	3	4	5	6
Factor 1- Self efficacy						
If I am in trouble, I can usually think of a solution.	.867	007	.066	026	.076	.028
When I am confronted with a problem, I can usually find several solutions.	<u>.839</u>	.062	.033	.015	.058	.048
I can remain calm when facing difficulties because I can rely on my coping abilities.	<u>.790</u>	.033	.007	.022	.038	.064
I can solve most problems if I invest the necessary effort.	.683	.017	173	.120	.121	027
I can usually handle whatever comes my way.	.670	076	.057	102	095	.029
Thanks to my resourcefulness, I know how to handle unforeseen situations.	<u>.616</u>	046	091	106	066	058
I am confident that I could deal efficiently with unexpected events.	.528	045	028	004	194	048
I can always manage to solve difficult problems if I try hard enough.	<u>.434</u>	.064	126	.133	228	063
Factor 2- Supervisor support						
My supervisor is concerned about the welfare of those under him.	034	.917	035	.071	007	.023
My supervisor pays attention to what I am saying.	020	.909	.006	.070	042	.028
My supervisor is helpful in getting the job done.	.021	.751	008	198	.014	049
My supervisor is successful in getting people to work together.	.042	.540	025	355	.019	039
Factor 3- Task/time control						
My job requires me to be creative.	018	044	732	.025	067	107
My job requires that I learn new thing.	.085	026	705	100	.207	154
I get to do a variety of different things on my job.	.001	.096	701	.060	076	.104
My job requires a high level of skill.	.028	013	<u>698</u>	070	.088	206
I have an opportunity to develop my own special abilities.	.049	.172	597	.104	177	.135
My work provides many chances for me to figure out how well I am doing.	.124	.037	<u>548</u>	141	.012	.141
My work activities provide information about my work performance.	.109	.028	527	054	079	.185
Factor 4- Co-worker support		•			•	
People I work with take a personal interest in me.	056	.079	.090	<u>774</u>	130	.032
People I work with are friendly.	064	.064	031	<u>772</u>	.009	049
People I work with are helpful in getting the job done.	.036	.044	072	764	.066	024
People I work with are competent in doing their jobs.	.069	037	023	<u>761</u>	.022	.049
#### Table 4.4 (Continued)

Factor 5- Autonomy						
I have a lot of say about what happens on my job.	069	.069	.037	.015	751	002
If someone opposes me, I can find the means and ways to get what I want.	.125	036	.023	014	<u>592</u>	228
It is easy for me to stick to my aims and accomplish my goals.	.262	.088	.071	049	563	074
My job allows me to make a lot of decisions on my own.	036	008	377	.048	492	.149
My work permits me to decide on my own how to go about doing the work.	.051	062	177	133	<u>361</u>	.175
As a nurse, I have considerable opportunity for independence and freedom in how I do the work.	.057	.084	145	146	<u>357</u>	.168
Factor 6- Job feedback	· · ·		-		-	
My work denies me any chance to know how I use my personal initiative or judgment in carrying out the work. ®	.027	.082	116	103	.131	<u>.657</u>
Doing work by myself, provides very few clues about whether or not I am performing well.	011	110	.036	.043	.006	.630
On my job, I have little freedom to know how I do my work. ®	.030	.152	.141	.005	.020	<u>.606</u>
Eigenvalue	7.312	3.589	1.895	1.766	1.426	1.334
Percentage of variance explained (%)	22.851	11.217	5.921	5.520	4.457	4.170
Total variance explained (%)	54.136					
Kaiser-Meyer-Oikin (KMO)	.888					
Barlett's test of sphericity. Approx. Chi Square	13108.777***					
Df	496.000					

Note: n=1095; (a) = Reversed coded statement; Underlined loadings indicate the inclusion of that item in the factor; \*\*\*p<0.001

#### 4.6.2.3 Factor Analysis on Job Stress

To examine the validity of job stress measures, the PCA with oblimin rotation was carried out. There were initially 26 items for job stress contained in four dimensions: physical, emotional, behavioural and psychological responses. Physical, emotional and behavioural response each had seven items, while psychological response had five items. However, after factor analysis was performed, the results revealed all these items were extracted into four dimensions. In the process of factor analysis, only items with loading of 0.30 and above and not cross-loaded in other factors were considered clean items and accepted. Hence, six items (two items from physiological response of low loading and cross-loading with other components. Table 4.5 below presents the results of factor analysis.

As shown in Table 4.5, the Kaiser-Meyer-Oikin Measure (KMO) for the items was 0.887 which was more than 0.6; indicating that these items were correlated and shared common components. The MSA values for individual items ranged from 0.806 to 0.957 in anti-image correlation which indicated that the data was suitable for factor analysis. Barlett's test of Sphericity was found to be significant (df=190, approx. Chi-Square value=10317.832, p<0.001), which indicated the significance of the correlation matrix, and the appropriateness of data for factor analysis. The factor analysis produced four components with eigenvalue greater than 1. The results of scree plot also provided support for the construction of four components.

From the results of factor analysis in Table 4.5, Component 1 accounted for 30.553% of the total variance with an eigenvalue of 6.111. Factor loading for this component ranged from 0.522 to 0.932. This component contained five items that described physical symptoms of job stress of respondents. Therefore, the original label of 'physical responses' was changed to 'physical stress' which was more appropriate for this dimension.

Component 2 accounted for 13.927% of the total variance with eigenvalue of 2.785. Factor loading ranged from 0.575 to 0.844. This component comprised of five items related to the emotional symptoms elicited from respondents with job stress. A new label was created as 'emotional stress' to represent a more appropriate stressful response in this dimension.

Component 3 explained about 11.618% of the total variance with eigenevalue of 2.324. Factor loading ranged from 0.593 to 0.910. This component comprised of five items related to the psychological symptoms manifested by respondents in dealing with job stress. Thus, the new label 'psychological stress' was added to represent the stressful responses in this dimension.

230

Component 4 accounted for 6.745% of the total variance with eigenvalue of 1.349. Factor loading for this component ranged from -0.548 to -0.845. This component consisted of five of items which reflected the behavioural symptoms manifested by the respondents with job stress. Thus, a new label 'behavioural stress' was added to represent the appropriate stressful responses in this dimension.

The results of the factor analysis on job stress variable successfully extracted four components that underpinned the structure of job stress. Hence, factor analyses for independent variables: job demands and job resources, and mediating variable: job stress, were completed. The next important step was to carry out reliability test for all these variables and dimensions.

Table 4.5

Results of Factor Analysis for Job Stress

Items	Component			
	1	2	3	4
Factor 1- Physical stress				
been getting any pains in your head.	<u>.932</u>	.021	.055	.171
been getting a feeling of tightness or pressure in your head.	.925	006	.078	.136
felt that you are ill.	.636	.047	.001	143
been feeling exhausted and irritable.	.598	.033	060	200
been having hot or cold spells.	.522	039	.033	193
Factor 2- Emotional stress				-
felt capable of making decisions about things. ®	039	.844	011	031
felt that you are playing a useful part in things. ®	047	<u>.839</u>	052	005
been satisfied with the way you've carried out your task.®	.004	.809	.074	.002
felt on the whole you were doing things well. ®	.000	.741	007	.135
been able to enjoy your normal day-to-day activities. ®	.115	.575	.007	146
Factor 3- Psychological stress				
felt that life is entirely hopeless.	028	002	<u>.910</u>	.039
felt that life isn't worth living.	019	014	.873	.032
thought of the possibility that you might make away with yourself.	.075	005	.804	.084
been thinking of yourself as a worthless person.	.004	.010	.716	114
found at times you couldn't do anything because you are too worry.	.019	.028	.593	197
Factor 4- Behavioural stress	·			
been feeling nervous and tense up all the time.	069	.021	.077	845
been getting scared or panicky for no good reason.	024	.037	.060	822
found everything getting difficult for you.	019	.040	.121	<u>776</u>
been getting nervous and bad-tempered.	.293	037	011	609
felt constantly under strain.	.268	015	055	<u>548</u>
Eigenvalue	6.111	2.785	2.324	1.349
Percentage of variance explained (%)	30.553	13.927	11.618	6.745
Total variance explained (%)	62.843			

Table 4.5 (Continued)

Kaiser-Meyer-Oikin (KMO)	.887	
Barlett's test of sphericity. Approx. Chi Square	10317.832***	
Df	190.000	

Note: n=1,095; @ = Reversed coded statement; Underlined loadings indicate the inclusion of that item in the factor; \*\*\*p<0.001

#### 4.7 Reliability Analysis

Reliability refers to the accuracy and precision of a measurement procedure (Thorndike, Cunningham, Thorndike, & Hagen, 1991). Reliability may be viewed as an instrument's relative lack of error. In addition, reliability is a function of properties of the underlying construct being measured, or the test being assessed. Reliability answers the question, 'how well the instrument measures what it purports to measure'.

Reliability of a measure is established by testing for both consistency and stability. Consistency indicates how well the items measuring a concept hang together as a set (Cavana *et al.*, 2001). Nevertheless, the researcher has to decide the quality of outcome and the degree of risk he or she is willing to take. However, some degree of inconsistency is present in all measurement procedures. The variability in a set of item scores is due to the actual variation across individuals in the phenomenon that the scale measures, made up of true score and error. Therefore, each observation of a measurement is equal to true score plus measurement error.

The internal consistency for each component was estimated using Cronbach's coefficient alpha. Before factor analysis, the computed values of Cronbach's coefficient alpha for the total items pool (n = 95), job demands subscale (n = 36), job resources subscale (n = 33) and the job stress subscale (n = 26) were 0.84, 0.85 and 0.82 respectively.

. After factor analysis, the obtained variables and dimensions were subjected to reliability test. The reliability of each measure was examined by computing its

Cronbach's alpha. Generally, alpha coefficient of 0.8 or higher is good (Bryman & Cramer, 1990). According to deVaus (1991), a scale with a Cronbach's alpha greater than 0.70 is considered to have an acceptable level of internal consistency However, some authors (e.g. Hair *et al.*, 2006; Nunnaly, 1978; Sekaran, 2003), suggested that the minimum acceptable reliability of 0.6 and above is reasonable. Hence, the value was recommended in this study as indicators of internal consistency of the scale. Table 4.6 summarises the reliability coefficients of the measures.

As shown in Table 4.6, the Cronbach's alpha for the dimensions of independent variables: job demands and job resources, was in the range from 0.60 to 0.84 and 0.60 to 0.85 respectively. This met the criteria as suggested by Hair *et al.* (2006); Sekaran (2003) and Nunnaly (1978), that the minimum acceptable reliability value of 0.60 is reasonable. The Cronbach's alpha for mediating variable: job stress, was in the range from 0.82 to 0.86, and all values in the dimensions exceeded 0.60, thus fulfilling the criteria as suggested by Hair *et al.* (2006); Sekaran (2003) and Nunnaly (1978) in our study. The Cronbach's alpha for overall job demands that consisted of 27 items was 0.77; for overall job resources; it contained 32 items and the Cronbach's alpha was 0.88; while the overall job stress consisted of 20 items, and the Cronbach's alpha was 0.86. Hence, the results of reliability analysis for all these study variables showed strong internal consistency and stability of the instruments used in this study.

Items	Variables	α	Items	Dimensions	α
27	Independent Variable	0.77	6	Physical demand	0.84
21	Iob demands	0.77	5	Role ambiguity	0.78
	Job demands		2	Role conflict	0.78
			2 4	Ioh scope	0.66
			3	Emotional demand	0.60
			3	Job complexity	0.63
			4	Workload	0.62
32	Independent Variable -	0.88	8	Self efficacy	0.85
0-	Job resources	0.00	4	Supervisor support	0.85
			7	Task/Time control	0.82
			4	Co-worker support	0.81
			6	Autonomy	0.68
			3	Job feedback	0.60
20	Mediating Variable -	0.86	5	Physical stress	0.82
	Job stress		5	Emotional stress	0.82
			5	Psychological stress	0.84
			5	Behavioral stress	0.86

Table 4.6Reliability Analysis of Job Demands, Job Resources and Job Stress Dimensions

## **4.8 Description of Study Sample**

The descriptive analysis was performed on the sample. The results of the analysis are presented in Tables 4.7 and 4.8. The respondents' demographic characteristics revealed that 1,074 respondents were female, while 21 respondents were male. Most of them were married (78.9%), and majority of the respondents were in the age bracket of 21 to 30 years old (42.9%). In terms of academic achievement, 208 respondents (19%) possessed nursing certificate, 867 respondents (79.2%) were diploma holders, 18 respondents (1.6%) had bachelor's degree, and only two respondents (0.2%) had master's degree.

Demographic Variables	Frequency	Percentage
		(%)
Gender		
Male	21	1.9
Female	1074	98.1
Age		
21 - 30	470	42.9
31 - 40	358	32.7
41 - 50	120	11.0
51-60	147	13.4
Marital status		
Single	204	18.6
Married	864	78.9
Widowed	20	1.8
Divorced	4	0.4
Others	3	0.3
Ethnicity		
Malay	984	89.9
Chinese	32	2.9
Indian	71	6.5
Others	8	0.7
Academic level		
Certificate	208	19.0
Diploma	867	79.2
Bachelor's degree	18	1.6
Master's	2	0.2

Table 4.7 Respondents' Demographic Characteristics – Personal Detail

More demographic information about respondents' job detail is exhibited in Table 4.8. Majority of respondents, about 18.5% (203) work in Obstetric & Gynaecology (O & G) ward followed by critical, High Dependency Unit (HDU) and Intensive Care Unit (ICU), constituting about 13.9% (152), and the least is 12 respondents (1.1%) working in Otorhinolaryngology (ORL) unit. Of the total six hospitals, HPP had the highest number of respondents (30.4%), while HK had the least with 76 respondents which constituted 6.9% of the total. In terms of job position or grade, 882 respondents (80.5%) are staff nurses, while 116 (10.6%) are CNs, and the remaining 97 respondents (9%) are sisters, matrons, ANs and midwives. With regards to working schedule, 83.4% (913 respondents) were on shift work, while the rest of the 182 respondents (16.6%) were on normal office hours. In terms of length of nursing experiences or seniority, the maximum length of service was 40 years, whilst the most junior respondents had only half a year in service. The average length of service was 11.2 years. With respect to hospital tenure, the maximum tenure was 36 years working in the current hospital, and the minimum was only half year, while the average hospital tenure was 7.5 years. Each participant had an average of 19.75 scheduled work days per month, while the maximum scheduled work days per month was 25.75, and the least work days per month was 8.25. In terms of monthly income, the average monthly income was RM2,413.37, with monthly gross salary ranging from RM1,000.00 to RM5,000.00. Sick leave taken by nurses ranged from 0 to 16 days. Each nurse has taken an average of 2.04 days sick leave throughout the four months study period.

Table 4.8

Demographic Variables	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Discipline/unit of work		
Medical	151	13.8
Surgical	77	7.0
Orthopedic	58	5.3
Pediatric	118	10.8
Obstetric & Gynecology	203	18.5
Emergency	26	2.4
Critical care/ICU	152	13.9
Operation theatre	83	7.6
Specialist clinic	5	4.8
Psychiatric	13	1.2
Ophthalmology	19	1.7
ORL	12	1.1
Others (multidisciplinary unit)	130	11.9
<u>Hospital</u>		
HTF	123	11.2
HSB	257	23.5
HSAH	186	17.0
HK	76	6.9
HPP	333	30.4
HSJ	120	11.0
Position		
Matron	11	1.0
Sister	75	6.8
Staff nurse	882	80.5
Assistant nurse	9	0.8
Community nurse	116	10.6
Midwife	2	0.2
Work schedule		

Office hours	18	16	.6			
Shift hours	91	3	83	83.4		
Length of service in nursing						
0.5 - 5	38	80	34	.7		
6 - 10	26	58	24.5			
11 – 15	17	78	16.3			
16 - 20	7	1	6.5			
21 - 25	6	0	5.5			
26 - 30	8	8	8.	0		
>30	5	0	4.	6		
Tenure in hospital						
0.5 - 5	60	)2	55	.0		
6 - 10	22	23	20	.4		
11 – 15	13	32	12	.1		
16 - 20	5	3	4.8			
21 - 25	4	1	3.7			
26 - 30	3	6	3.3			
>30	8		0.	7		
Monthly income						
RM1,000 – RM2,000	463 42.3					
RM2,001 - RM3,000	471 43.0			.0		
RM3,001 - RM4,000	13	37	12	.5		
RM4,001 - RM5,000	2	4	2.	2		
	Min	Max	Mean	SD		
Length of service in nursing	0.5	40	11.2	9.2		
Tenure in hospital	0.5	36	7.5	7.2		
Scheduled work days per	8.25	27.75	19.75	2.16		
IIIOIIIII Monthly income	DM1 000 00	DM5 000 00	DM2 412 27	DM726.92		
Monuny income	KM1,000.00	KM3,000.00	KM2,413.37	KIVI / 30.83		
Sick leave	0	16	2.04	2.13		

Table 4.8 (Continued)

### 4.9 Descriptive Analysis of Study Variables

To describe the major variables in the research study, descriptive statistics, such as maximum, minimum, mean, and standard deviation were obtained for the independent, mediating and dependent variables. This analysis provided the overall picture about the magnitude or strength of the measures on the study's variables. Table 4.11 shows the mean, standard deviation, maximum and minimum of this study's variables. Responses to this study, except demographic variables and dependent variable, were measured on a 4-point Likert scale (1- strongly disagree to 4- strongly agree) for job demands and job resources variables and 4-point rating

scale (1-never to 4-always) for job stress variable.

In Table 4.11, among the dimensions of independent variables, job scope (mean=3.56, SD=0.48) was highly perceived by the respondents as the most demanding dimension of the nursing job. Since the job scope of respondents was very wide, diversified and challenging, perhaps this contributed to job stress and sickness absence. Role ambiguity was perceived as the least demanding aspect of the job content (mean=1.74, SD=0.39). For job resources, task/time control was perceived as the most resourceful dimension (mean=3.15, SD=0.37), as it provided opportunity for respondents to participate in decision making with regards to the task and respondents had control over the time allocated for the job. All the means of job resources variables scored on the higher side, ranging from 2.68 to 3.15. The lowest mean was job feedback (mean=2.68, SD=0.42). For the mediating variable, i.e., job stress, emotional stress was the most highly perceived component (mean=2.06, SD=0.58) by the respondents in response to job stressors even though the mean was slightly above 2.0, while psychological stress was the least perceived response (mean=1.16, SD=0.34), in reaction to job demands. For sickness absence which served as dependent variable, the average sickness absence for the total four months duration was 2.04 days (as with the usual trend of sickness absence data, the majority of the respondents did not take any sick day, while some respondents had taken sick leave to the maximum of 16 days).

Likewise, for the control variable, the seniority of respondents in this study was highlighted in the section of descriptive statistics of study sample. Seniority is the years of accumulated nursing experience by respondents. In this study, the average length of nursing experience for respondents was 11.2 years with some respondents having served to the maximum of 40 years, since the government recently announced

238

the extension of the retirement age to 60 years.

Mean and Standard Deviation, Minimum and Maximum of Variables					
Variables	Mean	SD	Min	Max	
Control Variable:					
Years of nursing experience (seniority)	11.16	9.18	0.5	40	
Independent Verschle					
Independent variable					
Job demands: Workload	2.24	0.56	1.00	4.00	
Physical demand	2.34	0.50	1.00	4.00	
Emotional demand	2.61	0.50	1.00	4.00	
Lob scope	2.01	0.31	1.00	4.00	
Role conflict	2.50	0.40	1.00	4.00	
Role ambiguity	1 74	0.39	1.00	4.00	
Iob complexity	3.10	0.45	1.00	4.00	
300 complexity	5.10	0.45	1.00	4.00	
Job resources:					
Supervisor support	2.90	0.48	1.00	4.00	
Autonomy	2.73	0.38	1.00	4.00	
Task/Time control	3.15	0.37	1.00	4.00	
Co-worker support	3.03	0.39	1.00	4.00	
Job feedback	2.68	0.42	1.00	4.00	
Self efficacy	3.04	0.33	1.00	4.00	
Mediating Variable					
Job stress					
Physical stress	1.98	0.50	1.00	4.00	
Emotional stress	2.06	0.58	1.00	4.00	
Psychological stress	1.16	0.34	1.00	4.00	
Behavioural stress	1.65	0.52	1.00	4.00	
Dependent Variables					
Scheduled working hours	19.75	2.16	8.25	27.75	
Duration of sickness absence (time lost	2.04	2.13	0	16	
in day)					

Table 4.9

# 4.10 Hypotheses Testing: Test for Relationship

To test for relationship between variables and to examine the hypotheses in this study, hierarchical or sequential multiple regression analysis was employed as a method of choice. This type of analysis is also known as user-determined regression because the order of entry of predictor variables is determined by the data analyst (Warner, 2008), based on theoretical knowledge (Coakes & Ong, 2011). This approach was used to estimate how a set of variables explained the proportion of variance in the dependent

variables, as well as to examine the relative predictive importance of each independent variable (Hair *et al.*, 2006; Polit & Beck, 2005). The results of this analysis were reported through regression statistics, such as  $R^2$ , adjusted  $R^2$ ; regression coefficient (*B*); and standardised beta coefficient ( $\beta$ ).  $R^2$  is used to explain the extent to which independent variables uniquely or jointly explain the variation in a dependent variable. Through assessing the changes of  $R^2$  when adding new independent variables to a regression equation, the  $R^2$  change reflects the extent to which the new independent variables increase the power of prediction. Adjusted  $R^2$  is used to provide a better estimation of overall prediction. The statistical significance of  $R^2$  increment and adjusted  $R^2$  are assessed by the F statistics. The regression coefficient (*B*) indicates the average amount the dependent variable increases by when the independent variable increases by one unit. The standardised beta ( $\beta$ ) coefficient is the B coefficient for standardised data, which helps to assess the relative importance of the independent variables using different measuring units.

Before the use of multiple regression analysis, several assumptions have to be tested to meet its requirement. Pedhazur (1997) emphasised that understanding of these assumptions is important for researchers to avoid estimates bias, and making the statistical results more trustworthy and valid. Osborne and Waters (2002) asserted that checking for assumptions violation helps to avoid committing type 1 and type II errors which can benefit statistical test and estimates.

Several assumptions that underpin the regression analysis as suggested by Coakes and Ong (2011); Tabachnick and Fidell (1997); Berry and Feldman (1985) and Cohen, Cohen, West and Aiken (2003) are normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, independence of residuals and multicollinearity. All these assumptions, except independence of residuals and multicollinearity, are tested by residual scatter plot and the Normal Probability Plot of regression standardised residual (Tabachnik & Fidell, 2007; Cohen *et al.*, 2003). Residual plots are the plots of the standardised residuals as a function of standardised predicted values. It is essential to examine for non-linearity because if the relationship between independent variables and the dependent variable is not linear, the results of the regression analysis will under-estimate the true relationship and increase chances of a Type II error for that independent variable. In the case of multiple regression, the non-linearity increases risk of Type I error for other independent variables that share variance with that independent variable (Osborne & Waters, 2002).

Through the examination of the scatter plots of the standardised residuals against predicted values, it was found that there was no clear relationship between the residuals and the predicted values, as all the plots of residuals did not indicate curvilinearity, and therefore met linearity assumption (Coakes & Ong, 2011; Tabachnik & Fidell, 2007). In addition, the normal plot of regression standardised residuals for the independent variables also showed a relatively normal distribution.

By examining further the plots of standardised residuals against predicted values, the residuals were almost equally scattered for all the predicted dependent variables' scores; in other words, the variance of errors was the same or constant for all levels of the independent variables. Hence, the assumption of homoscedasticity was met (Tabachnick & Fidell, 1997). According to Berry and Feldman (1985); and Tabachnick and Fidell (1997), slight heteroscedasticity has little effect on significance tests; however, if the heteroscedasticity is marked, it can lead to serious distortion of findings and weaken the analysis, thus increasing the possibility of a Type I error.

To examine the independence of residuals or autocorrelation of errors, the Durbin-Watson statistic was used. Durbin-Watson test is used to investigate whether the residuals which from a linear or multiple regression are independent or otherwise (Montgomery, Peck & Vining, 2001). The value is between 0 and 4. Values approaching 0 indicates positive autocorrelation and values toward 4 indicate negative autocorrelation. From the results, all the Durbin-Watson values ranged from 1.5 to 2.0, and thus met the assumption of independence of residuals.

The other assumption that was examined was multicollinearity. It refers to high correlations among independent variables; however, if perfect correlations exist among independent variables, then singularity is said to occur. The problem of multicollinearity is that it could affect the relationship between predictors and dependent variable and influence the significance of regression coefficient (Coake & Ong, 2011; Cohen et al., 2003). To detect multicollinearity, it is essential to check for values of tolerance and variance inflation factor (VIF). The rule of thumb for normal values of tolerance and VIF is tolerance values should be more than 0.10, whereas for VIF, the values should be less than 10 (Hair et al., 2006; Cohen et al., 2003). Hence, tolerance of less than 0.10 and VIP of more than than 10 indicate violation of assumption of multicollinearity. Allison (1999) suggested few strategies to solve the problems of multocollienarity, mostly when dealing with research design; researchers should use individual-level data and not aggregate data; obtain a good sample size and cross-sectional data instead of time-series data; and lastly, use stratified sampling on the independent variables, as was utilised in this study, to reduce the multicollinearity problem. From the results of regression analyses showed all the values of tolerance and VIF were greater than 0.10 and less than 10 respectively, thus meeting the assumption of multicollinearity. As all the assumptions for multiple regression were met, thus the process of testing hypotheses were carried out subsequently.

Several past studies (Shapira-Lishchinsky & Even-Zohar, 2011; Schreuder, Roelen, Koopmans, Moen & Groothoff, 2010; Liu & Meyer, 2005; Ingersoll, 2004; Siu, 2002; Peiro, Gonzalez-Roma, Lloret, Bravo & Zurriaga, 1999; Clegg, 1983; Garrison & Muchinsky, 1977; Nicholson, Brown & Chadwick-Jones, 1977; Taylor & Weiss, 1972) had either used or supported the use of some of the pertinent demographic variables, such as age, gender, marital status, tenure, occupational type and years of service (seniority), as control variables. Clegg (1983) argued that the majority of previous empirical studies showed not much effect; however, controlling of variables is important to exclude any possible factors that may exert some relationship to the variables under study. Control may still be necessary because there are some evidences that true effects can be suppressed or augmented by the presence of third variables (Nicholson et al., 1977). Controls are commonly included when partial correlation and multiple regression techniques are employed (Garrison & Muchinsky, 1977; Taylor & Weiss, 1972). Hence, for the purpose of this study, two pertinent demographic variables (years of service and work schedule) were identified and incorporated in the multiple regression analysis. The rationale of selecting the years of service as control was that several previous studies (particularly Shapira-Lishchinsky & Even-Zohar, 2011; Liu & Meyer, 2005; Ingersoll, 2004) supported the link between this variable and voluntary absence. For work schedule, the shift work was assumed to be linked with sickness absence even though the findings from recent empirical studies (Tuchsen et al., 2008; Admi, Tzischinsky, Epstein, Herer & Lavie, 2008) were inconclusive. The very recent systematic review on nine quality empirical studies by Merkus et al. (2012) found the evidence was inconclusive for rotating shifts, but there was a strong evidence for a positive association between fixed evening work and sickness absence among female healthcare workers. A recent longitudinal study (De Bacquer *et al.*, 2009; Pietroiusti *et al.*, 2010) found significantly increased risks for metabolic syndrome among shift and night duty healthcare workers; this risk would definitely give rise to more sickness absence.

#### 4.10.1 Normality Issues with Sickness Absence Data

Absence data can be measured by frequency and time-lost methods. Both frequency and time-lost absence data are generally truncated on the low end and positively skewed (Blau, 1985b; Hammer & Landau, 1981). Previous researchers (e.g., Adler & Golan, 1981; Hackett & Guion, 1985; Martocchio, 1989) highlighted the importance of separating absence into voluntary and involuntary indices, and further asserted that frequency measures are typically utilised to measure voluntary absence; time-lost measures seem to be a better indicator of involuntary absence (Blau, 1985a). In this study, sickness absence was operationalised with time-lost measures, which assessed the duration of absence due to sickness (Chadwick-Jones *et al.*, 1982; Hackett & Guion, 1985).

Many studies suggested that the non-normality distribution of absence data can be tackled with transformation (Conte & Jacobs, 2003), or using different methods of analysis, for instance, survival analysis (O'Reilly, 1991), and Tobit analysis (Baba, 1990). Hammer and Landau (1981) emphasised that in normality testing, it is the magnitude of the deviation, rather than indication of significant differences, that is of concern. Kendau and Stuart (1958) suggested that only values of skewness above 2 and kurtosis above 5 should be of concern. Conte and Jacobs (2003) used several transformations, such as logarithmics and square root transformations, to assess the normality of the absence data, but they did not reduce the skewness or kurtosis much. Further, there were no differences in the results from the analysis of absence data between the transformed and untransformed absence data. Thus, the researcher decided to use the raw untransformed data in this study. From the results, the normality test for sickness absence data showed the distribution was positively skewed with skewness value of 2.5 and kurtosis of 10.8. This was in concurrence with Blau (1985a) and Hammer and Landau's (1981) findings that time-lost data is generally skewed. The researcher attempted log and square root transformation but the output of the normality tests after transformation showed not much improvement. Hence, the raw time-lost absence data was maintained as the results showed similar findings (Conte & Jacobs, 2003).

#### 4.10.2 Job Demands and Sickness Absence

To test the relationship between job demands and sickness absence as postulated in hypothesis 1, a set of two-step hierarchical multiple regression analysis was conducted. Demographic variables, i.e., length of nursing experience (seniority) and work schedule (shift duty) were statistically controlled (Shapira-Lishchinsky & Even-Zohar, 2011; Liu & Meyer, 2005; Ingersoll, 2004; Tuchsen *et al.*, 2008; Admi *et al.*, 2008), to avoid confounding the results. In the first step, the control variables were entered into prediction equation, followed by the second step, whereby seven dimensions of job demands were entered into the multiple regression analysis. The results of the hierarchical multiple regression analysis are summarised below in Table 4.10.

From the results in Table 4.10, the control variables accounted for 1% ( $R^2$  change=0.009, F-change=4.722, p<0.01) of the observed variation in sickness

absence. Of the two demographic variables, only length of nursing experience (seniority) was related to sickness absence ( $\beta$ =-0.099, p<0.01). By adding seven dimensions of job demands, the  $R^2$  value increased to 0.018. This indicated that job demands dimensions were able to explain an additional 1% (R<sup>2</sup> change=0.010, F=2.227, p<0.05) of the variance in sickness absence.

Table 4.10

Results of Hierarchical Multiple Regressions of Job Demands and Sickness Absence				
Predictors	Criterion Variables			
	Model 1	Model 2		
	Std. β	Std. β		
Step 1: Control Variables				
Length of nursing experience (seniority)	099**	094**		
Work schedule (shift duty)	052	054		
Step 2: Job Demands				
Step 2. 500 Demands				
Physical demand		.075*		
Role ambiguity		028		
Role conflict		.032		
Job scope		.016		
Emotional demand		040		
Job complexity		084*		
Workload		031		
$\mathbb{R}^2$	.009	.018		
Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>	.007	.010		
R <sup>2</sup> change	.009	.010		
F	4.722**	2.227*		
F-change	4.722**	1.509*		

Results of Hierarchical Multiple Regressions of Job Demands and Sickness Absence

Note: \*p<.05, \*\*p<.01; Dependent variable = Sickness absence.

The results also indicated that job complexity ( $\beta$ =-0.084, p<0.05) was the most influential dimension in explaining sickness absence, followed by physical demand  $(\beta=0.075, p<0.05)$ . The remaining job demands dimensions were not significantly related to sickness absence. Since only two dimensions; physical demand and job complexity out of seven dimensions of job demands were related to sickness absence, hence, hypothesis 1 was partially supported.

#### 4.10.3 Job Resources and Sickness Absence

To test for hypothesis 2, a two-step hierarchical multiple regression analysis was conducted to examine the relationship between job resources and sickness absence. To prevent the confounding effect of demographic variables, length of nursing experience (seniority) and work schedule (shift duty) were statistically controlled as discussed in previous section. Thus, in the first step, the controlled variables were entered in the prediction equation, while the six dimensions of job resources were entered in the second step of multiple regression model. The results of the hierarchical multiple regression analysis are summarised in Table 4.11.

As shown in Table 4.11, the control variables collectively explained 1% ( $\mathbb{R}^2$  change=0.009, F-change=4.772, p<0.01) of the variance in sickness absence. Of the two demographic variables, length of nursing experience (seniority) was significantly correlated with sickness absence ( $\beta$ =-0.099, p<0.01), while working schedule (shift duty) was not significantly related to sickness absence. On adding six dimensions of job resources to the regression model, the  $\mathbb{R}^2$  value increased to 0.015. This indicated that the six dimensions of job resources were able to explain an additional 1% ( $\mathbb{R}^2$  change=0.007, F=2.114, p<0.05) towards the observed variations in sickness absence. Of the six dimensions of job resources, only job feedback was significantly and positively related to sickness absence. The remaining job resources dimensions were not related to sickness absence. Since only one dimension of job resources was related to sickness absence, it can be said that hypothesis 2 was partially supported.

Dradiatara	Critarian Variables			
Freuiciors	Criterion variables			
	Model 1	Model 2		
	Std. β	Std. β		
Step 1: Control Variables				
Length of nursing experience (seniority)	- 099**	- 105**		
Work schedule (shift duty)	052	105		
work schedule (shift duty)	032	048		
Step 2: Job Resources				
Self efficacy		.048		
Supervisor support		028		
Task/Time control		.005		
Co-worker support		048		
Autonomy		017		
Job feedback		.052*		
<b>B</b> <sup>2</sup>	009	015		
Adjusted $R^2$	007	008		
$R^2$ change	.009	.007		
F	4.722**	2.114*		
F-change	4.722**	1.243*		

#### Table 4.11

Results of Hierarchical Multiple Regressions of Job Resources and Sickness Absence

Note: \*p<.05, \*\*p<.01; Dependent variable = Sickness absence.

# 4.10.4 Job Demands and Job Stress

To examine the relationship between job demands and job stress, two-steps hierarchical multiple regression analysis was performed to examine the relationship between job demands and job stress. For the analysis, this study specifically looked into which dimension of job demands had the stronger relationship with job stress dimensions. The predictors consisted of seven dimensions of job demands, i.e., physical demand, role ambiguity, role conflict, job scope, emotional demand, job complexity and workload, while the criterion variable was job stress, which comprised four dimensions of job stress, namely physical stress, emotional stress, psychological stress and behavioural stress. In addition, two demographic variables, length of nursing experience (seniority) and work schedule (shift duty) were taken as control variables based on suggestions by several researchers as mentioned in previous section. These two demographic variables were entered into the prediction equation in the first step, followed by seven dimensions of job demands which acted as independent variables, with each dimension of job stress acting as dependent variable. A total of four sets of hierarchical regression analyses were performed with each dimension of job stress acting as dependent variable. The summary results of hierarchical multiple regression analysis are showed in Table 4.12.

The results of hierarchical multiple regressions is shown (Table 4.12) after taking into account the entry of control variables. All seven dimensions of job demands were able to explain an additional 11% of the observed variations on emotional stress ( $R^2$  change=0.109, F-change=20.184, p<0.01), followed by 9% on behavioural stress ( $R^2$  change=0.088, F-change=15.083, p<0.01), 8% on physical stress ( $R^2$  change=0.077, F-change=13.087, p<0.01), and 6% on psychological stress ( $R^2$  change=0.055, F-change=9.077, p<0.01).

The hierarchical regression analyses results also found that workload was correlated to all the dimensions of job stress, namely with psychological stress ( $\beta$ =0.197, p<0.01), with behavioural stress ( $\beta$ =0.119, p<0.01), with physical stress ( $\beta$ =-0.094, p<0.01) and with emotional stress ( $\beta$ =0.066, p<0.01). However, role ambiguity was only correlated with three dimensions of job stress, specifically with emotional stress ( $\beta$ =0.294, p<0.01), with behavioural stress ( $\beta$ =0.137, p<0.01), and with physical stress ( $\beta$ =0.084, p<0.01). Physical demand was correlated with only two dimensions of job stress, specifically with behavioural stress ( $\beta$ =0.111, p<0.01), and physical stress ( $\beta$ =0.096, p<0.01). Emotional demand was only correlated to one dimension of job stress, i.e., physical stress ( $\beta$ =0.097, p<0.01). Similarly, job scope was also correlated to only one dimension of job stress, namely, physical stress

( $\beta$ =0.096, p<0.01). Job complexity was correlated with only one dimension of job stress, specifically behavioural stress ( $\beta$ =0.085, p<0.05). Lastly, role conflict was the only job demand dimension that did not correlate to any dimension of job stress. Since some of the job demands dimensions were not associated with all job stress dimensions, hence hypothesis 3 was partially supported.

Results of Hierarchical Multiple Regressions of Job Demands and Job Stress					
Predictors	Criterion Variables				
	Phy Str	Emot Str	Psych Str	Behav Str	
	Std. β	Std. β	Std. β	Std. β	
Step 1: Control Variables					
Length of nursing experience (seniority)	087**	233**	048	052	
Work schedule (shift duty)	.038	024	.014	.050	
Step 2: Job Demands					
Physical demand	.096**	.040	.002	.111**	
Role ambiguity	.084*	.294**	.000	.137**	
Role conflict	.013	003	.037	.051	
Job scope	.096**	046	024	.059	
Emotional demand	.097**	.024	.038	.030	
Job complexity	.056	026	.038	.085*	
Workload	.094**	.066*	.197**	.119**	
$\mathbb{R}^2$	.088	.160	.058	.095	
Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>	.081	.153	.050	.088	
R <sup>2</sup> change	.077	.109	.055	.088	
F	11.704**	22.981**	7.444**	12.680**	
F-change	13.087**	20.184**	9.077**	15.083**	

Table 4.12Results of Hierarchical Multiple Regressions of Job Demands and Job Stress

Note: p<.05, p<.01; Dependent variable = Job Stress. Phy Str = physical stress; Emot str = emotional stress; Psych str = psychological stress; Behav str = behavioural stress.

# 4.10.5 Job Resources and Job Stress

To examine the relationship between job resources and job stress dimensions, another set of hierarchical multiple regression analysis was performed specifically to test for hypothesis 4. Similar to previous test for hypothesis 3, two demographic variables, i.e., length of nursing experience (seniority) and work schedule (shift duty) were statistically controlled as suggested by previous researchers as mentioned in previous section.

The results in Table 4.13 were derived from four sets of hierarchical multiple regression analyses that were performed separately with each dimension of job stress acting as the dependent variable. The results clearly showed that the six dimensions of job resources were able to explain an additional 15% ( $R^2$  change=0.150, F-change=33.867, p<0.01), 8% ( $R^2$  change=0.079, F-change=15.596, p<0.01), 6% ( $R^2$  change=0.060, F-change=11.540, p<0.01), and 5% ( $R^2$  change=0.045, F-change=8.710, p<0.01) of the observed variations in emotional stress, behavioural stress, psychological stress and physical stress respectively, after taking into consideration the control demographic variables.

The summarised hierarchical multiple regression analysis results also revealed that job feedback and co-worker support were the two dimensions of job resources that correlated to all dimensions of job stress. Job feedback was found to be correlated to all dimensions of job stress, specifically with behavioural stress ( $\beta$ =-0.188, p<0.01), psychological stress ( $\beta$ =-0.169, p<0.01), physical stress ( $\beta$ =-0.121, p<0.01) and emotional stress ( $\beta$ =-0.110, p<0.01). For co-worker support, it was found to be related specifically to behavioural stress ( $\beta$ =-0.157, p<0.01), physical stress ( $\beta$ =-0.128, p<0.01), psychological stress ( $\beta$ =-0.071, p<0.05) and emotional stress ( $\beta$ =-0.062, p<0.05). Autonomy was related to only two dimensions of job stress, namely, psychological stress ( $\beta$ =0.163, p<0.01) and behavioural stress ( $\beta$ =0.086, p<0.05). Self-efficacy was related to only one dimension of job stress, i.e., emotional stress ( $\beta$ =-0.310, p<0.01). Supervisor support and task/time control were not related to any dimensions of job stress. Since some of the dimensions of job resources were not associated with dimensions of job stress, thus, hypothesis 4 was partially supported.

Table 4.13					
Results of Hierarchical Multiple Regressions of Job Resources and Job Stress					
Predictors	Criterion Variables				
	Phy Str	Emot Str	Psych Str	Behav Str	
	Std. β	Std. β	Std. β	Std. β	
Step 1: Control Variables					
Length of nursing experience (seniority)	087**	215**	048	052	
Work schedule (shift duty)	.038	046	.014	.050	
Step 2: Job Resources					
Self efficacy	008	310**	017	069	
Supervisor support	056	.016	057	048	
Task/Time control	.037	055	068	.026	
Co-worker support	128**	062*	071*	157**	
Autonomy	.010	028	.163**	.086*	
Job feedback	121**	110**	169**	188**	
2					
$\mathbf{R}^2$	.057	.200	.063	.086	
Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>	.050	.194	.056	.079	
R <sup>2</sup> change	.045	.150	.060	.079	
F	8.192**	34.014**	9.090**	12.754**	
F-change	8.710**	33.867**	11.540**	15.596**	

Note: p<.05, p<.01; Dependent variable = Job Stress. Phy Str = physical stress; Emot str = emotional stress; Psych str = psychological stress; Behav str = behavioural stress.

## 4.10.6 Job Stress and Sickness Absence

To test for hypothesis 5, the relationship between job stress and sickness absence was examined by performing hierarchical multiple regression analysis. The predictor variables were job stress dimensions and the criterion variable was sickness absence. Respondents' demographic variables of length of nursing experience (seniority) and working schedule (shift duty) were statistically controlled as suggested by several researchers as mentioned previously. The summary of the hierarchical multiple regression analysis results are displayed in Table 4.14.

From the results in Table 4.14, control variables accounted for only 1% ( $R^2$ =0.09, F-change=4.722, p<0.01) of the variance in sickness absence. Of the two demographic variables, only length of nursing experience (seniority) was significantly related to sickness absence ( $\beta$ =-0.099, p<0.01), while work schedule (shift duty) was not related to sickness absence. After adding job stress dimensions, the  $R^2$  value increased to 0.024. This indicated that the four dimensions of job stress were able to explain an additional 2% ( $R^2$  change=0.015, F-change=4.273, p<0.01) of the observed variations in sickness absence. Behavioural stress exerted the most influence on the prediction of sickness absence ( $\beta$ =-0.163, p<0.01), followed by physical stress ( $\beta$ =0.102, p<0.01). The other job stress dimensions, emotional stress and psychological stress, did not significantly predict sickness absence. Since not all job stress dimensions were associated with sickness absence, hence hypothesis 7 was partially supported.

Predictors	Criterion Variables		
	Model 1 Std. β	Model 2 Std. β	
Step 1: Control Variables			
Length of nursing experience (seniority) Work schedule (shift duty)	099** 052	096** 048	
Step 2: Job Stress			
Physical stress Emotional stress Psychological stress Behavioural stress		.102** .003 .035 163**	
$R^2$	.009	.024	
R <sup>2</sup> change	.009	.019	
F	4.722**	4.442**	
F-change	4.722**	4.273**	

10.1 11

Table 4.14

Note: \*p<.05, \*\*p<.01; Dependent variable = Sickness Absence.

#### 4.11 Hypotheses Testing: Test for Mediation Effects

There are three major statistical approaches to mediation analysis: (i) causal steps; (ii) difference in coefficients; and (iii) product of coefficients (MacKinnon 2000). However, this study used the causal steps approach suggested by Baron and Kenny (1986), and Judd and Kenny (1981); the concept and notion from other authors like MacKinnon (2008); MacKinnon, Fairchild and Fritz (2007) and Holmbeck (1997) were also taken into consideration to determine feasibility of conducting mediating analyses and the significance of mediation model. According to Baron and Kenny (1986), the causal-step approach requires some criteria to be fulfilled before mediation analysis can be conducted. In fact, there are four conditions that must be met for a variable to be considered as a mediator: (i) the independent variable (X)must be significantly associated with the hypothesised mediator (M); (ii) the independent variable (X) must be significantly associated with dependent variable (Y); (iii) the mediator (M) must be significantly associated with dependent variable (Y); and (iv) the impact of independent variable (X) on dependent variable (Y) must become less significant or insignificant when the mediator intervenes. This suggests either full mediation or partial mediation will occur. Conversely, if the impact of independent variable (X) on dependent variable (Y) becomes larger after the mediator sets in, the mediation will not happen.

Figure 4.1 shows the mediation model, whereby A is the significant effect of X on M; and there is also significant effect (B) of M on Y. C is the significant effect of X on Y (Figure 4.1.b). The mediation will happen, once the M intervenes, the effect C will shrink or become insignificant (C') (Figure 4.1.a).





b)





Source: Baron and Kenny (1986); MacKinnon (2008); MacKinnon et al. (2007)

MacKinnon (2000) claimed that whichever statistical approach is used, all the information has to be derived from the following three regression equations:

$M = i_1 + aX + e_1$	Equation 1
$Y_{=}i_2 + cX + e_2$	Equation 2
$Y = i_3 + c'X + bM + e_3$	Equation 3

The first equation is obtained by regressing the mediator on the independent

variable. The second equation is formed by regressing the dependent variable on the independent variable; and the third equation is derived by regressing the dependent variable on both the independent variable and the mediator (Baron & Kenny, 1986; McKinnon & Fairchild, 2009).

From the equations as shown above, Y is the dependent variable, X is the independent variable and M is the mediating variable. The intercepts in each equation representing the average score of each variable are i<sub>1</sub>, i<sub>2</sub> and i<sub>3</sub>, respectively, and e<sub>1</sub>, e<sub>2</sub> and  $e_3$  represent the model fit errors or residuals or part of the relation that cannot be predicted by the model. The a, b, c and c' terms are the regression coefficients capturing the relationships between the three focal variables. The term a is the coefficient representing the strength of the relationship between X and M. The b is the coefficient for the strength of relationship between M and Y, with the strength of the X-Y relation removed. The coefficient c represents how strongly X predicts Y; and c' represents the strength of prediction of Y from X, with the strength of M-to-Y relation removed (MacKinnon & Fairchild, 2009). Evidence for mediation is said to be likely if: (i) the term a in equation 1 is significant; there is evidence of a linear relationship between the independent variable (X) and the mediator (M); (ii) the regression coefficient c in equation 2 is significant; there is a linear relationship between the independent variable and dependent variable (Y). The term b in equation 3 is significant, indicating that the mediator (M) helps predict the dependent variable (Y); and (iii) for c' - the effect of the independent variable (X) on the dependent variable (Y) becomes significantly smaller in size relative to equation 2 or becomes insignificant.

In this study, regression coefficients for each equation were estimated by multiple regression analyses performed according to criteria suggested by Baron and

256

Kenny (1986). To reiterate whether mediation effects occurred in this study, four conditions must be met as discussed in the earlier section: (i) the independent variable (job demands and job resources) must predict the dependent variable (sickness absence); (ii) the independent variable (job demands and job resources) must predict the mediator variable (job stress); (iii) the mediator (job stress) must predict dependent variable (sickness absence); and (iv) the predictive utility of the independent variable (job demands and job resources) must be reduced, in comparison to condition 1, when the independent variable (job demands and job resources) and the mediator (job stress) are used simultaneously to predict the dependent variable (sickness absence).

# 4.11.1 The Mediation Effects of Job Stress on the Relationship between Job Demands and Sickness Absence

The mediating effects of job stress on the relationship between job demands and sickness absence as postulated in hypothesis 6 were examined by hierarchical multiple regression analyses. From the previous regression analysis carried out as discussed in the previous section (refer Table 4.10 to Table 4.14), the results showed that only physical stress and behavioural stress (job stress's dimensions) were correlated significantly with sickness absence, job demands and job resources, and thus met the conditions to be mediators as suggested by Baron and Kenny (1986) for mediation analysis. Since these two dimensions of job stress acted as mediators, further examination was necessary to see which dimensions of job demands and job resources would be the key variables in the mediation analysis. From the Table 4.15 showing the tabulated results of checking for eligibility of job stress dimensions for mediation analysis between job demands dimensions and sickness absence, physical

demand was found to be the key dimension in the job demands that not only related significantly to physical stress, but also related significantly to sickness absence. On the other hand, the results in Table 4.15 also showed that when behavioural stress was a mediator, two dimensions of job demands (physical demand and job complexity) had fulfilled the criteria to be the independent variables in the mediation analysis, because both dimensions related significantly to behavioral stress and sickness absence. The following table (Table 4.15) summarises the checking for eligibility of job stress dimensions for mediation test between the job demands and sickness absence.

1 abie 4.1	5
------------	---

Checking for Eligibility of Job Stress Dimensions for Mediation Test between Job Demands Dimensions and Sickness Absence

IV-	M-	DV-	IV→M	M→DV	IV→DV	IV→M→DV	Remarks
Job	Job	Sickness	Beta	Beta	Beta	Beta	
Demands	Stress	Absence					
pd	Phy str	SA	.096**	.102**	.075*	pd→phystr	Qualify for
ra			.084*	•	028	→SA	mediation
rc			.013		.032		test
js			.096**		.016	Test for	
ed			.097**		040	mediation	
jc			.056		084*	mediation	
wl			.094**		031		
pd	Emot str	SA	.040	.003	.075*	Did not	M-DV=ns
ra			.294**		028	qualify for	
rc			003		.032	mediation	
js			046		.016	test	
ed			.024		040	test	
jc			026		084*		
wl			.066*		031		
pd	Psych str	SA	.002	.035	.075*	Did not	M-DV=ns
ra			.000		028	qualify for	
rc			.037		.032	mediation	
js			024		.016	test	
ed			.038		040	test	
jc			.038		084*		
wl			.197**		031		
pd	Behav str	SA	.111**	163**	.075*	pd→behavst	Qualify for
ra			.137**		028	→SA	mediation
rc			.051		.032	ic→behavstr	test
js			.059		.016	→SA	

Table 4.15 (Continued)

ed	.030	040	Test for
jc	.085*	084*	mediation
wl	.119**	031	

<sup>\*</sup>p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, IV=independent variable; M=mediator; DV=dependent variable; pd = physical demands; ra=role ambiguity; rc=role conflict; js=job scope; ed=emotional demand; jc=job complexity; wl=workload; phy str=physical stress; emot str=emotional stress; psych str=psychological stress; behav str=behavioural stress; SA=Sickness Absence; ns=no significant.

The results in Table 4.16 indicate that physical demand was significantly related to physical stress ( $\beta$ =0.096, p<0.01) and sickness absence ( $\beta$ =0.075, p<0.05); and physical stress was also significantly related to sickness absence ( $\beta$ =0.102, p<0.01). However, when the physical stress intervened, the relationship between physical demand and sickness absence became insignificant. This showed that physical stress fully mediated the relationship between physical demand and sickness absence. In addition, Figure 4.2 demonstrates that the beta coefficient (0.073) between physical demand and sickness absence reduced in absolute size in the presence of physical stress. This beta coefficient was not only smaller than the total effect between physical demand and sickness absence, but also became insignificant; this suggested full mediation of physical stress on the relationship between job demands and sickness absence.

One important point to note is about the opposing mediated effects and more complicated models of mediation. In the mediation analysis results as shown in Table 4.16, for the overall model observed from F, F-change for physical demand to physical stress (X-M), and physical stress to sickness absence (M-Y) were significant. For direct effect of physical demand to sickness absence, the overall model observed from F was significant but the F-change was not significant. MacKinnon *et al.* (2007) argued that overall relations may not be statistically significant, yet mediation may still exist in a research study because the opposing mediated effects could counteract each other resulting in a non-significant X to Y relation in mediation analysis.

Predictor	Std. β	Std. β	Std. β	Std. β
	X 7 M	M→Y	X 7 Y	ϪʹϠϺʹ϶Ϋ
X = Job demands				
Physical demand	.096**	.102**	.075*	.073
Role ambiguity	.084*		028	030
Role conflict	.013		.032	.032
Job scope	.096**		.016	.013
Emotional demand	.097**		040	042
Job complexity	.056		084*	085*
Workload	.094**		031	034
M = Physical stress				.024
R <sup>2</sup>	.088	.024	.018	.019
Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>	.081	.019	.010	.010
R <sup>2</sup> change	.077	.015	.010	.010
F	11.704**	4.442**	2.227*	2.062*
F-change	13.087**	4.273**	1.509*	1.393

Table 4.16 Multiple Regression Results Using Physical Stress as Mediator on the Relationship between Job Demands and Sickness Absence

Note: \*p<.05, \*\*p<.01; X = Job demands; M = Physical stress; Y= Sickness absence



Note: \*\*p<0.01; →direct effect; → mediating effect

#### Figure 4.2

Mediating Effect of Physical Stress on the Relationship between Physical Demand and Sickness Absence

To further confirm the mediation effect of the research model, MacKinnon, Lockwood, Hoffman, West & Sheets (2002) suggested the use of Sobel test. This test was first proposed by Sobel (1982), which uses standard errors and unstandardised regression coefficients of path A and path B as input parameter estimates. MacKinnon, Warsi and Dwyer (1995) claimed that Sobel test is a conservative method and it works well for large sample (Preacher & Hayes, 2004). The use of the Sobel test in this study was adopted from interaction calculation tool taken from Preacher and Leonardelli's (2003) online website for mediation test. In Table 4.17, the calculation results showed three versions of Sobel test as suggested by Baron and Kenny (1986); MacKinnon *et al.* (1995); Sobel (1982) and Goodman (1960). The test statistics for mediating effect of physical stress on the relationship between physical demand and sickness absence reported from Sobel test (2.02973673, p<0.05), Aroian test (1.9719393, p<0.05) and Goodman test (2.09293362, p<0.05) (Table 4.17), were all found to be significant, thus providing evidence for mediaton.

Ta	ble	4.	1	7
_ I U	$\mathbf{v}$		1	

The Sobel, Aroian and Goodman Test of Physical Stress as a Mediator on the Relationship between Physical Demand and Sickness Absence

Parameter	Input	Tests	Test Statistics	p-value
А	0.096	Sobel Test	2.02973673	0.042
В	0.430	Aroian Test	1.9719393	0.049
SA	0.031	Goodman Test	2.09293362	0.036
$S_B$	0.160			

Note: A=unstandardized regression coefficient (IV- M); B= unstandardized regression coefficient (M-DV)

 $S_A$ = standard error of A;  $S_B$ = standard error of B

From the regression results as shown in Table 4.18, there was a significant relationship between physical demand and behavioural stress ( $\beta$ =0.111, p<0.01) and sickness absence ( $\beta$ =0.075, p<0.05); there was also a significant relationship between behavioural stress and sickness absence ( $\beta$ =-.163, p<0.01). However, in the presence of behavioural stress, the relationship between physical demand and sickness absence became significant ( $\beta$ =0.071, p<0.05); thus implying partial mediation. Besides the

beta coefficient value (as showed in Figure 4.3) between physical demand and sickness absence in the presence of behavioural stress was significant and, became smaller in comparison with the beta coefficient between physical demand and sickness absence. This suggests behavioural stress partially mediated the relationship between physical demand and sickness absence.

Multiple Regression Results Using Behavioural Stress as Mediator on the Relationship between Job Demands and Sickness Absence Predictor Std. **B** Std. **B** Std. **B** Std. **B** х→м M→Y  $X \rightarrow Y$  $X \rightarrow M \rightarrow Y$ X = Job demands .071\* Physical demand .111\*\* -.163\*\* .075\* Role ambiguity .137\*\* -.028 -.016 Role conflict .051 .032 .036 .059 .016 .021 Job scope Emotional demand .030 -.040 -.038 .085\* -.084\* -.076\* Job complexity Workload .119\*\* -.031 -.021 -.086\*\* M = Behavioural stress  $\mathbb{R}^2$ .095 .024 .018 .025 Adjusted R<sup>2</sup> .088 .019 .010 .016 R<sup>2</sup> change .015 .088 .010 .016 F 12.680\*\* 4.442\*\* 2.227\* 2.757\*\* F-change 15.083\*\* 4.273\*\* 1.509\* 2.254\*

Table 4.18

Note: \*p<.05, \*\*p<.01; X = Physical demand; M = Behavioural stress; Y= Sickness absence



Note: \*\*p<0.01; → direct effect; …… → mediating effect

Figure 4.3

Mediating Effect of Behavioural Stress on the Relationship between Physical Demand and Sickness Absence

To further support the mediation results from multiple regression analysis, three types of Sobel test were carried out; the results of the tests as shown in Table 4.19 reported that the test statistics for Sobel test (-2.43267485, p<0.05); Aroain test (-2.38595328, p<0.05) and Goodman test (-2.38595328, p<0.05), were all significant and hence provided evidence for mediation effect of behavioural stress on the relationship between physical demand and sickness absence.

Table 4.19

The Sobel, Aroian and Goodman Test of Behavioural Stress as a Mediator on the Relationship between Physical Demand and Sickness Absence

Parameter	Input	Tests	Test Statistics	p-value
А	0.115	Sobel Test	-2.43167485	0.015
В	-0.674	Aroian Test	-2.38595328	0.017
S <sub>A</sub>	0.038	Goodman Test	-2.38595328	0.013
$S_{B}$	0.165			

Note: A=unstandardized regression coefficient (IV- M); B= unstandardized regression coefficient (M-DV) S\_i= standard arror of A: S\_n= standard arror of B

 $S_{A} \!\!= \text{standard error of } A; \, S_{B} \!\!= \text{standard error of } B$ 

The results of hierarchical regression analysis as shown in Table 4.18 also demonstrated mediating effect of behavioural stress on the relationship between job complexity and sickness absence. The results depicted that job complexity was significantly related to behavioural stress ( $\beta$ =.085, p<0.01) and sickness absence ( $\beta$ =.084, p<0.05). Behavioural stress was also significantly related to sickness absence ( $\beta$ =-.163, p<0.01). However, in the presence of behavioural stress as mediator, the relationship between job complexity and sickness absence became significant ( $\beta$ =.076, p<0.05); thus implying partial mediation. In addition, Figure 4.4 shows the negative significant relationship between job complexity and sickness absence, with beta coefficient of -.084. However, the beta coefficient value became smaller and

significant with beta coefficient value of -0.076, once behavioural stress intervened. Therefore, this denotes that behavioural stress partially mediated the relationship between job complexity and sickness absence.



#### Figure 4.4



To further reinforce the presence of mediation from multiple regression analysis results, three types of Sobel test were conducted. From the results as in Table 4.20 below, the test statistics reported for Sobel test (-1.99025381, p<0.05); Aroian test (-1.94627487, p<0.05) and Goodman test (-2.03735545, p<0.05) were all significant and hence supported the evidence of mediation of behavioural stress on the relationship between job complexity and sickness absence.
Table 4.20

The Sobel,	Aroian	and	Goodman	Test	of	Behavioural	Stress	as	a	Mediator	on	the
Relationshi	b betwee	en Jo	b Complex	itv ar	nd S	Sickness Abs	ence					

Parameter	Input	Tests	Test Statistics	p-value
А	0.098	Sobel Test	-1.99025381	0.046
В	-0.674	Aroian Test	-1.94627487	0.042
S <sub>A</sub>	0.043	Goodman Test	-2.03735545	0.042
$S_B$	0.165			

Note: A=unstandardized regression coefficient (IV- M); B= unstandardized regression coefficient (M- DV)  $S_A$ = standard error of A;  $S_B$ = standard error of B

# 4.11.2 The Mediation Effects of Job Stress on the Relationship between Job Resources and Sickness Absence

The mediating effect of job stress on the relationship between job resources and sickness absence as postulated in hypothesis 7 was examined using criteria and steps as suggested by Baron and Kenny (1986). From the previous section, whereby the hierarchical regression analysis was performed, the results (Table 4.11, Table 4.13 and Table 4.14) found that only physical stress and behavioural stress emerged from job stress as the key dimensions to be considered as mediator, thus fulfilling the criteria of the causal step approach by Baron and Kenny (2006). Since these two dimensions of job stress acted as mediators, further examination was necessary to see which dimensions of job resources would be the key independent variables in the mediation analysis. Table 4.21 showed the tabulated results of checking for eligibility of job stress dimensions for mediation analysis between job resources dimensions and sickness absence, and the results revealed that job feedback was the only dimension of job resources that related significantly to physical stress ( $\beta$ =-.121, p<0.01) and

sickness absence ( $\beta$ =.052, p<0.05). Therefore, job feedback was included as key dimension of job resources in the mediation analysis, in which physical stress acted as mediator. Co-worker support was excluded from mediation analysis because, even though it was related significantly with physical stress ( $\beta$ =-.128, p<0.01), however its relationship with sickness absence was not significant. Further examination of the results (Table 4.21) also revealed that when behavioural stress was a mediator, job feedback was the only job resources dimension that met the criteria to be the independent variable in the mediation analysis, because job feedback related significantly to behavioural stress ( $\beta$ =-.188, p<0.01) and sickness absence ( $\beta$ =.052, p<0.05). Hence, job feedback was included again in the mediation analysis, which allowed behavioural stress to act as mediator on the relationship between job feedback and sickness absence. The mediation analysis results are further discussed in the subsequent section.

Table 4	1.21
---------	------

Checking for Eligibility of Job Stress Dimensions for Mediation Test between Job Resources Dimensions and Sickness Absence

IV-	Mediator-	DV-	IV→M	M→DV	IV→DV	IV→M→DV	Remarks
Job	Job	Sickness	Beta	Beta	Beta	Beta	
Resources	Stress	Absence					
se	Phy str	SA	008	.102**	.048	jf→phystr→	Qualify for
SS			056		028	SA	mediation
tc			.037		.005		test
cws			128**		048	Test for	
aut			.010		017	mediation	
jf			121**		.052*	mediation	
se	Emot str	SA	310**	.003	.048	Did not	M-DV-ns
SS			.016		028	qualify for	
tc			055		.005	mediation	
cws			062*		048	test	
aut			028		017		
jf			110**		.052*		
se	Psych str	SA	017	.035	.048	Did not	M-DV-ns
SS			057		028	qualify for	
tc			068		.005	mediation	
cws			071*		048	test	
aut			.163**		017	2002	

Table 4.21 (Continued)

jf			169**		.052*		
se	Behav str	SA	069	163**	.048	jf→behav	Qualify for
SS			048		028	st→SA	mediation
tc			.026		.005	Test for	test
cws			157**		048	mediation	
aut			.086*		017		
jf			188**		.052*		

\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01; IV=independent variable; M=mediator; DV=dependent variable; se=self efficacy; ss= supervisor support; tc=task/time control; cws= co-worker support; aut= autonomy; jf= job feedback; phy str=physical stress; emot str=emotional stress; psych str=psychological stress; behav str=behavioural stress; SA=Sickness Absence; ns=no significant.

Two sets of hierarchical regression analysis were performed using physical stress and behavioural stress as mediators. The regression results which used physical stress as mediator is shown in Table 4.22 as follows: Job feedback was significantly related to physical stress ( $\beta$ =-.121, p<0.01) and sickness absence ( $\beta$ =.052, p<0.05). Physical stress was also related significantly to sickness absence ( $\beta$ =.102, p<0.01). With all these significant relationships between independent variable and mediator; between independent variable and dependent variable; and between mediator and dependent variable, the conditions of causal step approach, as suggested by Baron and Kenny (1986), were fulfilled. Therefore, mediation analysis was performed using physical stress as mediator on the relationship between job feedback and sickness absence. As shown in Table 4.22 below, in the presence of physical stress as mediator, the beta coefficient shrunk from 0.052 to 0.050 and became insignificant. To reinforce the explanation, Figure 4.5 depicts clearly that the beta coefficient value had decreased by 0.02 and rendered the relationship between job feedback and sickness absence insignificant, thus implying full mediation. Therefore, from this set of hierarchical regression analysis results, physical stress was found to fully mediate the relationship between job feedback and sickness absence.

Predictor	Std.β	Std. β	Std. β	Std. β
		M71	A 7 I	
X = Job Resources				
Self efficacy	008	.102**	.048	.048
Supervisor support	056		028	027
Task/Time control	.037		.005	.005
Co-worker support	128**		048	046
Autonomy	.010		017	017
Job feedback	121**		.052*	.050
M = Physical stress				.012
$\mathbb{R}^2$	.057	.024	.015	.015
Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>	.050	.019	.008	.007
R <sup>2</sup> change	.045	.015	.007	.007
F	8.192**	4.442**	2.114*	1.895*
F-change	8.710**	4.273**	1.243	1.086

Table 4.22 Multiple Regression Results Using Physical Stress as Mediator on the Relationship between Job Resources and Sickness Absence

Note: \*p<.05, \*\*p<.01; X = Job resources; M = Physical stress; Y= Sickness absence



Note: \*\*p<0.01; \*p<0.05 \_\_\_\_\_ direct effect; ...... mediating effect

Figure 4.5

Mediating Effect of Physical Stress on the Relationship between Job Feedback and Sickness Absence

To further affirm the presence of mediation from the results of multiple regression analysis, three types of Sobel test were performed. From the results in Table 4.23 as shown below, the test statistics for Sobel test (-2.23789142, p<0.05); Aroain test (-2.19134117, p<0.05) and Goodman test (-2.28754013, p<0.05) were all

found to be significant, thus providing evidence of mediating effect of physical stress on the relationship between job feedback and sickness absence.

Table 4.23 The Sobel, Aroian and Goodman Test of Physical Stress as a Mediator on the Relationship between Job Feedback and Sickness Absence

Parameter	Input	Tests	Test Statistics	p-value
А	-0.144	Sobel Test	-2.23789142	0.025
В	0.432	Aroian Test	-2.19134117	0.028
S <sub>A</sub>	0.036	Goodman Test	-2.28754013	0.022
SB	0.160			

Note: A=unstandardized regression coefficient (IV- M); B= unstandardized regression coefficient (M-DV)

 $S_A$ = standard error of A;  $S_B$ = standard error of B

The last set of hierarchical regression analysis was performed using behavioural stress as mediator on the relationship between job feedback and sickness absence. As shown in Table 4.24, job feedback was significantly related to behavioural stress ( $\beta$ =-0.188, p<0.01) and sickness absence ( $\beta$ =0.052, p<0.05). Behavioural stress was related significantly to sickness absence ( $\beta$ =-0.163, p<0.01). These significant relationships, as mentioned above, met the criteria in causal step approach as suggested as Baron and Kenny (1986) to perform mediation analysis. The results of multiple regression in mediation analysis as depicted in Table 4.24 show that the value of beta coefficient had shrunk when behavioural stress set in as mediator in the relationship between job feedback and sickness absence. To substantiate further the evidence of mediation, Figure 4.6 shows the beta coefficient had decreased by 0.018 from 0.052 to 0.034, rendering the relationship between job feedback and sickness absence insignificant. Therefore, from this hierarchical

regression analysis results, it is clearly shown that behavioural stress fully mediated

the relationship between job feedback and sickness absence.

Table 4.24				
Multiple Regression Results U	sing Behavioural	l Stress as Me	diator on the	e
Relationship between Job Reso	ources and Sickne	ess Absence		
Predictor	Std. β	Std. β	Std. β	Std. β
	х→м	M→Y	X→Y	$X \rightarrow M \rightarrow Y$
X = Job Resources				
Self efficacy	069	163**	.048	.042
Supervisor support	048		028	032
Task/Time control	.026		.005	.007
Co-worker support	157**		048	063
Autonomy	.086*		017	009
Job feedback	188**		.052*	.034
M = Behavioral stress				094**
$\mathbb{R}^2$	.086	.024	.015	.023
Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>	.079	.019	.008	.015
R <sup>2</sup> change	.079	.015	.007	.015
F	12.754**	4.442**	2.114*	2.880**
F-change	15.596**	4.273**	1.243	2.342*

Note: \*p<.05, \*\*p<.01; X = Job resources; M = Behavioural stress; Y= Sickness absence



Note: \*\*p<0.01; \*p<0.05 \_\_\_\_\_ direct effect; ..... mediating effect

### Figure 4.6

Mediating Effect of Behavioural Stress on the Relationship between Job Feedback and Sickness Absence

To further provide support for mediation of behavioural stress on the relationship between job feedback and sickness absence from the results of multiple regression analysis carried out, three types of Sobel test were conducted. The results of the test analysis are shown in Table 4.25 below, with test statistics for Sobel test (3.43717682, p<0.01); Aroain test (3.40749411, p<0.01) and Goodman test (3.46764899, p<0.01) all found significant, thus providing evidence of mediation by behavioural stress on the relationship between job feedback and sickness absence.

#### Table 4.25

The Sobel, Aroian and Goodman Test of Behavioural Stress as a Mediator on the Relationship between Job Feedback and Sickness Absence

Parameter	Input Value	Tests	Test Statistics	p-value
А	-0.229	Sobel Test	3.43717682	0.000
В	-0.674	Aroian Test	3.40749411	0.000
SA	0.036	Goodman Test	3.46764899	0.000
$S_B$	0.165			

Note: A=unstandardized regression coefficient (IV- M); B= unstandardized regression coefficient (M-DV)

 $S_A$ = standard error of A;  $S_B$ = standard error of B

## 4.12 A Summary Results of Hypotheses Testing

## 4.12.1 Job Demands and Sickness Absence

The following Table 4.26a depicts a summary of the hypotheses testing on the relationship between job demands and sickness absence. The results indicated some hypotheses were supported while some found no empirical support.

Hypothesis	Statement	Finding
H1	Job demands is positively related to sickness absence	Partially
		supported
H1a	Workload is positively related to sickness absence	Not supported
H1b	Physical demand is positively related to sickness absence	Supported
H1c	Emotional demand is positively related to sickness absence	Not supported
H1d	Job scope is positively related to sickness absence	Not supported
H1e	Role ambiguity is positively related to sickness absence	Not supported
H1f	Role conflict is positively related to sickness absence	Not supported
H1g	Job complexity is positively related to sickness absence	Supported but in opposite
		direction

Table 4.26aSummary of Hypotheses Testing for Job Demands and Sickness Absence

# 4.12.2 Job Resources and Sickness Absence

The Table 4.26b below summarises the hypotheses testing on the relationship between job resources and sickness absence. The results provided partial support to job resources-sickness absence relationship.

Hypothesis	Statement	Finding
H2	Job resources is negatively related to sickness absence	Partially supported
H2a	Supervisor support is negatively related to sickness absence	Not supported
H2b	Co-worker support is negatively related to sickness absence	Not supported
H2c	Autonomy is negatively related to sickness absence	Not supported
H2d	Job feedback is negatively related to sickness absence	Supported but in opposite direction
H2e	Task/Time control is negatively related to sickness absence	Not supported
H2f	Self efficacy is negatively related to sickness absence	Not supported

Table 4.26bSummary of Hypotheses Testing for Job Resources and Sickness Absence

# 4.12.3 Job Demands and Job Stress

The results of the hypotheses testing on the relationship between job demands and job stress are summarised in Table 4.26c below. Some of the hypotheses were supported while other hypotheses indicated no significant relationship.

Hypothesis	Statement	Finding
riypomesis	Succion	Thung
H3	Job demands is positively related to job stress	Partially
НЗа	Workload is positively related to job stress	Supported Supported
H3a(i)	Workload is positively related to physical stress	Supported
H3a(ii)	Workload is positively related to emotional stress	Supported
H3a(iii)	Workload is positively related to psychological stress	Supported
H3a(iv)	Workload is positively related to behavioral stress	Supported
H3b	Physical demand is positively related to job stress	Partially
H3b(i)	Physical demand is positively related to physical stress	Supported
H3b(ii)	Physical demand is positively related to emotional stress	Not supported
H3b(iii)	Physical demand is positively related to psychological stress	Not supported
H3b(iv)	Physical demand is positively related to behavioral stress	Supported
НЗс	Emotional demand is positively related to job stress	Partially
H3c(i)	Emotional demand is positively related to physical stress	Supported Supported
H3c(ii)	Emotional demand is positively related to emotional stress	Not supported
H3c(iii)	Emotional demand is positively related to psychological stress	Not supported
H3c(iv)	Emotional demand is positively related to behavioral stress	Not supported
H3d	Job scope is positively related to job stress	Partially
H3d(i)	Job scope is positively related to physical stress	Supported Supported
H3d(ii)	Job scope is positively related to emotional stress	Not supported
H3d(iii)	Job scope is positively related to psychological stress	Not supported
H3d(iv)	Job scope is positively related to behavioral stress	Not supported
H3e	Role ambiguity is positively related to job stress	Supported

Table 4.26c (Continued)

H3e(i)	Role ambiguity is positively related to physical stress	Supported
H3e(ii)	Role ambiguity is positively related to emotional stress	Supported
H3e(iii)	Role ambiguity is positively related to psychological stress	Not supported
H3e(iv)	Role ambiguity is positively related to behavioral stress	Supported
H3f	Role conflict is positively related to job stress	Not supported
H3f(i)	Role conflict is positively related to physical stress	Not supported
H3f(ii)	Role conflict is positively related to emotional stress	Not supported
H3f(iii)	Role conflict is positively related to psychological stress	Not supported
H3f(iv)	Role conflict is positively related to behavioral stress	Not supported
H3g	Job complexity is positively related to job stress	Partially
H3g(i)	Job complexity is positively related to physical stress	Not supported
H3g(ii)	Job complexity is positively related to emotional stress	Not supported
H3g(iii)	Job complexity is positively related to psychological stress	Not supported
H3g(iv)	Job complexity is positively related to behavioral stress	Supported

# 4.12.4 Job Resources and Job Stress

Table 4.26d bbelow provides summary of hypotheses testing on the relationship between job resources and job stress. The findings indicated some hypotheses were supported while some found no significant relationship.

Table 4.26d			
Summary of Hypotheses Testing for Job Resources and Job Stress			
Statement	Finding		
Job resources is negatively related to job stress	Partially Supported		
Supervisor support is negatively related to job stress	Not supported		
Supervisor support is negatively related to physical stress	Not supported		
Supervisor support is negatively related to emotional stress	Not supported		
Supervisor support is negatively related to psychological stress	Not supported		
	F Hypotheses Testing for Job Resources and Job Stress         Statement         Job resources is negatively related to job stress         Supervisor support is negatively related to job stress         Supervisor support is negatively related to physical stress         Supervisor support is negatively related to emotional stress         Supervisor support is negatively related to psychological stress		

## Table 4.26d (Continued)

H4b	Co-worker support is negatively related to job stress	Supported
H4b(i)	Co-worker support is negatively related to physical stress	Supported
H4b(ii)	Co-worker support is negatively related to emotional stress	Supported
H4b(iii)	Co-worker support is negatively related to psychological stress	Supported
H4b(iv)	Co-worker support is negatively related to behavioral stress	Supported
H4c	Autonomy is negatively related to job stress	Partially Supported
H4c(i)	Autonomy is negatively related to physical stress	Not supported
H4c(ii)	Autonomy is negatively related to emotional stress	Not supported
H4c(iii)	Autonomy is negatively related to psychological stress	Supported but in opposite direction
H4c(iv)	Autonomy is negatively related to behavioral stress	Supported but in opposite direction
H4d	Job feedback is negatively related to job stress	Supported
H4d(i)	Job feedback is negatively related to physical stress	Supported
H4d(ii)	Job feedback is negatively related to emotional stress	Supported
H4d(iii)	Job feedback is negatively related to psychological stress	Supported
H4d(iv)	Job feedback is negatively related to behavioral stress	Supported
H4e	Task/Time control is negatively related to job stress	Not supported
H4e(i)	Task/Time control is negatively related to physical stress	Not supported
H4e(ii)	Task/Time control is negatively related to emotional stress	Not supported
H4e(iii)	Task/Time control is negatively related to psychological stress	Not supported
H4e(iv)	Task/Time control is negatively related to behavioral stress	Not supported
H4f	Self efficacy is negatively related to job stress	Partially Supported
H4f(i)	Self efficacy is negatively related to physical stress	Supported
H4f(ii)	Self efficacy is negatively related to emotional stress	Not supported
H4f(iii)	Self efficacy is negatively related to psychological stress	Not supported
H4f(iv)	Self efficacy is negatively related to behavioral stress	Supported

# 4.12.5 Job Stress and Sickness Absence

The results of the hypotheses testing on the relationship between job stress and sickness absence were tabulated as in Table 4.26e. The findings revealed that some hypotheses were supported while some showed insignificant relationship.

Hypothesis	Statement	Finding
H5	Job stress is positively related to sickness absence	Partially
		Supported
H5a	Physical stress is positively related to sickness absence	Supported
H5b	Emotional stress is positively related to sickness absence	Not supported
H5c	Psychological stress is positively related to sickness absence	Not supported
H5d	Behavioral stress is positively related to sickness absence	Supported but in
		opposite
		direction

 Table 4.26e

 Summary of Hypotheses Testing for Job Stress and Sickness Absence

 Hypothesis
 Statement

# 4.12.6 Mediating Effect of Job Stress on Job Demands-Sickness Absence Relationship

The following Table 4.26f shows the results of hypothesis testing on the mediating effect of job stress on the relationship between job demands and sickness absence. Overall, the findings provided partial support to the mediating effect of job stress on job demands-sickness absence relationship. The results revealed that some hypotheses were supported and some reported no significant relationship.

Table 4.26f

Summary of Hypotheses Testing for the Mediating Effect of Job Stress on Job Demands-Sickness Absence Relationship Hypothesis Statement Finding

Hypothesis	Sutement	Tinding
H6	Job stress mediates the relationship between job demands and sickness	Partially
	absence	supported
H6a	Physical stress mediates the relationship between job demands and	Partially
	sickness absence	supported
H6a(i)	Physical stress mediates the relationship between workload and sickness absence	Not supported
H6a(ii)	Physical stress mediates the relationship between physical demand and sickness absence	Supported
H6a(iii)	Physical stress mediates the relationship between emotional demand and sickness absence	Not supported
H6a(iv)	Physical stress mediates the relationship between job scope and sickness absence	Not supported

H6a(v)	Physical stress mediates the relationship between role ambiguity and sickness absence	Not supported
H6a(vi)	Physical stress mediates the relationship between role conflict and	Not supported
Нба(vii)	Physical stress mediates the relationship between job complexity and sickness absence	Not supported
H6b	Emotional stress mediates the relationship between job demands and sickness absence	Not supported
H6b(i)	Emotional stress mediates the relationship between workload and sickness absence	Not supported
H6b(ii)	Emotional stress mediates the relationship between physical demand and sickness absence	Not supported
H6b(iii)	Emotional stress mediates the relationship between emotional demand and sickness absence	Not supported
H6b(iv)	Emotional stress mediates the relationship between job scope and sickness absence	Not supported
H6b(v)	Emotional stress mediates the relationship between role ambiguity and sickness absence	Not supported
H6b(vi)	Emotional stress mediates the relationship between role conflict and sickness absence	Not supported
H6b(vii)	Emotional stress mediates the relationship between job complexity and sickness absence	Not supported
Нбс	Psychological stress mediates the relationship between job demands and	Not supported
H6c(i)	Psychological stress mediates the relationship between workload and sickness absence	Not supported
H6c(ii)	Psychological stress mediates the relationship between physical demand and sickness absence	Not supported
H6c(iii)	Psychological stress mediates the relationship between emotional demand and sickness absence	Not supported
H6c(iv)	Psychological stress mediates the relationship between job scope and sickness absence	Not supported
H6c(v)	Psychological stress mediates the relationship between role ambiguity and sickness absence	Not supported
H6c(vi)	Psychological stress mediates the relationship between role conflict and sickness absence	Not supported
H6c(vii)	Psychological stress mediates the relationship between job complexity and sickness absence	Not supported
H6d	Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between job demands and sickness absence	Partially
H6d(i)	Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between workload and sickness absence	Not supported
H6d(ii)	Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between physical demand and sickness absence	Supported
H6d(iii)	Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between emotional demand and sickness absence	Not supported
H6d(iv)	Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between job scope and sickness absence	Not supported
H6d(v)	Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between role ambiguity and sickness absence	Not supported
H6d(vi)	Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between role conflict and	Not supported
H6d(vii)	Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between job complexity and sickness absence	Supported

Table 4.26f (Continue)

# 4.12.7 Mediating Effect of Job Stress on Job Resources-Sickness Absence Relationship

The following Table 4.26g summarises the hypothesis testing on the mediating effect of job stress on the relationship between job resources and sickness absence. Overall, the results provided partial support to the mediating effect of job stress on job resources-sickness absence relationship. The results indicated some hypotheses were supported and for some hypotheses, the findings were not significant.

#### Table 4.26g

Summary of Hypotheses Testing for the Mediating Effect of Job Stress on Job Resources-Sickness Absence Relationship

Hypothesis	Statement	Finding
		~
H7	Job stress mediates the relationship between job resources and sickness	Partially supported
	absence	
H7a	Physical stress mediates the relationship between job resources and	Partially supported
	sickness absence	
H7a(i)	Physical stress mediates the relationship between supervisor support and	Not supported
	sickness absence	
H7a(ii)	Physical stress mediates the relationship between co-worker support and sickness absence	Not supported
H7a(iii)	Physical stress mediates the relationship between autonomy and sickness absence	Not supported
H7a(iv)	Physical stress mediates the relationship between job feedback and	Supported
	sickness absence	
H7a(v)	Physical stress mediates the relationship between task/time control and	Not supported
	sickness absence	
H7a(vi)	Physical stress mediates the relationship between self-efficacy and	Not supported
	sickness absence	
H7b	Emotional stress mediates the relationship between job resources and	Not supported
1170	sickness absence	Not supported
H7b(i)	Emotional stress mediates the relationship between supervisor support and	Not supported
	sickness absence	11
H7b(ii)	Emotional stress mediates the relationship between co-worker support and	Not supported
	sickness absence	
H7b(iii)	Emotional stress mediates the relationship between autonomy and sickness absence	Not supported
H7b(iv)	Emotional stress mediates the relationship between job feedback and	Not supported
	sickness absence	iter supported
H7b(v)	Emotional stress mediates the relationship between task/time control and	Not supported
	sickness absence	**
H7b(vi)	Emotional stress mediates the relationship between self-efficacy and	Not supported
	sickness absence	

H7c	Psychological stress mediates the relationship between job resources and	Not supported
	sickness absence	
H7c(i)	Psychological stress mediates the relationship between supervisor support	Not supported
	and sickness absence	
H7c(ii)	Psychological stress mediates the relationship between co-worker support	Not supported
	and sickness absence	11
H7c(iii)	Psychological stress mediates the relationship between autonomy and	Not supported
	sickness absence	
H7c(iv)	Psychological stress mediates the relationship between job feedback and	Not supported
	sickness absence	riorsupported
H7c(v)	Psychological stress mediates the relationship between task/time control	Not supported
	and sickness absence	- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
H7c(vi)	Psychological stress mediates the relationship between self-efficacy and	Not supported
	sickness absonce	Not supported
	Sickness absence	
H7d	Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between job resources and	Partially supported
	sickness absence	
H7d(i)	Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between supervisor support	Not supported
	and sickness absence	11
H7d(ii)	Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between co-worker support	Not supported
	and sickness absence	II
H7d(iii)	Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between autonomy and	Not supported
	sickness absence	11
H7d(iv)	Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between job feedback and	Supported
	sickness absence	II III
H7d(v)	Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between task/time control and	Not supported
	sickness absence	rr
H7d(vi)	Behavioural stress mediates the relationship between self-efficacy and	Not supported
	sickness absence	TT TT

## 4.13 Summary

Generally, this chapter presents in detail the results of all the statistical analyses that were conducted in this study. The analyses used include frequency, descriptive statistics, factor analysis and hierarchical multiple regression analyses. As noted from the results of factors analysis of job demands, job resources and job stress, the dimensions extracted are consistent with previous studies in other international contexts. The general picture is that the sickness absence levels and sickness absence costs estimated in this study are moderate as compared to local and international context. The results revealed that physical demand and job complexity dimensions of job demands exhibit significant influence on sickness absence. In a similar vein, job feedback is the only job resources dimension that is related to sickness absence. The results revealed that workload and role ambiguity are the main job stressors, while coworker support and job feedback are significant buffers for job stress. It was also found that job stress, specifically physical stress and behavioural stress, exerted more significant effects on sickness absence. The mediation analyses provided support to the mediating role of job stress on the relationship between job demands and job resources on sickness absence. Overall, the findings indicated that most of the hypotheses were partially supported. The discussions related to the research findings are presented in the next chapter.

#### **CHAPTER FIVE**

## DISCUSSIONS AND CONCLUSION

## 5.1 Introduction

This chapter recapitulates in an orderly manner the findings presented in chapter four. Attempts are made to discuss the results of hypothesis testing based on the research objectives. Subsequently, this chapter discusses the implications of the study from theoretical and managerial perspectives. Lastly, the limitations of the study and the recommendations for the future research are presented followed by the conclusion.

## 5.2 Discussions

The gist of discussions in this chapter is based on the research objectives stated in Chapter one. These objectives are reemphasized here to link them with the findings of the study in the discussion proper. Generally, this study examines the relationship of job demands, job resources and job stress and how these impact on sickness absence among nursing professionals in the healthcare industry. Specifically, seven sections of discussions are included in this chapter. In the first section, the focus of discussion is to examine the relationship between job demands and sickness absence. The second section touches on the relationship between job resources and sickness absence. The third section is on the relationship between job demands and job stress. The fourth section explains the relationship between job resources and job stress. The fifth section debates the relationship between job stress and sickness absence. The last section articulates the mediating effect of job stress on the relationship between job demands, job resources and sickness absence.

#### 5.2.1 Relationship between Job Demands and Sickness Absence

As expected, the physical demand was found to be positively related to sickness absence, while job complexity was found to be negatively associated with sickness absence. The results implied that nurses who have high job demands from physical factors, such as performing physically demanding or heavy-duty activities, overly strenuous work like lifting, handling equipment or technological devices, etc., were more prone to suffer from job stress and MSD, thus resulting in sickness absence. In terms of job complexity, the nurses engaged with demands of high job complexity were able to experience diversity, variety and challenges in the job itself, which allowed them opportunity to be competent, creative and satisfied with task assigned. The satisfied nurses had less job stress and consequently, low sickness absence.

In terms of physical demand, the results of this study corroborated the findings by Eshoj *et al.* (2001), Voss *et al.* (2001a), Roelen *et al.* (2008), van der Molen and Delleman (2006), Ariens *et al.* (2002), Frings-Dresen and Sluiter (2003), that found physical work demands contributed to MSD. This is manifested by physical and behavioural symptoms of job stress, often resulting in employee disability sick leave and sickness-related absenteeism in the workplace. Nevertheless, one study by Roelen *et al.* (2006), found the opposite that physical job demand was not significantly associated with sickness absence.

In terms of job complexity, this study was in congruence with Vaananen *et al.*'s (2003) findings that low job complexity predicted long sickness absence. In addition, the study conducted by Tummers *et al.* (2002), discovered that nurses who

worked in intensive care or critical care setting reported significantly higher job complexity and decision authority compared to their colleagues who worked in other passive units; their studies reported higher job stress. Nevertheless, they found no significant relationship between job complexity and absenteeism, which contradicted the results obtained in this study.

Surprisingly, many job demands dimensions, namely emotional demand, role ambiguity, role conflict, job scope, workload obtained in this study did not relate significantly to sickness absence. All these factors explained only 2% of the variance of sickness absence; nevertheless the model was significant. This denotes that other than the psycho-social factors, there are other factors that may influence sickness absence. In terms of emotional demand, the results of this study are contrary to previous studies (Schaufeli et al., 2009; Grandey, 2000; Singh et al., 1994; Cordes & Dougherty, 1993; Maslach & Pines, 1977) that supported the relationship between emotional demand and sickness absence. The insignificant relationship between emotional demand and sickness absence in this study can be explained by nurses in this study were able to cope well even nursing job has placed emotional demand on them. This emotional demand require them to work fast or to do excessive amount of work in short time frame. However it seemed that nurses have accostomized to this demanding task and treat them as a routine task for them. These hectic activities may even exceeded the normal working hours. The other aspect of mental demand is when nurses are facing conflicting demand from staff or patients, which may place pressure on nurses to decide the best option in implementation of care activities. The activities which cause emotional demand on nurses have become the norm for nurses to deal with them as part of their job responsibility, thus there will not be any much influence of mental demand on sickness absence, if nurses are able to cope and learn to grow

with demand on their tasks, unless one is really down with illness or health problem which lead them to take sick leave and stay away from workplace. In the similar vein, escalating workload in nursing did not seem to exert any influence on sickness absence. The workload has become part and parcel of job responsibilities for nurses to accomplish, whether they like it or not. The routine nursing task still has to be carried on to meet the client expectation, thus increase or decrease workload for nurses did not produce any significant relationship with sicknee absence.

With regards to role ambiguity, the results of this study did not congruent with Rizzo et al. (1970); Jackson (1983) that found role ambiguity was related to sickness absence. In addition, the results in this study are not in agreement with previous studies (Chung & Schneider, 2002; Jackson, 1983; Rizzo et al., 1970) that support the relationship between role conflict and sickness absence. The plausible reasons for the insignificant relationship between role conflict, role ambiguity and sickness absence might point to the indirect relationship that exist between role problem and sickness absence. Since both role problems arise from incongruence between expectation and requirement or unclear expectation, the nurses who encounter role conflict and role ambiguity might lead to stressful reaction and if nurses are able to cope well, they would not resort to withdrawal behaviour by absence form work. To deal with these role problems, nurses might have soght possible solution with superiors for discussion. The conflicting request from two or more people in medical and nursing field especially in dealing with patient care, nurses need to seek clarification to avoid commiting any errors that may detrimental to patient health and wellbeing. Thus through this channel, nurses are able to avert from job stress and subsequently avoid from sickness absence.

In terms of job scope, the results of this study found no association between job scope and sickness absence and the findings were different from previous studies by Singh (1998), Hirschfeld et al. (2002), Mowday and Spencer (1981), who found a positive relationship between job scope and absenteeism. It is pertinent to point out in this study that the measurement for job scope employed only skill variety, task identity and task significance dimensions. The other dimensions, job autonomy and job feedback, were omitted because they were included as an independent job resources dimensions. The omission of these dimensions could partly explain the insignificant relationship between job scope and sickness absence. On the issue of workload, the results of this study corroborated past studies by researchers such as Tellnes et al. (1990), Bekker et al. (2005), Vingard et al. (2005), Voss et al. (2004), Rauhalaa et al. (2007), that found workload was positively related to sickness absence. It was also mentioned in several studies (Hegney et al., 2003; McVicar, 2003; Bryant et al., 2000; Cavanagh & Coffin, 1992) that workload from work overload has been the main culprit affecting the levels of employees' well-being. It is also interesting to note that some of these factors, for instance, an increase in the number of patients warded, their increased needs for care, an increase in patient acuity rates with a decrease in the length of hospital stay, relative lack of economic resources to cope with the increase in nursing workload, demands for better work productivity and increased work competition in healthcare industry, might contribute to work overloads. However, to identify more specifically which factors perhaps cause more work overload, Rauhalaa et al. (2007) advocated the use of RAFAELA system that could enable the monitoring of nurses-patient associated workload in relation to provision of optimum level of patient care.

## 5.2.2 Relationship between Job Resources and Sickness Absence

The statistical results as exhibited in Table 4.11 partially supported hypothesis 2. This study discovered that only one job resources dimension, i.e., job feedback was positively related to sickness absence. Surprisingly, the results revealed that majority of the job resources dimensions, namely supervisor support, co-worker support, task/time control, autonomy and self-efficacy were not correlated with sickness absence. These results indicated that nurses who received more job feedback were perceived to be constantly under close observation by superiors. Since nursing job involves hand-on procedures and skills to be performed on patients, constant job feedback would create job dissatisfaction as they are always being told what to do, and this affects their smooth delivery of patient care. The dissatisfaction among nurses can lead to sickness absenteeism (Harrison, Newman & Roth, 2006; Hanisch & Hulin, 1991; Steers & Rhodes, 1978).

The results in this study (see Table 4.11) did not provide any evidence of association between social support and sickness absence as demonstrated in several past studies (Rael *et al.*, 1995; Unden, 1996; Niedhammer *et al.*, 1998; Hemingway & Smith, 1999; Verhaeghe *et al.*, 2003; Melchior *et al.*, 2003; Stansfeld *et al.*, 1997; Cropanzano, Rupp, & Byrne, 2003) that found low social support resulted in higher rates of sickness absence, and in contrast, good social support helped to mitigate the effects of chronic stressors, thereby resulting in lower sickness absence rates. However the findings from this study clearly showed neither supervisor nor co-worker support helped to improve work attendance. The insignificant relationship of this finding in this study corroborated few previous studies (Bourbonnais & Mondor, 2001; Kivimaki *et al.*, 1997a). The possible reasons could be that nurses in this study

who have high physical demand and low complexity in their nursing job tend to take more sick leave. These two job demands dimensions were mitigated by the availability of job resources particularly job feedback which showed significant relationship with sickness absence. However because of the influence of physical demands was more as the nursing task involved a lot of physical movement, positioning, lifting and carrying which contribute to physical fatigue and MSD and further lead to sicknee absence.

Eventhough support was provided by supervisors and co-workers, nurses perceived this assistance does help them to tie over the work stress in the short term basis. The positive encouragement and guidance also help them to learn and grow to confront the difficulty. Once nurses have build up their confidence, they gain more knowledge and experiences through more exposure to clinical skills and procedures. They will be competent in performing their nursing tasks. Thus though the stress encountered by nurses may be more, they would not resort to absent from work because of the supportive culture being inculcated in work environment to prevent them from withdrawal behaviors (Eriksen, Bruusgaard & Knardahl, 2003). Since supervisors and co-workers are also nursing professionals who are always on the toes with their daily tasks to be accomplished. Their busy schedules and hectic work activities might deter nurses who encounter work stressors from seeking helps. Hence nurses have to get adjusted to the work stressors and cope well because they should understand the importance and quality of patient care should not be compromised regardless of any situation. The other plausible reason for the insignificant relationship between social support and sickness absence might be due to continual nurse education providing to nurses through seminars and clinical discussions. This continual professional development activities are being organized regularly to keep nurses updates in regards to clinical conditions, skills, knowledge in managing cases in different disciplines. The cumulative effort equips nurses to manage patients more effectively particularly in performing nursing procedure and might possibly dilute the supervisor and co-worker support sought by nurses. For example the use of body mechanic while moving and transferring patient to prevent from inflicting backache and muscle fatigue. The practice of standard universal precautions while nursing patients or performing nursing procedures is utmost essential to prevent nosocomial infection toward patients and nurses. This noble effort of continual professional development activities is usually conducted by doctors and nursing professionals to instil sense of responsibilities during clinical practice and thereby prevent them from falling sick and be absent form work. However, if the nurses encountered stress, the supervisors and co-workers were there to provide support, but the nurses are not motivated to learn and gain more experience and skill to keep up with the pace of the job, then the support provided will not any significant effect to improve their work performance (Vaananen et al., 2003) and they might exhibit absent behaviors to cope with stress in workplace.

On the other aspect supervisor support and co-worker support provided to individuals would be effective if the individuals were motivated and able to cope and deal with the problems. If the individuals did not want to make an attempt to learn to cope and grow to achieve the work goal, the effect of supervisor and co-worker support would not be able to bring any impact. Since nursing tasks required human touch, caring attitude and tacit hand skills from individual nurses who can provide holistic care to patients, therefore the support from external parties may only help to certain extent through motivation and encouragement. However performing and providing nursing care to patients is individualised and very much dependent on knowledge, professional skills and attitude of nurses, who have acquired them through cinical practice and work experience. In addition, supervisor support can increase employees' coping ability to deal with job stress and thus improve the job performance (Vaananen *et al.*, 2003). Whereas co-workker support enhance peer relationship and increase job satisfaction, thereby reducing sickness absence (Vaananen *et al.*, 2003). The justification provided as in previous section about supervisor and co-worker support are basically help to provide asistance to employees, however was the effect of support provided augers well for employees to acheive working goal and avert from absence from work was still dependent on individuals who want to change and and make an attempt to improve performance and work attendance.

The statistical findings from this study also showed that task/time control did not correlate with sickness absence. The results are not in agreement with previous studies (Ala-Mursula *et al.*, 2005; Ala-Mursula *et al.*, 2002; Hammar *et al.*, 1994) that found good task/time control was associated with lower absence rate. The plausible reason for this disagreement was that in nursing profession, the work process and workflow is not as flexible as other occupations, because it is under the control of supervisors. The latitude to exercise discretion in dealing with workload and work pressure are limited as the work/time schedule is always being assigned. In addition, nurses are instructed to work extra hours or cover staff shortage. Since nurses basically lack control over time and schedule allocation of tasks, it seems that nurses are quite comfortable and compliant with instructions. In addition, this action of lack of time/task control among nurses provides avenue for managers to optimally deployed staff accordingly, thus ensuring quality of care given to patients is not jeopardised. The results in this study showed no significant effect of job autonomy on sickness absence. This result is inconsistent with previous researchers (Baard *et al.*, 2004; Vaananen *et al.*, 2003; Bond & Bunce, 2003; Spector, 1986), who found low job autonomy was associated with high sickness absence rate. The insignificant results could be that nurses resorted to taking sick leave when they are unable to work (ability to attend) and not because they are not given adequate job autonomy. In fact, nurses in hospital setting are less empowered and autonomous in terms of decision making because the patient care is strongly dictated by medical doctors (McParland, Scott, Arndt, Dassen, Gasull, & Lemonidou, 2000; Fulton, 1997). The less job autonomy by nurses will not lead them to absence form work because nurses are important member of healthcare team. Their tasks are considered pertinent and complement to a successful patient care.

In terms of self-efficacy, the findings from this study showed insignificant relaationship between self-efficacy and sickness absence. This means employee with low self-efficacy did not link to his absence behavior. The findings failed to concur with past researchers (Saragih, 2011; Andrew, 1998; Chacko & Huba, 1991), who revealed relationship between self-efficacy and organizational outcome, while Bandura (1977), emphasised on the relationship between perceived self-efficacy and behavioural changes; Harvey and McMurray's (1994) study on nursing students indicated that students with a low academic self-efficacy were more likely to withdraw from a nursing course. The insignificant relationship between self-efficacy and sickness absence could be due to the fact that nurses took sick leave because they were unable to work (involuntary absence) due to ill health caused by job stress. Even though their self-efficacy was high, their belief that they have the ability or motivation

to complete a task succesfully did not play an important part in influencing their decision to take sick leave in this situation.

#### 5.2.3 Relationship between Job Demands and Job Stress

The multiple regression results (Table 4.12) partially supported hypothesis 3 (there is relationship between job demands and job stress). As expected, workload was found to be positively correlated to all the dimensions of job stress, i.e., physical stress, emotional stress, psychological stress and behavioural stress. Role ambiguity was positively correlated with three dimensions of job stress, specifically with emotional stress, behavioural stress and physical stress. Physical demand was positively correlated with two dimensions of job stress, specifically behavioural stress and physical stress. Emotional demand and job scope were positively correlated to one dimension of job stress, i.e., physical stress. Job complexity was also positively correlated with one dimension of job stress, i.e., behavioural stress. Surprisingly, role conflict was not correlated to any dimensions of job stress.

The results further indicated that nurses who have higher job demands are more likely to be predisposed to job stress, especially emotional stress, followed by physical stress, behavioural stress and psychological stress, which may ultimately lead them to taking more sick leave. Workload was the most important dimension of job demands that was significantly related to job stress. Hence, in order to reduce sickness absence because of job stress, workload should be given emphasis in work setting by management to help reduce job stress among nursing staff.

The findings of this study supported previous researchers (Leiter, 1993; Demerouti *et al.*, 2000a; Bakker & Demerouti, 2007; Bryant *et al.*, 2000; McVicar,

291

2003; Karasek, 1979; Armstrong *et al.*, 1996; Greenglass *et al.*, 2001; Bekker *et al.*, 2005; Leiter, 1991; Greenglass *et al.*, 2003; Greenglass *et al.*, 1998; Lee & Ashforth, 1996; Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1983; Kaufman & Beehr, 1986; Moore *et al.*, 1996; Armstrong-Stassen, 1994), on the relationship between job demands, specifically workload and job stress. Nursing task is characterised by its demanding nature, coupled with its variety, intense pacing and timing of the job, this has created job stress among nurses (Caplan *et al.*, 1975). Besides, other factors, such as high patient to nurse ratios, overtime work because of the staff shortage, and increasing patient acuity especially in high dependency and intensive wards which need close patient observation and monitoring, were highlighted by previous researchers (Aiken *et al.*, 2002; Demerouti *et al.*, 2000b; Janssen *et al.*, 1999; O'Brien-Pallas *et al.*, 2001), as important perceived workload that causes job stress.

The findings of this study are also in congruence with previous researchers (Fineman & Payne, 1981; Jackson & Schuler, 1985; Jackson, 1983), who found that employees' role ambiguity can provoke job stress when the goals of one's job or the methods of performing the job are ambiguous. Such a lack of clear direction in job engagement can be very stressful, particularly for employees who are low in their tolerance for such ambiguity; and can indirectly affect attendance at work or their intention to leave the organisation.

In terms of the effect of physical demand on job stress, the results of this study are also in agreement with several previous researchers (Holtermann *et al.*, 2010; van der Molen & Delleman, 2006; Trinkoff *et al.*, 2003; Trinkoff *et al.*, 2001; Kant *et al.*, 1992), who found physical demand from nursing job was associated with job stress because nursing job involved physical activities, such as patient lifting, maintaining working posture, position and repetitive movement during nursing work. The physical demand from these patient handling activities can pose physical stress and contribute to MSD, as cited by several researchers (e.g. Lagerstrom *et al.*, 1998; Pope *et al.*, 2001; Engels *et al.*, 1996; Nabe-Nielsen *et al.*, 2008).

This study also showed emotional demand was related to job stress, specifically physical stress. The findings are in concurrence with previous studies (e.g. Schaufeli *et al.*, 2009; Fillon *et al.*, 2007; Lewig & Dollard, 2003; Grandey, 2000; Maslach, 1993; Van Sell *et al.*, 1981), that found jobs which needed high levels of emotional demand may result in physically stressful symptoms, and over the long run, may lead to withdrawal behaviours, such as absenteeism. Emotional demand is prevalent among HCW, especially among nurses because they have to face patient-related stressors, for instance interaction with difficult patients, frequent contact with chronically or terminally ill patients or confrontation with death and the dying. It is believed that this type of patient-related stressors may warrant increased emotional demand, and a person may experience high blood pressure and other job stress symptoms.

In terms of correlation between role conflict and job stress, quite surprisingly, the findings of this study did not seem to support the evidence provided by previous researchers (McSahne & Glinow, 2008; Barnett & Gareis, 2006; Margolis, Kroes & Quinn, 1974; French & Caplan, 1970; Kahn *et al.*, 1964), that employees who are exposed to role conflict situations may suffer from job stress. The reason could be that majority of nurses in this study were staff nurses and nursing support groups, and they were not in the organisational boundary roles that involved supervisory or managerial duties. Further, it was also argued in previous studies (Cooper & Marshall, 1978; Margolis *et al.*, 1974), that employees in supervisory or middle management category were more exposed to role conflict because of their boundary roles and therefore,

293

most likely to suffer from job stress. Moreover role conflict defined in this study, specifically referred to inter-role and intra-role conflict which occurs when nurses received contradictory instruction from supervisors as in performing a task or nurses were given multiple roles to carry out their tasks (Johns, 2007; Rizzo *et al.*, 1970).

The findings from this study showed job scope was positively correlated to physical stress, but not related significantly with other dimensions of job stress. The results were in agreement with two previous studies (Singh, 1998; French et al., 1982) that found positively significant relationship between job scope and job stress, but not in line with Jackson and Schuler (1985) that found inverse relationhip between job scope and job stress. Several previous studies had inconsistent findings regarding the relationship between job scope and job stress; thus the results from this study also differ from these previous researchers. The other reason for the inconsistencies could be that the measurements of job scope dimensions only consisted of three dimensions (i.e., skill variety, task identity and task significance) instead of five dimensions as suggested by Hackman and Oldham (1980). The other two dimensions, i.e., autonomy and feedback, were excluded in job scope measurements because they were considered as job resources dimensions and not job demands dimensions in the context of this study. Since the three dimensions used in job scope were basically job demands related to job skills, identity and significance, it is not surprising that the higher the job scope experienced by employees, the more job stress they encountered. It is recognised that the nursing job requires hand-on skills and dexterity. Hence, the mastery of clinical skill is important and significant for quality patient care. It is more demanding for nurses working in high intensive and complex units, especially in intensive care and high dependency units which demand high level of skills and experiences. The nurses working in these areas are exposed to more job stress because of higher job scope in their tasks.

The results from this study found that job complexity was correlated with behavioural stress, and not related significantly with the other three dimensions of job stress. The results are in agreement with Tummers, Van Merode and Landeweerd (2002), who found nurses with high job complexity reported higher job stress. This was noted particularly for nurses working in intensive and high dependency wards, which required complex job variety and specific task identity. On the other hand, the results of this study are different from London and Klimoski (1975), who found job complexity was negatively related to job stress. London and Klimoski (1975) argued that job complexity has its links with job enrichment (e.g., Argyris, 1964; Katz & Kahn, 1978; Herzberg, 1966), and job complexity provides job variety and challenges and brings about motivation and job satisfaction, and hence less job stress.

In summary, the seven job demands dimensions were able to predict variance better on emotional stress and behavioural stress than physical stress and psychological stress. This clearly showed that all these job demands factors were able to provoke nurses to manifest more on emotional and behavioural symptoms of job stress and less on physical and psychological symptoms. Hence, the management should aim to provide interventional measures, such as proper job redesign, resources optimisation, social support network, occupational and rehabilitative interventional measures, etc., to help ameliorate burnout and mental exhaustion symptoms of job stress and restore well-being of the nurses.

## 5.2.4 Relationship between Job Resources and Job Stress

The statistical results as exhibited in Table 4.13 partially supported hypothesis 4. This study discovered that three job resources dimensions, i.e., job feedback, co-worker support and self-efficacy were negatively related to job stress. Another one dimension of job resources, i.e., autonomy was found to be positively related to job stress. Surprisingly, the results revealed that supervisor support and task/time control were not correlated to job stress. In addition, job feedback was found to be the strongest predictor of job stress, followed by co-worker support. These results further indicated that nurses who have higher job resources, particularly, job feedback, co-worker support and self-efficacy, seemed to experience less job stress than those who had lower job resources. The findings further reinforced that nurses who have higher autonomy and decision latitude in their work tended to have higher job stress.

The results of this study showed that job feedback was the strongest predictor among the job resources dimensions on job stress. In fact, job feedback correlated significantly with all dimensions of job stress, namely behavioural stress, psychological stress, physical stress and emotional stress. Out of the four dimensions of job stress, behavioural stress was the most potent dimension demonstrated by nurses on job stress. The negative correlation between job feedback and job stress indicated that nurses who received high levels of job feedback from superiors or immediate supervisors may experience less stressful symptoms. Constructive job feedback helps employees to improve their job performance and enhance interpersonal communication. In addition, it boosts their work morale and motivation to continue to keep up with the good work, and stay healthy by averting job stress (Hackman & Oldham, 1980; Kahn & Byosserie, 1992; Bakker & Demerouti, 2007).

296

With regards to the relationship between social support and job stress, the results of this study are consistent with past empirical researches (Kaufman & Beehr, 1986; Johnson *et al.*, 1989; Karasek & Theorell, 1990; North *et al.*, 1996), that found association between social support and job stress.

Obviously, the low social support from colleagues and supervisors contributed to higher levels of job stress. Conversely, good support from colleagues and supervisors helped to mitigate the effects of job stress, thereby resulting in less sickness absence. This study found co-worker support was significantly correlated with all diemensions of job stress, namely behavioural stress, physical stress, psychological stress and emotional stress. Out of the four dimensions of job stress, behavioural stress was the most important dimension of job stress that nurses manifested in response to social support. This signifies that the lesser the co-worker support received by nurses, the higher the behavioural responses of job stress they experienced.

The co-workers or colleagues in the work place are the closest confidantes that nurses are able to share their work-related grievances with, seek attention and instrumental support (Fillion *et al.*, 2007), and be able to make a helpful social interaction on the job concerned (Johnson *et al.*, 1989). Co-workers are peers of same rank and position who are willing to share and work together in the work setting without feelings of intimidation, compared to the support from nurse managers or supervisors. The nursing field is characterised by high mental pressure (Verhaeghe *et al.*, 2003), because working with patients causes additional work pressure, for example giving psychological support or handling possible complaints. Such types of work circumstances require social support, especially from co-workers.

From the results of this study, supervisor support was not significantly correlated with all dimensions of job stress. The possible reason was that nurses perceived that supervisors were not able to provide necessary support they need (Bradley & Cartwright, 2002). In addition for nurses that encountered difficult situation during work for instance dealing with difficult patient in the odd hour, and this situation at times required decision making. Nurses perceived supervisors were not the first to seek help on issues regarding patient care. Moreover supervisors were not always round the clock in the ward as they mostly worked on normal duty hours. Since most nurses worked shift or odd hours, they were not there for immediate assistance. Nurses perceived supervisors were not the first resource person to get help in regards to jobs unless the problem involved adminitrative issue for instance application for relocation or courses. Usually in most of the hospial practice, there is only one supervisor take charge of the ward and if she has to manage many staff under her control, the individual attention given to each staff will be limited. On top of that supervisors did not intend to provide special treatment to particular staff, and at times leadership style and communication skill hamper effective communication and this may seem not to work well with many staff. Thus nurses who afflicted with job stress would not seek advice or assistance from supervisors but rather to her colleagues who are always in the vicinity to offer help.

The statistical results from this study found self-efficacy was negatively correlated to only one dimension of job stress, i.e., psychological stress. This showed that nurses with high levels of self-efficacy were able to avert stressful situations and manifest less psychological symptoms. Conversely, those with low self-efficacy would experienced more stressful symptoms. It is interesting to note that self-efficacy was not related to physical, emotional and behavioural stress because self-efficacy is

298

the person's belief that he or she has the ability, motivation, and situational contingencies to complete a task successfully (McShane & Glinow, 2008), and it does not cause more serious impact till a person is down with physical, emotional or behavioural stress symptoms. The findings of this study are in line with previous researchers (Xanthopoulou *et al.*, 2007; Schwarzer & Hallum, 2008), but contradict to the findings by Saragih (2011), who found no significant relationship between self-efficacy and job stress.

From the statistical findings of this study, job autonomy was significantly associated with two dimensions of job stress, i.e., psychological stress, and behavioural stress. It is quite surprising to note that job autonomy was positively correlated to psychological stress and behavioural stress. Nevertheless, the positive link between autonomy and behavioural stress was not in line with previous researchers (Elsass & Veiga, 1997; Karasek, 1979; Spector, 1986; Thompson & Prottas, 2005), who found a negative link between job autonomy and job stress. These past studies postulated that job autonomy allows employees to carry out their jobs the way they wish to and this leads to reducing feelings of threat. This condition creates a comfortable and non-threatening work environment, thereby reducing job stress. Besides, job autonomy also allows employees to limit their exposure to stressors and be able to choose their task, or allow them to limit the more stressful tasks, thereby reducing feelings of threat and encouraging positive coping behaviours (Elsass & Veiga, 1997). Employees with high job autonomy have reduced job stress because the presence of control may encourage individuals to believe positive outcomes are possible, thereby reducing feelings of threat (Spector, 1986; Elsass & Veiga, 1997).

This inconsistent finding occurred in this study possibly due to several explanations. First, there are many job stressors which nurses might be exposed to.

They may experience different stress levels or different stress symptoms beacause of individual differences or they may have different thresholds of resistance to a stressor and different ways to cope with stressors. Second, job experience of nurses may affect the level of nurses' job stress. Based on respondents' demographic variables in this research, About 43% of nurses were in the age group of 19 to 30 year-old and 55% of them have been working as nurses for less than five years. Thus, giving more opportunity to share and make decisions in the work process may create more job stress because these nurses are not yet ready to take the responsibility and empowerment to stand on their own feet when facing tough or difficult situations.

The task/time control was another job resources dimension that did not correlate significantly with all dimensions of job stress. The results are inconsistent with past studies (Elsass & Veiga, 1997; Marmot et al., 1997; Sargent & Terry, 1998; Smith, 1998; Vahtera et al., 2000b), that found significant relationship between task/time control and job stress. The insignificant results in this study is possibly because nurses in this study were able to exert control over how and when they perform their tasks, especially in dealing with work schedule (Arnetz, 1997; Karasek & Theorell, 1990). Although nurses in this study were mostly on shift schedule, they have the liberty to request for any shift duty they like or to mutually change shift duty with colleagues without any hassle from the sister-in-charge. Their request for vacation or emergency leave or leave for other purposes, is also not a problem, as supervisors are usually flexible and able to accommodate their wish within the availability of existing resources. Therefore to ensure nurses are working in conducive work environment, Daniels and Guppy (1994) suggested that managers, as reasonable as possible, give employees sufficient control over the way in which they perform their duties.
#### 5.2.5 Relationship between Job Stress and Sickness Absence

The statistical results as depicted in Table 4.14 in this study partially supported hypothesis 5. Of the four dimensions of job stress, two dimensions, namely physical stress and behavioural stress were significantly related to sickness absence. The other two dimensions of job stress, i.e., emotional stress and psychological stress, were not related significantly to sickness absence. Out of two job stress dimensions that were significantly related to sickness absence as mentioned, behavioural stress exerted the most influence on sickness absence. Obviously, behavioural stress was the strongest predictor of sickness absence. There was a negative link between these two variables which denoted that the higher the behavioural stress nurses experienced, the less sickness absence they had. The plausible reason was that nurses perceive the stressors from job demands as the work challenges for them, for instance, physical demand of the nursing task which requires long standing posture while assisting during surgery in the operation theatre (OT) would be seen as job resposibility to accomplish. The task has to done with care considering the aspects of patient monitoring, safety precautions taken and anticipation of upcoming patient problems at any time that may arise. The other example is the job complexity of certain nursing skills and procedures, such as performing resuscitation skills for cardiac arrest patients during emergency. All these job demands can create job stress, however some of the stress reactions are perceived as positive (eustress) because nurses are strongly motivated to do it and feel satisfied with the task performed, thus they would not absent themselves form these job assigned,

On the other hand, physical stress was positively correlated to sickness absence. The probable reason was that nurses who are carrying out nursing tasks require physical strength (Van der Molen & Delleman, 2006), such as lifting, carrying and transferring patients and moving medical machines or devices. These nursing actions need to be undertaken with safe body mechanic and ergonomic posture to prevent stress and MDS, such as neck pain, backache and other muscular strain (Trinkoff *et al.*, 2003). The perceived physical demand of nursing tasks are associated with reported MSD (Harrison & Nixon, 2002), and can lead to physical stress, thereby affecting the ability to attend work, and contributing to involuntary absence (Steers & Rhodes, 1978). To reinforce this argument, Van der Molen and Delleman (2006), claimed that physical work demands are the most important cause of absenteeism and disability in many industries.

The results in this study which showed significant association between job stress and sickness absence corroborated previous researches (Frankenhaeuser & Gardell, 1976; Spector *et al.*, 1988; Kristensen, 1991; Parker & Kulik, 1995; Vasse *et al.*, 1998; Aronson *et al.*, 2000; Tennant, 2001; Nielsen *et al.*, 2002; Bakker *et al.*, 2003b; Verhaeghe *et al.*, 2003; Kedem, 2005; Bultmann *et al.*, 2005; Borritz *et al.*, 2006). The association between job stress, specifically physical stress and behavioural stress and sickness absence in this study concurred with Kahn and Byosiere's (1992) findings that revealed job stress related to physical and behavioural responses may lead to work outcomes, such as health complaints, burnout and absenteeism.

In this study, emotional stress and psychological stress were not related significantly to sickness absence, for the simple reason that the work stressors from job demands could have been buffered by job resources, particularly social support, job feedback, autonomy and self-efficacy that helped to avert job stress and reduce incidence of sickness absence. The non-significant correlation between emotional stress, psychological stress and sickness absence coincided with studies by Parkes (1982) and Houtman *et al.* (1994).

On the other hand, the practice of standard precautions and aseptic techniques by HCW, especially nurses, are the basic and important nursing practices for disease prevention and infection control. This practical guidelines have to be complied with by all HCW in the clinical setting to prevent cross transmission and risk of nosocomial infection (NCI) or hospital acquired infection (HAI), for example, hepatitis, HIV infection and other communicable diseases (WHO, 2006). This infection control practice help nurses to stay healthy and avoid sickness absence while providing continued care to the patients.

# 5.2.6 Mediating Effects of Job Stress on the Relationship between Job Demands, Job Resources and Sickness Absence

The eighth research objective deals with the mediating role of job stress. First, the discussion in this section focuses on the mediating effects of job stress on the relationship between job demands and sickness absence, more specifically, by examining the mediating influence of physical stress and behavioural stress on the relationship between physical demand and sickness absence, as well as the mediating role of behavioural stress on the relationship between job complexity and sickness absence. The second section elucidates the mediation role of job stress on the relationship between job resources and sickness absence. The discussion focuses specifically on the mediating effect of physical and behavioural stress on the relationship between job feedback and sickness absence.

The statistical results (refer Table 4.15 to Table 4.25) obtained in this study partially supported hypothesis 6 and hypothesis 7. Based on the findings of this study, physical stress fully mediated the relationship between physical demand and sickness absence. The results indicated that physical demand of nursing job directly and indirectly affected sickness absence through physical stress. The findings confirmed Demerouti et al. (2001b) and Bakker et al.'s (2003a) JD-R model which asserts that job demands could trigger job strain and burnout and employees can resort to sickness absenteeism to cope with the consequences of job strain. It appears that nurses with high level of job demands in performing nursing tasks, must exert physical effort, such as moving, lifting, maintaining working posture and repetitive movement and other nursing activities to meet these physical demands. This can contribute to job stress manifested by physical symptoms, i.e., physical stress. The burden of job stress can lead nurses to suffer from ill health, for instance, MSD, headache, common cold, general malaise and other medical conditions. Hence, the attendance motivation is very much involuntary as the ill health or sickness compelled nurses to stay away from work place by taking sick leave.

Besides, the results of this study (see Table 4.18) also indicated that behavioural stress partially mediated the relationship between physical demand and sickness absence. Hence, physical demand had indirect relationship with sickness absence through the behavioural response of job stress, implying nursing is a stressful profession (Maria *et al.*, 2010; Healy & McKay, 2000; Yeh *et al.*, 2007; Shader *et al.*, 2001; Schmitz *et al.*, 2000; Stordeur *et al.*, 2001; Bratt *et al.*, 2000; Griffiths, 2000; Fresco & Norfolk, 2000; Demerouti *et al.*, 2000b), which can directly affect them with physical and behavioural symptoms (Foxall *et al.*, 1990; Lindsey & Attridge, 1989). The statistical results (see Table 4.14 & Table 4.18) indicated the negative relationship between behavioural stress and sickness absence; and also physical demand was significantly related to behavioural stress. It can be argued that the physical demand from nursing task can also contribute to behavioural symptoms of job stress which do not cause any physical incapacity to be manifested by physical symptoms. The reason for this paradox is the behavioural symptoms manifested by job stress were more psychological in nature; therefore, the decision for attendance behaviour was very much dependent on pressure to attend and not ability to attend (Steers & Rhodes, 1978). Nursing jobs basically involve dealing and interacting with human life and suffering; the attendance at work is seen as an important personal ethic to be observed in nursing profession. Thus, it is not surprising that nurses inflicted with job stress due to physical demand of the job are still able to cope and present themselves in the workplace to serve the sick, unless they are really down with medical and health problems which affect their ability to attend. In such cases, they stay away from work by taking sick leave.

On the other hand, the results of this study (see Table 4.18) indicated that behavioural stress fully mediated the relationship between job complexity and sickness absence. This implied that job complexity directly and indirectly influenced sickness absence through behavioural response of job stress. The positive relationship between job complexity and job stress concurred with Tummers *et al.* (2002), who found job complexity is positively related to job stress. This is in fact true for nurses working in high intensity areas that require sub-speciality knowledge and skills, for instance cardiothoracic and neurology specialities. The results also showed job complexity was negatively related to sickness absence. It can be argued that a nurse who perceives her/his job to be of low complexity will become frustrated and less satisfied (Scott, 1966, London & Klimoski, 1975), and report high sickness absence.

However, job complexity has job enrichment advantages which permit variety, challenge and competitiveness of the job and bring about job satisfaction by allowing the employee to express his or her own ability and carry out his or her own decisions (Katz & Kahn, 1978; Thompson, 1967; London & Klimoski, 1975). Thus, nurses working in areas with high job complexity were more satisfied and reported low sickness absence. However, care must be taken not to overburden the worker with overly complex tasks; otherwise, he/she cannot fuifill the job requirements.

The statistical results (refer Table 4.22 to Table 4.25) obtained in this study partially supported hypothesis 7. Based on the findings (see Table 4.22) of this study, physical stress fully mediated the relationship between job feedback and sickness absence. The results indicated that job feedback directly and indirectly affected sickness absence through physical stress. The findings confirmed Demerouti et al. (2001b) and Bakker et al.'s (2003a) JD-R model which highlights that job resources could mitigate job strain and burnout, and employees can resort to sickness absenteeism to cope with the consequences of job strain. More regular job feedback provided by superiors to nurses could help them to carry out nursing tasks more systematically with less job stress (physical stress) (Kahn & Byosserie, 1992). This is because activities which need more physical movement and manual handling with patients can be planned and nurses can work in teams with colleagues to accomplish the task. Once employees experience lower level of job stress, they would not take more sick leave. However, the statistical findings (see Table 4.11) revealed a positive relationship between job feedback and sickness absence. It could be argued that too regular and frequent job feedback provided to nurses may give rise to deleterious effect instead of benefits. The nurses felt they are not respected and trusted to perform the task assigned. Instead of engaging in completing the task, they try to evade and reduce interface with superiors by taking sick leave and staying away from work. The results on the positive link between job feedback and sickness absence differed from previous studies (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007; Kahn & Byosserie, 1992; Hackman & Oldham, 1980) that found constructive feedback may help reduce the level of job stress and provide employees with the information necessary to maintain their performance and improve organisational outcomes.

The next statistical results of this study (Table 4.24) indicated that behavioural stress fully mediated the relationship between job feedback and sickness absence. It implied that job feedback directly and indirectly affected sickness absence through behavioural stress. As expected, the more regular the job feedback provided to employees, the less job stress (behavioural stress) they would experience and perform better in their work (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007), indirectly improving their work attendance and reducing sickness absence. It was found from the results that there was a direct positive relationship between job feedback would not benefit the employees, because they would view it as threatening to their job control, trust and autonomy towards tasks assigned. Hence, overly providing job feedback may cause repercussions on employees' motivation to work, and most probably to stay away from workplace by taking sick leave.

The overall results of this study (refer Table 4.15 & Table 4.21) showed that emotional stress and psychological stress did not qualify as mediators on the relationship between job demands, job resources and sickness absence. From the statistical findings, emotional stress and psychological stress were not related significantly to sickness absence. Nurses who manifested emotional and psychological symptoms of job stress still had the ability to attend work and not be

under pressure to be absent. The plausible reason is because the emotional and psychological stress experienced by nurses was still within their coping threshold and ability. Combined with the availability of job resources in the work place, such as social support provided by supervisor and peers, job autonomy, self-efficacy of individual nurses, and especially job feedback from immediate superiors, could at least help nurses to mitigate the stress caused by job demands on nursing task, thereby reducing the incidence of sick leave taken by nurses.

The statistical results (Table 4.15 & Table 4.21) revealed that emotional stress did not mediate between job demands and sickness absence. The results also indicated that role ambiguity was not related to job stress and sickness absence. In terms of job resources, co-worker support, self-efficacy and job feedback were negatively significant related to emotional stress but only job feedback positively related to sickness absence. From these results, it denotes that nurses who has more role ambiguity in their task tend to inflict with emotional stress characterised by anxiety, irritability, agitation, inability to relax and moodiness (European Commission's Directorate-General for Employment and Social Affairs, 2000). Nevertheless nurses with emotional stress were able to cope well because of their good self-efficacy and they believe they have the ability and motivation to perform their tasks successfully (McShane & Glinow, 2008). Morever, these nurses were proactive and able to seek job feedback from superiors to ensure their tasks can be accomplished without conflicting to their role and able to meet work expectation. Furthermore, the emotional stressed nurses could also seek assistance and guide from competent colleagues in their tasks and thus able to reduce stress. Hence with good self-efficacy, the utilization of job feedback and co-worker support, these nurses would not resort to taking sick leave.

The results also found psychological stress did not mediate on the relationship between job demands, job resources and sickness absence. In addition the results also indicated that workload was positively significant related to psychological stress but not related to sickness absence. On the aspect of job resources, job feedback, autonomy and co-worker support were significantly related to psychological stress, but only job feedback found positively significant related to sickness absence. From the analysis, it signifies that nurses who has psychological stress would manifest with symptoms of inability to concentrate, forgetfulness, low satisfaction and frequent negative thought (European Commission's Directorate-General for Employment and Social Affairs, 2000). Nurses with heavy workload tend to suffer from psychological stress, however they are able to withstand the stressful reaction if their jobs enable them to experience independence and discretion especially in determining the procedure in completing the job (Hackman & Oldham, 1976). If they were able to access to useful job resources particularly job feedback, co-worker support, then they would not taking sick leave and stay away from work. The results indicate that job feedback was more effective in averting nurses from taking sick leave, because timely job feedback would provide nurses clear information about how effectively they are performing the job (Hackman & Oldham, 1976). However co-worker support did not provide much advantages since increase in workload of nurses did not make colleagues to share workload or shoulder some of the job responsibility of nurses. Likewise, the opportunity of autonomy to nurses did not enable nurses with heavy workload to resort to absence behaviour because autonomy only offer nurse the independence to determine the procedure and scheduling but not reduction in workload. Therefore nurses perceived that they are able to cope with workloads and they have tried to utilise various job resurces available to mitigate the impact of job stress and thereby avert from taking sick leave.

Overall, the mediating effect of job stress, specifically physical stress and behavioural stress on the relationship between job demands (particularly physical demand and job complexity), job resources (particularly job feedback) and sickness absence had consistent findings with previous researchers (Chen & Lien, 2008; Bakker *et al.*, 2004; Jex *et al.*, 1991), that job strain is a potent mediator between job-related factors and organisational outcomes. In addition, the results of this study further extended and supported the JD-R model (Demerouti *et al.*, 2001b; Bakker *et al.*, 2003a), which highlights the relationship between job demands, job resources, job strain and organisational outcome, specifically sickness absenteeism.

## **5.3 Implications**

From the outcome of the study, several important implications from theoretical and practical perspectives have emanated. The initial section focuses on the theoretical implications while the subsequent section elaborates on the practical implications for managers who are striving to manage and control absenteeism in their work setting, followed by the limitations of the study, future research direction and lastly conclusion that recapitulates the recommendations for management and control of sickness absence.

### 5.3.1 Theoretical Implications

The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between job demands, job resources, job stress and sickness absence. In addition, this study also depicted the

mediating role of job stress on the relationships between job demands, job resources and sickness absence.

The outcomes of this study empirically supported the theoretical relationships showed in the research framework (Figure 2.1). This study also specifically confirmed the association between job demands, job resources, job stress dimensions and sickness absenteeism. Hence, this study advances further knowledge on the importance of job demands, job resources and job stress, as predictors of sickness absence. In addition, the results of the study also provide empirical support for the JD-R model proposed by Demerouti et al., (2000b, 2001b), pertaining to the relationship between job demands, job resources, job strain and employee well-being. Demerouti et al. (2000b, 2001b) suggested that every occupation has its own specific risk factors associated with job stress. These risk factors are grouped under job demands and job resources categories. The job demands which constitute the physical, psychological, social, or organisational aspects of the job, require sustained physical and/or psychological effort or skills, and are therefore associated with physical, psychological, emotional and behavioural stressful reaction, and consequently sickness absence. Likewise, job resources which can be available at task, personal and organizational levels, may exert a reciprocal and functional role in counteracting the stressor reaction from job demands, to acheive work goals and reduce sickness absence. In other words, job demands and job resources are correlated with job stress and sickness absence. This study adds further knowledge to the previous studies (Jex et al., 1991; Chen & Lien, 2008; Roelen et al., 2006; Eshoj et al., 2001; Voss et al., 2001a) by finding that physical demand, job complexity and job feedback are the important predictors for job stress and sickness absence in the nursing profession. The results indicate that employees engaged in physical demands and complex tasks are more likely to be inflicted with job stress symptoms, leading them to taking more sick leave. Likewise, employees who use job feedback as resources in the performance of task are less likely to suffer from stressful strain reaction and eventually reduced absenteeism from work due to sickness.

Additionally, this study also enhances the activation theory of job stress, especially when job-related stimuli cause a job holder to experience activation level to deviate substantially from one's characteristic level of activation. At this stage, individuals use performance-protection strategies under the influence of environmental demands. These performance-protection strategies are achieved through mobilisation of sympathetic activation, as exhibited by physical, emotional, psychological and behavioural stressful responses of an individual, and the use of subjective effort, for instance, job feedback, autonomy, social support and others to control the stress. Thus, the greater the activation effort, the greater the physiological cost; the effect of energy depletion will result in job stress and eventually individuals may take more sick leave to cope with job stress.

This study also reinforces the COR theory which state that when individuals are confronted with high job demands and under stress, individuals can gain their motivational potential with job resources. The availability of resources influences the ability and the motivation for change. Hence, individuals can draw on social resources at their workplace provided by the organisation or other individuals. Fundamentally, people seek to obtain, retain, protect, and restore resources in their own right. In dealing with job stress, the main motivational process is preventing the loss of resources by individuals. However, by losing resources, it creates strain, and coping responses are enacted by individuals with the goal of protecting and restoring resources. Therefore, in facing the loss of resources, individuals may strive to develop surplus resources, which are the source of higher levels of well-being.

This study extends beyond previous research (Bakker *et al.*, 2003a; Bakker & Demerouti, 2007), by investigating job demands and job resources as predictors of sickness absence. The determination of which variables in job demands and job resources dimensions, are related and how they are related to job stress and sickness absence, provides valuable insights into the job characteristics of nursing and sickness absence reported by nurses. This study also concurs in the same principle with the Karasek (1979) DCM model that emphasises the influence of job demands and job control towards the development of physical and health problems, because when jobs are simultaneously high in demands and low in control, this will produce a state of arousal in the worker that would normally be reflected in such physiological responses, as increase in heart rate or adrenaline excretion. When there is a constraint on the responses of the worker, as would occur under conditions of low control, the arousal cannot be appropriately channelled into a coping response, thus producing a larger physiological reaction that persists, eventually leading to health problem and illness.

From another persepctive, this study further enhances researchers's knowledge on the mediating role of job stress, especially on the relationship between job demands, job resources and sickness asbenteeism, since very scarce research (e,g Chen & Lien, 2008; Jex *et al.*, 1991) has used job stress as mediator. By demonstrating the existence of significant direct and indirect effects of job demands and job resources on sickness asbenteeism through the mediating role of job stress, this research has provided clear evidence that the mediating role of job stress is empirically subtantiated. With very limited sickness absenteeism studies on individuals related to the healthcare industry in the Malaysian context, this study has in fact, to some extent, contributed to knowledge in this domain, especially the influence of job demands, job resources and job stress on sickness absenteeism among hospital nurses. Most importantly, this study has successsfully filled the research gap pertaining to the issue of managing and controlling sickness absenteeism in the workplace, particularly in the Malaysian healthcare industry. From the results of the study, one can understand more about the job content or work-related factors, especially those related to job demands and job resources, that exert substantive influences to the development of job stress reactions which may lead to sickness absence behaviours.

### 5.3.2 Managerial Implications

The results of this study also provide some useful guidelines to the present and future healthcare managers in the application of organisational behaviour concepts in the healthcare industry to improve the development of employees' well-being and performance among HCW in public healthcare institutions. This is critical because many organisations with sickness absenteeism problem which are perceived to be superficial, can end up suffering significant ill effects on organisational productivity and business performance. The issue of this counterproductive work beahaviour allows managers to relook different arrays of job content and job context factors that may result in job stress and absence behaviour. From the present study, some of the job demands and job resources factors can be deduced as important predictors of job stress and sickness absence. Findings from this study indicated that nurses performing physically demanding and complex tasks are more likely to have job stress, leading to

sickness absence. On the other hand, nurses who obtain or can access job feedback as resources, are less likely to be inflicted by job stress and thereby have less sickness absence. Hence, this finding offers several indications to healthcare managers regarding the potential factors that may influence job stress and sickness absenteeism among employees. With this knowledge and information, healthcare managers can plan and manage the issue through appropriate human resources actions and strategies. In short, the findings of this study would benefit the healthcare industry in the management and control of absenteeism. It would also serve as a basis for future policy decisions, and at the same time, as a template of reference for the managers and other HCWs. It is envisaged that the findings would make them realise the importance of balancing job demands and job resources to ameliorate the impact of job stress upon sickness absence.

Managing employee absence is important in management practice, in order to secure quality improvement and cost reduction through effective and considerate action. Knowledge acquired from the present study provides terms of reference for healthcare and nursing managers to plan and devise strategies to reduce employee sickness absence, making the workplace more conducive for employees. Appropriate methods can be adopted by management, including a proactive approach to absence by identifying what the root causes of absence are, and taking action to prevent absence where there is scope for positive intervention.

This findings of this study have posted an important message to healthcare institutions to play a greater role in coordinating and supporting any health, occupational or rehabilitation interventions or services in the workplace, for instance, ensuring appropriate occupational health assessment, promotion and support facilities to be in place in work areas; suggesting return-to-work plan for absentees; adopting

employment practices that are flexible and supportive to employees with domestic commitments, to assist in limiting absence. It is believed that a punitive approach to managing absence is less likely to be effective in the long run, therefore, it is recommended that a systematic approach based on written and agreed procedures, and maintaining of good recording on absences and actions taken be by line managers and are appropriately laid out in absenteeism policy documents. In order to ensure these guidelines are carried out accordingly, the role of first line managers, such as ward sister or senior charge nurse is crucial to developing good practice in managing absence. Where necessary, they will have to receive training in appropriate procedures.

To cultivate conducive and healthy environment in workplace, managers should aim to limit their employees' exposure to sources of pressure and job stress, however difficult or challenging their task may be, because of the negative consequences of stress. The statistical results obtained in this study revealed that other than physical work demands and job complexity that were mentioned previously, role ambiguity, emotional demands, workload and job scope are important stressors in work setting. Hence, managers, as far as is reasonably possible, need to implement measures such as job redesign, well planned and clear job duties, team work, flexible job schedule, etc., to give employees sufficient control over these stressors, besides accessibility to resources, especially job feedback, co-worker support and job autonomy, for the performance of their duties (Daniels & Guppy, 1994). The findings of the study also provide evidence for employees to use self-efficacy as personal resources to boost their motivation potential to deal with job stress. In addition, managers need to ensure that employees who have a low tolerance of job demands have a clear understanding of what they are responsible for (Frone, 1990), which can be achieved through well-formulated job descriptions. Further, managers should attempt to ensure that their employees do not feel isolated or undervalued, and that they have the opportunity to attain an appropriate balance between the demands from their job and availability of job resources to accomplish tasks (Anderson, Coffey, & Byerly, 2002).

The results of this research, with regards to job stress as mediator of the relationships between job demands and job resources and sickness absenteeism, provide insight and understanding of potential job stressors, measures and prevention of job stress and control of sickness absence. From a managerial perspective, controlling of job stress and encouraging job satisfaction is an essential part of retaining employees. As a means to alleviate sickness absenteeism, managers of healthcare institutions can improve aspects of their employees' jobs. The extent to which employees feel that their job is pleasant and enjoyable is important. On the other hand, management may consider job enrichment strategies to provide more challenges with a greater sense of achievement, thus ensuring that interesting jobs are created (Johnson *et al.*, 2003). Harmonious and supportive relationships with co-workers and supervisors are also important to employees; so managers must look to facilitate the development of a harmonious and supportive culture at the workplace.

From another viewpoint, the results of the study provide learning curve to organisations to increase job resources as a means of potentially reducing and even preventing sickness absenteeism associated with job stress. This can be achieved through the implementation of principles that have the potential to increase job resources. For example, organisations must project to employees that senior management support is available, by indicating that senior management values and cares about their employees' well-being (Eisenberger, Huntington, Hutchison & Sowa,

1986). This may be communicated by public displays of management's concern for their employees' welfare. Similarly, supervisors must also show their support to employees and interact with employees on a continual basis. It is also noteworthy that of the variables examined in this study, job feedback, co-worker support and job autonomy have the potential to alleviate the impact of job stress. Attention to being supportive of employees is thus vital to reduce sickness absence for employees who are working in stressful conditions, while increasing employees' job resources to a greater extent. Besides measures and interventions used by managers at organisational level to deal with job stress and sickness absence, other person-directed interventions that include a cognitive-behavioural approach, for instance coping skills training, combined with relaxation techniques, can be effective in reducing burnout, anxiety, stress and general symptoms among HCWs.

Overall, the findings of the present study provide good evidence and impetus for organisations to facilitate the creation of conditions that will be more conducive for individuals who work under intense job challenges, so that they will experience less stress and thereby avoid absence due to sickness. HCW, especially nurses suffer from work-related or occupational stress often resulting from high expectations coupled with insufficient time, skills and social support at work. This can lead to severe distress, burnout or physical illness, and finally to a decrease in quality of life and service provision. At the same time, the exorbitant costs of sickness absence due to job stress could have negative impact on the organisational effectiveness and management outcome of the organisation (Benson & Leona, 2000).

Finally, the outcome of the study contributes to the development of more effective preventive and promotional strategies of stress management for nurses in the clinical areas. This will allow practitioners to practice and function in safe

environment, when providing high quality care to their clients. The understanding into the knowledge of job stress and sickness absence has provided them a better insight of certain dimensions of nursing job demands and job resources as the important determinants of job stress and sickness absence. Besides, it adds professional value to nursing profession, whereby nurse practitioners are able to carry out the noble nursing task in spite of facing many challenges of job stress and sickness absence behaviour in the workplace. Overall, the findings provide useful insight for managers to facilitate the creation of conditions that will be more conducive for individuals who work under intense job challenges to experience less stress, thereby avoiding absence due to sickness.

## 5.4 Limitations and Future Research Directions

Undeniably, this study has its limitations. Several limitations are identified. First, this study only used nursing professionals in hospital setting as the research subjects, and it precluded employees in other industries, such as manufacturing, trade, finance, education, etc. Different results might be obtained if the study targeted employees' sickness absenteeism in other industries. Moreover, the study setting was in public hospitals; the results might be different for private hospitals. Therefore, the results of this study could not be generalised to employees in other industries as they might have different work cultures, human resources practices and absenteeism policy that would affect their sick leave usage. It is recommended that future researchers could widen their scope of investigation by incorporating employees from other industries and carry out a comparative study across different industries.

Second, this study focused on nursing professionals in the hospitals located in the northern region of Malaysia. As the duties and job responsibilities of nurses, the scope of practice, the nature of work in ward and clinic settings, the measures to estimate the sickness absence, are similar for nurses across Malaysia, hence, it is suggested that similar research could be duplicated with a larger sample which may include nursing professionals from all regions of Malaysia, including East Malaysia. The use of larger sample would help to generalise the results of the study.

Third, part of the data of this study was obtained through questionnaire. Thus, the feedback or responses depended on the voluntary participation of the individuals. The responses may not be consistent and accurately reflect their true perception or experiences towards the job demands, job resources and the job stress. The respondents may not be sincere in answering the questions in order to please someone by answering what is morally right; thus response bias may creep into the data. If the respondents choose not to respond to many items, non-response bias may occur. Therefore, to enhance the precision of findings, it is suggested that combined qualitative and quantitative methods should be incorporated to examine the issue of job demands, job resources and job stress.

Fourth, survey data was gathered through cross-sectional method, which did not allow the drawing of any conclusion in terms of causality (Sekaran, 2003; Winship & Morgan, 1999). To avoid the issue of common method variance and causal inference, it would be appropriate to collect longitudinal data because it might help future researchers to validate the findings gathered from cross-sectional data, since individuals' behaviours, cognition, perception and feeling might change over time (Rindfleisch, Malter, Ganesan & Moorman, 2008). Besides, several previous studies using longitudinal cohort studies have revealed the predictive associations between psycho-sosial work factors and the days of sickness absence (Kivimaki *et al.*, 2005; Kondo *et al.*, 2006).

Fifth, since sickness absence data was collected for only a short term of four months period, it would not be very accurate to determine the trend and pattern of the sickness absence because of systemic variation over very short time periods (Harrison & Hulin, 1989). It would be more useful to collect data over longer period, typically over a year, to allow the trend of sickness data to be more discernable and convincing (Mitra, Jenkins & Gupta, 1992). The epidemiological survey about the causes of ill health and sickness can also be carried out using medical records in future research.

Sixth, although the response rate was relatively high (97%), the nonparticipants in the study might be a population who had more sickness absence than the participants, or who were not available at the time of study. Since those workers who had serious health impairments or who were chronically absent from work might not have been able to answer the questionnaire, it should not be presumed that all their absences are due to illness. Therefore, it is suggested that respondents from these categories might be able to add worthwhile information with respect to the issues under study (and it is recommended that an attempt is made to find such respondents for future research). The conclusions in this study are therefore limited to those respondents who actually participated.

Seventh, the study only sampled nurses from public healthcare institutions in hospitals and omitted nurses in community setting form a large proportion of the nursing population. The validity of the responses depended upon honesty of the respondents in answering items on the questionnaire, and hence the findings of the study were limited to the useful responses on questionnaires returned by the respondents. The sample population consisted of only 21 males. This represents only

1.9% of the sampled population and may not be adequate to compare the differences in sickness absence based on gender.

Eighth, the absence measure used in this study was a time lost index and no frequency measure was taken. The sickness absences might also have the voluntary component. This may allow researchers not to miss significant amount of useful data through examine the voluntary absence data and make the comparison between these two measures.

Finally, this study is limited to two independent variables, i.e., job demands, job resources, and one mediating variable, i.e., job stress. The low  $R^2$  (see Table 4.10 to Table 4.14) of the model suggests that there are other factors that could influence sickness absenteeism. Previous researchers (Higgins, O'Halloran & Porter, 2012; Nyberg, 2009; Camp & Lambert, 2005; Vaananen *et al.*, 2008; Wrzesniewski & Dutton, 2001), had identified that the size of work group, leadership and supervisory style, incentive and reward system, work group norms, work-family interference and job crafting (employee shaping their jobs) are predictors of sickness absenteeism. Therefore, it is strongly recommended that future researchers could widen the scope of study by incorporating other variables to extend the framework of the present study.

There has been some evidence that psychological vulnerability factors, such as hostility or low sense of coherence, predicts sickness absence, especially with women (Kivimaki *et al.*, 1997a; Kivimaki, Vahtera, Koskenvuo, Uutela & Pentti, 1998). Similarly, bullying and low organisational fairness also have been found to be good predictors of sickness absences (Kivimaki *et al.*, 2000a; Elovainio, Kivimaki & Vahtera, 2002) that merit further investigation in future studies.

Future studies should also look into the impact of nurse sickness absenteeism on quality of patient care, as there is a dearth of information on the effects of absenteeism on the workplace, workforce, patient care, patient outcomes and financial performance (Unruh, Joseph & Strickland, 2007). It is suggested that research on any of these areas would contribute immensely to our understanding of the impacts of sickness absenteeism. Lastly, study on return to work also seems worthwhile in the future research since it will be a better measure of sickness absence and incapacity.

#### 5.5 Conclusion

As stated in the first chapter, the purpose of this study was to investigate the relationship between job demands, job resources, job stress and sickness absenteeism. In addition, this study also presented the mediating role of job stress. From the results presented, this study has met all six research objectives. The first two objectives were to determine the relationship between job demands, job resources and sickness absence. The third and fourth objective sought to examine the relationship between job demands, job resources and sickness absence whereas the last (sixth) objective dealt with mediating effects of job stress on the relationship between job demands, job resources and sickness absence. The third effects of job stress on the relationship between job demands, job resources and sickness absence whereas the last (sixth) objective dealt with mediating effects of job stress on the relationship between job demands, job resources and sickness absence. The findings of the study either fully or partially supported the tested hypotheses as outlined in Table 4.26a to Table 4.26h.

This study confirmed the Activation theory (Hockey, 1993) which suggests that the individuals use performance-protection strategies under the influence of environmental demands. The performance protection is achieved through the mobilisation of sympathetic activation and increased subjective effort. The effect of

such compensatory strategy may drain individual's energy, eventually resulting in job stress and breakdown. This study also argued that resources gain their motivational potential particularly when individuals are confronted with high job demands. This indicates that under stressful conditions, individuals will be more likely to use resources as a coping mechanism or stress-reducing action. This study also affirmed the COR theory which proposes that people seek to obtain, retain and protect the resources which they value and individuals with greater pool of resources are less susceptible to resources loss and job stress. Nevertheless if they experience increased loss of resources (loss spiral), they may seek opportunities to risk resources for increased resources gains (gain spiral) to attain higher levels of well-being (Hobfoll, 2001).

In addition, this study also provides support to the JD-R model, which indicates that jobs with chronic job demands (e.g., work overload, emotional demand, physical demand, role ambiguity) exhaust employees' mental and physical resources, and may lead to depletion of energy and to health problems (Bakker *et al.*, 2003a; Demerouti *et al.*, 2000a; Leiter, 1993). To deal with job demands, job resources are important and necessary to achieve and protect other valued resources. The job resources have motivational potential and they foster employees' growth, learning and development, through the role of intrinsic motivation. Job resources may also play extrinsic motivation role as work environment offers many resources that foster the willingness to dedicate one's effort and abilities to the work task. As such, it is likely that the task will be completed successfully and that the work goal will be attained. Further, this study not only provides evidence of significant relationship between job demands, job resources, job stress and sickness absence, but it also fills the research gap by examining the mediating role of job stress which has received little attention from previous researchers. This study has provided evidence that job stress, specifically physical stress and behavioural stress, mediates the relationship between job demands (physical demands and job complexity), job resources (job feedback) and sickness absenteeism.

The study also found that physical demands, job complexity, job feedback, physical stress and behavioural stress are the important predictors of sickness absenteeism. Thus, in order to control sickness absenteeism, the healthcare manager must consider job redesign with more effective and optimised human resources allocation of nursing staff to deal with physical demands and job complexity of nursing tasks. At the same time, management should look into right mechanisms to provide performance feedback to employees and institute measures to reduce stress in nursing work. Thus, from the findings obtained, the proposed framework has been substantially validated and the six research questions successfully answered.

This study also noted several limitations and shortcomings and provided useful references for future studies. It is expected that the future researchers will widen their scope of study, especially with regards to the use of the JD-R model in organisational research, to enhance and extend the knowledge of the present and future managers and professionals to plan and tackle the issue of absenteeism, systematically and tactfully.

#### REFERENCES

- Abdul Hadi, A., Naing, N.N., Daud, A., & Nordin, R. (2006). Reliabil ity and construct validity of the malay version of the job content questionnaire (JCQ) among secondary school teachers in Kota Bharu. Kelantan, Malaysia. *South East Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health*, 37(6), 1254-1259.
- Absenteeism (2002). In F. Abate, (Ed.).*The Oxford American dictionary of current English in English dictionaries and thesauruses*. UK: Oxford University Press. Retrieved June 23, 2008: http://www.oxfordreference.
- Achat, H., Kawachi, I., Bryne, C., Hankinson, S., & Colditz, G. (2000). A prospective study of job strain and risk of breast cancer. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 29(4), 622-628.
- ACTU (Australian Council of Trade Unions) (2000). *Health and safety guidelines for shift work and extended working hours.* ACTU, September, Doc 66/2000, Melbourne, Australia: OHS.
- Adams, A., & Bond, S. (1995). Nursing organisation in acute care: the Development of scales. Report no. 71. Centre for Health Services Research, University of Newcastle upon Tyne, Newcastle upon Tyne.
- Adams, G.A., & Jex, S.M. (1999). Relationships between time management, work-family conflict and strain. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 4 (1), 72-77.
- Adler, S., & Golan, J. (1981). Lateness as a withdrawal behavior. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 66, 544–554.
- Admi, H., Tzischinsky, O., Epstein, R., Herer, P., & Lavie, P. (2008). Shift work in nursing: is it really a risk factor for nurses' health and patients' safety? *Nursing Economics*, Jul-Aug, 26(4), 250-257.

- Ahasan, M.R., Campbell, D., Salmoni, A., & Lewko, J. (2001). Some intervening and local factors among shift workers in a developing country – Bangladesh. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, 13(4), 164-172.
- Ahasan, M.R., Khaleque, A., & Mohiuddin, G. (2000). Human aspects of shift work in a developing country - I: a case study in Bangladesh. *Journal of Human Ergonomics*, 27(2), 32-38.
- Ahasan, M.R., Khaleque, A., Sadeque, S., & Uddin, Z. (1997). Psychophysical responses of shift workers in a hot working environment. *Proceedings, The XIII International Symposium on Night and Shift Work*, Majvik: Finland, 67.
- Aiken, L., Clarke, S., Sloane, D., Sochalski, J., & Silber, J. (2002). Hospital nurse staffing and patient mortality, nurse burnout, and job dissatisfaction. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 288(16), 1987–1993.
- Ala-Mursula, L., Vahtera, J., Linna, A., Pentti, J., & Kivimaki, M. (2005). Employee worktime control moderates the effects of job strain and effort-reward imbalance on sickness absence: the 10-town study. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 59, 851–857.
- Ala-Mursula, L., Vahtera, J., Kivimaki, M., & Pentti, J. (2002). Employee control over working times: associations with subjective health and sickness absences. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 56, 272–278.
- Ala-Mursula, L., Vahtera, J., Pentti, J., & Kivimaki, M. (2004). Effect of employee worktime control on health: a prospective cohort study. *Occupational Environmental Medicine*, 61, 254–261.
- Alavinia, S.M., van den Berg, T.I.J., van Duivenbooden, C., Elders, L.A.M., & Burdorf,
  A. (2009). Impact of work-related factors, lifestyle, and work ability on sickness
  absence among Dutch construction workers. *Scandinavian Journal of Work Environment Health*, 35(5), 325–333.

- Alexanderson, K. (1998). Sickness absence: a review of performed studies with focused on levels of exposures and theories utilized. *Scandinavian Journal of Social Medicine*, 26, 241- 249.
- Alexanderson, K., & Hensing, G. (2004). More and better research needed on sickness absenteeism. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 32, 321-323.
- Alfredsson, L., Karasek. R., & Theorell, T. (1982). Myocardial infarction risk and psychosocial work environment: An analysis of the male Swedish working force. *Social Science and Medicine*, 16, 463-467.
- Ali, H., Hussin, Z., & Razak, H.A. (2005). Pattern and attitude towards sick leave usage among civil servants in Kedah, Sintok: Universiti Utara Malaysia.
- Ali, H., Hussin, Z., & Razak, H.A. (2008). Sick leave absence among civil servants in Kedah. Intan Management Journal, 9(1), 13-30.
- Al-Kandari, F., & Thomas, D. (2008). Perceived adverse patient outcomes correlated to nurses' workload in medical and surgical wards of selected hospitals in Kuwait. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 18, 581–590.
- Allebeck, P., & Mastekaasa, A. (2004). Chapter 5. Risk factors for sick leave general studies. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 32 (Suppl 63), 49–108.
- Allen, R.F., & Higgins, M. (1979). The absentee culture: becoming attendance oriented. *Personnel*, 56, 30-39.
- Allison, P.D. (1999). *Multiple regression: A primer*. Thousand Oaks, California: Pine Forge Press.
- Al-Windi., A., Theobald, H., & Johansson, S.E. (2009). Relation between sickness absence and socio-demographic characteristics well-being and health care utilization- a primary care based study. *Journal of Chinese Clinical Medicine*, 4(4), 186-196.

- Amosu, A.M., Degun, A.M., Atulomah, N.O.S, Olanrewju, M.F., & Aderibigbe, K.A. (2011). The level of knowledge regarding occupational hazards among nurses in Abeokuta, Ogun State, Nigeria. *Current Research Journal of Biological Sciences*, 3(6), 586-590.
- Andrew, S. (1998). Self-efficacy as a predictor of academic performance in science. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 27, 596-603.
- Anderson, S.E., Coffey, B.S., & Byerly, R.T. (2002). Formal organizational initiatives and informal workplace practices: Links to work-family conflict and job-related outcomes. *Journal of Management*, 28, 787–810.
- Ando, S., Yuichiro, O., Shimaoka, M., Hattori, M., Hori, F., & Takeuchi, Y. (2000). Associations of self-estimated workloads with musculoskeletal symptoms among hospital nurses. *Occupational Environmental Medicine*, 57, 211–216.
- Appley, M.H., & Trumbull, R. (1986). *Dynamics of stress: physiological, psychological and social perspectives*. New York: Plenum Press.
- Araujo, T.M., & Karasek, R. (2008). Validity and reliability of the job content questionnaire in formal and informal jobs in Brazil. Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environmental Health Suppl., 6, 52-59.
- Argyris, C. (1964). Integrating the individual and the organization. New York: Wiley.
- Ariens, G.A., Bongers, P.M., Hoogendoorn, W.E., van der Wal, G., & van Mechelen, W.
  (2002). High physical and psychosocial load at work and sickness absence due to neck pain. *Scandinavian Journal of Work Environmental Health*, 28(4), 222-231.
- Armstrong-Stassen, M. (1994). Coping with transition: A study of layoff survivors. Journal of Organizational Behaviour, 15, 597–621.
- Armstrong, M., Cameron, S.J., & Horsburgh, M.E. (1996). The impact of organizational downsizing on the job satisfaction of nurses. *Canadian Journal of Nursing Administration*, 9, 8-32.

- Arnetz, B.B. (1997).Technology stress: Psychophysiological aspects of working with modern information technology. Scandinavian Journal of Work and Environment Health, 23, 97-103.
- Aronsson, G., Gustafson K., & Dallner, M. (2000). Sick but yet not at work: an empirical study of sickness presenteeism. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 54, 502–509.
- Arsenault, A., Dolan, S.L., & Van Ameringen, M.R. (1991). Stress and mental strain in Hospital work: exploring the relationship beyond personality. *Journal of Organizational Behaviour*, 12, 483–493.
- Ashforth, B.E., & Humphrey, R.H. (1993). Emotional labor in service roles: The influence of identity. *Academy of Management Review*, 18, 88-115.
- Ashton, R.H., & Hylas, R.E. (1981). Increasing confirmation response rates. *Auditing*, 1(1), 12-12. Retrived September 12, 2008, from Business Source Premier database.
- Atkin, R.S., & Goodman, P.S. (1983). An Issue-oriented review of the research on absenteeism. Unpublished report to the U.S. Bureau of Mines, Carnegie-Mellon University.
- Atkin, R.S., & Goodman, P.S. (1984). Methods of defining and measuring absence. In P.S. Goodman & R.S. Atkin (eds) Absenteeissm: New approaches to understanding, measuring and managing employee absence, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Atkinson, J.W. (1981). Thematic apperceptive measurement of motivation in 1950 and 1980. In G. dYdewalle and W. Lens (eds) (1981). *Cognition in human motivation and learning*, New York: Erlbaum.
- Baard, P.P., Deci, E.L., & Ryan, R.M. (2004). Intrinsic need satisfaction: A motivational basis of performance and well-being in two work settings. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 34, 2045–2068.

- Baba, V.V. (1990). Methodological issues in modeling absence: A comparison of least squares and tobit analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 75(4), 428-432.
- Bacharach, S. B., & Bamberger, P. A. (2007). 9/11 and New York City firefighters' post hoc unit support and control climates: A context theory of the consequences of involvement in traumatic work-related events. *Academy of Management Journal*, 50, 849–868.
- Baglioni, A.J. Jr., Cooper, C.L., & Hingley, P. (1990). Job stress, mental health and job satisfaction among UK senior nurses. *Stress Medicine*, 6, 9–20.
- Baer, M., Oldham, G.R., & Cummings, A. (2003). Rewarding creativity: what does it really matter? *The Leadership Quarterly*, 14, 569-586.
- Bakker, A.B., & Demerouti, E. (2007). The Job Demands-Resources model: state of art. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 22(3), 309-328.
- Bakker, A.B., Demerouti, E., & Euwema, M. (2005). Job resources buffer the impact of job demands on burnout. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 10(2), 170-180.
- Bakker, A.B., Demerouti, E., & Verbeke, W. (2004).Using the Job Demands-Resources model to predict burnout and performance. *Human Resource Management*, 43, 83-104.
- Bakker, A.B., Demerouti, E., & Schaufeli, W.B. (2003). Dual processes at work in a call centre: An application of the job demands - resources model. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 2003, 12 (4), 393–417.
- Bakker, A.B., Demerouti, E., De Boer, E., & Schaufeli, W.B. (2003a). Job demands and job resources as predictors of absence duration and frequency. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 62, 341-356.

- Bakker, A.B., Demerouti, E., Taris, T., Schaufeli, W.B., & Schreurs, P. (2003b). A multigroup analysis of the Job Demands-Resources model in four home care organizations. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 10, 16-38.
- Bakker, A.B., Schaufeli, W.B., Sixma, H., Bosveld, W., & Van Dierendonck, D. (2000). Patient demands, lack of reciprocity, and burnout: a five-year longitudinal study among general practitioners. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 21, 425-441.
- Bakker, A.B., Van Emmerik, H., & Van Riet, P. (2008). How job demands, resources, and burnout predict objective performance: A constructuctive replication. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping.* 21(3), 1-16.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychology Review*, 84, 191-215.
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory.New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- Barham, C., & Leonard, J. (2002). Trends and sources of data on sickness absence. Labour Market Trends, April, 177-185. Labour Market Divisions, Office for National Statistics, UK,
- Barham, C., & Begum, N. (2005). Sickness absence from work in the UK. *Labor Market Trend*, April, 149-158, Labour Market Divisions, Office for National Statistics, UK,
- Barmby, T.A., Ercolani, M.G., & Treble, J.G. (2000). Sickness absence: An international comparison (LES Working Paper 18), New York: Syracuse University.
- Barmby, T.A., Ercolani, M.G., & Treble, J.G. (2002). Sickness absence: An international comparison. The Economic Journal, 112(June), 315-331.
- Barnett, R.C., & Gareis, K.C. (2006). Role theory perspectives on Work and Family. In: Pitt-Catsouphes, M., Kossek, E.E. & Sweet, S. (eds.). The Work and Family Handbook. Multi-Disciplinary Perspectives, Methods, and Approaches. London: Lawrance Erlbaum Associates.

Barnett, S. (2005). Campaign targets stress at work. People management, pp 14.

- Barnett, T., Namasivayam, P., & Narudin, D.A.A. (2010). A critical review of the nursing shortage in Malaysia. *International Nursing Review*, 57(1), 32-39.
- Baron, R.M., & Kenny, D.A. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51(6), 1173–1182.
- Barr, A. (1960). Sickness absence among hospital nurses. *British Journal of Preventive* and Social Medicine, 14, 89-98.
- Baumann, A., O'Brien-Pallas, L., Armstrong-Stassen, M., Blythe, J., Bourbonnais, R., Cameron, S., Doran, D.D., Kerr, M., Hall, L.M., Vzina, M., Butt, M., & Ryan, L. (2001). Commitment and care: The benefits of a healthy workplace for nurses, their patients and the system- A policy synthesis. Ottawa: Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF). Retrieved July 2, 2011. http://www.nlcahr.mum.ca/dwnlds/CHSRF\_2001.pdf.
- Baumeister, R.F., & Leary, M.R. (1995). The need to belong: Desire for interpersonal attachments as a fundamental human motivation. *Psychological Bulletin*, 117, 497– 529. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.117.3.497, PMid:7777651.
- Beauregard, T.A. (2006). Organizational work-home culture and employee well-being:direct or indirect links. *Academy of Management Best Conference paper*, London:London School of Economics.
- Becker, S.G., & de Oliveira, C.M.L. (2008). Study on the absenteeism of nursing professionals in a psychiatric center in Manaus, Brazil. *Revista Latino-Americana de Enfermagem (RLAE)*, 16(1), 109-114.

- Beemsterboer, W., Stewart, R., Groothoff, J., & Nijhuis, F. (2008). The influence of sick leave frequency determinants on homogeneous groups in two socio-economically comparable, but socio-culturally different regions in The Netherlands. *Central European Journal of Public Health*, 16(4), 151-160.
- Beemsterboer, W. Stewart, R., Groothoff, J., & Nijhuis, F. (2009). A Literature Review on Sick Leave Determinants (1984-2004). *International Journal of Occupational Medicine and Environmental Health*, 22(2):169-179.
- Bekker, M.H.J., Croon, M. A., & Bressers, B. (2005). Childcare involvement, job characteristics, gender and work attitudes as predictors of emotional exhaustion and sickness absence. *Work & Stress*, 19(3), 221-237.
- Bekker, M.H.J., Rutte, C.G., & van Rijswijk, K. (2009). Sickness absence: A genderfocused review. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, 14(4), 405-418.
- Belita, A., Mbindyo, P., & English, M. (2013). Absenteeism amongst health workersdeveloping a typology to support empiric work in low-income countries and characterizing reported associations. *Human Resources for Health*, 11(34), 1-10.
- Bennett, H. (2002). Employee commitment: the key to absence management in local government? *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 23(8), 430-441.
- Benoliel, J.Q., McCorkle, R., Georgiadou, F., Denton, T., & Spitzer, A. (1990). Measurement of stress in clinical setting. *Cancer Nursing*, 13(4), 221-228.
- Benson, Z., & Leona, R. (2000). Causes of absenteeism of registered nurses in Saskatchewan, Nov, SRNA New Bulletin, Canada.
- Berg, A., Hansson, U.W., & Hallberg, I.R. (1994). Nurses' creativity, tedium and burnout during 1 year of clinical supervision and implementation of individually planned nursing care: comparisons between a ward for severely demented patients and a similar control ward. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 20, 742–769.

- Berger, A.M., & Hobbs, B.B. (2006). Impact of shift work on the health and safety of nurses and patients. *Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing*, Aug, 10(4), 465-471.
- Bernama (June 26, 2010). *Moratorium on new nursing colleges*. Kuala Lumpur: Berita Nasional Malaysia.
- Berry, W.D., & Feldman, S. (1985). *Multiple regression in practice*. Beverly Hills: Sage Publication.
- Bevan, S., & Hayday, S. (2001). Costing Sickness Absence in the UK. Institute of Employment Studies [iES] Report 382, United Kingdom.
- Bevan, S., Dench, S., Harper, H., & Hayday, S. (2004). How Employers Manage Absence, Employment Relations Research Series ERRS25, Department of Trade and Industry, UK.
- Billings, D.W., Folkman, S., Acree, M., & Moskowitz, J.T. (2000). Coping and physical health during care-giving: the roles of positive and negative affect. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 79, 131-142.
- Biron, M., & Bamberger, P. (2012). Aversive workplace condition and absenteeism: Taking referent group norms and supervisor support into account. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 97(4), 901-912.
- Black, D.C., & Frost, D (2011). *Health at work an independent review of sickness absence*. London: Department for Work and Pensions, UK.
- Blaikie, N. (2003). Analyzing quantitative data: From description to explanation. London: Sage Publication.
- Blau, G. (1985a). Job involvement and organizational commitment as interactive predictors of tardiness and absenteeism. *Journal of Management*, 15(4), 115-127.
- Blau, G. (1985b). Relationship of extrinsic, intrinsic, and demographic predictors to various types of withdrawal behaviors. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *70*, 577–584.

- Blum, M.L., & Naylor, J.C. (1968). *Industrial psychology: Its theoretical and social foundations*. New York: Harper and Row.
- Bolton, T., & Hughes, S. (2001). Absence Management, Oxford: Chandos publishing.
- Bond, F.W., & Bunce, D. (2003). The role of acceptance and job control in mental health, job satisfaction, and work performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88, 1057–1067.
- Borda, R.G., & Norman, I.J. (1997). Testing a model of absence and intent to stay in employment: a study of registered nurses in Malta. *Journal of Nursing Studies*, 34(5), 375-384.
- Borgogni, L., Russo, S.D., Miraglia, M., & Vecchione, M. (2013). The role of selfefficacy and job satisfaction on absence from work. *European Review of Applied Psychology*, 63(3), 129-136.
- Borritz, M., Regulies, R., Bjorner, J.B., Villadsen, E., Millelsen, O.A., & Kristensen, T.S. (2006). Burnout among employees in human service work: design and baseline findings of the PUMA study. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 34, 49-58.
- Bos, J., Kuijer, P.P.F., & Frings-Dresen, M.H.W. (2002). Definition and assessment of specific occupational demands concerning lifting, pushing, and pulling based on a systematic literature search. *Occupational Environmental Medicine*. 59, 800-806.
- Bourbonais, R.N., Vinet, A., Meyer, F., & Goldberg, M. (1992). Certified sick leave and workload: A case referent study among nurses. *Journal of Occupational Medicine*, 34, 69-74.
- Bourbonnais, R., Comeau, M., Ve´zina, M., & Guylaine, D. (1998). Job strain, psychological distress, and burnout in nurses. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 34, 20-28.
- Bourbonnais, R., & Mondor, M. (2001). Job strain and sickness absence among nurses in the province of Quebec. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, *39*(2), *194–202*.
- Boyle, A., Grap, M.J., Younger., J. & Thornby, D. (1991). Personality hardiness, ways of coping, social support and burnout in critical care nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 16, 850–857.
- Bradley, J.R., & Cartwright, S. (2002) Social support, job stress, health, and job satisfaction among nurses in the United Kingdom. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 9, 163–182.
- Bratt, M.M., Broome, M., Kelber, S., & Lostocco, L. (2000). Influence of stress and nursing leadership on job satisfaction of paediatric intensive care unit nurses. *American Journal of Critical Care*, 9, 307–317.
- Breaugh, J.A. (1981). Predicting absenteeism from prior absenteeism and work attitudes. Journal of Applied Psychology, 66, 555-560.
- Briner, R.B. (1996). ABC of work related disorders: Absence from work. *British Medical Journal*, 313, 874-877.
- Brislin, R.W. (1970). Back-translation for cross-cultural research. Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology, 1, 185-216.
- Britt, J. (2002). Workplace No-Shows' cost to employers rise again, *HR Magazine*, December, 26-29.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). The ecology of human development: experiments by nature and design. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Brooke, P.P. (1986). Beyond the Steers and Rhodes model of employee attendance. Academy of Management Review, 11, 345-361.
- Brooke, P.P., & Price, J.L. (1989). The determinants of employees absenteeism: an empirical test of a causal model. *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, 62, 1–19.
- Brooks, I. (1997). The lights are bright? Debating the future of the permanent night shift. *Journal of Management in Medicine*, 11(2). 58-70.

- Brown, J.D. (1996). *Testing in language programs*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall Regents.
- Bryant, C., Fairbrother, G., & Fenton, P. (2000). Professional issues: The relative influence of personal and workplace descriptors on stress. *British Journal of Nursing*, 9, 876–880.
- Bryman, A. (2004). *Social research methods*, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed., New York: Oxford University Press Inc.
- Bryman, A., & Bell, E. (2011). *Business research methods, 3<sup>rd</sup>* ed., New York: Oxford University Press Inc.
- Bryman, A., & Cramer, D. (1990). *Quatitative data analysis for social scientists*, London: Routledge.
- Buchan, J., & Aiken, L. (2008). Solving nursing shortages: a common priority. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 17(24), 3262–3268. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2702.2008.02636.
- Buchan, J., & Calman, L. (2004). *The global shortage of registered nurses: the overview of issues and actions*, Report of the International Council of Nurses, Geneva.
  Retrieved June 20, 2010: http://www.icn.ch/global/shortage.pdf.
- Buchan, J., & Seccombe, I. (1995). Managing nurse absence. *Health Manpower* Management, 21(2), 3-12.
- Bultmann, U., Huibers, M.J.H., van Amelsvoort, L.P.G.M., Kant, I., Kasl, S.V., & Swaen,
  G.M.H. (2005). Psychological distress, fatigue and long-term sickness absence:
  prospective results from the Maastricht cohort study. *Journal of Occupational & Environmental Medicine*, 47(9), 941-947.
- Burke, R.J., & Deszca, E. (1986). Correlates of psychological burnout phases among police officers. *Human Relations*, 39, 487-502.
- Burnard, P. (1991). *Coping with Stress in the Health Professions*. London: Chapman & Hall.

- Burrell, G., & Morgan, G. (1979). Sociological paradigms and organisational analysis.England: Heinemann educational Books.
- Buunk, B.P. (1990). Affiliation and helping interactions within organizations: a critical analysis of the role of social support with regard to occupational stress. In W. Stroebe & M. Hewstone (Eds.). *European review of social psychology* (vol. 1, pp. 293–322). Chichester: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Callaghan, P., & Field, M. (1991). Organisation and stress among mental nurses. *Nursing Times*, 87, 50.
- Camp, S.D., & Lambert, E.G. (2005). The influence of organizational incentives on absenteeism: sick leave use among correctional workers, Office of Research and Evaluation, Federal Bureau of Prisons, Washington, DC.
- Campbell, D.T., & Fiske, D.W. (1959). Convergent and discriminant validation in the multitrait-multimethod matrix. *Psychological Bulletin*, 56, 81-105.
- Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety. (2000). *Workplace stress general*. Retrieved July 7, 2011:http://www.ccohs.ca/oshanswers/psychosocial /stress.html.
- Canadian Nursing Advisory Committee (2002). *Our health, our future; creating quality workplaces for Canadian nurses*, Final Report, Ottawa, Canada: Health Canada, Committee on Health Human Resources.
- Cant, R., O'Loughlin, K. & Legge, V. (2001). Sick leave-cushion or entitlement? A study of age cohorts' attitudes and practice in two Australian workplaces. Work. 17(1), 39-49.
- Caplan, R.D., Cobb, S., French, J.R.P., Van Harrison, R. and Pinneau, S.R. (1975). *Job demands and worker health*, Institute for Social Research, Michigan: Ann Arbor.
- Carayon, P. (2007). Handbook of human factors and ergonomics in health care and patient safety, New York: Routledge.

- Carson, J., Cooper, C., Fagin, L., West, M. McElfatrick, S., De Villiers, N., O'Malley, P.,
  & Holloway, F. (1996). Coping skills in mental health nursing: Do they make a difference? *Journal of Psychiatric Mental Health Nursing*, 3(3), 201-202.
- Cascio, W.F. (1987). *Applied psychology in personnel management,* New York: Prentice-Hall Inc.
- Cattell, R.B. (1966). The scree test for the number of factors. *Multivariate Behavioural Research*, 1 (April), 245-276.
- Cavanagh, S.J. (1989). Nursing turnover: literature review and methodological critique. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 14(7), 587-596.
- Cavanagh, S.J., & Coffin, D.A. (1992). Staff turnover among hospital nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 17, 1369–1376.
- Cavana, R.Y., Delahaye, B.L., & Sekaran, U. (2001). Applied business research: qualitative and quantitative methods, Sydney: John Willy & Sons, Inc.
- Caverley, N., Cunningham. J.B., & MacGregor, J.N. (2007). Sickness Presenteeism, Sickness Absenteeism, and Health Following Restructuring in a Public Service Organization. *Journal of Management Studies* 44:2, 304-319.
- Chacko, S.B., & Huba, M.E. (1991). Academic achievement among undergraduate nursing students: the development and test of a causal model. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 30(6), 267-273.
- Chadwick-Jones, J.K., Brown, C.A., & Nicholson, N. (1973). A-type and B-type absence: empirical trend for women employees. *Occupational Psychology*, 47, 75-80.
- Chadwick-Jones, J.K., Brown, C.A., Nicholson, N., & Sheppard, C. (1971). Absence measures: their reliability and stability in an industrial setting. *Personnel Psychology*, 24, 463-470.
- Chadwick-Jones, J.K., Nicholson, N., & Brown, C. (1982). Social psychology of absenteeism, New York: Praeger.

- Champoux, J.E. (1978). A preliminary examination of some complex job scope-growth need strength interactions. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, 59-63.
- Champoux, J.E. (1980). A three sample test of some extensions to the job characteristics model of work motivation. *Academy of Management Journal*, 23(3), 466-478.
- Champoux, J.E. (1992). A multivariate analysis of curvilinear relationships among job scope, work context satisfactions, and affective outcomes. *Human Relations*, 45(1), 87-111.
- Chan, O.Y., Gan, S.L., & Chia, S.E. (1997). Sickness absence in private sector establishments in Singpaore. *Singapore Medical Journal*, 38(9), 379-383.
- Chang, E.M., & Hancock, K. (2003). Role stress and role ambiguity in new nursing graduates in Australia. *Nursing Health Sciences*, 5, 155–163.
- Chang, E.M., Hancock, K.M., Johnson, A., Daly, J., & Jackson, D. (2005). Role stress in nurses: review of related factors and strategies for moving forward. *Nursing Health Sciences*, 7, 57–65.
- Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development (CIPD) (2002). *Employee absence* 2002: A survey of management policy and practice. CIPD Survey Report, July 2002.
- Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development (CIPD) (2004). *Employee absence* 2004: A survey of management policy and practice, London: Chartered Institute of Personal Development.
- Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development (CIPD) (2006). *Employee absence* 2004: A survey of management policy and practice, London: Chartered Institute of Personal Development.
- Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development (CIPD) (2011). Annual survey report 2011: Absence management, London: Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development.

- Chee, H.L., & Rampal, K.G. (2003). Relation between sick leave and selected exposure variables among women semiconductor workers in Malaysia. *Occupational Environ Med*, 60, 262-270.
- Cheng, F.F.K. (1984). *Sickness absenteeism among workers in an electronic factory*, Department of Community Medicine, The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
- Chen, M.F., & Lien, G.Y. (2008). The mediating role of job stress in predicting retail banking employees' turnover intentions in Taiwan. *Service Operations and*
- Cheng, Y.C., Luh, W.M., & Guo, Y.L. (2003). Reliability and validity of the Chinese version in JCQ in Taiwanese workers. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 10(1), 15-50.
- Chia, K.S. (1988). *Sickness absence of migrant workers*. Department of Social Medicine and Public Health, National University of Singapore, Singapore.
- Choi, B.K., Bjorner, J.K., Ostergren, P., Clays, E., Houtman. I., Punnett, L., Rosengren, A., De Bacquer, D., Ferrario, M., Bilau, M., & Karasek, R. (2009). Cross-language differential Item functioning of the job content questionnaire among European countries: The JACE Study. *International Journal of Behavioural Medicine*, June, 16(2), 136–147.
- Choobineh, A., Ghaem, H., & Ahmedinejad, P. (2011). Validity and reliability of the Persian (Farsi) version of the Job Content Questionnaire: a study among hospital nurses. *Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal*, 17(4), 335-341.
- Christensen, K.B., Lund, T., Labriola, M., Villadsen, E., & Bultmann, U. (2007). The fraction of long-term sickness absence attributable to work environmental factors: prospective results from the Danish Work Environment Cohort Study, *Occupational Environment Med.*, 64,487–489.
- Chung, B., & Schneider, B. (2002). Serving multiple masters: role conflict experienced by service employees. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 16(1), 70-87.

- Clegg, C.W. (1983). Psychology of employee lateness, absence, and turnover: A methodological critique and an empirical study. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 68(1), 88-101.
- Cluskey, G.R., & Vaux, A. (1997). Vocational misfit: Source of occupational stress among accountants. *Journal of Applied Business Research*, 13, 43-54.
- Coakes, S.J., & Ong, C. (2011). SPSS version 18.0 for windows: Analysis without anguish. Milton: John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd.
- Cohen, J., Cohen, P., West, S.G., & Aiken, L.S. (2003). Applied Multiple Regression/Correlation Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences, 3<sup>rd</sup> ed., New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Cohen, A., & Golan, R. (2007). Absenteeism and work attitudes: An empirical examination of female employees in long term nursing care facilities. *Career Development International*, 12(5), 416-432.
- Cohen, J. (1969). Statistical power analysis for behavioural sciences, New York: Academic Press.
- Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2007). *Research methods in education* (6th Edition). London: Routledge.
- Cohen, S., & Wills, T.A. (1985). Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 98, 310-350.
- Colligan, T.W., & Higgin, E.M. (2005). Workplace Stress: Etiology and consequences. Journal of Workplace Behavioral Health, 21(2), 89-97.
- Collins, C.P. (1962). Sickness absence in the three principle ethnic divisions in Singapore. *British Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 19(2),116-122.
- Comfrey, A.L., & Lee, H.B. (1992). A first course in factor analysis. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

- Commerce Clearing House (CCH) (2005). *CCH unscheduled absence survey* costly: Problem of unscheduled absenteeism continues to perplex employers, 15<sup>th</sup> annual *CCH Unsheduled absence survey*. *CCH Incorporated*.
- Compensation Data Annual Survey (2006). *United States Compdata Surveys*. Retrieved: September 26, 2009: http://www.prweb.com/releases/2006/12/ prweb487000.htm.
- Confederation of British Industry (CBI) (1999). Focus on absence, *Absence and Labour Turnover Survey*, Confederation of British Industry, London.
- Confederation of British Industry (CBI) (2001a). *Pulling Together: 2001 absence and labour turnover survey*, in association with PPP Healthcare.
- Confederation of British Industry (CBI) (2001b). *Pulling Together: Fifteenth Annual Absence Survey*, Confederation of British Industry, London.
- Confederation of British Industry (CBI) (2005). Annual CBI / AXA Absence Survey, Confederation of British Industry, London.
- Confederation of British Industry (CBI) (2011). *Healthy returns? Absence and workplace health survey 2011*, Confederation of British Industry, London.
- Confederation of British Industry (CBI) (2013). *Fit for purpose- Absence and workplace health survey 2013*, Confederation of British Industry, London.
- Congiu, M.G., Falconer, M.B., Friedman, S.J., Hoffman, S.K., Kimberlin, D.L, Thomas, M.P., & Wood, G.R. (2012). A guide to employee benefits administration and leaves of absence. Chicago, US: Littler Mandelson.
- Conjuga, M., Hammig, O., Bauer, G.F., & Laubli, T. (2010). Correlates of short and longterm absence due to musculoskeletal disorders. *Occupational Medicine*, 60(5), 358-361.
- Constable, J.F., & Russell, D.W. (1986). The effect of social support and the work environment upon burnout among nurses. *Journal of Human Stress*, 12, 20–26.

- Conte, J.M., & Jacobs, R.R. (2003). Validity evidence linking polychronicity and big five personality dimensions to absence, lateness, and supervisory performance ratings. *Human Performance*, 16(2), 107–129.
- Cook, T.D., & Campbell, D.T. (1979). *Quasi-experimentation: Design and analysis issues for field settings*. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company.
- Cooper, C.L., & Cartwright, S. (1996). *Mental Health and Stress in the Workplace: A Guide for Employers*. HMSO, London.
- Cooper, C.L., & Marshall, J. (1978). Understanding Executive Stress, London: MacMillan.
- Cooper, C. L., Sloan, S. J., & Williams, S. (1988). Occupational stress indicator management Guide . Windsor: NFER-Wilson.
- Cooper, D.R., & Schindler, P.S. (2008). *Business research methods*, (10<sup>th</sup> edn.) New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Cropanzano, R., Rupp, D. E., & Byrne, Z. S. (2003). The relationship of emotional exhaustion to work attitudes, job performance, and organizational citizenship behaviors. Journal of Applied Psychology, 88, 160–169.
- Cordes, C.L., & Dougherty, T.W. (1993). A review and integration of research on job burnout. *Academy of Management Review*, *18*(*4*), 621-656.
- Costa, G. (1996). The impact of shift and night work on health. *Applied Ergonomics*, 27(1)1, 9-16
- Costa, G. (1997). Some guidelines for medical surveillance of shift workers. *Shiftwork International Newsletter*, 14(1), 130.
- Costello, A.B., & Osborne, J.W. (2005). Best practices in Exploratory Factor Analysis: Four recommendations for getting the most from your analysis. *Practical Assessment Research & Evaluation*, 10(7), 1-10.

- Cox, E.P. (1980). The optimal number of response alternatives for a scale: a review. Journal of Marketing Research, 17, 407-442.
- Cox, T., & Griffiths, A. (1995). The nature and measurement of work stress: theory and practice, In: Wilson, J.R., Corlett, E., Nigel, E. et al., eds. *Evaluation of human work: a practical ergonomics methodology*, 2nd ed. London: Taylor & Francis, 783–803.
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches, London: Sage.
- Crotty, M. (1998). The foundation of social research: meaning and perspectives in the research process, London: Sage.
- Cruz, D. (2007). Application of data screening procedures in stress research. *The New School Psychology Bulletin*, 5(2), 41-45.
- Dahlgren, K. (1981). Long-term adjustment of circadian rhythms to a rotating shift work Schedule. *Scadinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health*, 7,141-51.
- Daniels, K., & Guppy, A. (1994). Occupational stress, social support, job control, and psychological well-being. *Human Relations*, 47, 1523–1544.
- Davey, M.M., Cummings, G., Newburn-Cook, C.V., Lo, E.A. (2009). Predictors of nurse absenteeism in hospitals: a systematic review. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 17(3), 312-330.
- Dawkins, J.E., Depp, F.C., & Selzer, N.E. (1985). Stress and the psychiatric nurse. Journal of Psychosocial Nursing & Mental Health Services, 23, 8–15.
- Dean, R.A. (1998). Occupational stress in hospice care: Causes and coping strategies. American Journal of Hospice and Palliative Care, 15, 151–154.
- De Bacquer, D., Van Risseghem, M., Clays, E., Kittel, F., De Backer, G., & Braeckman,
   L. (2009). Rotating shift work and the metabolic syndrome: A prospective study.
   *International Journal of Epidemiology*. 38, 848-54. doi:10.1093/ije/dyn360.

- Deci, W.L., & Ryan, R.M. (2000). The "what" and "why" of goal pursuits: Human needs and the self determination of behavior. *Psychological Inquiry*, 11, 319–338.
- de Jonge, J., Dormann, C., Janssen, P.P.M., Dollard, M.F., Landeweerd, J. A., &, Nijhuis, F.J.N. (2001). Testing reciprocal relationships between job characteristics and psychological well-being: Across-lagged structural equation model. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 74, 29–46.
- de Jonge, J., Reuvers, M.E.N., Houtman, I.L.D., Bongers, P.M., & Kompier, M.A.J. (2000). Linear and nonlinear relations between psychosocial job characteristics, subjective outcomes, and sickness absence: baseline results from SMASH. Study on Musculoskeletal Disorders, Absenteeism, Stress, and Health. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 5(2), 256–268.
- Demerouti, E., & Bakker, A.B. (2011). The job demands- resources model: challenges for future research. *SA Journal of Industrial Psychology*, *37*(2), 9 pages. doi:10.4102/sajip.v37i2.974.
- Demerouti, E., Bakker, A.B., & Bulters, A.J. (2000a). The loss spiral of work pressure, work–home interference and exhaustion: Reciprocal relations in a three-wave study. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 64, 131–149.
- Demerouti, E., Bakker, A.B., De Jonge, J., Janssen, P.P.M., & Schaufeli, W.B. (2001a).
  Burnout and engagement at work as a function of demands and control.
  Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health, 27, 279-286.
- Demerouti, E., Bakker, A.B., Nachreiner, F., & Schaufeli, W.B. (2000b). A model of burnout and life satisfaction among nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 32, 454– 464.
- Demerouti, E., Bakker, A.B., Nachreiner, F., & Schaufeli, W.B. (2001b). The job demands-resources model of burnout. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86, 499-512.

- Demerouti, E., & Geurts, S. (2004). Towards a typology of work-home interaction. *Community, Work & Family,* 7(3), 285-309.
- de Smet, P., Sans, S., Dramaix, M., Boulenguez, C., de Backer, G., Ferrario, M., Cesana, G., Houtman, I., Isacsson, S.O., Kittel, F., Ostergren, P.O., Peres, I., Pelfrene, E., Romon, M., Rosengren, A., Wilhelmsen, L., & Kornitzer, M. (2005). Gender and regional differences in perceived job stress across Europe. *Europe Journal of Public Health*, 15(5), 536-545.
- de Vaus, D.A. (1991). Surveys in Social Research, 3rd edn. Sydney, NSW: Allen and Unwin.
- de Vaus, D. (2002). Surveys in social research, 5th edn. NSW: Allen & Uwin.
- Drago, R., & Wooden, M. (1995). A disaggregated approach to the study of absence from work. *Labour and Industry*, 6, 45-67.
- Driver, R.W., & Watson, C.J. (1989). Construct validity of voluntary and involuntary absenteeism. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 4(1), 109-122.
- Drucker, P. (1993). *Post-capitalist society*. New York: Harper Business, Harper Collins Inc.
- Duijts, S.F.A., Kant, I., Swaen, G.M.H., van den Brandt, P.A., & Zeegers, M.P.A. (2007).
   A meta-analysis of observational studies identifies predictors of sickness absence.
   Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 60, 1105-1115.
- Dwyer, D.J., & Ganster, D.C. (1991). The effects of job demands and control on employee attendance and satisfaction. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 12, 595– 608.
- Easterby-Smith, M., Thorpe, R., & Lowe, A. (2002). Management Research: An Introduction, London: Sage.

- Eby, L., Freeman, D., Rush, M., & Lance, C. (2000). Motivational bases of affective organizational commitment: A partial test of an integrative theoretical model. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 72, 463-483.
- Edwards, J.E. & Thomas, M.D. (1993). The organizational survey process: general steps and practical consideration. *The American Behavuiral Science Review*, 36(4), 419-442.
- Edwards, J.R. (1996). An examination of competing versions of the person-environment fit approach to stress. *Academy of Management Journal*, 39, 292-339.
- Edwards, J.R., & Parry, M.E. (1993). On the use of polynomial regression equations as an alternative to difference scores in organizational research. *Academy of Management Journal*, *36*, 1577-1613.
- Eisenberger, R., Huntington, R., Hutchison, S., & Sowa, D. (1986). Perceived organizational support. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *71*, 500–507.
- Elmore, P. E., & Beggs, D.L. (1975). Salience of concepts and commitment to extreme judgments in response pattern of teachers. *Education*, *95*, 325–334.
- Elovainio, M., Kivimaki, M., & Vahtera, J. (2002). Organisational justice: Evidence of a new psychosocial predictor of health. *American Journal of Public Health*, 92, 105-108.
- Elsass, P.M., & Veiga, J.F. (1997). Job control and job strain: A test of three models. Journal of Occupational Health Psychology, 2, 195-211.
- Engels, J., van der Gulden, J., Senden, T., & van't Hof, B. (1996). Work-related risk factors for musculoskeletal complaints in the nursing profession: results of a questionnaire survey. *Journal of Occupational Environmental Medicine*, 53, 636-641.

- Eriksen, W., Bruusgaard, D., & Knardahl, S. (2003). Work factors as predictors of sickness absence: a three month prospective study of nurses' aides. *Occupational* and Environmental Medicine, 60, 271-278.
- Erickson, R.J., Nichols, L. & Ritter, C. (2000). Family influences on absenteeism: Testing an expanded process model. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 57, 246–272.
- Eshoj, P., Jepsen, J.R., & Nielsen, C.V. (2001). Long-term sickness absence-risk indicators among ocupationally active residents of a Danish county. *Occupational Medicine*, 51, 347–353.
- Estryn-Behar, M., Kaminski, M., Peigne, E., Bonnet, N., Vaichere, E., Gozlan, C., Azoulay, S., & Giorgi, M. (1990). Stress at work and mental health status among female hospital workers. *British Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 47, 20–28.
- European Agency for Safety and Health at Work. (2002). *Working on stress*. Luxembourg: Office for the Official Publications of the European Communities. ISSN1608-4144. Retrieved 15 August, 2011, http://www.osha.europa.eu..int/ew2002.
- Europeaan Commission Directorate-General for Employment and Social Affairs (2000). *Guidance on work-related stress-Spice of life or kiss of dealth?* Office for Official Publication of the European Communities.
- European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (2007). Work-related stress. Dublin. Retrieved 15 August, 2011, http://www.eurofound.europa.eu.
- Evans, A., & Walters, M. (2002). *From absence to attendance*, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed., London: Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development.
- Fabrigar, L. R., Wegener, D.T., MacCallum, R.C., & Strahan, E.J. (1999). Evaluating the use of exploratory factor analysis in psychological research. *Psychological Methods*, 4(3), 272-299.

- Farrell, D., & Stamm, C.L. (1988). Meta-analysis of the correlates of employee absence. *Human Relations*, 41, 211–227.
- Ferguson, T.F., Ferguson, W.L., Muedder, K., & Fitzgerald, M.P. (2001). The case for total absence management and integrated benefits. *Human Resources Planning*, 24, 36-46.
- Ferrie, J.E., Kivimiki, M., Head, J., Shipley, M.J., Vahtera, J., & Marmot, M.G. (2005). A comparison of self-reported sickness absence with absences recorded in employers' registers: evidence from the Whitehall II study. *Occupational Environmental Medicine*, 62, 74-79.
- Ferris, G.R., Bergin, T.G., & Wayne, S.J. (1988). Personal characteristics, job performance, and absenteeism of public school teachers. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 18, 552–563.
- Fichman, M. (1984). A theoretical approach to understanding employee absence. In P.S.Goodman & S. Atkin (1984) Absenteeism: New approaches to understanding, measuring and managing employee absence, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Fillion, L., Dupuis, R., Tremblay, I., Breitbart, W., & De Grace, G.R. (2006). Enhancingmeaning in palliative care practice: A meaning-centered intervention to promote job satisfaction. *Palliative and Supportive Care*, 4, 333–344.
- Fillion, L., Tremblay, I., Truchon, M., Co<sup>t</sup>e, D., Struthers, C.W., & Dupuis, R. (2007). Job satisfaction and emotional distress among nurses providing palliative care: Empirical evidence for an integrative occupational stress-model. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 14(1), 1–25.
- Fineman, S., & Payne, R. (1981). Role stress- A methodological trap? Journal of Occupational Behaviour, 2, 51-64.
- Fishbein, M., & Ajzen, C. (1980). Understanding attitudes and predicting social behaviour, Engledwood Cliff: Prentice Hall.

- Fisher, J.D., Nadler, A., & Whitcher-Alagna, S. (1982). Recipient reactions to aid. *Psychological Bulletin*, 91, 27–54.
- Fletcher, B.C., Jones, F., & McGregor, J. (1991). The stressors and strains of health visiting: Demands, supports, constraints and psychological health. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 16, 1078–1098.
- Flynn, L. & Peacy, D. (2001). Four subtle sins in scale development: Some suggestions for strengthening the current paradigm. *International Journal of Market Research*, 43: (4) 409-433.
- Fox, M.L., Dwyer, D.J., & Ganster, D.C. (1993). Effects of stressful job demands and control on physiological and attitudinal outcomes in a hospital setting. *Academy of Management Journal*, 36, 289–318.
- Foxall, M., Zimmerman, L., Standley, R., & Bene, C.A. (1990). Comparison of frequency and sources of nursing job stress perceived by intensive care, hospice and medicalsurgical nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 15, 577-584.
- Frankenhaueuser, M., & Gardell, B. (1976). Underload and overload in working life: outline of a multidisciplinary approach. *Journal of Human Stress*, 7, 129-170.
- French. J.R.P., & Caplan, R.D. (1970). Psychosocial factors in coronary heart disease. *Industrial Medicine*, 39, 383-398.
- French, J.K.P., & Caplan, R.D. (1973). Organizational stress and individual strain. In A.J. Murrow {ed).*The failure of success:* 30-66, New York: Amacom.
- French, J., Caplan, R. & Van Harrison, R. (1982). *The mechanisms of job stress and strain*, New York: Wiley & Sons.
- Fresco, A., & Norfolk, A. (2000). Patients put at risk as stress rises in nursing. *The Times*. London: Friday, 12 May 2000:5L.
- Friedman, H.H., Wilamowsky, Y., & Friedman, L.W. (1981). A comparison of balanced and unbalanced rating scales. *The Mid-Atlantic Journal of Business*, *19*, 2, 1-7.

- Frings-Dresen, M.H.W., & Sluiter, J.K. (2003). Development of a job-specific FCE protocol: The work demands of hospital nurses as an example. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 13(4), 223-248.
- Fuhrer, R., Shipley, M.J., Chastang, J.F., Schmaus, A., Niedhammer, I., Stansfeld, S.A., Goldberg, M., & Marmot, M.G. (2002). Socioeconomic position, health, and possible explanations: A tale of two cohorts. *American Journal of Public Health*, 98, 1290-1294.
- Fullagar, C. J., & Kelloway, E. K. (2009). Flow at work: An experience sampling approach. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 82(3), 595-615.
- Fulton, Y. (1997). Nurses' view of empowerment: a critical social theory perceptive. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 26, 529-534.
- Furnham, A., & Bramwell, M. (2006). Personality Factors Predict Absenteeism in the Workplace. *Individual Differences Research*, 4(2), 68-77.
- Gagne, M., Senecal, C.B., & Koestner, R. (1997). Proximal job characteristics, feelings of empowerment, and intrinsic motivation: A multidimensional model. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 27(14), 1222-1240.
- Gale, S.F. (2003). Sickened by the cost of absenteeism, companies look for solutions. *Workforce Management*, 82(9), 72.
- Ganster, D.C., & Schaubroeck, J. (1991). Work stress and employee health. *Journal of Management*, 7, 235-271.
- Gardner, D.G., & Cummings, L.L. (1988). Activation theory and job design: review and reconceptualization. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, 10. 81-122.
- Garland, R. (1991). The mid-point on the rating scale: Is it desirable? *Marketing Bulletin*, 2, 66-70. Research notes 3.
- Garrett, R.G. (1989). The chi-square plot: A tool for multivariate outlier recognition. Journal of Geochemical Exploration. 32, 319-341.

- Garrison, A.M., & Muchinsky, P.M. (1977). Attitudinal and biographical predictors of incidental absenteeism. *Journal of Vocational Behaviour*, 10, 221-230.
- Gatchel, R.J., & Baum, A. (2009). *Biobehavioral mediators* of stress and quality of life in occupational settings. In Rossi, A.M., Quick, J.C., Perrewé, P.L. (Eds) (2009).
  Chapter xi pp. 169-182, Charlotte, US: Information Age Publishing.
- Gauci Borda, R., & Norman, I.J. (1997). Testing a model of absence and intent to stay in employment: a study of registered nurses in Malta. *International Nursing Studies*, 34 (5), 375–384.
- Gaudet, F.J. (1963). Solving the problem of employee absence, New York: American Management Association.
- Gellatly, I.R. (1995).Individual and group determinants of employee absenteeism: test of a causal model. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 16, 469–485.
- Gellatly, I.R., & Irving, P.G. (2001). Personality, autonomy, and contextual performance of managers. *Human Performance*, 14(3), 231–245.
- Gibson, J. Q. (1966). Toward a conceptualization of absence behaviour of personnel in organization. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 11, 107-133.
- Gibson, J. L., Ivancevich, J. M., Donnelly, J. H., & Konopaske, R. (2009). Organizations: Behavior, structure, processes (13th ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Gill, J. & Johnson, P. (1991). Research Methods, London: Paul Chapman.
- Gimeno, D., Benavides, F.G., Amick III, B.C., Joan Benach, J., & Martinez, J.N. (2004). Psychosocial factors and work related sickness absence among permanent and nonpermanent employees, *Journal of Epidemiology Community Health*, 58, 870–876.
- Gist, M.E., & Mitchell, T.R. (1992). Self-efficacy: A Theoretical analysis of its determinants and malleability. *Academy of Management*, 17(2), 183-211.

- Goldberg, C.B., & Waldman, D.A. (1999). Modeling employee absenteeism: testing alternative measures and mediated effects based on job satisfaction. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 21(6), 665-676.
- Goldberg, D.P., & Hillier, V.F. (1979). A scaled version of the General Health Questionnaire. *Psychological Medicine*, 9,139-145.
- Goodman, L.A. (1960). On the exact variance of products. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 55, 708-713.
- Goodman, P.S., Atkin, R.S., & Associates (1984). Absenteeism: New approaches to understanding, measuring, and managing employee absence, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Gonzalez-Roma, V., Vaananen, A., Ripoll, P., Caballer, A., Peiro, J.M., & Kivimaki, M. (2005). Psychological climate, sickness absence and gender. *Psicothhema*, 17(1), 169-174.
- Grandey, A.A. (2000). Emotion regulation in the workplace: A new way to conceptualize emotional labor. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 5(1)1, 95-110.
- Gray, D.E. (2009). *Doing research in the real world*. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed., London: Sage Publication Ltd.
- Gray-Toft, P.A., & Anderson, J.G. (1983). A hospital staff support program: Design and Evaluation. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 20(3), 137–145.
- Gray-Toft, P.A., & Anderson, J.G. (1985). Organisational stress in the hospital: development of a model for diagnosis and prediction. *Health Service Research*, 19, 753–774.
- Greenglass, E.R., & Burke, R.J. (2001). Stress and the effects of hospital restructuring in nurses. *Canadian Journal of Nursing Research*, 33, 93-108.
- Greenglass, E.R., Burke, R.J., & Fiksenbaum, L. (2001). Workload and burnout in nurses. Journal of Community and Applied Social Psychology, 11, 211-215.

- Greenglass, E., Burke, R.J., & Konarski, R. (1998). Components of burnout, resources and gender-related differences. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 28, 1088– 1106.
- Greenglass, E.R., Burke, R.J., & Moore, K.A. (2003). Reactions to increased workload: Effects on professional efficacy of nurses. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 52(4), 580-597.
- Greenhaus, J.H., & Beutell, N.J. (1985). Sources of conflict between work and family roles. *Academy of Management Review*, 10, 76-88.
- Griffiths, C.M.P. (2000). The effectiveness of current approaches to workplace stress management in the nursing profession: an evidence based literature review. *Occupational Environment Medicine*, 60, 10-15.
- Grix, J. (2004). The foundations of research, London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Grovle, L., Haugen, A.J., Keller, A., Natvig, B., Brox, J.I., & Grotle, M. (2012). Poor agreement found between self-report and a public registry on the duration of sickness absence. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 65(2), 212-218.
- Gross, A. (2001). *HR in Malaysia: An overview. Pacific Bridge, Inc.* Retrieved August 14, 2009: http://www.pacificbridge.com/publication.asp?id=14.
- Grundemann, R. (1997). *Preventing absenteeism at the workplace (summary,* Luxembourg, Publications Office of the European Union.
- Grundemann, R.W.M., & Vuuren, C.V. (1997). Preventing absenteeism at the workplace: European Research Report. European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of European Communities, 43–44.
- Gump, B.B., & Kulik, J.A. (1997). Stress, affiliation, and emotional contagion. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 72, 305–319.

- Gurchiek, K. (2005). I can't make it to work today, boss.... Gotta round up my ostriches. *HR Magazine*, March, 30.
- Gutek, B.A., Searle, S., & Klepa, L. (1991). Rational versus gender role explanations for work-family conflict. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 76, 560-568.
- Hackett, R.D., & Bycio, P. (1996). An evaluation of employee absenteeism among hospital nurses. *Journal of Occupational & Organizational Psychology*, 69, 327-338.
- Hackett, R.D., Bycio, P., & Guion, R.M. (1989). Absenteeism among hospital nurses: An idiographic-longitudinal Analysis. *The Academy of Management Journal*, 32(2), 424-453.
- Hackett, R.D., & Guion, R.M. (1985). A reevaluation of the absenteeism-job satisfaction relationship. Organizational Behaviour and Human Decision Processes, 35, 340-381.
- Hackman, J.R., & Lawler, E.E. (1971). Employee reactions to job characteristics. *Journal* of Applied Psychology Monograph, 1971, 56, 259-286.
- Hackman, J. R., & Oldham, G. R. (1976). Motivation through the design of work: Test of a Theory. Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, 16, 250–279.
- Hackman, J.R., & Oldham, G.R. (1980). Work redesign, Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Haines, V.A., Hurlbert, J.S., & Zimmer, C. (1991). Occupational stress, social support, and the buffer hypothesis. *Work and Occupations*, 18, 212-235.
- Hakanen, J.J., Bakker, A.B., & Schaufeli, W.B. (2006). Burnout and work engagement among teachers. *Journal of School Psychology*, 43, 495-513.
- Halbesleben, J.R.B., & Buckley, M.R. (2004). Burnout in organizational life. *Journal of Management*, 30, 859-879.

- Haider, M, Kundi, M., & Koller, M. (1981). Methodological issues and problems in shift work research, in Johnson, L.C (Eds) *Proceedings, The 24 hour Workday*, National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health, Niosh, USA, 197-220.
- Hair, J.F., Anderson, R.E., Tatham, R.L., & Black, W.C. (1998). Multivariate data analysis. (5<sup>th</sup> ed). New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- Hair, J.F., Black, W.C., Babin, B.J., Anderson, R.E., & Tatham, R.L. (2006). *Multivariate data analysis*. (6<sup>th</sup> ed.). New Jersey: Pearson Prentice Hall.
- Hair, J.F., Money, A.H., Samouel, P., & Page, M. (2007). *Research methods for business*.Chichester: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Ham, C. (2003). Improving the performance of health services; the role of clinical leadership. *The Lancet*, 361, 1978–1980.
- Hammar, N., Alfredsson, L., & Theorell, T. (1994). Job characteristics and the incidence of myocardial infarction. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 23, 277–284.
- Hammer, T.H., & Landau, J. (1981). Methodological issues in the use of absence data. Journal of Applied Psychology, 60(2), 159-170.
- Hanebuth, D., Meinel, M., & Fischer, J. (2006). Health-related auality of life, psychosocial work conditions, and absenteeism in an industrial sample of blue- and white-collar employees: A comparison of potential predictors. *Journal of Occupational & Environmental Medicine*, 48(1) 28-37.
- Hanisch, K.A., & Hulin, C.L. (1991). General attitudes and organizational withdrawal:An evaluation of causal model. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 39, 110-128.
- Hardy, G.E., Shapiro, D.A., & Borrill, C.S. (1997). Fatigue in the workforce of National Health Service Trusts: levels of symptomatology and links with minor psychiatric disorder, demographic, occupational and work role factors. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 43, 83–92.

- Hardy, G.E., Woods, D., & Wall, T.D. (2003). The impact of psychological distress on absence from work. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88, 306-314.
- Harma, M. (1997). Health counselling on individuals' coping strategies to reduce sleepiness in shift work. *Shiftwork International Newsletter*, 14(1), 58.
- Harma, M., Seitsamo, J., & Ilmarinen, J. (1997). Shiftwork, ageing and health. *Shiftwork International Newsletter*, 14(1) 127.
- Harrison, D.A., & Hulin, G.L. (1989). Investigations of absenteeism: Using event history models to study the absence-taking process. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 74, 300-316
- Harrison, D.A., & Martocchio, J.J. (1998). Time for Absenteeism: A 20 year Review of origin, offshoots and outcomes. *Journal of Management*, 24, 305-350.
- Harrison, D.A., Newman, D.A., & Roth, P.L. (2006). How important are job attitudes?Metaanalytic comparisons of integrative behavioral outcomes and time sequences.*Academy of Management Journal*, 49, 305-325.
- Harrison, D.A., & Shaffer, M.A. (1994). Comparative examinations of self-reports and perceived absenteeism norms: Wading through Lake Wobegon. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 79(2), 240-251.
- Harrison, L., & Nixon, G. (2002). Nursing activity in general intensive care. Journal of Clinical Nursing, 11, 158–167.
- Hartel, C., Zerbe, W., & Ashkanasy, N.M. (2005), *Emotions in organizational Behavior*. New Jersey: Lawrence Erbaum Associates.
- Harvey, V., & McMurray, N. (1994). Self-efficacy: a means of identifying problems in nursing education and career progress. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 31(5), 471-485.
- Healy, C., & McKay, M.F. (1999). Identifying sources of stress and job satisfaction in the nursing environment. *Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 17, 30–35.

- Healy, C., & McKay, M.F. (2000). Nursing stress: the effects of coping strategies and job satisfaction in a sample of Australian nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 31, 681-688.
- Head, H., Kivimaki, M., Martikainen, P., Vahtera, J., Ferrie, J.E., & Marmot, M.G. (2006). Influence of change in psychosocial work characteristics on sickness absence: the Whitehall II study. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 60, 55–61.
- Hegney, D., Plank, A., & Parker, V. (2003). Nursing workloads: the results of a study of Queensland nurses. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 11, 307-314.
- Hekman, D. R., Bigley, G. A., Steensma, H. K., & Hereford, J. F. (2009). Combined effects of organizational and professional identification on the reciprocity dynamic for professional employees. *The Academy of Management Journal*, 52(3), 506-526.
- Hemingway, H., Martin, J.S., Stansfeld, S., & Marmot, M. (1997). Sickness absence from back pain, psychosocial work characteristics and employment grade among office workers. *Scandinavian Journal of Work Environmental Health*, 23, 12 1-129.
- Hemingway, M.A., & Smith, C.S. (1999). Organizational climate and occupational stressors as predictors of withdrawal behaviours and injuries in nurses. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 72, 285–299.
- Henderson, V. (1978). The concept of nursing. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 3, 113–130.
- Hensing, G., Alexanderson, K., Alleback, P., & Bjurulf, P. (1998). How to measure sickness absence? Literature review and suggestion of five basic measures. *Scandinavian Journal of Social Medicine*, 26, 133–144.
- Hensing, G., Spak, F., Alexanderson, K., & Alleback, P. (1997). Sick-leave among women and the role of psychiatric disorder. *Scandinavian Journal of Social Medicine*, 25,185–192.

- Hernandez, D. (2006). An Important Return-to-Work Tool. US Department of Labor WCD.
- Herzberg, F. (1966). Work and the nature of man. Cleveland: World.
- Herzberg, F. (1968). One more time: How do you motivate employees? *Harvard Business Review*, January-February, 58-62.
- Herzberg, F., Mausner, B., Peterson, R. O., & Capwell, D. F. (1957). *Job attitudes Review of research and opinion*, Pittsburgh, Pa.: Psychological Service of Pittsburgh.
- Heymann, J., Earle, A., & Hayes, J. (2007). *The Work, Family and Equity Index: How Does the United States Measure Up?* Institute for Health & Social Policy, 2007.
  Retrieved August 24, 2009: http://www.mcgill.ca/files/ihsp/WFEIFinal2007.pdf.
- Higgins, A., O'Halloran, P., & Porter, P. (2012). Management of long term sickness absence: A systematic realist review. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 22(3), 322-332.
- Hillhouse, J.J., & Adler, C.M. (1997). Investigating stress effect patterns in hospital staff nurses: result of cluster analysis. *Social Science and Medicine*, 45, 1781–1788.
- Hill, J.M., & Trist, E.L. (1955). A consideration of industrial accidents as means of withdrawal from the work situation. *Human Relations*, 8, 121-152.
- Hinrichs, J.R. (1980). *Controlling absenteeism and turnover*, New York: Work in America Institute.
- Hirschfeld, R.R., Schmitt, L.P., & Bedeian, A.G. (2002). Job-content perceptions, performance-reward expectancies, and absenteeism among low-wage public sector clerical employees. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 16(4), 553-564.
- Ho, J.T. (1997). Corporate wellness programmes in Singapore: effects on stress, satisfaction and absenteeism. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 12(3), 177-180.
- Hobfoll, S.E. (1989). Conservation of resources. A new attempt at conceptualizing stress. *American Psychologist*, 44(3), 513-24.

- Hobfoll, S.E. (2001). The influence of culture, community, and the nested-self in the stress process: advancing conservation of resources theory. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 50, 337-370.
- Hobfoll, S.E. (2002). Social and psychological resources and adaptation. *Review of General Psychology*, 6, 307-324.
- Hochschild, A.R. (1983). *The managed heart. commercialization of human feeling*, Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Hochwarter, W.A., Kacmar, C., Perrewe', P.L., & Johnson, D. (2003). Perceived organizational support as a mediator of the relationship between politics perceptions and work outcomes. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 63, 438–456.
- Hockey, G.R.J. (1993). Cognitive-energetical control mechanisms in the management of work demands and psychological health, in Baddely, A., Weiskrantz, L. (Eds). *Attention: selection, awareness, and control*, Oxford: Clarendon Press, 328-345.
- Hofstede, G. (1991). Cultures and organizations software of the mind, intercultural cooperation and its importance for survival, Cambridge, England: McGraw-Hill.
- Hogston, R. (1995). Nurses' perceptions of the impact of continuing professional education (CPE) on the quality of nursing care. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 22, 586-593.
- Holmbeck, G.N. (1997). Towards terminological, conceptual, and statistical clarity in the study of mediators and moderators: Examples from the child-clinical and pediatric psychology literatures. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 65(4), 599-610.
- Holtermann, A., Mortensen, O.S., Burr, H., Sogaard, K., Gyntelberg, F., & Suadicani, P. (2010). Physical demands at work, physical fitness, and 30-year ischaemic heart disease and all-cause mortality in the Copenhagen Male Study. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, 36(5), 357–365.

- Hope, A., Kelleher, C.C., & O'Connor, M. (1998). Lifestyle practices and the health promoting environment of hospital nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 28, 438– 447.
- Hornquist, J., Zar, M., & Hansson, B. (1993). Precursors of repeated shortterm sick leave: an empiric review of some background, job and well-being characteristics. *Scandinavian Journal of Social Medicine*, 21, 164-170.
- House, J.S., McMichael, A.J., Wells, J.A., Kaplan, B.N., & Landerman, L.R. (1979).
  Occupational stress and health among factory workers. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 20, 139-160.
- Houtman, I.L.D., Bongers, P.M., Smulders, P.G.W., & Kompier, M.A.J. (1994).
   Psychosocial stressors at work and musculoskeletal problems. *Scandinavian Journal* of Work Environmental Health, 20(2), 139-145.
- Hoyt, P. (2007). An international approach to problem solving for better health nursing. *International Nursing Review*, 54, 100-106.
- Huczynski, A.A., & Fitzpatrick, M.J. (1989). *Managing employee absence for a competitive edge*, London: Pitman.
- Huibers, M.J.H., Bultmann, U., Kasl, S.V., Kant, I., van Amelsvoort, L.G.P.M., van Schayck, C.P., & Swaen, G.M.H. (2004). Predicting the Two-Year Course of Unexplained Fatigue and the Onset of Long-Term Sickness Absence in Fatigued Employees: Results from the Maastricht Cohort Study. *Journal of Occupational & Environmental Medicine*, 46(10), 1041-1047.
- Hulin, C. L. (1991). Adaptation, persistence, and commitment in organizations, In M.
   Dunnette (Ed.) *Handbook of organizational psychology*, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed., 445-505, New York: John Wiley.
- Huse, E.F., & Taylor, E.K. (1962). The reliability of absence measures. Journal of Applied Psychology, 46, 159-160.

- Idris, M.K. (2011). Overtime effects of role stress on psychological strain among Malaysian Public University Academics. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 2(9), 154-161.
- Igbaria, M.E., Livari, J., & Maragahh, H. (1995). Why do individuals use computer technology? A Finnish case study. *Information and Management*, 5, 227-238.
- Igbaria, M., Parasuraman, S., & Baroudi, J.J. (1996). A motivational model of microcomputer usage. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 13,1, 127-143.
- Ilgen, D.R. (1977). Attendance behavior: A re-evaluation of Latham and Pursell's conclusion. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 62, 230-244.
- Ilgen, D.R., & Hollenback, J.H. (1977). The role of job satisfaction and job performance: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 97, 251-271.

Income Data Services (IDS) (1988). Absence Control, London: Study 403.

- Incomes Data Services (IDS) (1998). Managing Absence, Incomes Data Services, London.
- Indran, S.K., Gopal, R. K., & Omar, A. (1995). Absenteeism in the workforce, Klang Valley, Malaysia-preliminary report. Asia Pacific Public Health, 8(2), 109-113.
- Ingersoll, R.M. (2004). Four myths about America's quality problem, in M.A. Smylie andD. Miretzky (eds). *Developing the workforce* (University of Chicago Press, Chicago), pp. 1-33.
- International Labour Office (ILO) (1986). Psychosocial factors at work: recognition and control. *Report of the joint ILO/WHO Committee on Occupational Health*, 1984, Geneva: International Labour Office.
- Iqbal, A. (2013). Impact of job autonomy, supervisor and co-wo-worker support on job burnout and satisfaction: The mediatig role of emotional labour. *International Journal of Economics and Management Science*, 2(6), 67-73.

- Isacsson, A., Hanson, B., Janzon, L., & Kugelberg, G. (1992). The epidemiology of sick leave in an urban population in Malmoe, Sweden. Scandinavian Journal of Social Medicine, 20, 234-239.
- Ivancevich, J.M., & Ganster, D.C. (1987). *Job stress: From theory to suggestion*. New York: Haworth.
- Jackson, C. (2007). General Health Questionnaire. *Occupational Medicine*, 57 (1), 79. doi: 10.1093/occmed/kql169.
- Jackson, S.E. (1983). Participation in decision making as a strategy for reducing jobrelated strain. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 68(1), 3-19
- Jackson, S.E., & Maslach, C. (1982). After-effects of job related stress: Families as victims. *Journal of Occupatonal Behaviour*, 3, 63-77.
- Jackson, S.E., & Schuler, R.S. (1983). Preventing employee burnout. *Personnel*, 60(2), 58-68.
- Jackson, S.E., & Schuler, R.S. (1985). A meta-analysis and conceptual critique of research on role ambiguity and conflict in work setting. *Organizational Behaviour* and Human Decision Process, 36, 16-78.
- Jamal, M. (1981). Shift work related to job attitudes, social participation and withdrawal behavior: A study of nurses and industrial workers. *Personnel Psychology*, 34(3), 535-547.
- Jamal, M. (1984). Job stress and job performance controversy: An empirical Assessment. Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, 33, 1–21.
- Jamal, M., & Baba, V.V. (1997). Shift work, burnout, and well-being. International Journal of Stress Management, 4, 197-204.
- Jandaghi, G.R., Fard, S.M.H., Saadatmand, M., Sharahi, I.C., & Rajabi, M. (2011). Investigation the relationship between job traits and job stress. *Australian Journal of Business and Management Research*, 1(5), 24-31.

- Janssen, P.P., de Jonge, J., & Bakker, A. (1999). Specific determinants of intrinsic work motivation, burnout, and turnover intentions: A study among nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 29(6), 1360-1369.
- Jansz, J. & Timmers, M. (2002). Emotional dissonance: When the experience of an emotion jeopardizes an individual's identity. *Theory Psychology*, 12(1), 79-95.
- Jenkins, D.A. (2006). Examining the relationships between the satisfaction of basic psychological needs, employee well-being and commitment, Carleton University, Canada.
- Jenkins, R. (1985). Minor psychiatric morbidity in employed young men and women and its contribution to sickness absence. *British Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 42,147–154.
- Jenkins, R. (1991). Demographic aspects of stress, in Cooper, C.L., Payne, R. (Eds) Personality and Stress, Individual Differences in the Stress Process, New York: Wiley, 107-132.
- Jex, S.M., Hughes, P., Storr, C., Baldwin, D.C.Jr., Conard, S., & Sheehan, D.V. (1991). Behavioral consequences of job related stress among resident physicians: the mediating role of psychological strain. *Psychology Reports*, 69, 339–349.
- Joensuu, M., & Lindstrom, K. (2003). Sickness absence and stress factors at work. Finnish Institute of Occupational Health. Retrieved 10 June, 2011, http://www.fahs.surrey.ac.uk/stress\_impact/publications.
- Johns, G. (1994a). How often were you absent? A review of the use of self-reported absence data. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 79(4), 574-591.
- Johns, G. (1994b). Absenteeism estimates by employees and managers: Divergent perspectives and self-serving perception. *Journal of Applied Psychology*. 79(2), 1-17.

- Johns, G. (1997). Contemporary research on absence from work: Correlates, causes and Consequences. *International Review of Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 12, 115–173.
- Johns, G. (1978). Attitudinal and non-attitudinal predictors of two forms of absence from Work. Organizational Behaviour and Human Performance, 22, 431–444.
- Johns, G. (2003). How methodological diversity has improved our understanding of absenteeism from work, *Human Resource Management Review*, 13, 157–184.
- Johns, G. (2007). Absenteeism. In G. Ritzer (Ed.). Blackwell encyclopedia of sociology. Blackwell Publishing. Blackwell Reference Online. Retrieved June 23, 2008: http://www.blackwellreference.com.
- Johns, G. (2008). Organizational Behavior: Understanding and Managing life at work, New York: Pearson.
- Johns, G., & Nicholson, N. (1982). The meanings of absence: New strategies for theory and research. *Research in Organizational Behaviour*, 4, Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Johns, G., & Xie, J. L. (1998). Perception of absence from work: People's Republic of China verses Canada. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 83(4), 515-530.
- Johnson, C. J., Croghan, E., & Crawford, J. (2003). The problem and management of sickness absence in the NHS; consideration for nurse managers, *Journal of Nursing Management*, 11, 336-342.
- Johnson, J., & Hall, E. (1988). Job strain, workplace social support and cardiovascular disease: a cross-sectional study of a random sample of the Swedish working population, *American Journal of Public Health*, 78, 1336–1342.
- Johnson, J.V., Hall, E.M., & Theorell, T. (1989). Combined effects of job strain and social isolation on cardiovascular disease morbidity and mortality in a random sample of Swedish male working population, *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health*, 15, 271–279.

- Johnson, P.R., & Indik, J. (1997). The scourge of the workplace: depression at work. Journal of Workplace Learning, 9(1), 1-5.
- Jones, J.R., Huxtable, C.S., Hodgson, J.T., & Price, M.J. (2003). Self-reported workrelated illness in 2001/02: Results from a household survey. Health and Safety Executive.
- Judd, C.M., & Kenny, D.A. (1981). Process analysis: Estimating mediation in treatment evaluations. *Evaluation Review*, 5, 602–619.
- Kahn, R.L., & Byosiere, P. (1992). Stress in organizations, In: Dunnete, M. D. and Hough, L.M. (Eds) (1992) 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. *Handbook of Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, Vol. 3, Palo Alto: Consulting Psychological Press, 537–650.
- Kahn, R.L., Wolfe, D.M., Quinn, R.P., Snoek, J.D., & Rosenthal, R.A. (1964). Organizational stress: Studies in role conflict and ambiguity, New York: Wiley.
- Kant, I., de Jong, L., van Rijssen-Moll, M., & Borm, P. (1992). A survey of static and dynamic work postures of operating room staff. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 63, 423–428.
- Kanter, R.M. (2006). Foreword. beyond the myth of separate worlds. In: Pitt-Catsouphes,
  M. Kossek, E.E. & Sweet, S. (eds.). *The work and family handbook. Multidisciplinary perspectives, methods, and approaches*. London: Lawrance Erlbaum Associates.
- Karasek, R.A. (1979). Job demands, job decision latitude, and mental strain: Implications for job redesign. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 24, 285-308.
- Karasek, R.A. (1985). Job Content Questionnaire and user's guide, Lowell, MA:Department of Work Environment, University of Massachusetts.
- Karasek, R.A. (1998). Demand/Control Model: a social, emotional, and physiological approach to stress risk and active behaviour development, in Stellman, J.M. (Eds) *Encyclopaedia of Occupational Health and Safety*, ILO, Geneva, 34.06-34.14.

- Karasek, R., Baker, D., Marxer, F., Ahlbom, A., & Theorell, T. (1981). Job decision latitude, job demands, and cardiovascular disease: A prospective study of Swedish men. *American Journal of Public Health*. 71, 694-705.
- Karasek, R., Brisson, C., Kawakami, N., Houtman, I., Bongers, P., & Amick, B. (1998). The Job Content Questionnaire (JCQ): an instrument for internationally comparative assessments of psychosocial job characteristics. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 3, 322–355.
- Karasek, R., Gardell, B., & Lindell, J. (1987). Work and non-work correlates of illness and behaviour in male and female Swedish white collar workers. *Journal of Occupational Behaviour*, 8, 187-207.
- Karasek, R.A., & Theorell, T. (1990). *Healthy work: Stress, productivity, and the reconstruction of working life,* New York: Basic Books.
- Kasl, S.V. (1978). Epidemiological contributions to the study of work stress. In C.L. Cooper and R. Payne (eds) *Stress at Work*, Chichester: John Wiley.
- Katz, D., & Kahn, R.L. (1978). The social psychology of organizations. New York: Wiley.
- Kauffeld, S. (2006). Self-directed work groups and team competence. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 79, 1-21.
- Kaufman, G.M., & Beehr, T.A. (1986). Interactions between job stressors and social support: Some counterintuitive results. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 71(3), 522-526.
- Kawakami, T, Chavalitsakulchai, P., Kongmuang, U., & Pongkaeo, W. (1994). A study on health and working conditions of shift workers in a textile factory in Thailand. *Journal of Science of Labor*, 3(2), 23-45.
- Kedem, Y. (2005). Burnout and absenteeism among nurses in health care management. Journal of Academy of Business and Economics, 5(1), 93-111.

- Kelloway, E.K., & Barling, J. (1991). Job characteristics, role stress and mental health. *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, 64, 291-304.
- Kelly, K., Clark, B., Brown, V., & Sitza, J, (2012). Good practice in the conduct and reporting of survey research. *International Journal for Quity in Heakth Care*, 15(3), 261-266.
- Kendall, M. G., & Stuart, A. (1958). *The advanced theory of statistics*. New York: Hafner.
- Khaleque, A. (1991). Effects of diunal and seasonal sleep deficiency on work effort and fatigue of shift workers. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 62, 591-593.
- Khaleque, A., & Rahman, A. (1982). Sleep disturbances and health complaints of shift workers. *Journal of Human Ergonomics*, 11, 155-164.
- Khaleque, A., & Rahman, A. (1984). Shift workers' attitudes towards shift work and perception of quality of life. *International Arch. of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 53, 291-297.
- Khaleque, A., Wadud, N., & Chowdhury, N. (1988). Work attitudes, strains and mental health of employed mothers in Bangladesh. *Work and Stress*, 2, 41-47.
- Khattak, M.A., Quarat-ul-ain, & Iqbal, N. (2013). Impact of role qmbiguity on job satisfaction, mediating role of job stress. *International Journal of Academic Research in Accounting, Finance and Management Sciences*, 3(3), 32–43. ISSN: 2225-8329.
- Khowaja, K., Merchant, R. J., & Hirani, D. (2005). Registered nurses perception of work satisfaction at a tertiary care university hospital. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 13, 32–39.
- Kim, J., & Miller, C.E. (1978). Factor analysis: Statistical methods and practical issues.California: Sage Publication.

Kirchheimer, B. (2001). Full house. Modern Healthcare, 31, 28–31.

- Kivimaki, M., Elovainio, M., & Vahtera, J. (2000a). Workplace bullying and sickness absence in hospital staff. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 57, 656-660.
- Kivimaki, M., Head, J., Ferrie, J., Hemingway, H., Shipley, M.J., Vahtera, J., & Marmot, M.G. (2005). Working while ill as a risk factor for serious coronary events: the Whitehall II Study. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95, 98-102.
- Kivimaki, M., Kuk, G., Elovaino, M., Thomson, L., Kalliomaki-Levanto, T., & Heikkila, A. (1997). The Team Climate Inventory (TCI) – four or five factors? Testing the structure of the TCI in samples of low and high complexity jobs. *Journal of Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 70 (4), 375-390.
- Kivimaki, M., Sutinen, R., Elovainio, M., Vahtera, J., Rasahen, K., Toyry, S., & Ferrie, J.E. (2001). Sickness absence in hospital environments: 2 year follow up study on determinants. *Occupational Environmental Medicine*, 58, 361-366.
- Kivimaki, M., Vahtera, J., Elovainio, M., Lillkrank, B., & Kevin, M.V. (2002). Death or illness of a family member, violence, interpersonal conflict, and financial difficulties as predictors of Sickness Absence: Longitudinal cohort study on psychological and behavioural Links. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 64, 817-825.
- Kivimaki, M., Vahtera, J., Koskenvuo, M., Uutela, A., & Pentti, J. (1998). Response of hostile individuals to stressful change in their working lives: test of a psychosocial vulnerability model. *Psychological Medicine*, 28, 903-913.
- Kivimaki, M., Vahtera, J., Pentti, J., & Ferrie, J.E. (2000b). Factors underlying the effect of organisational downsizing on health of employees: longitudinal cohort study, *British Medical Journal*, 320, 971–975.
- Kivimaki, M. Vahtera, J., Thompson, L., Griffits, A., Cox, T., & Pentti, J. (1997b). Psychosocial factors predicting employee sickness absence during economic decline. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 82, 858-872.

- Kleiven, M., Boggild, H., & Jeppesen, H.J. (1998). Shift work and sick leave. Scandinavian Journal of Work Environment Health, 24(3), 128-133.
- Kogi, K. (1985). Introduction to the problems of shift work, in Folkard, S. & Monk, T. H.
  (Eds) *Proceedings, International Conference on Hours of Work- Temporal Factors in Work Scheduling*, New York: John Wiley, 165-184.
- Koller, M. (1983). Health risks related to shift work. International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health, 53, 59-75.
- Kominski, G.F., & Witsberger, C. (1993). Trends in length of stay for Medicare patients: 1979–87. *Health Care Financing Review*, *15*, 121–131.
- Komorita, S.S. (1963). Attitude content, intensity and the neutral point on a Likert scale. Journal of Social Psychology, 61, 327-334.
- Kondo, K., Kobayashi, Y., Hirokawa, K., Tsutsumi, A., Kobayashi, F., Haratani, T., Araki, S., & Kawakami, N. (2006). Job strain and sick leave among Japanese employees: a longitudinal study. *Inernational Arcive of Occupational Environmental Health*, 79, 213-219.
- Koningsveld, EA.P., & van der Molen, H.F. (1997). History and future of ergonomics in building and construction. *Ergonomics*, 40(10), 1025-1034.
- Kopelman, R.E., Greenhaus, J.H., & Connolly, T.F. (1983). A model of work, family, and interrole conflict: A construct validation study. *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, 32, 198–213.
- Kopelman, R.E., Schneller, G.O., & Silver, J.J. (1981). Parkinson's law and absenteeism: a program to rein in sick leave costs. *Personnel Administration*, 26, 57-62.
- Kreitner, R., & Kinicki, A. (2007). Organizational Behavoir, 7th ed. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Krejcie, R., & Morgan, D. (1970). Determining sample size for research activities. Educational and Psychological Measurement, 30, 607-610.
- Kristensen, T.R., Jensen, S.M., Kreiner, S., & Mikkelsen, S. (2010). Socioeconomic status and duration and pattern of sickness absence. A 1-year follow-up study of 2331 hospital employees. *BMC Public Health*, 10, 643-653.
- Kristensen, T.S. (1991). Sickness absence and work strain among Danish slaughterhouse workers: an analysis of absence from work regarded as coping behaviour. *Social Science and Medicine*, 32(1), 15–27.
- Kroesser, H.L., Meckley, R.F., & Ranson, J.T. (1991). Selected factors affecting employees' sick leave use. *Public Personnel Management*, 20, 120-125.
- Kulik, C.T., Oldham, G.R., & Hackman, J.R. (1987). Work design as an approach to person-environment fit. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 31, 278-296.
- Kwandt, J. (1992). *The use of humor to relieve stress in psychiatric nurses*. ED.D., The College of William and Mary.
- Lagerstrom, M., Hansson, T., & Hagberg, M. (1998). Work-related low-back problems in nursing. *Scanadian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, 24, 449-464.
- Lambert, E.G., Edwards, C., Camp, S.D., & Saylor, W.G. (2005). *Here today, gone tomorrow, back again the next day: absenteeism and its antecedents among federal correctional staff*, Washington: Federal Bureau of Prisons.
- Landeweerd, J.A., & Boumans, N.P.G. (1994). The effect of work dimensions and need for autonomy on nurses' work satisfaction and health. *Journal of Occupation Organizational Psychology*, 67, 207–217.
- Landstad, B., Vinberg, S., Ivergard, T., Gelin, G., & Ekholm, J. (2001). Change in pattern of absenteeism as a result of workplace intervention for personnel support. *Ergonomics*, 44(1), 63 81.
- Langford, C.P.H., Bowsher, J., Maloney, J., & Lillis, P.P. (1997). Social support: A conceptual analysis. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 25(1), 95-199.

- Langfred, C.W., & Moye, N.A. (2004). Effects of task autonomy on performance: An extended model considering motivational, informational, and structural mechanisms. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89, 934–945.
- Larese, F. & Fiorito, A. (1994). Musculoskeletal disorders in hospital nurses: a comparison between two hospitals. *Ergonomics*, 37, 1205–1211.
- Larson D. (1987). Interval stressors in nursing: helper secrets. *Journal of Psychosoial Nursing*, 25, 20–27.
- Larson, E.W., & Fukami, C.V. (1984). Relationships between worker behavior and commitment to the organization and union. Academy of Management Proceedings, pp.222-6.
- Latha, G., & Panchanatham, N. (2010). Call Center Employees: Is work life stress a challenge. *Sabaramuwa University Journal*, 9(1), 1-9. ISSN 1391-3166.
- Latham, G.P., & Pursell, E.D. (1975). Measuring absenteeism from the opposite side of the coin. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 60(3), 369-371.
- Latham, G.P., & Pursell, E.D. (1977). Measuring attendance: A reply to Ilgen. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 62, 234-236.
- Latiff, R. (2014). Sick leave takes toll on business. *New Straits Times*, Sunday, May 25, 2014. Retrived May 12, 2014: http://www.nst.com.my/nation/general/sick-leave-takes-toll-on-businesses-1.186389#ixzz32mLka2RQ.
- Lavoie-Trembly, M., & Brabant, L.H. (2006). Towards an integrated approach for the management of ageing nurses. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 14, 207-212.
- Leedy, P. & Ormrod, J. (2001). *Practical research: Planning and design* (7th edn.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: errill Prentice Hall. Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications.
- Lee, R.M., & Fielding, N.G. (1991). Computing for Qualitative Research: options, problems and potentials, London: Sage.

- Lee, R.T., & Ashforth, B.E. (1996). A meta-analytic examination of the correlates of the three dimensions of job burnout. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 81, 123–133.
- Lee, S., & Crockett, M.S. (1994). Effect of assertiveness training on levels of stress and assertiveness experienced by nurses in Taiwan, Republic of China. *Mental Health Nursing*, 15(4), 419-432.
- Lees, S., & Ellis, N. (1990). The design of a stress-management programme for nursing personnel. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 15, 946–961.
- Leigh, J.P. (1986). Correlates of absence from work due to illness. *Human Relations*, *39*, 81–100.
- Leigh, J.P. (1991). Employee and job attributes as predictors of absenteeism in a national sample of workers; The importance of health and dangerous working conditions. *Social Science Medicine*, 33,127-137.
- Leiter, M.P. (1991). Coping patterns as predictors of burnout: The function of control and escapist coping patterns. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *12*, 123–144.
- Leiter, M.P. (1993). Burnout as a developmental process: Consideration of models, In: Schaufeli, W.B., Maslach, C. and Marek, T. (Eds) (1993) *Professional burnout: Recent developments in theory and research*, Washington: Taylor & Francis, 237– 250.
- Leonard, C., Dolan, S.L., & Arsenault, A. (1990). Longitudinal examination of the stability and variability of two common measures of absence. *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, 63, 309-316.
- Leontaridi, R.M., & Ward, M.E. (2002). *Work-Related Stress, Quitting Intentionsand Absenteeism*, Discussion Paper No. 493, Stirling: University of Stirling.
- Leveck, M.L., & Jones, C.B. (1996). The nursing practice environment, staff retention and quality of care. *Research in Nursing and Health*, 19, 331–343.

- Levi, I. (1987). Definitions and the conceptual aspects of health in relation to work. In R. Kadman, M.A. El-Batawi, M & C.I. Cooper (Eds). *Psychosocial factors at work and their relation to health*. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- Lewig, K.A., & Dollard, M.F. (2003). Emotional dissonance, emotional exhaustion and job satisfaction in call centre workers. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 12, 366-392.
- Lewis, P.S., Goodman, S.H., Fandt, P.M., & Michlitsch, J.F. (2007). *Management: challenges for tomorrow's leaders*. 5<sup>th</sup> Edition, Boulevard Mason: Thomson.
- Lewig, K., Xanthopoulou, D., Bakker, A.B., Dollard, M., & Metzer, J. (2007). Burnout and connectedness among Australian volunteers: A test of the Job Demands-Resources model. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 71, 429–445. doi:10.1016/j. jvb.2007.07.003.
- Lexshimi, R., Tahir, S., Santhna, L., & Nisam, J. (2007). Prevalence of stress and coping mechanism among staff nurses in the intensive care unit. *Med & Health*, 2(2), 146-153.
- Lindsey, E., & Attridge, C. (1989). Staff nurses perceptions of support in an acute care workplace. *Canadian Journal of Nursing Research*, 21(2), 15-25.
- Lim, A., Chongsuvivatwong, V., & Geater, A. (2002). Influence of work type on sickness absence among personnel in teaching hospital. *Journal of Occupational Medicine*, 44, 254-263.
- Lim, G., & Cheng, H. (1999). Moderating effects of personality factors on employees' affective reactions to job scope. *Research and Practice in Human Resource Management*, 7(1), 17-33.

- Liow, T.L. (2010). *Moratorium on new nursing colleges. Bernama News, 26 June 2010.* Retrived on October 20, 2011: http://www.themalaysianinsider.com/ malaysia/ article / moratorium-on-new-nursing-colleges.
- Lipley, N. (2003). Research shows benefits of nurse leadership training. *Nursing Management*, 10(2), 4-5.
- Liu, C., Spector, P.E., Liu, Y., & Shi, L. (2011). The Interaction of job autonomy and conflict with supervisor in China and the United States: A qualitative and quantitative comparison. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 18(3), 222– 245.
- Liu, X.S., & Meyer, P. (2005). Teachers' perceptions of their jobs: A multilevel analysis of the follow-up survey for 1994-1995. *College Record*, 107(5), 985-1003.
- Llewellyn, S.P. (1993). Caring: the cost to nurses and relatives. In A.K. Broome (Ed.). *Health psychology: Processes and applications* (p. 114), London: Chapman and Hall.
- London, M. (2003). Job Feedback: Giving, seeking and using feedback for performance improvement. 2<sup>nd</sup> edn. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- London, M., & Klimoski, R.J. (1975). A study of perceived job complexity. *Personnel Psychology*, 28, 45-56.
- Lowe, G.S., Schellenberg, G., & Shannon, H.S. (2003). Workplace absenteeism. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 17(6), 390-399.
- Lu, H., While, A.E., & Barriball, K.L. (2005). Job satisfaction among nurses: a literature review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 42, 211–227.
- Lucas, M.D., Atwood, J.R., & Hagaman, R. (1993). Replication and validation of anticipated turnover model for urban registered nurses. *Nursing Research*, 42, 29–35.

- Lum, L., Kervin, J., Clark, K., Reid, F., & Sirola, W. (1998). Explaining nursing turnover intent: job satisfaction, pay satisfaction, or organizational commitment? *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 19(3), 305-320.
- Lund, T., Labriola, M., Christensen, K.B. Bultmann, U., Villadsen, E., & Burr, H. (2005). Psychosocial work environmentexposures as risk factors for long-term sickness absence among Danish employees: results from DWECS/DREAM. *Journal of Occupational & Environmental Medicine*. 47(11), 1141–1147.
- Lund, T., Labriola, M., Christensen, K.B. Bultmann, U., & Villadsen, E. (2006). Physical work environment risk factors for long term sickness: prospective findings among a cohort of 5357 employees in Denmark, *British Medical Journal (BMJ)*, 332(7539), 449–452.
- MacKenzie, S.B., Podsakoff, P.M., & Ahearne, M. (1998). Some possible antecedents and consequences of in-role and extra-role salesperson performance. *Journal of Marketing*, 62(3), 87-98.
- MacKinnon, D.P. (2000). Contrasts in multiple mediator models. In: Rose, J.S., Chassin,
  L., Presson, C.C., Sherman, S.J. editors. *Multivariate applications in substance use* research: New methods for new questions, Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum, 141-160.
- MacKinnon, D.P. (2008). *Introduction to statistical mediation analysis*, New York: Lawrence Erbaun Associates and Taylor Francis Group LLC.
- MacKinnon, D.P. & Fairchild, A.J. (2009). Current directions in mediation analysis. *Current Direction in Psychological Science*, February 1, 18(1), 16-20.
- MacKinnon, D.P., Fairchild, A.J., & Fritz, M.S. (2007). Mediation analysis, *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58, 293.
- MacKinnon, D.P., Lockwood, C.M., Hoffman, J.M., West, S.G., & Sheets, V. (2002). A comparison of methods to test mediation and other intervening variable effects. *Psychological Methods*, 7, 83-104.

- MacKinnon, D.P., Warsi, G., & Dwyer, J.H. (1995). A simulation study of mediated effect measures. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, *30*(1), 41-62.
- Maclean, A.D. (2008). The management of absence: why it matters: An analysis of absence management issues, with a case study based in a UK academic library. *Library Management*, 29 (4/5), pp. 392-413. ISSN 0143-5124.
- Macnee, C.L. & McCabe, S. (2008). Understanding nursing research: Reading and using research in evidence-based practice, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed., Philadephia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Malhotra, N., & Birks, D. (2007). *Marketing research: An applied approach*. London: Prentice Hall.
- Mallett, K.L., Price, J.H., Jurs, S.G., & Slenker, S. (1991). Relationships among burnout, death anxiety and social support in hospice and critical care nurses. *Psychological Report*, 68, 1347-1359.
- Manning, M.R., & Osland, J.S. (1989). The relationship between absenteeism and stress. *Work & Stress*, 3, 223-35.
- Mann, S., & Cowburn, J. (2005). Emotional labour and stress within mental health nursing. *Journal of Psychiatric Mental Health Nursing*, 12, 154–162.
- Margolis, B., Kroes, W., & Quinn, R. (1974). Job stress an unlisted occupational hazard. Journal of Occupational Medicine, 1(16), 659-661.
- Maria, M., Pavlos, S., Eleni, M., Thamme, K., & Constantinidis, T.C. (2010). Greek Registered Nurses' job satisfaction in relation to work-related stress: a study on army and civilian Rns. *Global Journal of Health Science*, 2(1), 44-59.
- Mark, B.A. (2002). What explains nurses' perceptions of staffing adequacy? *Journal of Nursing Administration*, 32, 234–242.

- Marmot, M.G., Bosma, H., Hemingway, H., Brunner, E., & Stansfeld, S. (1997). Contribution of job control and other risk factors to social variations in coronary heart disease incidence. *Lancet*, 350, 235-239.
- Marmot, M., Feeney, A., Shipley, M., North, F., & Syme, S.L. (1995). Sickness absence as a measure of health status and functioning: from the UK Whitehall II study. *Journal of Epidemiology Community Health*, 49, 124-130.
- Marmot, M., Shipley, M., & Rose, G. (1984). Inequalities in death-specific explanations of a general pattern. *Lancet*, *i*, 1003–1006.
- March, J.G. & Simon, H.A. (1958). Organization. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Marshall, N.L., & Barnett, R.C. (1992). Work-related support among women in caregiving occupations. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 20, 6–42.
- Martin-Fernandez, J., Gomez-Gascon, T., Beamud-Lagos, M., Cortes-Rubio, J.A., & Alberquilla-Menendez-Asenjo, A. (2007). Professional quality of life and organizational changes: a five-year observational study in Primary Care. BMC Health Services Research, 7, 101-110.
- Martin, T.N. (1984). Role stress and inability to leave as predictors of mental health. *Human Relations*, 37, 969–983.
- Martoccio, J.J. (1989). Age-related differences in employee absenteeism: A metaanalysis. *Psychology and Aging*, 4, 409-414.
- Maslach, C. (1978a). Job burnout: How people cope. Public Welfare, 36, 56-58.
- Maslach, C. (1978b). The client role in staff burnout. *Journal of Social Issues*, 34(4), 111-124.
- Maslach, C. (1993). Burnout: a multidimensional perspective. In W.B. Schaufeli, C.
  Maslach & T. Marck (Eds). *Professional Burnout: Recent development in theory* and research (pp.19-32). Washington, DC: Taylor & Francis.

- Maslach, C., & Jackson, S. (1986). *Maslach burnout inventory manual.* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Maslach, C., Jackson, S.E., & Leiter, M.P. (1996). *Maslach Burnout Inventory. Manual.* (3rd ed.). Palo Alto: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Maslach, C., & Pines, A. (1977). The burnout syndrome in the day care setting. *Child Care Quarterly*, 6, 100-113.
- Matsunaga, M. (2010). How to factor-analyze your data right: Do's, Don'ts, and How-To's. *International Journal of Psychological Research*, 3(1), 97-110.
- Matell, M.S., & Jacoby, J. (1971). Is there an optimal number of alternatives for Likert scale items? Study 1: Reliability and validity. *Educational and Psychological Measurements*, 31, 657-674.
- Matell, M.S., & Jacoby, J. (1972). Is there an optimal number of alternatives for Likert scale items? Effects of testing time and scale properties. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 56(6), 506-509.
- Mathieu, J.E., & Kohler, S.S. (1990). A test of the interactive effects of organizational commitment and job involvement on various types of absence. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 36, 33–44.
- McIntosh, N.J. (1990). Leader support and responses to work in US nurses: A test of alternative hypothetical perspectives. *Work and Stress*, 4, 139–154.
- McParland, J., Scott, P.A., Arndt, M., Dassen, T., Gasull, M., & Lemonidou, C. (2000). Autonomy and clinical practice: Identifing areas of concerns. *British Journal of Nursing*, 9(8), 507-512.
- McShane, S.L. (1984). Job satisfaction and absenteeism: A meta-analytic re-Examination. *Canadian Journal of Administrative Science*, 1, 68-77.
- McShane, S.L., & Glinow, M.A.V. (2008). *Organizational Behavior*. (4th Ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.

- McVicar, A. (2003). Workplace stress in nursing: a literature review. *Journal of* Advanced Nursing, 44, 633–642.
- Mehlum, I.S., Kjuus, H., Veiersted, K.B., & Wergeland, E. (2006). Self-reported workrelated health problems from the Oslo Health Study. *Occupational Medicine*, 56, 371-379.
- Meijman, T.F., & Mulder, G. (1998). Psychological aspects of workload, in Drenth, P.J.,
   Thierry, H., de Wolff, C.J. (Eds). *Handbook of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed., Hove: Erlbaum, 5-33.
- Melchior, M.E., Philipsen, H., Abu-Saad, H.H., Halfens, R.J., van de Berg, A.A., & Gassman, P. (1996). The effectiveness of primary nursing on burnout among psychiatric nurses in long-stay settings. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 24(4), 694– 702.
- Melchior, M., Niedhammer, I., Berkman, L.F., & Goldberg, M. (2003). Do psychosocial work factors and social relations exert independent effects on sickness absence? A six year prospective study of the GAZEL cohort. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 57, 285–293.
- Mercer, M., Carpenter, G., & Wyman, O. (2008). *The total financial impact of employee absences: survey highlights*. London: Mercer Limited.
- Merkus, S.L., van Drongelen, A., Holte, K.A., Labriola, M., Lund, T., van Mechelen, W., & van der Beek, A.J. (2012). The association between shift work and sick leave: a systematic review. *Occupational Environmental Medicine*, doi:10.1136/oemed-2011-100488. Retrieved July 5, 2012 : First published online under the BMJ Journals unlocked scheme, http://oem.bmj.com/site/about/unlocked.xhtml
- Michie, S., & Williams, S. (2003). Reducing work related psychological ill health and sickness absence: a systematic literature review. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 60, 3-9.

- Michie, S., Wren, B., & Williams, S. (2004). Reducing absenteeism in hospital cleaning staff: pilot of a theory based intervention. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 61, 345-349.
- Miller, D.S., & Norton, V.M. (1986). Absenteeism: nursing services albatross. Journal of Nursing Administration, 16(3), 38–42.
- Ministry of Health Malaysia (MoH) (2007a). *Health Facts 2007*. Kuala Lumpur: Health Informatics Centre Planning and Development Division, Ministry of Health Malaysia.
- Ministry of Health Malaysia (MoH) (2007b). *Indicators for monitoring and evaluation of strategy for health for all 2000*. Kuala Lumpur: Information and Documentation Unit, Planning and Development Division, Ministry of Health Malaysia.
- Ministry of Health Malaysia (MoH) (2011). *Annual Report 2010*. Kuala Lumpur: Ministry of Health Malaysia.
- Ministry of Health Malaysia (MoH) (2012). *Health Facts 2012*. Kuala Lumpur: Health Informatics Centre Planning and Development Division, Ministry of Health Malaysia.
- Jaafar, S., Mohd Noh, K., Muttalib, K.A., Othman, N.H., Heaky, J, (2013). Malaysia Health System Review. *Health Systen in Transition*, 3(1), Asia Pacific Observatory on Health System and Policies.
- Mirvis, P.H., & Lawler, E.E. (1977). Measuring the financial impact of employee attitudes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 62, 1-8.
- Mitra, A., Jenkins, D., & Gupta, N. (1992). The effects of technological self-efficacy and job focus on job performance, attitudes and withdrawal behavior. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 77, 879-889.
- Molenaar-Cox, P.G.M., & Deursen, P.C.L. (2002). Work disability in 2001: Background and trends. Uitvoering Werknemersverzekeringen, Amsterdam.

Monk, T.H. (1988). Coping with the stress of shiftwork. Work and Stress, 2, 169-172.

- Montgomery, D.C., Peck, E.A., & Vining, G.G. (2001). Introduction to Linear Regression Analysis. (3rd Edn.), New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Moore, S., Kuhrik, M., Kuhrik, N., & Katz, B. (1996).Coping with downsizing: Stress, self-esteem, and social intimacy. *Nursing Management*, 27, 28–30.
- Moreau, M., Valente, F., Mak, R., Pelfrene, E., de Smet, P., De backer, G., & Kornitzer,
  M. (2004). Occupational stress and incidence of sick leave in the Belgian workforce: the Belstress study, *Journal of Epidemiology, Community Health*, 58, 507-516.
- Morris, J.A., & Feldman, D.C. (1996). The dimensions, antecedents, and consequences of emotional labor. *Academy of Management Journal*, 21, 989-1010.
- Morrison, R.S., Jones, L., & Fuller, B. (1997). The relation between leadership style and empowerment on job satisfaction of nurses. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, 27, 27–34.
- Mowday, R.T., & Spencer, D.G. (1981). The influence of task and personality characteristics on employee turnover and absenteeism incidents. *Academy of Management Journal*, 24(3), 634-642.
- Muchinsky, P.M. (1977). Employee absenteeism: a review of the literature. *Journal of Vocational Behaviour*, 10, 316-340.
- Nabe-Nielsen, K., Fallentin, N., Christensen, K.B., Jensen, J.N., & Diderichsen, F. (2008). Comparison of two self-reported measures of physical work demands in hospital personnel: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 9(61), 1471-1475.
- Nag, P.K., & Patel, V.G. (1998). Work accidents among shift workers in industry. International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics, 21, 275-281.

- Nagyova, I., Krol, B., Szilasiova, A., Stewart, R.E., van Dijk, J.P., & van den Heuvel,
  W.J.A. (2000). General Health Questionnaire-28: psychometric evaluation of the
  Slovak version. *Studia Psychologica*, 42(4), 351-361.
- National Health Service (NHS) (2010). *Managing sickness absence in the NHS*, The Audit Commission, NHS, London.
- National Health Service (NHS) (2012a). Sickness absence rates in the NHS: January March 2012 and Annual Summary 2009-10 to 2011-12, The Health and Social Care Information Centre, Workforce and Facilities Team, NHS.
- National Health Service (NHS) (2012b). NHS Workforce: Summary of staff in the NHS: Results from September 2011 Census. Health and Social Care Information Centre, National Health Service, London, United Kingdom.
- National Health Service (NHS) (2013), *NHS inform*. UK/Scotland. Retrieved March 2, 2013: http://www.nhsinform.com/Health-ibrary/Articles/S/stress/symptoms.
- National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) (1999). *Stress...at work*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Publication no. 99-101, page 26. Retreived on 11 May 2009: http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/99-101/
- Naumann, E., Widmier, S.M., & Jackson, D.W. (2000). Examining the relationship between work attitudes and propensity to leave among expatriate salespeople. *The Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, 20(4), 227-241.
- Needleman, J., Buerhaus, P., Mattke, S., Stewart, M., & Zelevinsky, K. (2002). Nursestaffing levels and the quality of care in hospitals. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 346, 1715–1722.
- Nelson, D.L., & Sutton, C. (1990). Chronic work stress and coping: A longitudinal study and suggested new direction. *Academy of Management Journal*, 33, 859-869.

- Neuman, W.L. (2006). Social research methods: Quantitative and qualitative approaches. (6<sup>th</sup> ed.). Boston: Pearson.
- Nicholson, N., Brown, C.A., & Chadwick-Jones, J.K. (1977). Absence from work and personal characteristics. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 62, 319-327.
- Niedhammer, I., Bugel, I., Goldberg, M., Leclerc, A., & Gueguen, A. (1998). Psychosocial factors at work and sickness absence in the Gazel cohort: a prospective study. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 55, 735–741.
- Nielsen, M.L., Kristensen, T.S., & Smith-Hansen, L. (2002). The intervention project on absence and well-being (IPAW): Design and results from the baseline of a 5-year study. Work & Stress, 16, 191-206.
- Nicholson, N. and Johns, G. (1985). The absence culture and the psychological contract: who's in control of absence? *Academy of Management Review*, *10*, 397-407.
- North, F., Syme, S.L, Feeney, A., Head, J., Shipley, M.J., & Marmot, M.G. (1993). Explaining socio-economic differences in sickness absence: The Whitehall II study. *British Medical Journal*, 306, 361–366.
- North, F.M., Syme, S.L., Feeney, A., Shipley, M., & Marmot, M. (1996). Psychosocial work environment and sickness absence among British civil servants: the Whitehall II study. *American Journal of Public Health*, 86, 332–340.
- Nunnally, J.L. (1978). Psychometric Theory. NewYork: McGraw-Hill.
- Nursing Board Malaysia (NBM) (1998). *Code of professional conduct for nurses*. (1<sup>st</sup> ed.). Putrajaya: NBM, Ministry of Health Malaysia.
- Nwosu, H.O., Chiamaka, O.J.A., & Tochukwu, M.O. (2013). Job characteristics as predictor of organizational commitment among private sector workers in Anambra state, Nigeria. *International Journal of Asian Social Science*, 3(2), 482-491.

- Nyberg, A. (2009). *The impact of managerial leadership on stress and health among employees*. Department of Public Health Sciences, National Prevention of Suicide and Mental Helath, Karoslinska Institute, Stockholm.
- O'Brien-Pallas, L., Alksnis, C., & Wang, S. (2003). Bringing the future into focus, Projecting RN retirement in Canada, Canada Institute for Health Information, Ottawa, Canada. Retrieved on July 2, 2008: http://www.cihi.ca.
- O'Brien-Pallas, L., Thomson, D., Alksnis, C., & Bruce, S. (2001). The economic impact of nurse staffing decisions: Time to turn down another road? *Hospital Quarterly*, 4, 42-50.
- OECD (Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development) (2009). *Sickness, disability and work: Keeping on track in the economic downturn*, Background paper, 2009, Retrieved on December 20, 2011: http://www.oecd.org/document/20/0,3343,en\_2649\_34747\_38887124\_1\_1\_1\_1,00. html.
- Office for National Statistics (ONS) (2012). *Sickness absence in the labour market. April* 2012. UK. Retrieved on October 21, 2012: http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel /lmac/sickness-absence-in-the-labour-market/2012/rpt-sickness-absence-in-the labour-market---2012.html.
- Oldman, G.R., Kulik, C.T., & Stepina, L.P. (1991). Physical environments and employee reactions: effects of stimulus-screening skills and job complexity. *Academy of Management Journal*, 34(4), 929-938.
- Organ, D. W., & Konovsky, M. (1989). Cognitive versus affective determinants of organizational citizenship behavior. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 74(1), 157-164.
- O'Rourke, T. (2001). Techniques to improve questionnaire format. *America Journal of Health Studies*, 17(1), 36-40.

- Orvik, J.M. (1972). Social desirability for the individual, his group and society. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 7, 3-32.
- Osborne, J.W., & Costello, A.B. (2004). Sample size and subject to item ratio in principal component analysis. *Practical research and Evaluation*, 9(11), ISSN 1531-7714. Retrieved on July 20, 2010: http://pareonline.net.
- Osborne, J. & Waters, E. (2002). Four assumptions of multiple regression that researchers should always test. *Practical Assessment, Research & Evaluation*, 8(2), ISSN 1531-7714. Retrieved on July 20, 2010: http://pareonline.net.
- Paoli, P., & Merllie, D. (2001). *Third European survey on working conditions 2000*.European Foundation for the improvement of living and working conditions.Luxembourg: Office for official publications of the European Communities.
- Parahoo, K. (2006). Nursing research: Principles, process and issues (2nd edn.) London: Macmillan.
- Parasuraman, S., & Greenhaus, J. H. (1997). The changing world of work and family. In S. Parasuraman, & J. H. Greenhaus (Eds.). *Integrating work and family: Challenges* and choices for a changing world. Westport, CN: Quorum Books.
- Parker, D.E., & Decotiis, T.A. (1983). Organizational determinants of job stress. Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, 32, 160-177.
- Parker, P.A., & Kulik, J.A. (1995). Burnout, self- and supervisor-rated job performance, and absenteeism among nurses. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 18(6), 581–599.
- Parkes, K.R. (1982). Occupational stress among student nurses: a natural experiment. Journal of Apply Psychology, 67,784–796.
- Parkes, K.R. (1987). Relative weights, smoking and mental health as predictors of sickness and absence from work. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 72, 275–286.
- Pedhazur, E.J. (1997). *Multiple regression in behavioural research: Explanation and prediction* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Singapore: Wadsworth Thomson Learninng.

- Peiro, J.M., Gonzalez-Roma, V., Lloret, S., Bravo, M.J., & Zurriaga, R. (1999).
  Predictors of absenteeism among public health services employrrs. In *Organizational psychology and Health Care: European contributions* (Le Blance, P.M., Peters M.C.W., Bussing, A. & Schaufeli, W. (eds), Rainer Hampp Veriag, Munchen, pp. 85-100.
- Petren, V., Petzall, K., Preber, H., & Bergstrom, J. (2007). The relationship between working conditions and sick leave in Swedish dental hygienists. *International Journal of Dental Hygiene*, 5(1), 27–35.
- Petterson, I. L., Arnetz, B. B., & Arnetz, J. E. (1995). Predictors of job satisfaction and job influence: results from a national sample of Swedish nurses. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 64, 9–19.
- Pietroiusti, A., Neri, A., Somma, G., Coppeta, L., Iavicoli, I., & Bergamaschi, A. (2010). Incidence of metabolic syndrome among night-shift healthcare workers. *Occupational Environmental Medicine*, 67, 54-7. doi:10.1136/oem.2009.046797.
- Pines, A.M., & Kanne, A.D. (1982). Nurses burnout: Lack of positive conditions and presence of negative conditions as two independent sources of stress. *Journal of Psychiatric Nursing*, 20 (8), 30-35.
- Pisarski, A., Bohle, P., & Callan, V.J. (1998). Effects of coping strategies, social support and work-nonwork conflict on shift worker's health. *Scandinavian Journal of Work Environmental Health*, 241, 41–145.
- Polit, D.F., Beck, C.T. (2012). Nursing Research: generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice. (9<sup>th</sup> ed.). Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Polit, D.F., Beck, C.T. (2005). Essential of Nursing Research: methods, appraisal and utilization. (6<sup>th</sup> ed.). Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Polit, D. & Hungler, B. (1997). *Essentials of nursing research: methods, appraisal, and utilization*. (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). Philadelphia: Lippincott Company.

- Pope, D.P., Silman, A.J., Cherry, N.M., Pritchard, C., & Macfarlane, G.J. (2001). Association of occupational physical demands and psychosocial working environment with disabling shoulder pain. *Annual Rheumatic Diseases*, 60, 852– 858.
- Population by census (2000). *Population statistics*. Census and Statistic Department. Hong Kong, China.
- Porter, L.W., & Steers, R.M. (1973). Organizational, work and personal factors in employee turnover and absenteeism. *Psychological Bulletin*, 8, 151-176.
- Potter, A. B. (2005). *Overcoming burnout: How to renew enthusiasm for work*. (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Oakland, California: Ronin Publishing Inc.
- Preacher, K.J., & Hayes, A.F. (2004). SPSS and SAS procedures for estimating indirect effects in simple mediation models. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments & Computers*, *36*(4), 717-731.
- Preacher, K.J., & Leonardelli, G.J. (2003). Calculation for the Sobel Test: An interactive calculation tool for mediation test. Retrieved on May 5, 2012, http://people.hofstra.edu/Jeffrey\_J\_Froh/Website\_Fall\_08/Interactive%20Mediation %20Tests.htm.
- Price, J.P., & Mueller, C.W. (1986). Absenteeism and turnover among hospital employees. Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Prins, R., & de Graaf, A. (1986). Comparison of sickness absence in Belgian, German, and Dutch firms. *British Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 43,529-536.
- Proctor, R., Stratton-Powell, H., Tarrier, N., & Burns, A. (1998). The impact of training and support on stress among care staff in nursing and residential homes for the elderly. *Journal of Mental Health*, 7, 59–70.
- Public Service Department of Malaysia (2011). *General order chapter A-G.* Kuala Lumpur: MDC Sdn. Bhd.

- Punnett, B.J., Greenidge, D., & Ramsey, J. (2007). Job attitudes and absenteeism: A study in the English speaking Caribbean. *Journal of World Business*, 42, 214–227.
- Rael, E., Stansfeld, S., Shipley, M., Head, J., Feeney, A., & Marmot, M. (1995). Sickness absence in the Whitehall study, London: the role of social support and material problems. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 49, 474-481.
- Rauhalaa, A., Kivimaki, M., Fagerstrom, L., Elovainio, M., Virtanen, M., Vahtera, J., Rainio, A.K., Ojaniem, K., & Kinnunen, J. (2007). What degree of work overload is likely to cause increased sickness absenteeism among nurses? Evidence from the RAFAELA patient classification system, *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 57(3), 286– 295.
- Ray, J.J. (1980). The comparative validity of Likert, projective and forced-choice indices of achievement motivation. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 111, 63-72.
- Ray, J.J. (1990). Acquiescence and problems with forced-choice scales. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 130(3), 397-399.
- Razavi, D., Delvaux, N., Marchal, S., Bredart, A., Farvacques, C., & Paesmans, M. (1993). The effects of a 24-h psychological training program on attitudes, communication skills and occupational stress in oncology: a randomised study. *Europe Journal of Cancer*, 29A(13), 1858–1863.
- Rees, D. & Cooper, C.L. (1992). Occupational stress in health service workers in the UK. *Stress Medicine*, 8, 79–90.
- Reiso, H., Nygard, J.F., Brage, S., Gulbrandsen, P., & Tellnes, G. (2001). Work ability and duration of certified sickness absence. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 29, 218–225.
- Remenyi, D. (1998). Doing research in business and management: An introduction to process and method, London: Sage.

- Rentsch, J.R., & Steel, R.P. (1998). Testing the durability of job characteristics as prediactors of absenteeism over a six-year period. *Personnel Psychology*, 51, 165-190.
- Revicki, D.A., & May, H.J. (1989). Organisational characteristics, occupational stress and mental health in nurses. *Behavioral Medicine*, 15, 30–36.
- Rhodes, S., & Steers, R. (1981). A systematic approach to diagnosing absenteeism. *Employee Relations*, 3(2), 17-22.
- Rindfleisch, A., Malter, A.J., Ganesan, S., & Moorman, C. (2008). Cross-sectional versus longitudinal survey research: Concepts, findings, and guidelines. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 45(3), 261-279.
- Ritchie, K.A., Macdonald, E.B., Gilmour, W.H., & Murray. K.J. (1999). Analysis of sickness absence among employees of four NHS trusts. Occupational Environmental Medicine, 56, 702-708.
- Ritson, N., & Charlton, M. (2006). Health and shiftworking in an administrative environment. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 21(2), 131-144.
- Rizzo, J.R., House. R.J., & Lirtzman, S.I. (1970). Role conflict and ambiguity in complex organizations. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 15, 150-163.
- Robbin, S.P., & Judge, T.A. (2009). *Organizational Behavior*, 13<sup>th</sup> Edition, New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- Robson, D. (1993). Real work research, Blackwell: Oxford.
- Roelen, C.A.M., Koopmans, P.C., Notenbomer, A., & Groothoff, J.W. (2008). Job satisfaction and sickness absence: a questionnaire survey. *Occupational Medicine*, 58, 567–571.
- Roelen, C.A.M., Van der Pol, T.R., Koopmans, P.C., & Groothoff, J.W. (2006). Identifying workers at risk of sickness absence by questionnaire. *Occupational Medicine*, 56,442-446.

- Rogers, R.E., & Herting, S.R. (1993). Patterns of absenteeism among government employees. *Public Personnel Management*, 22, 215-235.
- Romero, T.A., & Strom, K.J. (2011) Absenteeism in represented environment. International Journal of Humanities and Social Science, 1(15), 1-11.
- Roscoe, J.R. (1975). *Fundamental research statistics for the behavioural sciences*. (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). New York: Holt, Rinebart and Winston.
- Rose, R.M., & Fogg, L.F. (1993). Definition of a responder: Analysis of behaviour, cardiovascular and endocrine responses to varied workload in air traffic controllers. *Psychology Medicine*. 55, 525-538.
- Rosta, J., Tellness, G., & Aasland, G. (2014). Differences in sickness absence between self-employed and employed dctors: a cross-sectional study on national sample of Norwegiann doctors in 2010. BMC Health Service Research, 14(199), 1-8.
- Russler, M.F. (1991). Multidimensional stress management in nursing education. *Journal* of Nursing Education, 30, 341–346.
- Saks, A.M., & Ashforth, B.E. (1996). Proactive socialization and behavioral selfmanagement. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 48, 301-323.
- Salanova, M., Agut, S., & Peiro, J.M. (2005). Linking organizational resources and work engagement to employee performance and customer loyalty: the mediation of service climate. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90, 1217-1227.
- Saragih, S. (2011). The effects of job autonomy on work outcomes: Self efficacy as an intervening variable. *International Research Journal of Business Studies*, 4(3), 203-215, ISSN: 2089-6271.
- Sargent, L.D., & Terry, D.J. (1998). The effects of work control and job demands on employee adjustment and work performance. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 71, 219-236.

- Saroja, K.I., Ramphal, K.G., Kasmini, K., Ainsah, O., & Bakar, O.C. (1999). Trend in absenteeism rates following psychological intervention-preliminary results. *Singapore Medical Journal*, 40(5), 349-351.
- Schalk, M.J.D. (1987). A challenge to occupational psychologists: Are we able to influence short-term absenteeism? Tilburg, Netherlands: Tilburg University.
- Schaubroeck. J., & Ganster, D.C. (1993). Chronic demands and responsivity to challenge. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 78, 73-85.
- Schaufeli, W.B., & Bakker, A.B. (2004). Job demands, job resources, and their relationship with burnout and engagement: a multi-sample study. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 25, 293-315.
- Schaufeli, W.B., & Enzmann, D. (1998). *The burnout companion to study and practice: A critical analysis*. London: Taylor & Francis.
- Schaufeli, W.B., Bakker, A.B., & Van Rhenen, W. (2009). How changes in job demands and resources predict burnout, work engagement, and sickness absenteeism. *Journal* of Organizational Behavior, 30: 893–917.
- Schaufeli, W.B., & Janczur, B. (1994). Burnout among nurses: A Polish-Dutch comparison. Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology, 25, 95-113.
- Schaufeli, W.B., & Peeters, M.C.W. (2000). Job stress ad burnout amog correctional officers: A literature review. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 7(1), 19-48.
- Schechter, J., Green, L., Olsen, L., Kruse, K., & Cargo, M. (1997). Application of Karasek's Demand/control model in a Canadian occupational setting including shift workers during a period of reorganization and downsizing, *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 11, 394–399.

- Scherbaum, C.A., Cohen-Charash, Y., & Kern, M.J. (2006). Measuring general selfefficacy:a comparison of three measures using item response theory. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 66(6), 1047-1063.
- Schmitz, N., Neumann, W. & Opperman, R. (2000). Stress, burnout and locus of control in German nurses. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 37, 95–99.
- Schnall, P.L., Landsbergis. P.A., & Baker, D. (1994). Job strain and cardiovascular diseases. Annual Review of Public Health, 15, 381–411.
- Schnall, P., & Perlo, S. (2004). Work Stressors and Productivity –part 2. UCLA, CHS 278. Retrived June 12, 2011: http://lup.lub.lu.se/luur/download?func= downloadFile&recordOId=1327412&fileOId=1327413.
- Schreuder, J.A.H., Roelen, C.A.M., Koopmans, P.C., Moen, B.E., & Groothoff, J.W. (2010). Effort–reward imbalance is associated with the frequency of sickness absence among female hospital nurses: A cross-sectional study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 47, 569–576.
- Schreuder, J.A., Roelen, C.A, Van Zweeden, N.F., Jongsm, D., Van der Klink, J.J., & Groothoff, J.W. (2011). Leadership effectiveness and recorded sickness absence among nursing staff: a cross-sectional pilot study. Journal of Nursing Management, 19(5), 585-595.
- Schwarzer, R., & Hallum, S. (2008). Perceived teacher self-efficacy as predictor of job stress and burnout: mediation analyses. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 57, 152-171.
- Schwarzer, R., & Jerusalem, M. (1995). Generalized Self-Efficacy scale. In J. Weinman,
  S. Wright, & M. Johnston, *Measures in health psychology: A user's portfolio*. *Causal and control beliefs* (pp. 35-37). Windsor, UK: NFER-NELSON.

- Scotland, J. (2012). Exploring the philosophical underpinnings of research: realting ontocology and epistemology to the methodology nd methods of the scientific, interpretive and critical research paradigms. *Englsih Language Teaching*, 5(9), ISSN1916-4742, Canadian Center of Science and Education.
- Scott, K.D., & Taylor, G.S. (1985). An examination of conflicting findings on the relationship between job satisfaction and absenteeism: A meta-analysis. Academy of Management Journal, 28(3), 599-612.
- Scott, M., Swortzel, K.A., & Taylor, W.N. (2005). Extension of agents' perceptions of fundamental job characteristics and their level of job satisfaction. *Journal of Southern Agricultural Education Research*, 55(1), 88-101.
- Scott, W.E., Jr. (1966). Activation theory and task design. Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, 1966, 1, 3-30.
- Searle, S.J. (1997). Sickness absence, In H.A. Waldron & C. Edling (eds) Occupational health practice, 112–113, Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Sekaran, U. (2000). Research methods for business. New York: John Wiley.
- Sekaran, U. (2003). *Research methods for business: A skill building approach*. (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Sekaran, U., & Bougie, R. (2009). Research methods for business: A skill building approach. (5<sup>th</sup> ed.). New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Selye, H. (1973).Stress and general adaptation syndrome. *British Medical Journal*, June 17, 1385-1392.
- Seutjens, A.D. (1982). Burnout in nursing: What it is and how to prevent it. *Nursing Administration Quarterly*, 7(1), 12-19.
- Severens, J., Mulder, J., Laheij, R.J.F., & Verbeek, A.L.M. (2000). Precision and accuracy in measuring absence from work as a basis for calculating productivity costs in the Netherlands. *Social Science & Medicine*, 51(2), 243-249.

- Shader, K., Broome, M.E., West, M.E., & Nash, M. (2001). Factors influencing satisfaction and anticipated turnover for nurses in an academic medical center. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, 31, 210–216.
- Shannon, V., & French, S. (2005). The impact of the re-engineered world of health-care in Canada on nursing and patient outcomes. *Nursing Inquiry*, 12(3), 231-239.
- Shapira-Lishchinsky, O., & Even-Zohar, S. (2011). Withdrawal behaviour syndrome: An ethical perspective. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 103, 429-451.
- Sharit, J., & Salvendy, G. (1982). Occupational stress: Review and reappraisal. *Human Factors*. 24, 129-162.
- Sheikha, N.A.A., & Younis, A.R.M. (2006). Administrative factors affecting employees absenteeism in academic and public libraries in Jordan. *The International Information & Library Review*, 38(2), 64-88.
- Shirom, A., Eden, D., Silberwasser, S., & Kellerman, J.J. (1973). Job stress and risk factors in coronary heart disease among occupational categories in Kibbutzim. *Social Science and Medicine*, 7, 875-892.
- Siegall, M., & Cummings, L.L. (1995) Stress and organizational role conflict. *Genetic, Social, and General Psychology Monographs,* 12, 65-95.
- Siegrist, J. (1996). Adverse health effects of high effort-low reward conditions at work. Journal of Occupational Health Psychology, 1, 27-43.
- Siegrist, J., Peter, R., Junge, A., Cremer, P., & Seidel, D. (1990). Low status control, high effort at work and heart disease: Prospective evidence form blue-collar men. *Social Science and Medicine*, 31, 1129-1136.
- Siew, P.L., Chitpakdee, B., & Chontawan, R. (2011). Factors predicting organizational commitment amog nurses in state hopistal, Malaysia. *The Internationl Medical Journal Malaysia*, 10(2), 21-28.

- Singapore Human Resource Management (2009). *Employment Statistics: Outpatient sick leave and hospitalization leave*, SHRM. Retrieved November 13, 2010: http://www.sghrm.com/2009/01/employment-statistic-outpatient-sick.html.
- Singapore Ministry of Education (2013). *Parent in education*. Singapore government, Retrieved March 2 2013: http://parents-in-education.moe.gov.sg/secondaryeducation/how-can-i-support-my-child-s-growth-and-development/coping-withstress/coping-with-exam-stress/signs-n-symptoms-of-stress.
- Singh, J. (1998). Striking a balance-spanning positions: an investigation of some unconventional influences of role stressors and job characteristics on job outcomes of salespeople. *Journal of Marketing*, 62(3), 69-86.
- Singh, J., Goolsby, J.R., & Rhoads, G.K. (1994). Behavioral and psychological consequences of boundary spanning burnout for customer service representatives. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 16, 558-569.
- Siu, Oi-ling (2002). Predictors of job satisfaction and absenteeism in two samples of Hong Kong nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 40(2), 218-229.
- Siu, Oi-ling, & Donald, I. (1996). Psychosocial factors at work and workers' health in Hong Kong: An exploratory study, *Bulletin of the Hong Kong Psychological Society*, January and July, 34/35, 30-66.
- Smith, A., Brice, C., Collins, A., Mathews, V., & McNamara, R. (2000). The scale of occupational stress: A further analysis of the input of demographic factors and type of job. Suffolk: HSE Books.
- Smith, M.J. (1998). Ergonomic factors. In J.M. Steelman (1998) editor. Encyclopedia of occupational health and safety. (4<sup>th</sup> ed.), 2, 34-22. Geneva: International Labour Office.
- Smith, F.J. (1977). Work attitudes as predictors of attendance on a s specific day. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 62(1), 16-19.

- Smith, L., & Garaner, P. (1997). Temporal petering of activity in control rooms. Shiftwork International Newsletter, 14(1), 115.
- Smith, M.E., Thorpe, R., & Lowe, A. (1996). *Management Research: An introduction*. London: Sage.
- Smulders, P.G.W. (1980). Comments on employee absence/attendance as a dependent variable in organizational research. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 65(3), 368-371.
- Sobel, M.E. (1982). Asymptotic intervals for indirect effects in structural equations models. In S. Leinhart (Ed.) (1982). Sociological methodology, (pp.290-312), San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Sommer, B., Thomsen, G.F., & Labriola, M. (2013). Sickness absence may impair selfefficacy. *Ugeskr Laeger*. May 27,175(22), 1555-1559.
- Spector, P.E. (1986). Perceived control by employees: A meta-analysis of studies concerning autonomy and participation at work. *Human Relations, 39*, 1005–1016.
- Spector, P.E. (1987a). Method variance as an artifact in self-reported affect and perceptions at work: Myth or significant problem? *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 72(3), 438-443.
- Spector, P.E. (1987b). Interactive effects of perceived control and job stressors on affective reactions and health outcomes for clerical workers. *Work and Stress*, 1, 155-162.
- Spector, P.E., Dwyer, D.J., & Jex, S.M. (1988). Relation of job stressors to affective, health and performance outcomes: A comparison of multiple data sources. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 73, 1, 11-19.
- Spector. P.E., & Jex. S.M. (1991). Relations of job characteristics from multiple data sources with employee affect, absence, turnover intentions, and health. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 76, 46-53.

- Spielberger, C.D., Vagg, P.R., & Wasala, C.F. (2003). 'Occupational stress: Job pressures and lack of support'. In Quick, J.C. & Tetrick, L.E. (Eds.). *Handbook of occupational health psychology*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association, pp. 185–200.
- Spreeuwers, D., Pal, T. M., & van der Laan, G. (Eds.) (2005). Report Occupational Diseases '05. Netherlands Center for Occupational Occupational Diseases, Coronel Institute, Academic Medical Center, University of Amsterdam.
- Stansfeld, S.A., Rael, E.G.S., Head, J., Shipley, M., & Marmot, M. (1997). Social support and psychiatric sickness absence: A prospective study of British civil servants. *Psychological Medicine*, 27, 35-48.
- Staw, B.M., & Oldham, G.R. (1978). Reconsidering our dependent variables: A critique and empirical study. *Academy of Management Journal*, 21, 539-559.
- Steers, R.M., & Rhodes, S.R. (1978). Major influences on employee attendance: a process model. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 63(4), 391-407.
- Steers, R.M., & Rhodes, S.R. (1980). A new look at absenteeism. *Personnel*, Nov-Dec., 60-65.
- Steers, R.M., & Rhodes, S.R. (1984). Knowledge and speculation about absenteeism. InP. S. Goodman & R. S. Atkin (Eds), *Absenteeism*, pp. 229-275, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Stephens, C., & Long, N. (2000). Communication with police supervisors and peers as a buffer of work-related traumatic stress. Journal of Organizational Behavior, 21, 407–424
- Stevens, J.P. (1984). Outliers and influential points in regression analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 95, 339-344.
- Stommel, M., & Wills, C.F. (2004). *Clinical research,: Concepts and principles for advanced practice nurses.* Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

- Stone, T.H. & Chacko, T.A. (1984). A longitudinal investigation of a new absence measures. *Proceedings of the Administrative Science Association of Canada*.
- Stoneman, B., & Holliday, K.K. (2001). Pressure cooker. *Banking Strategies*, January-February, p.13.
- Stordeur, S., D'Hoore, W., & Vandenberghe, C. (2001). Leadership, organisational stress and emotional exhaustion among hospital nursing staff. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 35, 533–542.
- Sullivan, S.E., & Bhagat, R.S. (1992). Organizational stress, job satisfaction and job performance: where do we go from here? *Journal of Management*, 18 (2), 353-374.
- Sutherland, V.J., & Cooper, C.L. (1988). Sources of work stress. In J.J. Hurrell, L.R. Murphy, S.L. Sauter & C.L. Cooper, eds. Occupational Stress: Issues and Developments in Research, New York: Taylor & Francis.
- Tabachnik, B.G., & Fidell, L.S. (2007). Using multivariate statistics. (5<sup>th</sup> ed.). Boston: Pearson Education.
- Taimela, S., L.aara, E., Malmivaara, A., Tiekso, J., Sintonen, H., Juste´n, S., & Aro, T. (2007). Self-reported health problems and sickness absence in different age groups predominantly engaged in physical work. *Occupational Environmental Medicine*, 64, 739-746.
- Tamers, S., Beresford, S.A.A., Thompson, B., Zheng, Y., Chedle, A.D. (2011). Exploring the role of co-worker support on health care utilization and sickness absence. *Journal Occup Environ Med*, 53(7), 751-757.
- Taris, T.W., & Feij, J.A. (2004). Learning and strain among newcomers: a three-wave study on the effects of job demands and job control. *Journal of Psychology*, 138, 543-563.
- Taylor, D.E. (1979). Absence from work-measuring the hours lost. *Monthly Labour Review*, August, 1979.

- Taylor, K.E., & Weiss, D.J. (1972). Prediction of individual job termination from measured job satisfaction and biographical data. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 2, 123-132.
- Taylor, M.W. (1991). Effects of initial stress level, social support, and participation in an exercise or music condition on the posttreatment stress, depression, and anxiety of nurses. ED.D., St John's University.
- Taylor, P.J. (1982). Absenteeism: causes and control (4th ed.). London: Industrial Society.
- Taylor, P.J. (1974). Sickness absence: facts and misconceptions. Journal of the Royal College of Physician, London, 8(4), 315-34.
- Taylor. P.J., & Pocock, S.J. (1981). Sickness absence -its measurement and control, in
   Schiling, R.S.F. (ed), *Occupational health practice*. (2<sup>nd</sup> Ed.). London:
   Butterworths.
- Taylor, P.J., Pocock, S.J., & Sergean, R. (1972a). Absenteeism of shift and day workers. British Journal of Indistrial Medicine, 29, 208-213.
- Taylor, P.J., Pocock, S.J., & Sergean, R. (1972b). Shift and day workers' absence: a relationship with some terms and conditions of service. *British Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 29, 338-340.
- Tellnes, G., Bruusgaard, D., & Sandvik, L. (1990). Occupational factors in sickness certification. *Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care*, 8, 37–44.
- Tennant, C. (2001). Work-related stress and depressive disorders. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 51: 697-704.
- The Australasian Faculty of Occupational Medicine (1999). *Report of workplace attendance and absenteeism*. Sydney: Royal Australasian College of Physicians.Retrieved on April 12, 2009: www.racp.edu.au/index.cfm?objectid=5DE5DDB4-E65C-FB6E.

- Tholdy-Doncevis, S., Romelsjo, A., & Theorell, T. (1998). Comparison of stress, job satisfaction, perception of control and health among district nurses in Stockholm and pre-war Zagreb. *Scandinavian Journal of Social Medicine*, 26, 106–114.
- Thomas, D. (2005). Sick public services leave the private sector standing. *Pesonnel Today*, p4-4, 1/4p, 1c.
- Thompson, C.A., Beauvais, L.L., & Allen, T.D. (2006). Work and Family from an Industiral/Organizational Psychology Perspective. In: Pitt-Catsouphes, Kossek, E.E.
  & Sweet, S. (eds.) *The work and family handbook. Multi-disciplinary perspective and approaches*. London: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Thompson, C.A., & Prottas, D.J. (2005). Relationship among organizational family support, job autonomy, perceived control, and employee well-being. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*. 10(4), 100-118.
- Thompson, J. D. (1967). Organizations in action. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Thomson, L., Griffiths, A., & Davison, S. (2000). Employee absence, age and tenure: a study of nonlinear effects and trivariate models. *Work & Stress*, 14, 16–34.
- Thorndike, R.M., Cunningham, G.K., Thorndike, R.L., & Hagen, E.P. (1991). *Measurement and evaluation in psychology and education*. New York: Macmillan Publishing Company.
- Timmins, F., & Nicholl, H. (2005). Stressors associated with qualified nurses undertaking part time degree programmes-some implications for nurse managers to consider. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 13, 477–482.
- Toner, B. (1987). The impact of agreement bias on the ranking of questionnaire response. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 127, 221-222.
- Trinkoff, A.M., Lipscomb, J.A., Geiger-Brown, J., Storr, C.L., & Brady, B.A. (2003). Perceived physical demands and reported musculoskeletal problems in registered nurses. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 24(3), 270-275.

- Trinkoff, A., Storr, C., & Lipscomb, J. (2001). Physically demanding work and inadequate sleep, pain medication use, and absenteeism in registered nurses. *Journal* of Occupational Environmental Medicine, 43, 355–363.
- Tsai, S.L., & Crockett, M.S. (1993). Effects of relaxation training, combining imagery, and meditation on the stress level of Chinese nurses working in modern hospitals in Taiwan. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 14, 51–66.
- Tsai, Y.C. & Liu, C.H. (2012). Factors and symptoms associated with work stress and health-promoting lifestyles among hospital staff: a pilot study in Taiwan. BMC Health Services Research, 12, 199-207. Retrieved May 2, 2013: http://www.biomedcentral.com/1472-6963/12/199.
- Tuchsen, F., Christensen, K.B., & Lund, T. (2008). Shift work and sickness absence. *Occupational Medicine*, 58(4), 302-304.
- Tummers, G.E.R., Van Merode, G.G., & Landeweerd, J.A. (2002). The diversity of work: Differences, similarities and relationships concerning characteristics of the organization, the work and psychological work reactions in intensive care and nonintensive care nursing. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 39, 841-855.
- Tyler, P.A., & Cushway, D. (1992). Stress, coping and mental well-being in hospital Nurses. *Stress Medicine*, 8, 91–98.
- Tyler, P.A., & Cushway, D. (1995). Stress in nurses: the effects of coping and social support. *Stress Medicine*, 11, 243–251.
- Tyler, P.A., & Ellison, R.N. (1994). Sources of stress and psychological well-being in high-dependency nursing. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 19, 469-476.
- Unden, A.L. (1996). Social support at work and its relationship to absenteeism. *Work and Stress*, *10*, 46–61.

- Unruh, L., Joseph, L., & Strickland, M. (2007). Nurse absenteeism and workload: negative effect on restraint use, incident reports and mortality. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 60(6), 673-681.
- U.S.A. Work Management (2001). Absence-minded workers cost business deady. Work Management, 10-14.
- Vaananen, A., Kalimoi, R., Toppinen, S.T., Mutanen, P., Peiro, J.M., Kivima, M., & Vahtera, J. (2004). Role clarity, fairness, and organizational climate as predictors of sickness absence: A prospective study in the private sector. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 32, 426–434.
- Vaananen, A., Kumpulainen, R., Kevin, M.V., Ala-Mursula. L., Kouvonen. A., Kivimaki.
  M. Toivanen, M., Linna, A., & Vahtera, J. (2008). Work-Family Characteristics as
  Determinants of Sickness Absence: A Large-Scale Cohort Study of Three
  Occupational Grades. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 13(2), 181–196.
- Vaananen, A., Toppinen-Tanner, S., Kalimo, R., Mutanen, P., Vahtera, J., & Peiro, J.M. (2003). Job characteristics, physical and psychological symptoms, and social support as antecedents of sickness absence among men and women in the private industrial sector. *Social Science & Medicine*, 57, 807-824.
- Vahtera, J., Kivimaki, M., & Pentti, J. (2000a). The role of extended weekends in sickness absenteeism. Occupational Environment Medicine, 58, 818–822.
- Vahtera, J., Uutela, A., & Pentti, J. (1996). The effects of objective job demands on registered sickness absence spells: Do personal, social and job-related resources act as moderators ? Work and Stress, 10, 286–308.
- Vahtera, J., Virtanen, P., Kivimaki, M., & Pentti, J. (1999). Workplace as an origin of health inequalities. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, *53*, 399–407.

- Vahtera, J., Kivimaki, M., Pentti, J., & Theorell, T. (2000b). The impact of changes in psychosocial work environment on sickness absence: a seven year follow up of initially healthy employee. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 54(7), 484-493.
- Van den Broeck, A., Vansteenkiste, M., De Witte, H., & Lens, W. (2008). Explaining the relationships between job characteristics, burnout and engagement: The role of basic psychological need satisfaction. *Work & Stress*, 22, 277-294.
- Van der Doef, M., & Maes, S. (1999). The job demand-control (-support) model and psychological well-being: A review of 20 years of empirical research. Work & Stress, 13, 87–114.
- Van der Molen, H.F., & Delleman, N.J. (2006). Standards on physical work: Demands in the construction industry, in Karwowski, W. (2006) Handbook of standards and guidelines in ergonomics and human factors, pp 207-225, Mahwah, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Van Poppel, M.N.M., de Vet, H.C.W., Koest, B.W., Smid, T., & Bouter, L.M. (2002). Measuring sick leave: a comparison of self-reported data on sick leave and data from company records. *Occupational Medicine*, 52, 243-249.
- Van Sell, M., Brief, A.P., & Schuler, R.S. (1981). Role conflict and role ambiguity: integration of literature and directions for future research. *Human Relations*, 34(1), 43-71.
- Van Wiljk, C. (1997). Factors influencing burnout and job stress among military nurses. *Military Medicine*, 162, 707–710.
- Van Yperen, N.W., & Snijders, T.A. (2005). A multilevel analysis of the demands-control model: is stress at work determined by factors at the group level or the individual level? *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 5, 182–190.

- Vasse, R.M., Nijhuis, F.J.N., & Kok, G. (1998). Associations between work stress, alcohol consumption and sickness absence. *Addiction*, 93(2), pages 231–241.
- Verhaeghe, R., Mak, R., Van Maele, G., Kornitzer, M., & De Backer, G. (2003). Job stress among middle-aged health care workers and its relations to sickness absence. *Stress and Health*, 19, 265-274.
- Vingard, E., Lindberg, P., Josephson, M., Voss, M., Heijbel, B., Alfredsson, L., Stark, S., & Nygren, A. (2005). Long-term sick-listing among women in the public sector and its associations with age, social situation, lifestyle, and work factors: a three-year follow-up Study. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 33, 370–375.
- Virtanen, M., Kivimiki, M., Elovainio, M., Vahtera, J., & Ferrie, J.E. (2003). From insecure to secure employment: changes in work, health, health related behaviours, and sickness absence. *Occupational Environment Medicine*, 60, 948–953.
- Virtanen, M., Vahtera, J., Pentti, J., Honkonen, T., Elovainio, M., & Kivimäki, M. (2007). Job Strain and Psychologic Distress Influence on Sickness Absence Among Finnish Employees. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 33(3), 182–187.
- Voss, M., Floderus, B., & Diderichsen, F. (2001). Physical, psychosocial, and organisational factors relative to sickness absence: a study based on Sweden Post. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 58, 178–184.
- Voss, M., Floderus, B., & Diderichsen, F. (2004). How do job characteristics, family situation, domestic work, and lifestyle factors relate to sickness absence? A study based on Sweden Post. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 58, 178–184.
- Wai, C. K., Ching, P. W., & Rahim, M. F. A. (2006). Working Environment and stress: A survey on Malaysian employees in commercial bank. *Malaysian Management Review*, 41, 21-32.

- Wall, T. D., Bolden, R.I., Borrill, C.S., Carter, A.J., Golya, D.A., Hardy, G.E., Haynes, C.E., Rick, J.E., Shapiro, D.A., & West, M.A. (1997). Minor psychiatric disorder in NHS trust staff: occupational and gender differences. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 171, 519–523.
- Warner, R.M. (2008). *Appied statistics: From bivariate through multivariate techniques.* Thousands: Sage.
- Watson, R., Deary, I., Thompson, D., & Li, G. (2008). A study of stress and burnout in nursing students in Hong Kong: A questionnaire survey. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 45, 1534–1542.
- Way, M., & MacNeil, M. (2006). Organizational characteristics and their effect on health. *Nursing Economic*, 24(2), 67-76.
- Wedderburn, A.A.I (1967). Social factors in satisfaction with swiftly rotating shifts. *Occupational Psychology*, 41, 85-107.
- Weinberg, A., & Creed, F. (2000). Stress and psychiatric disorder in healthcare professionals and hospital staff. *The Lancet*, 355, February, 533-536.
- Weisberg, S. (1985). Applied linear regression, (2<sup>nd</sup> ed), New York: John Wiley & Son Inc.
- Westman, M., & Ertzion, D. (2001). The impact of vacation and job stress on burnout and absenteeism. *Psychology and Health*, 16(5). 595-606.
- Wigham, R. (2006). More than one antidote for sickness. Director, October, 35-36.
- Wildt, A.R., & Mazis, M.B. (1978). Determinants of scale response: label versus position. Journal of Marketing Research, 15, 261-267.
- Williams, C. (2007). Research methods. *Journal of Business & Economic Research*, 5(3), 65-72.
- Williams, S., Michie, S., & Pattani, S. (1998). Improving the health of the NHS Workforce. London: The Nuffield Trust.
- Winship, C., & Morgan, S.L. (1999). The estimation of causal effects from observational data. Annual Review of Sociology, 25, 659-707.
- Wong, T.Q. (2002). *Marketing research*. (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). Singapore: Marketing Institute of Singapore.
- Woo, M., Yao, A.K., Oh, T.G., & Kong, F.Y. (1999). The relationship between stress and absenteeism. *Singapore Medical Journal*, 40(0), 1-18.
- Wooden, M., & Robertson, F. (1989). Illness, injury and absence from work: An analysis of the 1983 Health Survey. Working Paper Series 104. National Institute for Labour Studies, Australia.
- World Health Organization (WHO) (2005). The health policy framework for the WHO European region- 2005 update. Copenhagen, Denmark: World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe, Retrieved July 12, 2011: http://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0008/98387/E87861.pdf.
- Wortsman, A., & Lockhead, C. (2002). Full-time equivalents and financial costs associated with absenteeism, overtime, and involuntary part-time employment in the nursing profession. Report commissioned for the Canadian Nursing Advisory Committee, Ottawa, Canada. Retrieved June 5, 2007: http://www.hc.gc.ca/hcsss/pubs/care-soins/2002-enacccsi-final/index\_ehtml.
- Wrzesniewski, A., & Dutton, J.E. (2001). Crafting a job: revisioning employees as active crafters of their work. *Academy of Management Review*, 26, 179-201.
- Xanthopoulou, D., Bakker, A.B., Demerouti, E., & Schaufeli, W.B. (2007). The role of personal resources in the job demands-resources model. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 14(2), 121-141.
- Xie, J.L., & Johns, G. (1995). Job scope and stress: Can job scope be too high? *Academy of Managament Journal*, 38(5), 1288-1309.

- Yeh. Y.Y., Ko, J.R., Chang, Y.S., & Chen, C. V. (2007). Job stress and work attitudes between temporary and permanently employed nurses. *Stress and Health*, 23(2), 111-120.
- Zarraco, S.J., Craj, B., & Quinn, J. (1991). Prior absenteeism, supervisory style, job satisfaction and personal characteristics: An investigation of some mediated and moderated linkages to work absenteeism. Organizational Behaviour and Human Decision Processes, 50, 24-44.
- Zikmund, W.G. (2003). *Business research methods*, (7<sup>th</sup> edn.) USA, Ohio: Thomson South-Western.
- Zikmund, W.G., Babin, B.J., Carr, J.C. & Griffin, M. (2010). *Business research methods,* (8<sup>th</sup> edn.) Canada: South-Western: Cengage Learning.